Public Document Pack
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL

Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee
Date: Wednesday, 17th March, 2021
Time: 6.30 pm
Place: Virtual Meeting via Microsoft Teams
Contact: S. Tautz (Principal Democratic Services Officer)
Email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk

AGENDA
1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interest

3

Questions from Members of the Public

4

Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 February 2021 (Pages 1 - 4)

****

ITEMS CALLED-IN/REFERRED DIRECT BY CABINET - 23 FEBRUARY
2021

5

Selective Licensing Designation Report (Pages 5 - 374)
Minute 856 (Cabinet Agenda Item No. 7 refers).
Called-in by Councillors Cox and Davidson.

6

HRA Land Review Phase 4 (Lundy Close) (Pages 375 - 384)
Minute 857 (Cabinet Agenda Item No. 8 refers).
Called-in by Councillors Cox and Davidson.

7

SO46 Report (Pages 385 - 386)
Minute 867 (Cabinet Agenda Item No. 18 refers). Item No. 1.1 - Costa and
Airport Business Park only.
Called-in by Councillors Cox and Davidson.

****

ITEMS CALLED-IN FROM THE FORWARD PLAN
None

****

ITEMS FOR PRE-CABINET SCRUTINY
None

****

OTHER SCRUTINY MATTERS

8

In-Depth Scrutiny Project 2019/20-2020/21
To receive an update on the progress of the in-depth scrutiny project for
2019/20.

9

Exclusion of the Public
To agree that, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business set out below on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act, and that the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

10

SO46 Report Confidential Sheet (Pages 387 - 388)
Minute 869 (Cabinet Agenda Item No. 20 refers).
Called-in by Councillors Cox and Davidson.

TO:

The Chair & Members of the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee:
Councillor D Garston (Chair), Councillor D Nelson (Vice-Chair)
Councillors B Ayling, D Burzotta, D Cowan, T Cox, P Collins, M Davidson, M Dent,
S George, S Habermel, H McDonald, D McGlone, I Shead, M Stafford, S Wakefield
and P Wexham

Public Document Pack
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL
Meeting of Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee
Date: Thursday, 4th February, 2021
Place: Virtual Meeting via Microsoft Teams

4

Present:

Councillor D Garston (Chair)
Councillors D Nelson (Vice-Chair), B Ayling, D Burzotta, D Cowan, T Cox,
P Collins, M Davidson, M Dent, S George, S Habermel, H McDonald,
D McGlone, I Shead, M Stafford, S Wakefield and P Wexham

In Attendance:

Councillors I Gilbert, C Mulroney, M Terry and R Woodley (Cabinet
Members), Councillor K Evans, P Bates, E Cook, J Chesterton,
G Halksworth, A Lewis, J Ruffle, A Smyth, S Tautz and J Williams

Start/End Time:

6.30 pm - 7.35 pm

774

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence from the meeting.

775

Declarations of Interest
The following councillors declared interests as indicated:

776

(a)

Councillors I Gilbert, C Mulroney, M Terry and R Woodley (Cabinet Members) Interest in the referred items; attended pursuant to the dispensation agreed at
Council on 19 July 2012, under S.33 of the Localism Act 2011.

(b)

Councillor M Davidson - Minute 778 (Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget and
Rent Setting 2021/22) - Non-Executive Director of South Essex Homes - Nonpecuniary interest.

(c)

Councillor S Wakefield - Minute 778 (Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget and
Rent Setting 2021/22) - Sub-Contractor for South Essex Homes - Non-pecuniary
interest.

(d)

Councillor P Wexham - Minute 778 (Draft Housing Revenue Account Budget and
Rent Setting 2021/22) - Member of the Board of Directors of South Essex Homes Non-pecuniary interest.

(e)

Councillor I Gilbert - Minute 779 (Draft Prioritising Resources to Deliver Better
Outcomes - 2021/22 to 2025/26) - Council representative on the Board of Southend
Association of Voluntary Services; Member of the GMB union - Non-pecuniary
interests.

(f)

Councillor C Mulroney - Minute 779 (Draft Prioritising Resources to Deliver Better
Outcomes - 2021/22 to 2025/26) - Member of Leigh Town Council - Non-pecuniary
interest.

Questions from Members of the Public
The Leader of the Council (Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities) and the Chair
of the Committee (on behalf of the Cabinet Member for Transport, Capital and Inward
Investment) responded to questions presented by Mr D Webb.

1

777

Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 November 2020
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 26 November 2020 be confirmed
as a correct record and signed.

778

Draft Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget and Rent Setting Report 2021/22
The Committee considered Minute 729 of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 14 January
2021, which had been referred directly to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee,
together with a joint report of the Executive Director (Finance and Resources) and the
Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Director (Housing and Growth) presenting the draft
Housing Revenue Account budget for 2021/22, together with the information necessary to
set a balanced budget as required by legislation.
Resolved:
That the following decisions of the Cabinet be noted:
“1. That an average rent increase of 1.50% on all tenancies, be endorsed.
2. An average rent increase of 1.50% on shared ownership properties, be endorsed.
3. That an increase of 1.50% for garage rents to £12.20 per week for tenants and £14.64 for
non-tenants (being £12.20 plus VAT), a rise consistent with the proposal for the main rent
increase (all variants on a standard garage will receive a proportionate increase), be
endorsed.
4. That the proposed rent charges in 1-3 above be effective from 5th April 2021.
5. That the South Essex Homes core management fee at £6,336,000 for 2021/22, be
endorsed.
6. That South Essex Homes proposals for average increases of 2.52% in service charges
and 10.39% in heating charges to reflect the actual costs incurred be endorsed.
7. That the following appropriations be endorsed:




£60,000 to the Repairs Contract Pensions Reserve;
£5,073,000 to the Capital Investment Reserve; and
£7,644,000 from the Capital Investment Reserve

8. That, subject to resolutions 1 to 7 above, the HRA budget for 2021/22, as set out in
Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be approved.
9. That the value of the Council’s capital allowance for 2021/22 be declared as £68,672,000,
as determined in accordance with regulation 16 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and
Accounting) (England) Regulations.”
Note: This is an Executive Function, save that approval of the final budget following
Cabinet on 16 February 2021 is a Council Function
Cabinet Member: Councillor I Gilbert
779

Draft Prioritising Resources to Deliver Better Outcomes – 2021/22 to 2025/26

2

The Committee considered Minute 730 of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 14 January
2021, which had been referred directly to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee,
together with a report of the Executive Director (Finance and Resources) presenting the
draft General Fund Revenue and Capital Budget for 2021/22 to 2025/26.
Resolved:
That the following decisions of the Cabinet be noted:
“1. That it be noted that a Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 2021/22 – 2025/26 will be
available for consideration in February 2021 and the draft Medium Term Financial Forecast
and estimated Earmarked Reserves Balances up to 2025/26 (Annexes 1 and 2 to Appendix
1 to the submitted report), be endorsed.
2. That the draft Section 151 Officer’s statement on the robustness of the proposed budget,
the adequacy of the Council’s reserves and the Council’s Reserves Strategy (Appendix 2 to
the report), be noted.
3. That the appropriation of the sums to earmarked reserves totalling £3.625M (Appendix 3
to the report), be endorsed.
4. That the appropriation of the sums from earmarked reserves totalling £6.218M, which
includes £2.500M to cover the remaining estimated budget gap for 2021/22. (Appendix 3 to
the report), be endorsed.
5. That a General Fund Budget Requirement for 2021/22 of £133.423M and Council Tax
Requirement of £87.712M (Appendix 4a) and any required commencement of consultation,
statutory or otherwise, be endorsed.
6. That it be noted that the 2021/22 revenue budget has been prepared on the basis of using
£1.5 million from accumulated Collection Fund surpluses for the core budget to allow for a
smoothing of the budget gap across the next four financial years.
7. That a Council Tax increase of 3.99% for the Southend-on-Sea element of the Council
Tax for 2021/22, being 1.99% for general use and 2.0% for Adult Social Care (Paragraph
10.16), be endorsed.
8. That it be noted that the position of the Council’s preceptors is to be determined:




Essex Police – no indication of Council Tax position
Essex Fire & Rescue Services – no indication of Council Tax position
Leigh-on-Sea Town Council – proposed precept increase of 3.02%;

9. That no Special Expenses be charged other than the Leigh-on-Sea Town Council precept
for 2021/22, be endorsed.
10. That the proposed General Fund revenue budget investment of £8.122M (Appendix 5 to
the report), be endorsed.
11. That the proposed General Fund revenue budget savings and income generation
initiatives for 2021/22 of £4.155M (Appendix 6 to the report), be endorsed.
12. That the proposed future outline Budget Transformation Programme 2022/23 – 2025/26
(Appendix 7 to the report), be endorsed.
13. That the proposed range of fees and charges for 2021/22 (Appendix 8 to the report), be
endorsed.

3

14. That the Dedicated Schools Grant budget and its relevant distribution as recommended
by the Education Board (Appendix 9 to the report), be endorsed.
15. That the Capital Investment Strategy for 2021/22 to 2025/26 (Appendix 10 to the report)
and the Capital Investment Policy (Annex 1 to Appendix 10 to the report), be endorsed.
16. That the new schemes and additions to the Capital Investment Programme for the
period 2021/22 to 2025/26 totalling £21M for the General Fund and new schemes subject to
viable business cases (Appendix 11 to the report), be endorsed.
17. That the proposed changes to the current Capital Investment Programme that were
considered for approval as part of the Resourcing Better Outcomes – Financial Performance
Report – Period 8 (Appendix 12 to the report), be noted.
18. That the proposed Capital Investment Programme for 2021/22 to 2025/26 of £168.6M
for 2021/22 to 2025/26 (Appendix 13 to the report) of which £25.6M is supported by
external funding, be endorsed.
19. That the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy for 2021/22 (Appendix 14 to the
report) and the prudential indicators (Appendix 15 to the report), be endorsed.
20. That the operational boundary and authorised limits for borrowing for 2021/22 are set at
£375M and £385M respectively (Appendix 15 to the report), be endorsed”.
Note: This is an Executive Function, save that approval of the final budget following
Cabinet on 16 February 2021 is a Council function.
Cabinet Member: Councillor I Gilbert
780

In-Depth Scrutiny Project 2019/20-2020/21
The Committee was informed of progress on the current in-depth scrutiny project and
advised that a further meeting of the Project Team was to be held on 23 February 2021, to
give initial consideration to the recommendations arising from the project.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.
Note: This is a Scrutiny Function
Chair:

4

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of Deputy Chief Executive, Executive Director of
Growth and Housing and Executive Director
Neighbourhoods and Environment
To

Agend
a
Item
No.

5

Cabinet
On
February 2021
Report prepared by: Faith Addy, Projects & Policy Support
Officer, Housing & Social Inclusion
23rd

Selective Licensing Designation Report
Relevant Scrutiny Committee(s)
Cabinet Member: Councillor
Part 1 (Public Agenda Item) / Part 2 (Confidential Agenda Item)

1.

Purpose of Report
This report presents to Cabinet the results of the public consultation on the
proposal to introduce a Selective Licensing Scheme within specific
neighbourhoods in the wards of Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and Chalkwell.
The report further sets out the basis for recommending Selective Licensing
Designation and the work that is needed to move this forward.

2.

Recommendations
Cabinet is recommended to:
1.

Take note of the findings of the public consultation as set out in section 4
of this report and to agree to make a Selective Licensing Scheme
designation in the proposed neighbourhoods.

2.

Note that a further report will be presented back to Cabinet for
consideration in June or September 2021, containing a comprehensive
financial assessment and clear recommendations on how the scheme
could be delivered.

Report Title

Report Number

5

3.

Approve the use of up to £50,000 from the Business Transformation
Reserve to support the design and associated financial modelling of a
future Scheme.

3.

Introduction & Background

3.1

Selective Licensing (SL) allows local authorities to introduce licensing for
privately rented properties accommodating single households. It is intended to
address the impact of poorly rented properties on the local environment and to
improve housing conditions. Under Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004, a local
authority can designate the whole or any part(s) of its area as being subject to
Selective Licensing. Where a Selective Licensing Designation is made it applies
to all Part 3 houses or flats which are privately rented (as set out in section 79
and 99 of the Act). Exemptions apply, for example for registered social
landlords.
If a local authority makes a Selective Licensing Designation that covers
i)

20% or less of its total geographical area and

ii)

includes less than 20% of its privately rented properties,

then the scheme will not need to be submitted to the Secretary of State for
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) for
approval. Larger Selective Licensing Schemes covering a wider designation or
whole borough will require specific Government approval.
Before a Council introduces a Selective Licensing Scheme, under The Selective
Licensing of Houses (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015 it must be
satisfied it is in an area in which one or more of the following general conditions
apply:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

That the area is, or is likely to be become, an area of low housing
demand.
The area has high levels of migration.
That the area is experiencing a significant and persistent problem
caused by antisocial behaviour.
The area has poor property conditions.
The area has high levels of deprivation.
The area has high levels of crime.

Following the research commissioned after the Cabinet agreement in
September 2019, Southend Council is seeking to designate on the last four
criteria above.
Report Title

Report Number

6

3.2

The Council must also be satisfied that making the designation will, when
combined with other measures in the area by the local housing authority (or by
other persons together with the local housing authority) lead to a reduction in, or
elimination of, the problems.
Prior to the introduction of the Selective Licensing scheme in the proposed
wards the local authority must consider:
a) whether there are other courses of action available that might provide
an effective method of achieving objectives that the designation would be
intended to achieve and
b) that making the designation will significantly assist it to achieve the
objective or objectives.

3.3

The Council previously undertook extensive research into Selective Licensing in
2011/12 and following public consultation, a decision was made by Cabinet not
to introduce the scheme at the time but instead the recommendation was to
develop a closer working relationship with landlords, in particular with the South
East Alliance of Landlords (SEAL). SEAL was formed as an alternative to SL
however, it is a voluntary scheme without any way of enforcing non-compliance
and as a result, the problems within the private sector have persisted despite
their best efforts which has necessitated revisiting SL again.

3.4

The private rented sector (PRS) has continued to grow nationally, regionally
and locally. Reasons for this include its attraction as a stable investment
vehicle, amongst non-traditional landlords. Increasing demand and limited
supply places pressure on tenants to accept poor standards of accommodation.
Due to fear of retaliatory evictions tenants are frequently reluctant to seek
improvements, either through the landlord or local authority engagement.

3.5

An affordable and safe PRS contributes to the 2050 ambitions Safe & Well and
Pride & Joy. Due to the persistent problems within the sector, it has therefore
become necessary for the Council to look at Selective Licensing again in order
to ensure that living conditions for the residents in the sector meet the minimum
standard. The demand for housing in the region is still predicted to grow putting
more pressure on housing supply. Licensing provides a useful tool to regulate
this sector and raise the standards in private rented accommodation, contain
ASB and poor property standards.

3.6

On 19th September 2019 Cabinet considered a further report proposing to
consideration of Selective Licensing and agree both to commission dedicated,
targeted research in support of the proposal and to undertake full consultation
based on the findings of this preparatory phase.

Report Title

Report Number

7

3.7

The Council commissioned Arc4 to carry out the initial investigative work of
gathering the evidence base and ensuring that the identified problems were
linked to the private rented sector. They provided the Council with a report
which formed the basis of the consultation documents. Based on the report, it
was proposed that some of the neighbourhoods within the wards of Milton,
Kursaal, Victoria and Chalkwell (as identified in appendix G) are designated as
Selective Licensing areas as provided for in the Housing Act 2004 section 80.
Arc4 have a detailed understanding of housing markets, excellent knowledge of
market intelligence and significant experience of collecting and interpreting data
to identify areas for designation under Selective Licensing as set out in
legislation. They have completed similar work for other local authorities and
came highly recommended by their previous customers. A part of the data they
relied upon for their analysis was the 2011 Census data. Whilst this was
gathered 10 years ago, it is the most recent data for such purposes as the next
census is not due until this year and the results are not likely to be available
until 2022 at the earliest.

3.8

According to the 2011 Census, of the 77,036 dwellings in the borough at the
time, 17,109 of those were privately rented. Whilst the census data is now 10
years old, it is still a valid source of data until the new census is conducted and
published. Whilst it is acknowledged that this data is old, we know that the PRS
has grown over the period both nationally and regionally. And in May 2019,
Southend Home Analytics, estimated that out of 84,086 residential dwellings,
18,136 were privately rented, that is a 6% increase in the sector. The proposed
designation is estimated to affect around 3,251 which will be within the
threshold to proceed without requiring authorisation from Secretary of State
(SoS).

3.9

Whilst the Council acknowledges that there are other neighbourhoods with
similar problems to those in the proposed areas, additional neighbourhoods
have been ruled out of inclusion in the scheme at this stage. This is because
the research, implementation and management over the five-year life of such a
scheme is labour intensive for the areas highlighted for inclusion. At this stage,
the Council has instead focused on the worst performing areas, as intervention
is most warranted due to the levels of anti-social behaviour recorded as well as
a combination of deprivation, poor property conditions and crime. As identified
above, the Housing Act 2004 enables Local Authorities to introduce a Selective
Licensing Scheme without the need for Secretary of State approval provided it
is 20% or less of the size of the municipal area or 20% or less of the size of the
Private Rented Sector. The proposed scheme is estimated to affect 19.7% of
the PRS.

3.10

The Council is committed to improving housing conditions in the private rented
sector and our proposal to designate will be complementing many other

Report Title

Report Number

8

ongoing projects to improve this sector. The Selective Licensing scheme
approach will provide a visible neighbourhood presence in those
neighbourhoods where it will be focused. To support this initiative the Council
acknowledges that a significant officer resource will be needed to deliver an
effective Selective Licensing scheme, both from within a range of Council
departments including social services, planning, housing, environmental health,
community safety, waste and legal services, as well as from a range of public
and community sector partners and our local communities. To be effective
Selective Licensing needs to run in conjunction with other tools and pages 2932 of the evidence base report (appendix B) summarise some of the initiatives
that will complement the proposed scheme.
3.11

Additionally, before making a designation, the Council must ensure that it is
consistent with its overall housing strategy and must seek to adopt a coordinated approach in tackling issues of homelessness, empty properties and
anti-social behaviour affecting the private rented sector in its use of property
licensing, whether on its own or in combination with other measures. Details on
this can be found in appendix B, pages 87-90.

4.

The Consultation Methods, Results, Concerns and Recommendations.

4.1

Before making a designation under Part 3 (Section 80 - Selective Licensing) of
the Housing Act 2004, the authority must undertake all reasonable steps to
consult persons who are likely to be affected by the designation, and consider
any representations made in accordance with the consultation and not
withdrawn. The statutory consultation must be for a minimum period of at least
ten weeks. The 10-week stakeholder consultation on the Selective Licensing
proposal commenced on 02/11/2020 and was concluded on the 11thJanuary
2021. The consultation was conducted by M.E.L Research, a specialist
consultation organisation with experience in this area of work. The final report
from M.E.L indicates a very strong response rate to the consultation, as
summarised below in section 4. The full results of the consultation can be found
in appendix 1. The proposal will be reviewed to take into account the comments
and suggestions made by respondents wherever possible.

4.2

In an effort to encourage maximum participation from all stake holders, the
consultation was promoted in several ways to interested parties in Southend
and beyond, such as landlords, agents, tenants, residents, local businesses and
third sector organisations. This included through press releases, publicity via
Southend Echo and various Southend Council channels, such as the website,
Twitter, Facebook and Your Say Southend. It was also promoted to
neighbouring boroughs and encouraged these to promote the survey to
landlords, residents, tenants and other businesses who may wish to take part in
the consultation.

Report Title

Report Number

9

4.3

Government guideline on Covid-19 compliance procedures were fully adhered
to during the consultation process as all engagement with the various
stakeholders was done in safely accessible ways. Whilst the current
government Guidance on Covid-19 is not statutory, the Council did have due
regard to it. Counsel was sought on whether the consultation should be paused
following a formal request to do so and was advised on the basis of the
response rate to all forms of the consultation, that there were no grounds for
pausing or extending the consultation.

4.4

A variety of methods were used to consult with the different stakeholders.
These included an online survey which was hosted on the Your Say Southend
site, postal surveys which were sent to all 11,640 residential and commercial
addresses within the proposed areas, 2,841 addresses outside the proposed
areas but within Milton and Kursaal, and a random sample to 5,520 residential
and commercial addresses in adjacent areas. In addition, 3 public meetings
were held online due to Covid-19 restrictions, stakeholder interviews in which 8
organisations gave feedback (these included SEAL, NLRA, HARP, C.A.B,
Police and several others). Four neighbouring local authorities (Thurrock,
Castle Point, Basildon and Rochford) were also contacted for their views on the
proposals.

4.5

The consultation sought to obtain stakeholders’ views on the proposals to
designate some neighbourhoods within the borough, mainly focusing on the
degree to which respondents agreed or disagreed with the proposals to
introduce the Selective Licensing scheme. The local problems identified prior to
the consultation included ASB, deprivation, poor property conditions as well as
crime and the degree to which respondents felt the proposed licence fees and
conditions were reasonable or unreasonable.

4.6

Consultation responses
In total, the consultation generated 1,792 responses to the survey (1,208 postal
and 584 online). One neighbouring local authority fed into an online survey:
Rochford District Council. 65 people had registered onto the three public
meetings. Eight stakeholders, representing a good range of interests, were
interviewed. Finally, 22 individuals or organisations responded with formal
written submissions to the consultation. Together, these represent a wide range
of interests and views covered during the consultation.

4.7

Of the 1,792 responses received, 74% (1,313) of those that respondent to the
survey were residents, 19% (335) were landlords, 14% (253) were tenants while
33% (593) identified as other which included those working or conducting
business within the borough.

4.8

The following table shows the summary of the overall results of the consultation
by each respondent group.

Report Title

Report Number

10

Overall

Residents

Landlords
/ agents

Private
tenants

Other

1,768

1,310

334

250

591

68%

77%

21%

67%

73%

26%

18%

74%

23%

21%

1,5671,748
68%

1,1451,291
76%

319-329

223-251

21%

67%

522585
72%

55%

62%

16%

54%

58%

47%

54%

11%

46%

50%

1,7001,744
84%

1,2561,292
88%

322-324

242-250

68%

78%

566585
86%

Deprivation is a problem

74%

78%

57%

70%

75%

Poor quality housing is a problem

76%

81%

57%

71%

79%

Crime is a problem
Base
Agree with level of licence fees

80%
1,774
62%

84%
1,303
72%

65%
333
14%

78%
253
52%

82%
588
65%

Disagree that level of licence fees
Base
Agree with monthly fee payment

32%
1,774
56%

23%
1,303
56%

84%
333
63%

32%
253
52%

27%
588
55%

Disagree with monthly fee payment

24%
1,7171,757

26%
1,2661,294

15%

17%

328-330

240-245

23%
560582

73%

81%

28%

70%

77%

76%

83%

38%

75%

80%

74%

81%

34%

72%

78%

1,732

1279

322

245

576

26%

26%

22%

26%

28%

49%

50%

53%

39%

47%

Base
Agree with selective licensing in
designated areas
Disagree with selective licensing in
designated areas
Base
Positive impact on proposed areas
Positive impact on nearby areas
Positive impact on you / your
business / organisation
Base
Anti-social behaviour is a problem

Base
Agree improve quality of
neighbourhood
Agree improve property safety and
standards
Agree improve management
standards
Base
Support choice to be monitored by an
external non-regulatory body
Opposition for choice to be monitored
by an external non-regulatory body

Report Title

Report Number

11

4.9

Support for licensing was strongest among organisations supporting or
advocating for tenants with the opposition coming from landlords and agent
bodies who generally wanted the Council to make better use of existing
regulations and to enforce standards. Several landlords and agents questioned
how far they should be responsible for their tenants’ behaviour with many
suggesting more input from police and support for tenants with mental health or
addiction problems.

4.10

Some landlords felt that evictions are now taking longer now due to backlogs
with court cases as a result of Covid-19 restrictions and this is causing major
financial loss to some so introducing a scheme would further financial hardship.

4.11

Some respondents believed the fees and added cost would be passed onto
tenants in higher rents, potentially leading to rent arrears which would result in
more evictions. Some landlords also suggested that the Council should
consider discounts for those with multiple properties or those who are members
of accredited organisations or scheme. Some landlords wanted to see real
value for their fees.

4.12

A few respondents questioned the amount of resource allocated to enforcing
standards with Selective Licensing. Some also believed that the introduction of
the scheme would deter some landlords, and some would sell up, resulting in
increased homelessness. There was also expressed concern that the scheme
could devalue properties.

4.13

Alternative suggestions included greater partnership working with landlords and
agents, a stronger focus on ASB using existing powers and that the
resumptions of landlord fora. Some landlord and letting agent members of
SEAL proposed to continue the self-regulation scheme instead of Selective
Licensing. However, such a scheme has been in operation for more than five
years and in that time, there have continued to be substantial challenges within
the proposed designation areas. A full response to the comments and the
questions brought up during the consultation along with the M.E.L report will be
published on the Council’s website in due course.

4.14

It is the Council’s intention to ensure that the actual application process for
landlords is as streamlined, as simple and as supportive as possible. Licence
application processes typically involve landlords (and/or their managing agents)
submitting a large amount of supporting documentation as well as completing
an online application form for each property they wish to licence and in order to
reduce the burdens of any such process, the Council is currently exploring a
range of options of how to best deliver the scheme, including an electronic
application system which will allow for the application to be completed,
supporting documentation to be submitted and payment of the licence fee all to
be made online.

Report Title

Report Number

12

5.

Next Steps

Significant and additional resources will be required for the assembly and preparation
for the introduction of the scheme if approved.
Such resources will include but are not limited to:
1. The creation of a Selective Licensing function
This will be an expansion of the current Private Sector Housing function and will
need to be resourced effectively in order to meet the demands of the scheme.
2. An efficient IT solution to provide a good online licensing system
This will include an assessment of current platforms the Council already uses as
well as other bespoke systems to determine what will provide the most efficient
system to complement staff resource.
3. The engagement of expert advice to embed the necessary skills within the
team
In order to ensure effective implementation and to learn from the experience of
experts who have implemented and delivered this successfully elsewhere.
4. Evaluating options to deliver and communicating the end to end process
mapping
The range of delivery options, including outsourcing or in-house provision will
be examined and recommendations made as to the most suitable arrangement
for Southend. This will make up part of the process mapping which will be
informed by expert advice (as above).
5. Detailing what will come back for decision in June/September
An update on each of the sections above and any decisions taken in order to
move forward swiftly with implementation.

6.

Corporate Implications

6.1

Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map
Ensuring that housing within the borough meets the needs of the local residents
does feed into several themes for Southend 2050 as briefly outlined below:
Safe and Well: Ensuring that public services, voluntary groups and community
networks all combine to help people live long and healthy lives, carefully planned
homes and new developments designed to support mixed communities and an
effective, joined up enforcement to ensure that people have homes that meet
their needs.

Report Title

Report Number

13

Pride & Joy: The proposals will ensure that people are proud of where they live
by improving standard within the sector whilst ensuring the surrounding
environment is also well maintained.
Active & Involved: The proposals contribute by ensuring that Southend will
continue to be a place where residents know and support their neighbours and
where we all share responsibility for where they live. Selective Licensing is part of
the initiatives of enhancing neighbourhoods and the environment.
Opportunity & Prosperity: By improving standards in this sector, it will
contribute to residents leading happier and safer lives, thereby having fewer
barriers to contributing to the local area.

Southend’s Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy aims to provide ‘decent
high quality, affordable and secure homes for the people of Southend’. An important
priority within the strategy is to improve and make best use of the existing housing
stock. To help achieve this, the strategy is underpinned by a range of actions including:
advice, financial assistance, enforcement, bringing long term empty homes back in use
and delivering demonstratable improvements to private rented homes through the use
of licence schemes.
Prioritising the supply of safe, locally affordable homes is a key priority within the
Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy. Improving access to good quality,
well managed accommodation in the private rented sector is one of its key strategic
priorities and the actions proposed to deliver this include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

New approaches to working with the private rented sector including leasing,
Improved joint working and support for private landlords,
Bringing empty homes back into use, reviewing the tools/software,
resources, and opportunities at our disposal to do so.
Tackling Rogue Landlords,
Improving the condition of accommodation,
Addressing standards of management,
Licensing Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO),
Possible Selective Licensing in the private rented sector,
Addressing financial barriers to accessing accommodation,
Ensuring people have support to sustain tenancies,
Exploring opportunities for developing a Local Lettings Agency.

Report Title

Report Number

14

6.2

Financial Implications

6.2.1 The two main elements of running a Selective Licensing Scheme, for which
financial implications need to be considered include both the administration of the
scheme and the impact on existing statutory duties that the Council must
continue to undertake.
6.2.2 Regarding the general administration of the scheme, the full costs of running the
new scheme for the five-year period can be recovered through the license fee.
These costs include licence administration, staffing, system development, ICT
and legal costs. A detailed financial analysis will need to be carried out to ensure
that the proposed licence fee will cover all the anticipated costs for running the
scheme. It is highly likely that some initial investment to set up the scheme will be
needed and funded from the Council’s existing resources. The plan will then be
to recover this initial outlay over the lifetime of the scheme through the licencing
income recovered.
6.2.3 The second major element for consideration is the cost of delivering the Council’s
existing statutory duties. The main costs will be in relation to enforcement.
Enforcement officers will ensure appropriate regulation of the properties and
compliance from landlords. These costs will need to be funded from the Council’s
existing resources as the licence fee income cannot cover any additional
enforcement costs that may be generated by the implementation of the new
scheme.
6.2.4 Detailed financial modelling and the associated price sensitivity analysis for the
new scheme will be undertaken and presented in the future report to Cabinet.
This work will assess the cost implications and outline a range of reasonable
assumptions to be considered. This will include pricing options to determine the
level of anticipated income and ensure overall medium-term viability of the new
scheme. It is proposed that £50,000 be allocated from the Business
Transformation Reserve to facilitate these requirements and to support the
design of a suitable scheme for Cabinet to consider.
6.3

Legal Implications

6.3.1 Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 gives the Council the power to designate areas
of Selective Licensing to help tackle concerns over high levels of anti-social
behaviour or low housing demand (e.g. low value properties, high turnover of
occupiers, significant vacancy). In 2015 the conditions for designation were
expanded by The Selective Licensing Houses (Additional Conditions) (England)
Order 2015 to include poor property conditions, high crime, high levels of
deprivation and high migration. The local authority can designate an area for
Selective Licensing for five years but must first demonstrate the evidence of
their concerns, look at alternative approaches and consult widely. Failure to
engage in meaningful consultation with those likely to be affected by a proposed
designation could lead to a scheme being quashed by the courts following
judicial review.

Report Title

Report Number

15

6.3.2 In 2015 revised approval arrangements were put in place such that where the
proposed designation covers either 20% of the total geographic area of the
authority or 20% of the total privately rented stock (based on census figures) the
designation requires approval by the Secretary of State.
6.3.3 Subject to limited exemptions, a valid licence must be held by the appropriate
responsible person in respect of all privately rented properties in such a
designated area, typically the landlord or managing agent. The legislation
permits funds raised to be used for administration of the scheme and (subject to
constraints) enforcement.
6.3.4 In addition, as a public authority, the Council must take account of the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and not act in a way which is
incompatible with a Convention right. Under Article 8, any interference with the
right to respect for a person's private and family life and home must be
proportionate and Article 14 requires that there must be no unjustified
discrimination within the scope of human rights on any grounds, such as sex,
race, colour, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social
origin, association with a national minority, property, birth, or other status.
6.3.5 The Council must also have ‘due regard’ to the Public Sector Equality Duty
(PSED) in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. Section 149(1) provides that, in
exercising its functions, a public authority must have due regard to the need to:
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under the 2010 Act
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
The relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
6.3.6 Section149(3) provides that having due regard to the need to advance equality
of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it involves having due regard, in particular, to the
need to:
(a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
(b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who
do not share it; and

Report Title

Report Number

16

(c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by
such persons is disproportionately low.
6.3.7 The general approval states that the local authority must conduct a consultation
of not less than 10 weeks and this requirement has been met. The local authority
must ensure that they fully consider all the evidence before making a decision to
ensure that they are not subject to judicial review following the making of the
designation. The legal team will continue to work with the project team
throughout the implementation of the scheme.
6.3.8 There is a risk of judicial review where the correct processes leading to the
declaration of Selective Licensing have not been properly followed. The Council
can be confident that all due processes have been followed leading up to this
decision paper. The guidance document ‘Approval steps for additional and
Selective Licensing designations in England’ has been followed, consultation has
been successfully carried out for the correct time frame and with over 1790
responses to the consultation this is evidence that the consultation was carried
out effectively.
6.3.9 The Council’s legal team have previously given advice and guidance as part of
the project approach and continue to work with the lead officer. The following
legal implications have been prepared in full consultation with Counsel. We have
also looked at best practice with other Councils that have Selective Licensing
schemes in place and identified the main areas of challenge to include but not
limited to;
6.3.9a Challenge – As stated earlier, a designation may be challenged by way of
judicial review as has been the case with other authorities such as Thanet and
Hyndburn. The time for seeking judicial review is within 3 months of the date the
designation is made. The general legal principles of reasonableness, procedural
propriety and proportionality will be applied on any such review.
Some of the identified areas of challenge may include, inter alia, the following:
 Incorrect basis for the implementation of the scheme
 Ability to administer and enforce the scheme for said period
 The quality of the data that informs the decision to designate
6.3.9b Grant of a licence - The authority must apply a ‘fit and proper person’ test to
applicants for licences and may include in any licence such conditions as it
considers appropriate for regulating the management, use or occupation of the
house concerned. In the instance of a dispute, the applicants will have a right of
appeal to the Residential Property Tribunal.

Report Title

Report Number

17

6.3.9c Fees - When fixing licence fees, the Council has taken into account all costs
that will be incurred in carrying out its functions under the Selective Licensing
provisions of the Housing Act 2004.
In R v Westminster City Council ex parte Hemming and others [2013] EWCA
Civ 591, the Court of Appeal has held that the Provision of Service Regulations
2009 prevent the authority from including in licence fees the cost of enforcing
the scheme.
Based on the above case, the licence fee has been split into two part to form a
clear distinction between part 1 – the cost of processing the application and part
2 – to cover the cost of monitoring and compliance to the scheme.

6.4

People Implications

6.4.1 In order to implement the scheme, more staffing would be required in order to
conduct administration, monitoring and enforcement of a Selective Licensing
scheme and coordination of the relevant council services in order to implement
the scheme.
6.4.2 During the scheme designation, several officers would be required to both
administer the designation, issue licences, carry out inspections, undertake
enforcement activities as well as attending court for prosecutions. This would
require coordinated action between several Council departments, such as Private
Sector Housing team, Planning, Regulatory Services, Housing Solutions Team,
Community Safety as well as the Legal team.
6.4.3 To ensure timely response, proper verification to applications and to undertake
technical verification, inspections and any consequent enforcement would all
require increased staff members including technical staff to deal with knowledge
in the field.
6.5

Property Implications

6.5.1 No properties directly owned by Council will be affected but there are
implications for private landlords in the proposed designation areas.
6.5.2 The proposed licensing scheme will introduce a new local regulatory
environment for the private rented sector within the proposed areas. The
scheme will assist the Council in developing and maintaining a landlords’
register thereby allowing transparency regarding the property and tenancy
management arrangements for each address. This improved intelligence will
enable the Council to notify landlords of their responsibilities and will assist the
Council in responding appropriately to anti-social behaviour, crime, deprivation
Report Title

Report Number

18

and poor property conditions associated with the address. Implementation of
similar schemes by other boroughs has been noted to improve the environment
of neighbourhoods and reduce anti-social behaviour.
6.5.3 The use of Selective Licensing is landlord and property based and will not
always resolve many of the issues which are caused by ‘bad tenants’, however
it will increase the oversight of these issues by landlords and where appropriate
the use of enforcement powers where the law is being broken. In this regard,
the Council proposes to ensure licensing and enforcement are complementary.
6.5.4 It is envisaged that the proposed scheme will assist in increasing the
consistency of safeguards available to tenants, while improving the quality of
private rented stock and tackling poor quality landlords. A desired outcome will
be the effective management of properties by private sector landlords which will
in turn raise property standards within the sector.

6.6

Consultation

6.6.1 The details of the consultation and the findings are discussed in section 4 of this
report and the Final report from the commissioned consultation partner, M.E.L,
is attached as appendix A.

6.7

Equalities and Diversity Implications

6.7.1 The introduction of Selective Licensing in the proposed neighbourhoods is
intended to enhance housing management practices within the private rented
sector (PRS), in compliance with the Housing Health and Safety Rating System
(HHSRS) standards. It is anticipated that this will have positive outcomes for
tenants across all protected characteristics, particularly those who are currently
over-represented in the PRS.
6.7.2 It should be noted that data relating to the protected groups among both tenants
and landlords is limited, partly due to the unregulated nature of the sector.
Although Census data provides a breakdown of tenure by ethnicity and age,
analysis relevant to other issues such as disability has not yet been completed
by Office of National Statistics (ONS). Overall, the size of the sector and the
estimated number of landlords suggests that there will be members of all
protected groups among both tenants and landlords. The sector also contains a
mix of household and income types that ranges across the spectrum.

Report Title

Report Number

19

6.7.3 If the proposed scheme is approved, all equality groups are likely to benefit from
improvements in engagement, communication and signposting information
between the Council, landlords and tenants and other service providers.
Information would relate to such matters as changes in the law affecting the
private rented sector (PRS), energy efficiency measures and grants availability,
information on local organisations and agencies which may be able to provide
support. One of the intended outcomes of licensing is that landlords will be
more aware of their duties under the Equality Act 2010 and of the support and
funding available to them and their tenants such as the Disabled Facilities Grant
for reasonable adaptations. This will further enhance the equality outcomes for
people with disabilities and long-term health conditions, older adults and their
carers as well as other vulnerable groups.
6.7.4 It is likely that tenants most impacted by these proposals will be among the
lower income groups in the sector, living in the poorest quality housing and,
similarly, that the landlords of these properties will experience the greatest
impact from their perspective.
6.7.5 In the longer term, licensing will, among its other benefits, provide an
opportunity to obtain a more complete picture of the sector and its operation
that will assist in identifying issues relevant to protected groups. At the same
time, closer partnership working with landlords should support promotion of
good practice on equalities in the sector.

6.8

Risk Assessment

6.8.1 There is a risk of Judicial Review where the rationale, data and process followed
for implementation could be challenged. A number of schemes across the
country have been subject to Judicial Review. These have only been successful
where local authorities have failed to follow the correct processes or have been
unable to justify part of their scheme, proposals or evidence base. There is
therefore the potential for additional and unfunded legal work to meet any
challenges or cases.
6.8.2 There is an unsubstantiated risk of alienating local landlords who may not be in
favour of the scheme which could force them to take their business elsewhere or
sell, thereby reducing the supply of much needed accommodation within the
borough.

Report Title

Report Number

20

6.8.3 There is a perceived risk that local rents may increase as the landlords may wish
to recoup the cost of a license fee. Selective Licensing is frequently seen as a
“tax” on landlords; a cost which is likely to be passed on to occupiers in the form
of rent increases, particularly given that the licence pertains to the individual
dwellings. The findings of MHCLG’s review of Selective Licensing in 2019
indicate that there was no evidence of this being the case in the majority of the
local authorities that took part in the review.
6.8.4 It is important that the mandatory licensing scheme which already exists is
robustly enforced as it could cast doubt on the Council’s ability to implement the
new scheme. The challenges involved and the impact on the Council’s
enforcement policy require specific consideration as Government expects
Selective Licensing to be a part of an overall strategy to improve the housing
stock.
6.8.5 Some Local authorities were challenged on the decision to introduce Selective
Licensing as it was felt that good landlords were being made to pay for the
problems caused by bad landlords. There will need to be an increase in
enforcement action against non-licensing landlords to ensure that the Council’s
reputation is not risked through criticism of lack of action against a minority while
there had been compliance by the majority.
6.8.6 There is the potential risk of a budget shortfall and a failure to effectively impact
the aims and objectives of the designation if the scheme does not receive
sufficient applications. This risk could be mitigated by ensuring that there are
sufficient staff levels to identify un-licensed properties and carry out licensing
activities.
6.8.7 A risk register has been created as part of the project methodology to monitor
the development of the proposals and their implementation should they be
approved.
Key risks to be monitored include;
 effective communication strategies to inform landlords that licensing will
be implemented and that they are required to register,
 the robustness of IT systems to ensure that licences can be processed
accurately and quickly,
 the information sharing protocols between departments to ensure that a
joined up and intelligence led approach is pursued,
 the rigorous on-going testing of the financial model to maintain cost
effectiveness and cost neutrality,
 that customer service standards associated with the scheme are
developed, monitored and achieved.
Report Title

Report Number

21

 Legal challenge associated with both the implementation of the
proposal and individual cases going forward
6.8.8 Each of these and other supporting areas will form the context of a risk register
that will be maintained by the officer leading the scheme with support from the
Council Risk Manager and incorporate best practice.
6.9

Value for Money

The scheme will deliver value for local residents in rental accommodation by bringing
up standards within the private rented sector in the neighbourhoods within the
proposed designation.
6.10

Community Safety Implications

The scheme if implemented successfully will create stronger communities within the
proposed neighbourhoods by encouraging both landlords and tenants alike to
contribute more fully to the areas in which they live, recognise their civic
responsibilities as such and to see themselves as part of dynamic and vibrant local
areas that are committed to combating anti-social behaviour, crime, deprivation and
promoting those neighbourhoods as a place that is attractive to live, visit and do
business in.
6.11

Environmental Impact

The successful implementation of the scheme will contribute positively to growth and
sustainability in the proposed neighbourhoods by encouraging stability in the private
rented sector and will ensure that landlords have a greater stake in the areas that they
let accommodation in and by contributing to the physical and social wellbeing of our
neighbourhoods.
Other local authorities who have successfully implemented the scheme have advised
that there was a noticeable improvement in the neighbourhoods within the designation
and that even landlords who were opposed to the scheme in the beginning, confirmed
these improvements.
The proposed Selective Licensing conditions that landlords would be expected to
adhere to, will contribute positively and complement the work by the Waste and
Environmental Care team. Due to the transiency of tenants in the private rented sector,
the licence conditions will ensure that landlords are encouraged to ensure that their
tenants are fully made aware of best practice when it comes to waste management.

Report Title

Report Number

22

This will include ensuring that tenants are advised of the correct rubbish collection
days, encouraging higher levels of recycling by supporting sustainable waste
management, recovering valuable materials and, by reducing waste, lowering the
environmental impact of the Councils operations. High recycling neighbourhoods will
be something residents, businesses and visitors will take Pride and Joy in. Effectively
managed recycling and waste will improve the street scene and ensure our streets and
public spaces are clean and inviting and wills serve to change the reputation of some
areas within the proposed designation.
One of the significant challenges for the private rented sector in the coming years is
the energy efficiency of the properties the move to an EPC C from 2025. With the
proposed scheme an audit of properties energy efficiency (e.g. windows, insulation,
boiler etc.) will be included in the inspections that are undertaken if the scheme is
agreed, so that government bids can be more targeted. This would allow for landlords
to get grants specifically to improve the fabric of their buildings and the licensing
scheme to be seen as beneficial to them.
In October 2020, funding was awarded to some local authorities (SBC included)
through the Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery (LAD) project. The scheme
aims to help low-income homes keep warm by improving the energy efficiency rating
and reducing energy bills. Residents across the borough who meet the eligibility
criteria (i.e. low income and with energy efficiency rating of E, F or G) are able to
apply, as part of the Warmer Homes Local Authority Delivery (LAD) program. The
Warmer Homes team would undertake a free energy assessment for the home and
help with accessing grant funding for any energy efficiency improvements. A number
of energy efficiency measures are available such as: door improvements, solid wall
and other insulation options, low carbon heating, smart heating controls. The initiative
is available for those qualifying homeowners who will take advantage of it and will aid
energy improvements by ensuring warmer homes and cheaper energy bills.
7.

Background Papers

Previous cabinet paper dated 17th September 2019.
8.

Appendices

M.E.L SL Consultation results – Appendix A
SL Scheme Proposal and Evidence Base – Appendix B
Proposed Licence conditions – Appendix C
Arc 4 report – Appendix D
Fees & Notes – Appendix E
Maps of proposed designation - Appendix F
Stakeholder responses to Consultation – Appendix G
Report Title

Report Number

23

Report Title

Report Number

24

Consultation on selective
licensing of private rented
property in Southend
Southend-on-Sea
Borough Council

Final report
January 2021

25

Contents
Project details and acknowledgements.............................................................................................3
Executive summary ...........................................................................................................................4
Introduction.......................................................................................................................................8
Survey results ..................................................................................................................................11
Local authority survey .....................................................................................................................32
Public meetings ...............................................................................................................................33
Stakeholder views ...........................................................................................................................35
Written responses ...........................................................................................................................40
Appendices ......................................................................................................................................47
Appendix 1: Map of proposed licensing scheme .............................................................................48
Appendix 2: Survey questions .........................................................................................................49
Appendix 3: Demographic profile of respondents...........................................................................57
Appendix 4: Stakeholder organisations interviewed.......................................................................61
Appendix 5: Organisations submitting written responses...............................................................62
Appendix 6: Written responses to consultation (separate document)............................................63

26
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

2

Project details and acknowledgements
Title

Consultation on selective licensing of private rented property in
Southend

Client

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council

Project number

20136

Author

Adam Knight-Markiegi

Research Manager

Adam Knight-Markiegi

Reviewer

David Chong Ping

M·E·L Research would like to thank the Southend-on-Sea Borough Council for their support with the
consultation. We would also like to thank residents, tenants, landlords, agents and stakeholders for
taking part in the consultation.

M·E·L Research
Somerset House, 37 Temple Street, Birmingham, B2 5DP
Email: info@melresearch.co.uk
Web: www.melresearch.co.uk
Tel: 0121 604 4664

27
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

3

Executive summary
As part of their housing strategies, local councils can choose to require private landlords or their managing
agents to have a licence to rent out their property, should no other courses of action be available to meet
the licence schemes objectives. The licence conditions state that landlords must keep their property safe
and well maintained as well as deal with any problems associated with the property such as dumped
rubbish, untidy gardens or anti-social behaviour.
Southend-on-Sea Borough Council believes that introducing a selective licensing scheme for privately
rented properties in a defined area of the borough will ensure:


improve housing conditions for those in the private sector



reduce significant and persistent problems caused by anti-social behaviour (ASB)



reduce levels of property related crime



increase the proportion of good landlords and an elimination of rogue landlords



develop an improved private rented offer providing higher quality rented accommodation which
would result in improved neighbourhoods.

Before making any decision, the Borough commissioned M·E·L Research to gather the views of local
people, in particular local landlords, private tenants, agents, residents, businesses and organisations
inside Southend and beyond.
The consultation ran for 10 weeks, between 2 November 2020 and 11 January 2021. A variety of
consultation methods were used to allow interested parties to share their views on the proposals,
including allowances due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.
In total, the consultation generated 1,792 responses to the survey (1,208 postal and 584 online). One
neighbouring local authority fed in to an online survey: Rochford District Council. 65 people had registered
onto the three public meetings. Eight stakeholders, representing a good range of interests, were
interviewed. Finally, 22 individuals or organisations responded with formal written submissions to the
consultation. Together, these represent a wide range of interests and views covered during the
consultation.
Key headlines from the consultation are provided below.

28
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

4

Table 1: Summary responses on proposal (overall/by respondent group)
Overall

Residents

Landlords /
agents

Private
tenants

Other

Base

1,768

1,310

334

250

591

Agree with selective licensing in designated areas

68%

77%

21%

67%

73%

Disagree with selective licensing in designated
areas

26%

18%

74%

23%

21%

1,567-1,748

1,145-1,291

319-329

223-251

522-585

Positive impact on proposed areas

68%

76%

21%

67%

72%

Positive impact on nearby areas

55%

62%

16%

54%

58%

Positive impact on you / your business /
organisation

47%

54%

11%

46%

50%

1,700-1,744

1,256-1,292

322-324

242-250

566-585

Anti-social behaviour is a problem

84%

88%

68%

78%

86%

Deprivation is a problem

74%

78%

57%

70%

75%

Poor quality housing is a problem

76%

81%

57%

71%

79%

Crime is a problem

80%

84%

65%

78%

82%

1,774

1,303

333

253

588

Agree with level of licence fees

62%

72%

14%

52%

65%

Disagree that level of licence fees

32%

23%

84%

32%

27%

1,774

1,303

333

253

588

56%

56%

63%

52%

55%

Base

Base

Base

Base

Agree with monthly fee payment
Disagree with monthly fee payment

24%

26%

15%

17%

23%

1,717-1,757

1,266-1,294

328-330

240-245

560-582

Agree improve quality of neighbourhood

73%

81%

28%

70%

77%

Agree improve property safety and standards

76%

83%

38%

75%

80%

Agree improve management standards

74%

81%

34%

72%

78%

1,732

1279

322

245

576

26%

26%

22%

26%

28%

49%

50%

53%

39%

47%

Base

Base

Support choice to be monitored by an external
non-regulatory body
Opposition for choice to be monitored by an
external non-regulatory body


Support for a selective licensing in the designated areas was strong overall with two-thirds (68%) of
respondents agreeing with the proposal. Around a quarter disagreed (26%).


residents in Southend were most supportive of the proposal, followed by ‘other’ respondents
(77% and 73% agree)



landlords/agents were least in favour of selective licensing, with almost three-quarters (74%)
disagreeing with the proposal, and just one in five (21%) agreeing



the most common reasons for agreeing included improving living conditions or the local area,
better monitoring and control and protecting tenants (768 respondents).

29
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

5





There was general agreement that the scheme would make a positive impact, particularly on the
proposed area (68%).


residents had the strongest feeling overall, mostly about an impact on the proposed area
(76%) and nearby areas (62%), similar to feeling among the ‘other’ respondents



landlords/agents were much less likely to believe it would have a positive impact, with many
more believing there will be no impact or a negative impact.

There was widespread agreement that there are problems with ASB and crime, with strong feelings
about deprivation and poor quality housing also being problems.






majorities of all respondent types agreed these were problems in the proposed area.

Respondents overall supported the level of licence fee, with 62% in agreement.


support was strongest among residents in Southend (72%) than other groups



landlords/agents are again much more negative, with 84% disagreeing



the biggest response on fees was that costs may be passed on to tenants, rents will increase,
or some form of rent control is needed (261 respondents).

Around three-quarters of respondents (73-76%) agreed that the proposed selective licensing
conditions would improve the quality of neighbourhood, property safety and standards and
management standards.


residents were most supportive (81-83% agree they would improve things), followed closely
by ‘other’ respondents (77-80% agree)



landlords/agents were most strongly disagreed that the conditions would lead to
improvements, with over half disagreeing (56-64%%)



the highest response around conditions was that the licensing will not solve issues, such as
those mentioned above, ASB, fly-tipping and cleaning (120 responses), followed by comments
that the license conditions were appropriate, reasonable or will have a positive effect to
improve standards and/or hold landlords to account (118).

At the end of the survey respondents were given the chance to provide any other comments on the
proposals or any alternatives Southend Council could consider. The most common was support for the
proposed licensing scheme mentioning need for improving living conditions, standards and safety,
better monitoring and control and/or protection for tenants (104 responses). Following on from this, a
similar amount of comments were generally in agreement (103) and the same number mentioned a need
for positive impact on neighbours and the local area and get rid of slum landlords.
There was a lot of overlap between feedback from the public meetings, stakeholder interviews and formal
written submissions. These are summarised here:


Support for licensing was stronger among agencies supporting or advising tenant, with opposition
coming from landlord or agent bodies. Those opposed generally wanted Southend Council to make
better use of existing regulations and to enforce standards.

30
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

6



A lot of landlord/agent interests questioned how far landlords should be responsible for the
behaviour of tenants, with many suggesting more input from police or support to tenants with mental
health or addiction problems. Others felt the ASB stemmed from HMOs or high-rise social housing
blocks, both excluded from this selective licensing scheme.



Some questioned the timing of both the consultation, during the Covid-19 pandemic, including the
potential knock-on effect if the scheme is implemented. For example, because of a backlog with court
cases, it is already taking landlords longer to be able to evict tenants.



Views differed on whether to target the licensing area or to extend it borough-wide. Some, however,
questioned whether ASB was related to private rented properties or more closely linked to the
proposed area being close to the town centre.



Respondents believed fees and added costs to landlords would be passed onto tenants in higher
rents, potentially leading to rent arrears and later eviction. Some suggested discounts for landlords
with multiple properties or those who are members of accredited organisations or schemes. Others
wanted to see value for money from their fees.



A few respondents questioned the amount of resource allocated to enforcing standards with
selective licensing.



There were fewer comments about a potential delivery partner, although some supported or
opposed SEAL taking that role.



Some also believed that introducing a scheme would deter landlords and some would sell up, leaving
tenants homeless. The scheme could potentially devalue properties, some claimed.



Alternatives included greater partnership working with landlords and agents, a stronger focus on ASB
and using existing powers. There was a lot of desire for landlord forums to resume.

31
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

7

Introduction
As part of their housing strategies, local councils can choose to require private landlords or their managing
agents to have a licence to rent out their property, should no other courses of action be available to meet
the licence schemes objectives. The licence conditions state that landlords must keep their property safe
and well maintained as well as deal with any problems associated with the property such as dumped
rubbish, untidy gardens or anti-social behaviour.
Southend-on-Sea Borough Council believes that introducing a selective licensing scheme for privately
rented properties in a defined area of the borough will:


improve housing conditions for those in the private sector



reduce significant and persistent problems caused by anti-social behaviour (ASB)



reduce levels of property related crime



increase the proportion of good landlords and an elimination of rogue landlords



develop an improved private rented offer providing higher quality rented accommodation which
would result in improved neighbourhoods.

The defined area (shown in Appendix 1) covers parts of the following wards in the Borough:


Milton



Kursaal



Victoria



Chalkwell.

Before making any decision, the Borough commissioned M·E·L Research to gather the views of local
people, in particular local landlords, private tenants, agents, residents, businesses and organisations
inside Southend and beyond.

Proposals
The consultation focused on the degree to which respondents agree or disagree with the proposal to
introduce this selective licensing scheme. It also looked at any problems in Southend such as ASB,
deprivation and property conditions, and the degree to which respondents feel the proposed fees and
licensing conditions are reasonable or unreasonable.

32
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

8

Public consultation
The consultation ran for 10 weeks, between 2 November 2020 and 11 January 2021. A variety of
consultation methods were used to allow interested parties to share their views on the proposals,
including allowances due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. These are detailed below.
The consultation was promoted by Southend Council in several ways to interested parties in Southend
and beyond, such as landlords, agents, tenants, residents, local businesses and third sector organisations.
This included through press releases, the Echo and various Southend Council channels, such as the
website, Twitter, Facebook and Your Say Southend. It was also promoted to neighbouring boroughs and
encouraged these to promote the survey to landlords, residents, tenants and other businesses who may
wish to take part in the consultation.

Consultation methods
A variety of methods were used to consult with landlords, tenants, residents, businesses, stakeholders
and other interested parties. These included an online survey, hosted on the Your Say Southend site,
along with a postal survey sent to all 11,640 residential and commercial addresses within the proposed
licensing area, all 2,841 addresses outside the proposed area, but inside the Kursaal and Milton wards,
and then to a random sample to 5,520 residential and commercial addresses in adjacent areas. A total of
1,792 responses were received, 1,208 from the postal survey and 584 from the online version.
As well as the postal and online survey, three public meetings were held, all online due to the Covid-19
restrictions. The first one was digitally recorded and then made available for anyone to watch and listen
from the main consultation website. These three meetings were held on 17 and 19 November and 9
December 2020. In total, 65 people were registered onto these meetings.
Another way to consult with interested and representative parties was to carry out stakeholder
interviews. Inviting 12 organisations or Council groups, we spoke to 8 such stakeholders, representing a
good range of interests. The list of these organisations is shown in Appendix 4.
An online survey was also sent to the four nearby local authorities: Thurrock, Rochford, Castle Point and
Basildon councils. We received a response from Rochford District Council.
We also accepted written responses to the consultation. These came via a dedicated email address and
by post. In total, 22 individuals or organisations responded in this way. A list of the organisations that
submitted formal written responses is listed in Appendix 5.

33
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

9

Beyond that, there was a freephone telephone number where residents and others were able to ask
questions about the consultation.

Survey respondent profile
Of the 1,792 responses to the survey, the vast majority (93%) are based within the borough of Southend.
The breakdown of numbers by ward is shown in Appendix 3. Noting respondents’ postcodes, we’ve also
been able to map whether they fall inside or outside of the proposed licensing area, as shown below:
Table 2: Whether survey respondents are inside or outside of the proposed licensing area
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Inside

804

45%

Outside

901

50%

Unknown

87

5%

1,792

100%

Total

The detailed respondent profile is shown at the end of this report (Appendix 3). Within the body of the
report we have combined these groups into the following four (with overlap allowed, e.g. a resident who
is also a landlord or private tenant). The ‘other’ category includes respondents working or running a
business in the borough, those stating they have ‘no connection’ (just 25 responses) plus a range of selfdescribed connections to Southend. Respondents could choose more than one category.
Table 3: Profile of survey respondents by type
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Resident

1,313

74%

Landlord / Agent

335

19%

Private tenant

253

14%

Other

593

33%

Reporting conventions
Owing to the rounding of numbers, percentages displayed on charts in the report may not always add up
to 100% and may differ slightly when compared with the text. The figures provided in the text should
always be used. For some questions, respondents could give more than one response (multiple choice).
For these questions, the percentage for each response is calculated as a percentage of the total number
of respondents and therefore percentages do not usually add up to 100%.
The number of respondents to each question is presented as ‘N=’ throughout the report.

34
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

10

Survey results
In total, we received 1,792 responses, made up of 1,208 from the postal survey and 584 from the online
version. The profile of respondents is shown in Appendix 3. Below is a summary of these responses
combined.

Selective Licensing Scheme
Overall, around two thirds (68%) of survey respondents agreed with the proposal to designate the
proposed areas for Selective Licensing, with half (50%) strongly agreeing and a further 19% agreeing. In
contrast, a quarter (26%) of respondents didn’t agree, mostly strongly disagreeing (20%).
Figure 1: Level of agreement with the proposal to designate the specified areas for Selective Licensing
(N=1,768)
Don't
know
5%
Strongly
disagree,
20%
Disagree
6%

Strongly
agree
50%

Agree
19%

As shown below by respondent type, support for the proposal to designate Selective Licensing was
strongest among residents (77%), private tenants (67%) and ‘other’ respondents (73%). In contrast, the
majority of landlords/agents disagreed (74%), with most ‘strongly disagreeing’.

35
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

11

Figure 2: Level of agreement with the proposal to designate the specified areas for Selective Licensing
by respondent type

Resident (N=1,310)

58%

Landlord / Agent (N=334)

7%

13%

Private tenant (N=250)

19%

14%

25%

10%

Strongly agree

20%
Agree

30%

18%

40%

50%

Disagree

60%

Strongly disagree

4%

5%

8%

55%

0%

14%

60%

42%

Other (N=591)

5%

15%

6%

70%

80%

10%

15%

90%

6%

100%

Don't know

When comparing the response among respondents inside and outside the proposed area, there is slightly
greater support for selective licensing from respondents inside the proposed area (72% in support),
compared to 68% among those outside the proposed area.
Figure 3: Level of agreement with the proposal to designate the specified areas for Selective Licensing
by those inside or outside the proposed licensing area
100%
90%

6%

5%

17%

20%

80%
5%

7%

70%
60%

18%
20%

50%
40%
30%

55%

Strongly agree
Agree
Disagree
Strongly disagree
Don't know

48%

20%
10%
0%
Inside (N=799)

Outside (n=900)

36
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

12

All respondents were then asked to provide their reasons why they agreed or disagreed with the proposed
scheme. Comments show that the most common reasons for agreeing included improving living
conditions or the local area, better monitoring and control and protecting tenants (768 respondents),
followed by get rid of slum landlords and/or stop ASB or issues caused by tenants (358). 122 comments
also expressed general agreement. The most common reasons for disagreeing included costs will be
passed on to tenants or rent control is needed (126) and mentions of the scheme penalising good
landlords with bad landlords continuing to operate (108).

37
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

13

Figure 4: Themed reasons why respondents agreed or disagreed with introducing Selective Licensing
Will improve living conditions, standards & safety / local
area / better monitoring and control / protects tenants
Get rid of slum landlords / stop ASB/issues caused by
tenants
Cost will be passed on to tenants / rents will increase / some
form of rent control needed
General agreement
Penalises good landlords / bad landlords will continue to
operate
Needs to be expanded further for fairness
Additional cost (strain) for landlords
Reduce availability of housing / push landlords away from
area
Proposed scheme is unrealistic / Licencing will not solve
issues
Currently legislation already in place / enforce it
Scheme not needed / Council shouldn't interfere
Money making scheme
Unfair to landlord as tenants sometimes are to blame
General disagreement
Lack of evidence of licensing working
Scheme difficult to implement and police / too bureaucratic
Scheme not cost effective / waste of money
Other
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Impact of the scheme
The survey then asked whether respondents felt the proposed Selective Licensing scheme would have an
impact (positive, negative or none) on the proposed areas, other nearby areas and them individually
and/or their business or organisation.
Two thirds (68%) of respondents felt the proposed scheme would have a positive impact on the proposed
areas, 14% felt it would have a negative impact and a further 11% felt it would have no impact.
More than half of respondents (55%) felt the proposed scheme would have a positive impact on other
nearby areas, 15% felt it would have a negative impact. Almost a fifth (19%) felt it would have no impact
on other nearby areas.

38
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

14

Finally, fewer respondents felt the proposed scheme would have a positive impact on themselves and/or
their business or organisation (47%), with 18% stating that they felt it would have a negative impact. 21%
felt it would have no impact.
Figure 5: Impact of the scheme

68%

The proposed areas (N=1,748)

Other nearby areas (N=1,661)

55%

You and/or your business/organisation (N=1,567)

19%

47%

0%

10%

20%

A positive impact

21%

30%

14%

11%

40%

No impact

50%

60%

15%

18%

70%

80%

A negative impact

7%

11%

14%

90% 100%
Don't know

When broken down by type of respondent, the views vary, as shown in the charts below. In summary:


More landlords and agents (combined) believe that the proposals will have either no impact or a
negative impact on the proposed areas, other nearby areas and themselves and/or their business or
organisation. More felt that the proposals would have a positive impact on the proposed areas
compared to other areas and individuals and/or businesses, though more still felt it would have either
no impact or a negative one.



In contrast, all three of the other respondent types have similar views about the impact of the
proposed scheme. The majority of these respondents believe the scheme will positively impact the
proposed areas, other nearby areas and individuals and/or organisations. As with landlords and
agents, this level of feeling is highest for the proposed areas, with more than two thirds of residents,
private tenants and ‘other’ respondents believing the scheme will have a positive impact here.

39
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

15

Figure 6: Impact of proposed scheme on the proposed areas by respondent type

Resident (N=1,291)

76%

21%

Landlord / Agent (N=329)

9%

31%

38%

67%

Private tenant (N=251)

Other (N=585)

9%

7%

15%

72%

0%

10%

20%

A positive impact

30%

11%

40%

No impact

5%

9%

50%

60%

A negative impact

70%

11%

11%

80%

6%

90%

100%

Don't know

Figure 7: Impact of proposed scheme on other nearby areas by respondent type

Resident (N=1,227)

62%

16%

Landlord / Agent (N=322)

16%

41%

33%

54%

Private tenant (N=234)

Other (N=547)

15%

58%

0%

10%

A positive impact

20%

30%
No impact

10%

12%

15%

18%

40%

50%

60%

A negative impact

11%

70%

16%

13%

80%

11%

90%

100%

Don't know

40
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

16

Figure 8: Impact of proposed scheme on you and/or your business/organisation by respondent type

Resident (N=1,145)

54%

11%

Landlord / Agent (N=319)

22%

23%

Other (N=522)

17%

10%

A positive impact

20%

8%

15%

50%

0%

14%

57%

46%

Private tenant (N=223)

10%

23%

30%
No impact

40%

50%

60%

A negative impact

22%

14%

70%

80%

13%

90%

100%

Don't know

The survey data also tells us whether or not respondents are based in the proposed designation area.


Similar proportions of respondents inside and outside the proposed areas believed the proposals will
have a positive impact on the proposed areas and other nearby areas. However, more respondents
inside the proposed area believed the scheme would have a positive impact on themselves and/or
their business or organisation (53%) compared to those outside the proposed areas (43%).

Problems in the proposed areas
The survey then asked whether respondents felt certain issues were a problem in the proposed areas for
the Selective Licensing scheme.
Across each of these issues, around three quarters or more of respondents stated them as a problem,
ranging from 74% for deprivation up to 84% for anti-social behaviour, with as many as 58% stating antisocial behaviour as a major problem.
However, 8% stated that anti-social behaviour was not a problem. The same proportion (8%) stated crime
was not a problem, 11% stated deprivation wasn’t a problem and 12% stated that poor quality housing
was not a problem in the proposed areas.

41
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

17

Figure 9: Extent of problems within the proposed area

Anti-social behaviour (including fly-tipping) (N=1744)

58%

46%

Deprivation (N=1700)

27%

Poor quality housing (N=1709)

51%

Crime (N=1710)

50%

0%

10%

20%

Major problem

30%

8% 8%

26%

11%

26%

30%

40%

50%

Minor problem

60%

70%

15%

12%

11%

8%

12%

80%

Not a problem

90% 100%
Don't know

When broken down by type of respondent, the views vary, as shown in the charts below. In summary:


Residents, private tenants and ‘other’ respondents were more likely to believe that these are major
or problems in the proposed areas compared to landlords and agents. Greater proportions of these
respondents also believed these were major problems as opposed to minor problems.



More landlords and agents believed that these problems were not a problem in the proposed areas
or didn’t know if they were a problem. The greatest differences were with deprivation and poor
quality housing, where fewer landlords and agents believed these were a problem compared to all
other respondent types.

Figure 10: Extent of problem with ASB (including fly-tipping) within proposed areas by respondent
type

Resident (N=1,292)

64%

29%

Landlord / Agent (N=324)

Private tenant (N=250)

17%

15%

30%

61%

Other (N=585)

10%

6%

39%

48%

0%

24%

20%

30%

Major problem

13%

26%

40%

50%

Minor problem

60%

70%

Not a problem

9%

8%

80%

6%

90%

5%

100%

Don't know

42
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

18

Figure 11: Extent of problem with deprivation within proposed areas by respondent type

Resident (N=1,256)

51%

25%

Landlord / Agent (N=322)

Private tenant (N=245)

32%

21%

42%

28%

47%

Other (N=566)

0%

10%

8%

27%

22%

17%

28%

20%

30%

Major problem

40%

50%

Minor problem

14%

13%

12%

60%

70%

Not a problem

13%

80%

90%

100%

Don't know

Figure 12: Extent of problem with poor quality housing within proposed areas by respondent type

Resident (N=1,262)

56%

21%

Landlord / Agent (N=323)

Private tenant (N=245)

36%

22%

47%

25%

52%

Other (N=566)

0%

10%

20%

9%

25%

20%

20%

27%

30%

Major problem

40%

50%

Minor problem

60%

10%

9%

12%

70%

80%

Not a problem

9%

90%

100%

Don't know

43
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

19

Figure 13: Extent of problem with crime within proposed areas by respondent type

Resident (N=1,268)

54%

29%

Landlord / Agent (N=323)

Private tenant (N=242)

36%

42%

15%

0%

10%

20%

Major problem

11%

31%

30%

40%

Minor problem

50%

11%

20%

36%

51%

Other (N=570)

5%

30%

60%

7%

70%

Not a problem

11%

80%

11%

90%

100%

Don't know

The survey data also tells us whether or not respondents are based in the proposed designation area.
There are also some differences between those inside and those outside for these questions:


Larger proportions of respondents inside the proposed area stated that each of these four issues were
a problem than respondents outside the area. More also believed that anti-social behaviour and crime
were major problems in these areas, for example

Licensing fees
Under the proposed scheme (subject to specified exemptions), all landlords would be required to obtain
a licence for each of their properties. The Council would charge a fee for up to a 5-year licence for each
property. Based on current costs, the total cost of a 5-year selective licence would be £668 per property.
The fee would be payable in two parts:
Part 1: Application fee £162
Part 2: Compliance monitoring fee (payable if the licence is granted) £506
Six in ten (62%) respondents agreed with the proposed fee, with 34% agreeing strongly and 28% agreeing.
This compares to 32% of respondents who disagreed, wit 23% disagreeing strongly.

44
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

20

Figure 14: Level of agreement with the proposed licensing fees (N=1,774)
Don't
know
6%
Strongly
disagree,
23%

Strongly
agree
34%
Disagree
9%

Agree
28%

By respondent type, a similar picture emerges, with residents, private tenants and ‘other’ respondents
more in agreement over the proposed licensing fees, although a smaller proportion of private tenants
agree (52% agree compared to 32% disagreeing). In contrast, landlords/agents disagree most, with seven
in ten (70%) disagreeing strongly.
Figure 15: Level of agreement with the proposed licensing fees by respondent type

Resident (N=1,303)

Landlord / Agent (N=333)

32%

39%

6%

Private tenant (N=253)

8%

14%

27%

10%

35%

0%

10%

20%

Strongly agree

15%

5%

70%

25%

Other (N=588)

8%

30%

30%
Agree

40%

50%

Disagree

2%

21%

9%

60%

70%

17%

18%

80%

Strongly disagree

7%

90%

100%

Don't know

45
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

21

The survey also asked about allowing the Part 2 compliance monitoring fee to be paid in instalments, on
a monthly basis for the duration of the licence, rather than a one off non-refundable fee when the license
is granted.
Over half (56%) of respondents thought the Council should allow this whilst 24% didn’t. A fifth of all
respondents stated don’t know.
Figure 16: Should the Council allow the Part 2 compliance monitoring fee be paid in instalments?
(N=1,774)

Don't
know
20%

No
24%

Yes
56%

When we look at results by respondent type, we see stronger support for this option from landlords and
agents, with 63% in thinking the Council should allow this option. This compares to around half of all other
respondent types, who were more likely to think this option should not be offered or didn’t know.

46
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

22

Figure 17: Should the Council allow the Part 2 compliance monitoring fee be paid in instalments? by
respondent type

Resident (N=1,275)

56%

26%

63%

Landlord / Agent (N=320)

15%

52%

Private tenant (N=241)

0%

10%

20%

23%

17%

55%

Other (N=574)

18%

31%

23%

30%
Yes

40%

50%
No

60%

70%

22%

80%

90%

100%

Don't know

The survey then asked respondents if they had any comments about the proposed fees. The biggest
response was that costs may be passed on to tenants, rents will increase, or some form of rent control
is needed (261 respondents). The next most frequent theme was general disagreement (168) closely
followed by 159 mentions of the fees being appropriate, reasonable or having a positive impact. The
‘other’ category includes a wider range of miscellaneous comments on fees.

47
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

23

Figure 18: Themed comments about the licensing fees
Cost may be passed on to tenants / rents will increase /
some form of rent control needed

15%
9%

Not in favour / general disagreement

9%

Appropriate / reasonable / will have positive effect
7%

Too high / should be lower
Too low / should be higher

2%

Existing landlords may sell up / will put new landlords off

2%

Different fee structure depending on size of property / no of
properties / value of property

2%

Fines for bad landlords instead

1%
1%

Should be free
Discounts (e.g. for early registration, for good/accredited
landlords)

1%
11%

Other
0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Licence conditions
The proposed Selective Licensing will include conditions aimed at ensuring licensed properties are safe
and well managed.
The survey asked respondents their level of agreement with the proposed conditions to improve the
quality of the neighbourhood, improve property safety and standards and improve management
standards. Around three-quarters (73-76%) of respondents agreed with the proposed licence conditions
to improve these aspects, although around a fifth (19-22%) disagreed, with most strongly disagreeing.

48
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

24

Figure 19: Level of agreement with proposed conditions

Improve the quality of the neighbourhood to support a
safe, inclusive and cohesive community (n=1757)

21%

52%

56%

Improve property safety and standards (n=1729)

Improve management standards in the private rented
sector (n=1717)

20%

53%

0%
Strongly agree

8%

14%

7%

20%

5%

12% 4%

7%

13%

6%

10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%
Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don't know

When broken down by type of respondent, support for the proposed conditions varies, as shown in the
charts below. In summary:




Support was stronger from residents, private tenants and ‘other’ respondents, with at least
seven in ten in agreement with the proposed conditions to improve the quality of the
neighbourhood, property safety and standards and management standards. Looking closer,
residents were most in agreement, followed by ‘other’ respondents and private tenants.
In contrast, most landlords and agents disagreed with the proposed licence conditions, with no
more than four in ten agreeing that the proposed conditions will improve these aspects.

Figure 20: Level of agreement with proposed conditions to improve the quality of the neighbourhood
by respondent type

Resident (N=1,294)

22%

59%

Landlord / Agent (N=330)

14%

15%

Private tenant (N=245)

23%

25%

55%

0%

10%

20%

Strongly agree

Agree

40%
Disagree

50%

60%

70%

Strongly disagree

3%

8%

11%

23%

30%

10%

41%

45%

Other (N=582)

6%

10%

8%

10%

80%

90%

9%

5%

100%

Don't know

49
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

25

Figure 21: Level of agreement with proposed conditions to improve property safety and standards by
respondent type

Resident (N=1,275)

21%

63%

Landlord / Agent (N=328)

21%

17%

Private tenant (N=241)

21%

18%

59%

0%

10%

20%

Strongly agree

30%
Agree

50%

Disagree

60%

8%

10%

7%

70%

80%

Strongly disagree

3%

6%

21%

40%

9%

35%

57%

Other (N=564)

5%

7%

9%

4%

90%

100%

Don't know

Figure 22: Level of agreement with proposed conditions to improve management standards by
respondent type

Resident (N=1,266)

21%

61%

Landlord / Agent (N=328)

19%

14%

Private tenant (N=240)

20%

18%

57%

0%

10%

20%

Strongly agree

30%
Agree

50%

Disagree

60%

70%

Strongly disagree

4%

7%

9%

21%

40%

9%

39%

54%

Other (N=560)

5%

10%

6%

10%

80%

90%

9%

6%

100%

Don't know

Respondents were asked if they had any specific comments about the proposed licence conditions or any
suggestions for alternative or additional conditions. The highest response was that the licensing will not
solve issues, such as those mentioned above, ASB, fly-tipping and cleaning (120 responses). A similar
number of comments also stated that the license conditions were appropriate, reasonable or will have a
50
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

26

positive effect to improve standards and/or hold landlords to account (118). Following this, 94 comments
reiterated general disagreement or uncertainty and 92 mentioned a need for regular monitoring and
checks to enforce the conditions set out in the proposals. The ‘other’ category includes a wider range of
miscellaneous comments on fees.
Figure 23: Themed comments about the proposed licence conditions and other suggestions

7%

Licensing will not solve issues (e.g ASB, fly-tipping, cleaning)
Appropriate / reasonable / will have positive effect (e.g.
improved standards, hold landlords to account)

7%

General disagreement / uncertainty

5%

Need regular monitoring / checks to enforce conditions

5%

Legislation or standards already in place / enforce current
legislation
Should be stricter / apply to all areas / all private landlords
should be licensed

4%
3%
3%

Costly, bureaucratic, waste of money/resources
Costs passed on to tenants / rent will rise / fixed rents
needed

3%

Include disrepair

2%
2%

Money making scheme
Existing landlords may sell up / will put landlords off

1%

Not my area / no impact on me

1%

Include parking

1%

Other

5%
0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

Compliance monitoring and enforcement
One of the ways the Council is looking at introducing the proposed Selective Licensing scheme is through
a delivery partner. If this option is adopted, all licenses would be granted by the Council, but landlords
would be given the opportunity to apply via and be monitored by an external, non-regulatory, partner
organisation. The survey asked whether respondents would like the scheme to include this option.
Almost half (49%) of respondents thought the Council should not include this as an option in the proposed
scheme, whilst 26% did. A quarter of respondents stated don’t know.

51
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

27

Figure 24: Should the scheme allow the option for an external, non-regulatory partner to monitor
compliance? (N=1,732)

Don't
know
25%

Yes
26%

No
49%

When we look at results by respondent type, we see slightly more support for this option from residents,
private tenants and ‘other’ respondents. However, there were large proportions of don’t know from all
respondent types.
Figure 25: Should the scheme allow the option for an external, non-regulatory partner to monitor
compliance? by respondent type

Resident (N=1,279)

26%

50%

22%

Landlord / Agent (N=322)

53%

26%

Private tenant (N=245)

0%

10%

25%

39%

28%

Other (N=576)

24%

36%

47%

20%

30%

40%

Yes

50%
No

26%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Don't know

All respondents were then asked to provide their reasons for their answer. In line with the above results,
the most common theme was that respondents don’t see the point or disagree with the proposal (338
52
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

28

responses). This was followed by comments stating it should be monitored by the Council only (220). In
contrast, 149 comments stated it was a good idea.
Figure 26: Themed reasons why respondents agree or disagree with option for an external, nonregulatory partner
Don't see the point / disagree with the proposal / bad idea

19%
12%

It should be monitored by the Council only
Good idea

8%

Too many layers / organisations involved / bureaucracy

6%
4%

Open to be abused / too many loop holes
3%

Another cost for landlords
The non-regulatory bodies would focus on profit, not
performance

2%

Good for landlords to be given the option

1%

The non-regulatory bodies could provide unbiased
monitoring/consistency/impartiality
The non-regulatory bodies would have no legal power /
useless
Using non-regularoty bodies free up valuable Council
resources
Using non-regularoty bodies could improve efficiency / help
regulate landlords more effectively

1%
1%
1%
0%
5%

Other
0%

2%

4%

6%

8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20%

Other comments and suggestions
At the end of the survey respondents were given the chance to provide any other comments on the
proposals or any suggestions for alternative ways of dealing with problems in the areas or any ideas for
improving the proposed scheme. These are shown below, mirroring many of the open-ended comments
already seen in this report.
The most common was support for the proposed licensing scheme mentioning need for improving living
conditions, standards and safety, better monitoring and control and/or protection for tenants (104
responses). Following on from this, a similar amount of comments were generally in agreement (103) and
the same number mentioned a need for positive impact on neighbours and the local area and get rid of
slum landlords.

53
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

29

By respondent type, these themes were most commonly mentioned by residents. The top comments from
landlords and agents were that the proposed scheme is unrealistic and/or Licencing will not solve issues
and that the proposed scheme penalises good landlords and/or bad landlords will continue to operate.

54
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

30

Figure 27: Themes for any other comments and suggestions

Need improved living conditions, standards & safety / better
monitoring and control / protection for tenants

6%

General agreement

6%

Need positive impact on neighbours and the local area (ASB,
flytipping, overcrowding) / Get rid of slum landlords
Should be stricter / higher fees / apply to more areas / all
private landlords should be licensed
Proposed scheme is unrealistic / Licencing will not solve
issues / better way

6%
5%
4%
4%

Need regular monitoring/checks to enforce conditions
Currently legislation /resources already in place / enforce it

4%

Cost will be passed on to tenants / rents will increase / some
form of rent control needed
Penalises good landlords / bad landlords will continue to
operate / just target bad landlords
Scheme not needed / Council shouldn't interfere / Council
should get its own properties and tenants in order
Not always landlords responsibility - bad tenants / hold
tenants to account

3%
3%
2%
2%
2%

Need a system for reporting issues
More partnership working between Council & landlords /
support from Council for landlords
Money making scheme / waste of money / revenue should
be reinvested into area

2%
2%

Adjust the fees / change structure / should be free

1%

Unfair / unnecessary burden to some landlords

1%

May reduce availability of housing / existing landlords may
sell up
Need more Council housing / Council should take over
properties / make it easier for residents to get houses

1%
1%

Not enough information / evidence

1%

Delay due to Covid-19 / review after Covid-19

0%

Will ruin house prices / market

0%

Have a registration scheme instead / make management
agent compulsory

0%

Other

4%
0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

55
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

31

Local authority survey
We also invited the four nearby local authorities to take part in an online survey. We received a response
from Rochford District Council, which is summarised here.


They responded ‘don’t know’ to whether or not to support the scheme, as they are not familiar with
the area.



They believed it would have a positive impact on their borough, stating: “a targeted approach to
problem areas can only be a good thing.”



They ‘agreed’ with the proposed fee.



They ‘agreed’ that the proposed scheme would improve each of the following:





the quality of the neighbourhood to support a safe, inclusive and cohesive community



property safety and standards



management standards in the private rented sector.

They did not want the scheme to include an option for the licence holder to be able to choose to be
monitored by an external non-regulatory body and to only be referred back to the Council when the
licence holder fails to engage with the advisory approach taken by the delivery partner. They felt this
approach would not benefit a tenant as it would potentially be too long for eventual enforcement
action.

56
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

32

Public meetings
Three public meetings were held as part of this consultation, all online due to the Covid-19 restrictions,
on 17 and 19 November and 9 December 2020. These offered people the chance to hear and see the
proposals outlined by Southend Council, to ask questions and to put forward their views. In total, 65
people were registered onto these meetings. Here is a summary of the key points.

Scheme overall


There were more landlords at the meetings than other type of stakeholder. There was generally more
opposition to the scheme than support.



Some questioned the lack of enforcement action to date. Others suggested using existing
enforcement powers instead of licensing, particularly to target rogue landlords.



Some described it as a tax on good landlords. Several SEAL members attended the meetings. They
agreed that there are lots of bad landlords but questioned how this scheme would find bad landlords
and educate others. Other participants agreed, feeling this was penalising good landlords.



There were objections to how far landlords are responsible for the behaviour of their tenants,
particularly around ASB. Others questioned what support would be offered to landlords over the ASB
of their tenants. Others still felt ASB was a police matter. Furthermore, it can take over a year to evict
somebody, showing how long it can take for a landlord to resolve such issues.



Some participants questioned doing this consultation during the Covid-19 pandemic.



There were some questions into the evidence submitted with the proposal, especially the use of 2011
census data for the size of the private rented sector in Southend.

Proposed area


Some participants objected to certain roads being included within the proposed licensing scheme,
which can stigmatise these areas. Others questioned why it wasn’t borough-wide.



There were questions about whether social housing properties were included within the scheme, as
well as exemptions for charities letting out properties.

Fees


What benefits are the Council proposing to support landlords via the scheme, some asked. They
wanted to see value for money from the fees.



Some questioned how the fees were calculated and therefore the full cost of the scheme. Linked to
this, one feared a lack of Council resources to make the scheme work.



One participant asked if income from the scheme able to be used to follow up people who aren’t
licensing.



One landlord questioned the financial impact on landlords due to the scheme.

57
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

33

Impact


Some believed landlords would leave the sector, leaving tenants homeless. A letting agent said
landlords were already poised to do this, with the licensing scheme the final nail in the coffin.



The cost will be passed onto tenants, some said.

58
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

34

Stakeholder views
We spoke to 8 stakeholders representing a range of organisations and interests in Southend. The list of
these organisations is shown in Appendix 4. Here’s a summary of their views.

Views overall


The NRLA are not against the scheme altogether providing it improves the private rented sector as
intended. They want to see tangible outcomes, e.g. on tackling property conditions, though want
transparency in this, such as by producing an annual report on the effectiveness of the licensing
scheme like some other councils have done, e.g. Newham, Leeds and Doncaster.



HARP were happy to support the proposed scheme in principle, saying it “would be brilliant” if the
scheme achieved what it intended, e.g. on standards and properties.



Peabody supports the scheme, describing it as “a positive move forward”.



Citizens Advice Southend support the scheme, believing there are benefits to landlords and tenants,
particularly around ASB. They do see complaints from tenants about neighbours and others,
apparently with landlords not stepping in. However, they want the Council to be proactive with
enforcement, not simply “lip service” to be used in political statements. The Council must put its
backing behind the scheme for it to succeed. SEAL also spoke about the need for resources to be in
place.



Essex Police like the idea in general.



SEAL supported measures to improve properties and reduce ASB. However, they believed existing
arrangements, such as SEAL themselves, are better than the proposed scheme. They wanted to see a
borough-wide approach and enough funding and resourcing to make it work.



The Conservative Group at Southend Council are not supportive of the proposals. Instead, they
preferred a voluntary arrangement and working with SEAL. For them, the problem tends to be with
the tenant more than related to the property. They described this proposal as a “sledge hammer to
crack a nut”.

Proposed area


The NRLA believed that local targeted approaches were most effective, especially those based on
evidence, like this proposal.



York Road and nearby roads were repeatedly mentioned by stakeholders as bad examples, described
as “notorious”, with prostitution and B&Bs, landlords willing to take on anyone. Another stakeholder
said something similar, that tenants with challenging and complex behaviour are often in the worst
private rented properties, yet this behaviour can also result in ASB, which encourages mirrored
behaviour from others. A third stakeholder spoke about landlords with poor standards in this area,
harassment and illegal evictions from landlords, locks changed and belongings thrown out onto the
street. This issues brand such areas as poor, a self-fulfilling negative view.

59
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

35



One stakeholder believed there wasn’t the same density of private rented properties in Victoria ward
compared to Kursaal or Milton wards, although hotspots of problems within Victoria ward,
nonetheless.



“Blatantly obvious to everyone” the town centre is the problem, said one stakeholder, with Queen’s
Road and the south seafront, full of old guest houses.



One tenant advice agency believed the scheme was in the right spots.



Essex Police stated that the vast majority of crime in Southend occurs in the four wards. Across the
borough they have two community policing teams. One focuses just on Kursaal, Victoria and Milton
wards, whereas the other team handles the other 14 wards.



Some felt that there were problems within the proposed area but also some streets that shouldn’t be
included, plus some streets outside the proposed area that should be included. SEAL, for example,
felt that some areas included high concentrations of social housing and therefore deprivation. SEAL
felt a borough-wide approach was needed instead.



One landlord organisation said lots of the ASB came from feed-through roads from town or the
station, so not necessarily coming from private tenants.

Fees


The Labour Group representative said that if landlords, who are running a business, don’t pay it then
falls on taxpayers to cover the cost.



One landlord organisation believed the fees are too high, especially compared with £300-£400 from
other councils, they said.



One landlord organisation suggested discounts for multiple properties (e.g. just one fit and proper
test), accredited landlords (SEAL, NRLA) and early applications. They also suggested a pro-rata fee for
those who license within the five-year period, reduced year on year.



A landlord organisation felt that good landlords pay, while rogue landlords don’t and get away with
it.

Licence conditions


There is a separate, national consultation about having a carbon monoxide alarm in private rented
properties. The NRLA already supports this, for example.



One tenant support agency supported the licence conditions but was concerned about how they
would be enforced, such as on landlord harassment and illegal evictions.



One landlord organisation said the fit and proper person test was “ridiculous”. Instead, they wanted
to sit down with the Council to set the standards.

Delivery partner


There was some discussion over SEAL, including by other agencies, not just SEAL itself. Positively, one
tenant support agency described improvements in some cases, e.g. Better presented properties. This
stakeholder felt there was a degree of accountability with SEAL sticker in property windows. SEAL
60
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

36

themselves believed that the relationship with the Council used to be stronger and that resources
more widely to engage landlords had lapsed.


One organisation didn’t see SEAL in this guise, seeing SEAL more as a closed-shop accreditation agency
than an independent third party. Another tenant support agency liked the idea of SEAL, especially as
landlords didn’t have to pay for it. A third stakeholder said SEAL had delivered some good work but,
as a voluntary arrangement, hadn’t gotten rid of all problems, doesn’t represent a large enough chunk
of sector and bad landlords won’t join it. Another stakeholder felt that because SEAL is voluntary,
there is no mandatory enforcement, no sanctions it can apply, a downside. Another stakeholder
agreed about this voluntary nature of SEAL, with bad landlords opting out.



Using a delivery partner allows that agency to focus on the proposed area and the Council to address
problems elsewhere in the borough.

Impact of the licensing scheme


One tenant support agency was a little concerned that the scheme would mean they lose some
landlords along the way, even though the organisation was supportive of the scheme. There was some
concern about what happens to tenants evicted because of this, potentially increasing homelessness.
A similar view from another tenant support agency was if the scheme would alienate landlords and
deter them from letting to clients of this agency. A landlord organisation also had concern about
landlords selling up, the scheme being the final straw, leading to increased homelessness. The
Conservative Group shared similar views. New entrants may also be put off the market.



Another concern from a few stakeholders was about rents creeping up because of the licence fee. A
landlord organisation also felt rents would go up, with costs passed onto tenants. Some landlords had
already done this following the introduction of licensing, in places like Great Yarmouth and a 40% rise
in rents in Hastings, they said. The Conservative Group also had concerns about costs being passed
onto tenants, which would increase their living costs.



There was recognition among some stakeholders that the current situation with the Covid pandemic
was making renting harder. For example, if tenants had been furloughed and then lost their jobs, their
income drops and they become reliant on Universal Credit. This was increasing rent arrears for some
tenants. Also, another stakeholder described a backlog in court because of Covid, such as with S21
cases, therefore taking 9 to 12 months for landlords to legally evict tenants. A landlord organisation
said it can take up to two years to evict tenants who don’t pay rent. A landlord organisation said it
was difficult to inspect properties because of the pandemic. This would apply to landlords themselves
but also if the scheme goes ahead while restrictions are still in place.



The Labour Group representative believed the scheme would provide extra resources and a proper
inspection regime, enable the Council to identify who the landlord is and therefore make it easier for
both Council officers and private tenants. They believed the scheme offered the chance to deliver
visible improvements and provide a virtuous cycle generally, e.g. littering, fly-tipping and ASB
reducing, making the sector and Southend a better place.



A drawback to introducing the scheme was that it would impair the Council’s relationship with
landlords, which was important now around when aiming to avoid evictions.



Rogue landlords take matters into their own hands, such as with evictions, one tenant support agency
told us.

61
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

37



This scheme offers landlords the opportunity to be supported by the Council.



One tenant support agency recognised landlord frustration if tenants don’t pay rent and wreck
properties.



One tenant support agency felt the Council was not doing enough to support tenants now. This agency
described retaliatory evictions for tenant complaints but where there was no notice served on
landlords by the Council, making these powers “basically redundant”. They cited a Freedom of
Information request that showed just 13 disrepair notices over a three-year period, amazingly low,
they said. A landlord organisation also voiced concern about not enough action taken against rogue
landlords, believing instead that the Council is in fact housing bad tenants with such landlords.



Essex Police hoped for a strong impact, particularly once landlords are identified and to deal with
problem premises.



A landlord organisation believed roads could be stigmatised because of licensing, devaluing properties
there by £30-£50k as seen elsewhere where licencing had been introduced. The Conservative Group
representative agreed.

Alternatives


Around ABS, there was a request from the NRLA that the Council supports landlords’ efforts on S21
evictions.



One organisation described landlords as “a feisty bunch”, wanting to see how they could be rewarded
for being a good landlord. Can properties be promoted like Tripadvisor or Trustpilot, for example, or
have approved landlords like universities do?



Having housing benefit paid directly to landlords would be a help, one tenant support agency
suggested, even though this rests with DWP rather than Southend Council.



Essex Police described work being trialled in Basildon and Southend that focuses on what an area
looks like, based on evidence suggesting that if an area looks nice there is less crime. For private
renting, this means tackling issues around fly-tipping and keeping private houses up to scratch.



SEAL believed they were a viable alternative, though needed financial support and more engagement
from the Council. They favoured more partnership working, including with teams like the nowdisbanded SMART one.



The Conservative Group believed councils generally hadn’t done enough with the changes to HMO
licensing introduced in October 2018. They felt existing powers should be used, including prohibition
notices or PSBOs for lower level ASB. They suggested more partnership working too, e.g. With PCSOs.

Wider comments


The NRLA wanted energy efficiency to be incorporated into any licensing scheme, particularly with
the proposed national target of private rented properties needing an EPC rating of C or lower from
2025, down from an EPC of E today. With a large number of older properties in the PRS, they wanted
a coordinated approach between the Council and the sector, such as retrofitting properties at a
community level or providing a support package, such as for internal and external insulation.



HARP believe it is hard to get close to private landlords, showing a desire for greater work with them.
62
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

38



A shame that landlord forums, which had started to get going again, had to stop because of the
pandemic. There was a desire for more forums like this. A landlord organisation said similar, describing
the recent lack of landlord forums, stands, presentations.



HARP felt that there was currently an under-resourcing of inspection and enforcement. It also felt that
communication with Council officers had not been as strong as in the past. A landlord organisation
also spoke about reduced resourcing, including the disbanding of the SMART team a few years ago.



The Labour Group representative believed the “odds [are] stacked against us” on enforcement action.



One landlord organisation believed that the proposed scheme was a way to raise money, including
from fines, akin to how traffic wardens bring in revenue, they said.



With implementing the scheme, one landlord organisation spoke about a problem with delays with
HMO licensing. This can cause problems with mortgages, for example, as a mortgage provider
demands a licence to be in place, not just applied for. The delay in processing applications can
therefore jeopardise landlords mortgaging or re-mortgaging properties.



One landlord organisation believed S21 was the only tool landlords had to tackle ASB. There was
therefore concern about central government plans to abolish S21. S8 was very hard to prove ASB,
almost needing to camp out with police and to gather witness statements from neighbours.



One landlord organisation questioned the evidence provided as part of this consultation. This included
data on the size of the PRS itself, questioning whether in fact the proposed area covers more than
20%. The Conservative Group also questioned whether the case had been made strongly enough to
introduce a licensing scheme.

63
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

39

Written responses
We also received written responses from 22 individuals or organisations, some providing multiple
responses (e.g.an email plus letter) and a few circulating the same points produced by SEAL. The
organisations that submitted formal responses are listed in Appendix 5. We have summarised these into
themes below and include the full responses, anonymised for individuals as a separate Appendix 6.

Timing of proposals


One landlord organisation has requested more time for direct consultation with the Council, giving
time to improve the proposals. Another expressed disappointment from its landlord members that
the consultation has taken the minimum period necessary, especially during a pandemic.



One respondent, a landlord and resident, questioned the timing of the proposals: “Right now, people,
including landlords are dealing with sickness, loss of staff, loss of income, rent arrears, increased
borrowing, and the deaths of friends and family.” Other respondents believed this was not the right
time, with the Covid pandemic, to introduce licensing. Several cited government statements
suggesting licensing schemes should not be implemented or should be halted. This states that councils
should take a common-sense, pragmatic approach to landlord licensing enforcement during these
unprecedented times, one letting agency body put.



An additional point made by one respondent about the current situation is that some letting agents
are furloughed or continue to work from home, so are unable to access relevant paperwork and
documentation to complete licensing scheme applications and process fees.



A few respondents also questioned the timing of the consultation itself. One felt that holding no inperson public consultation meetings, because of the pandemic, will have put many at a disadvantage
by excluding those who are not internet savvy.

Objections to scheme


One private landlord objected to the scheme for their property, claiming it “is a blanket and
indiscriminate scheme unfair to some landlords”. This landlord felt the property was well maintained,
managed by an agent and had a “nice retired gentleman” as a tenant.



Another landlord also objected, stating: “The council and police already hold all the necessary powers
to enforce all current and future legislation.”



One national letting agency body did not support selective licensing schemes “as they are not an
effective method of driving up standards in the private rented sector”, with low enforcement and
prosecution.

Proposed area


Several respondents objected to just parts of Southend being included in the scheme. One landlord
felt the selection of areas was “selective penalisation”, feeling it unfair to penalise all landlords in
certain areas. Another felt this was “discrimination” and would lead to “negative ramifications”. This
64
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

40

is especially the case if tenants are treated badly outside of the proposed area but not subject to the
licensing regime. This landlord instead suggested introducing licensing to the whole of Southend
rather than just certain parts. Others agreed that it would be fairer to have a borough-wide approach
or to license all landlords.


One respondent questioned why some streets and wards with ASB and waste problems hadn’t been
included, while others that don’t have problems have been included.



One national letting agency, which did not agree with the scheme, stated that if it is introduced then
it should have a narrower focus rather than be borough-wide. Another national body voiced the same
feelings.



A few respondents linked the ASB in the proposed areas with spill-over from the town centre, “where
you will find a high number of pubs and late night entertainment venues such as discos, the new
university and its accommodation, plus the late opening take away food venues”. One commented
that these facilities also “greatly contribute to the financial prosperity of Southend”.

Anti-social behaviour


A few respondents questioned landlords’ ability and powers to tackle ASB over their tenants’
behaviour. Another, national agency stated that “landlords do not manage their tenants; they manage
a tenancy agreement.”



One believed this was a “law enforcement issue”. This was particularly the case where tenants’ ASB
is linked to mental health or narcotic/alcohol abuse, something landlords are not equipped to deal
with, one respondent put. Another respondent questioned what support would be available for
landlords on this, such as from adult social care along with children’s services and housing.



A few respondents believed a lot of the drug-related issues stemmed from social housing in high-rise
blocks, although this type of housing isn’t included within the licensing scheme. Some other
respondents also suspected ASB came from social housing blocks rather than the PRS.



A belief that most ASB comes from occupants of HMOs rather than other private rented properties
and therefore already under the existing mandatory HMO licensing scheme.



Another respondent questioned the ability to link ASB to individual private rented properties.



Another landlord called it “naïve to think that tenants will conform to any anti-social behaviour order
within the tenancy agreement”, particularly as some tenants already don’t pay rent on time and have
pets, even though these are included in agreements.



One respondent suggested the scheme was “stigmatising good tenants”, blaming them for ASB.



Waste management will be difficult for landlords to control, one landlord organisation put, continuing
that tenants are adults and responsible for their own actions and behaviour.

Fees


A few respondents objected to responsible landlords paying an extra fee, especially when this will be
used to tackle rogue landlords.

65
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

41



Lower fees, especially where landlords of multiple properties need only one appropriate person
investigation. The remainder of costs should be obtained from fees or fines to those landlords who
merit more of your attention.



Some respondents questioned what they would receive from the licence fee.



One landlord stated the high level of costs already being introduced to landlords. These include: the
introduction of the S24 Landlord/Tenant tax, where interest on borrowings no longer deductible for
tax purposes; new legislation introduced to improve properties and management of properties; and
EPC rating requirements.



If a fee is introduced, take it in monthly instalments, one (objecting) landlord suggested.



One landlord described the scheme as a “punitive tax”. Others said that it would be good landlords
paying for work against bad ones, who will continue to operate below the radar.



One respondent felt the fee seemed unreasonably high, particularly with no discounts offered to
those in recognised accreditation bodies like Safeagent.



One respondent wanted discounts for letting agents who belong to an accredited body such as
members of ARLA Propertymark. Another suggested discounts for members of Safeagent or other
similar bodies, as “members [have] to observe standards that are at least compatible with (and are
often over and above) those of licensing schemes”.



One letting agency body suggested discounts for properties which go above the legally required EPC
rating levels, currently a minimum of EPC E.



One respondent suggested a waiver to the fee where a landlord is supporting the Council by housing
a homeless household that fulfil homelessness duties.



Using a delivery partner can offer monthly direct debits that, according to one such partner, mean
landlords “will pay little or no more by following this route” over the five years. Another respondent,
a landlord body, also supported split payments each week or month, which is easier for landlords’
cash flow, particularly after Covid-19.



One landlord body cited the Gaskin court case that states that both parts of the licence fee are person
specific. They wanted reassurance that income will therefore be focused on the individual who has
paid it and not used to cross support work with other landlords.



A respondent suggested fees should be pro-rata if taken within the five-year period of the scheme to
offer value for money. They claimed this can be anti-competitive, as it can add cost to the process of
engaging or changing a license holding managing agent.

Licence conditions


Applicants should have an enhanced DBS check, one respondent stated.



A feeling among some respondents that what is already asked of private landlords is excessive, e.g.
EPCs, gas safety certificates, electrical condition reports, smoke alarms and carbon monoxide
detectors.



A few responses provided detailed comments on specific conditions. The full written responses will
be included with this consultation report.



One tenant did not want tenant references being passed onto the Council.
66
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

42



In Safeagent’s response, they included several detailed comments about licence conditions, many
stating that their members already meet the proposed standards. The full response attached shows
these.

Enforcement


Some respondents stated that the Council already has powers to tackle these problems. For example,
one response stated that the Council had received 596 complaints relating to the condition of PRS
properties in 2017/18 but issued just 12 improvement notices.



One respondent questioned what would happen if they became a bad landlord instead of a
responsible one, what actions would be taken against them.



More should be done to tackle non-compliant landlords, those who do not belong to any association,
several respondents put. The focus of regulation should be on rogue landlords who go under the
radar.



Several respondents questioned the lack of information about additional resources needed for
enforcement, including the cost of this. Without additional resources for enforcement, criminal
operators will continue to ignore their legal responsibilities and avoid the scheme which is designated
to target them, penalising lawful landlords and agents with additional cost burdens, one respondent
stated.



One letting agency body claimed that many licensing schemes fail due to the lack of adequate
resources needed to undertake the necessary enforcement activity. They state that it is the lack of
resources put into enforcement rather than a lack of legislation that limits action on rogue landlords.
Another respondent, from a landlord body, reiterated this, highlighting the need for an effective
enforcement policy in order to licensing to be successful.

Third party organisation


One landlord believed SEAL should take this role, as an intermediary between the Council and
landlords.



The Home Safe Scheme expressed their interest in being the delivery partner. It claims to “provide
support and development to engaging landlords whilst working with the licensing and enforcing Local
Authorities who can focus their efforts on non-engaging and non-compliant landlords”. It feels that
there should be a single vehicle for landlords to seek a licence, however, to avoid confusion. Such a
scheme also offers nominated managing agents to provide evidence of their fit and proper person
status and details of their approved redress scheme. The Scheme believes that the first 18 months to
two years of a designation concentrates on issuing licences and bringing properties up to an
acceptable standard thus encouraging better property management. Thereafter, the focus can move
to making a real and lasting difference in communities by delivering local charters to address the worst
problems, such as ASB, waste management or tenancy management and sustainment. There are more
details about the Home Safe Scheme from their written submission to this consultation.



Safeagent also wanted the Council to see it as an “equivalent recognised landlord accreditation body”.
Its response included lots of detail about why membership of Safeagent should be considered
adequate in place of licensing.

67
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

43

Impact of scheme


One respondent felt the scheme was not required at all. This person said they’d sell their entire
portfolio in the affected areas, leaving the Council to house their tenants.



One organisation said letting agents and landlords have got quite enough of their plate with the
pandemic, the cladding scandal, evictions being banned and the other changes to electrical safety and
energy performance that have all happened in one year. This is already leading to a mass exodus of
private landlords due to the unceasing increasing burden in regulation and costs.



The fees will be passed onto tenants, some respondents stated. Will housing benefit costs increase to
match this, one questioned.



One landlord believed that it was discourage reputable landlords from investing in the selective areas
by arbitrarily introducing additional costs.



A few respondents feared that mortgage lenders would not provide mortgages for properties within
the proposed area, based on the assumption that the area has problems with deprivation, ASB etc.



One response suggested homelessness would increase, with landlords leaving the sector.



Properties would be devalued, by £30-£50k, one respondent suggested, because of the stigma
attached to the area, being associated with deprivation, crime or ineffective waste management (e.g.
fly tipping, littering).



If private tenants causing ASB are evicted, this simply displaces the problems elsewhere, one
respondent put.

Alternatives


Several respondents believed there was enough legislation on the PRS already. For example, one
national body stated that: “up to June 2015, there were 145 laws with over 400 regulations that
landlords need to abide by to legally let a property in England and Wales.”



One respondent felt that money for this scheme would be better spent recruiting more housing
enforcement officers and on providing cheap warden assisted accommodation for the homeless. They
said that more homeless hostels are needed in the form of studio flats, container flats or caravan sites
instead of private rented properties. When such tenants are in PRS properties, because of their mild
mental health/drugs/alcohol problems they can miss appointments and have sanctions on their
welfare benefits, with a knock-on effect leading to rent arrears.



One landlord suggested there should be a register of bad tenants held by either the Council or some
body for landlords to check during the referencing process. Another respondent suggested the Council
needs a strategy that includes action against any tenants who are persistent offenders, particularly
problems caused by mental health or drink and drug issues.



A rating system for both tenants and landlords, with scores for how the property is cared for, how
rents are paid and how the tenant behaves etc. Any negative reviews should be verified in both cases.
This was likened to credit ratings, necessary in order to get credit.



To license all private letter properties through licensed letting agents, suggested one respondent.

68
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

44



One landlord organisation suggested an efficient, well-trained ASB SWAT team to liaise and educate.
Others backed a stronger focus on ASB, including with dedicated officers. One said instead of selective
licensing, however.



There was wider support for greater partnership working between councils, letting agents, landlords
and professional bodies to tackle issues within the private rented sector. A landlord organisation
suggested regular meetings to build on successful connections and operations delivered in the past.
Involving other local agencies – such as the policy and fire authority, community safety teams,
community and voluntary services, and other housing providers – was also praised. Homestamp in
the West Midlands was cited as an example of a collaborative approach. Similar alternatives include
the co-regulatory approach in Liverpool or the London Rental Standard or Leeds Rental Standard, all
of which involving landlords and agents.



One respondent suggested a Passport Scheme similar to Stockton-On-Tees PLuSS, whereby members
of a landlord organisation are inspected and monitored by the agency, rewarding good compliant
landlords. Some other respondents also wanted encouragement of good property and management
standards, as well as enforcement action where needed.



Being members of Safeagent was deemed enough for them, abiding by standards, ensuring deposits
and client money is protected and, as agents, offering mediation between landlords and tenants.



One respondent pointed to the potential for a more adversarial system if S21 changes take place
nationally, leaving landlords to become more risk adverse to take tenants that do not have a perfect
reference and history.



In contrast, a tenant respondent wanted more focus on tenants’ rights, including lobby against unfair
evictions, preventing landlords from cancelling tenancy agreements and other wider suggestions.

Other comments


A few respondents questioned the level of resourcing needed to implement and administer the
scheme, as well as dedicated resources to enforce it.



Private landlords being blamed for any problem, especially as social housing providers are excluded
from this licensing.



One landlord stressed how long it currently takes to evict somebody because of court delays.



One respondent questioned whether the scheme would apply to all landlords, including those like this
one with just a single property, or only to those with multiple properties and gaining a business
income.



Some have questioned the evidence provided, particularly using 2011 data for the size of the PRS in
the town centre, which has “escalated greatly”, according to one respondent. Another response
claimed there was no evidence that negative behaviour related to private tenants rather than other
tenures. A third questioned wider evidence gaps, such as the link between poorly managed properties
resulting in unacceptable levels of ASB. Another stated there was no evidence provided that correlates
private tenants and ASB.



If the scheme does go ahead, one respondent wanted the Council to publish the full results each year,
showing items like the number of landlords prosecuted, enforcement notices served etc. Another
national agency also wanted regular reporting, including outputs (e.g. number of applications
processed) and outcomes (e.g. of inspections) from the scheme.
69
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

45



A few respondents stated that HMO licensing has been very slow in operating, taking up to two years
to issue licences, another claimed.



One respondent wanted the option of a paper-based application system as well as an online one, to
accommodate those landlords who struggle with an online systems. Another respondent reiterated
this point, particularly about elderly landlords.



One respondent wanted the Council to avoid attaching any waste management duties on landlords.
This body preferred the Council to talk to tenants in hotspots instead of issuing licences.



A few respondents asked what support would be available to landlords for a variety of related issues,
including around a tenant’s ASB or even support to remove tenants causing ASB.



One landlord agency wanted more support for landlords on energy efficiency, particularly with central
government’s move to have all PRS properties rated EPC C by 2025.

70
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

46

Appendices
Appendix 1: Map of proposed licensing scheme
Appendix 2: Survey questions
Appendix 3: Demographic profile of respondents
Appendix 4: Stakeholder organisations interviewed
Appendix 5: Organisations submitting written responses
Appendix 6: Written responses to consultation (separate document)

71
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

47

Appendix 1: Map of proposed licensing
scheme

72
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

48

Appendix 2: Survey questions

73
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

49

74
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

50

75
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

51

76
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

52

77
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

53

78
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

54

79
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

55

80
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

56

Appendix 3: Demographic profile of
respondents
By gender
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Male

815

45%

Female

818

46%

I describe myself another way

8

0%

Prefer not to say

76

4%

Unknown

75

4%

1,792

100%

Total

By age band
Number of respondents Percentage of total
18-24

13

1%

25-34

126

7%

35-44

234

13%

45-54

312

17%

55-64

399

22%

65-74

356

20%

75+

184

10%

Prefer not to say

95

5%

Unknown

73

4%

1,792

100%

Total

By disability
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Disabled
Not disabled
Unknown
Total

241

13%

1,449

81%

102

6%

1,792

100%

81
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

57

By ethnic group
Number of respondents Percentage of total
White

1,476

82%

Asian / Asian British

38

2%

Mixed / multiple ethnic group

33

2%

Black / Black British

31

2%

Other

17

1%

Prefer not to say

118

7%

Unknown

79

4%

1,792

100%

Total

By respondent type
Respondents could tick more than one option.
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Resident

1,313

73%

Private landlord

307

17%

Letting agent

24

1%

Managing agent

26

1%

Private tenant

253

14%

Work in Southend

328

18%

Business in Southend

136

8%

No connection

25

1%

Other

183

10%

Unknown

21

1%

1,792

100%

Total

82
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

58

By district / borough
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Southend-on-Sea

1,664

92.9%

Rochford

11

0.6%

Newham

5

0.3%

Castle Point

4

0.2%

Hackney

2

0.1%

Basildon

2

0.1%

Canterbury

2

0.1%

Bromley

1

0.1%

Chelmsford

1

0.1%

Epping Forest

1

0.1%

Havering

1

0.1%

Horsham

1

0.1%

Redbridge

1

0.1%

Sheffield

1

0.1%

Suffolk Coastal

1

0.1%

Tendring

1

0.1%

Thanet

1

0.1%

Thurrock

1

0.1%

Tonbridge and Malling

1

0.1%

Tower Hamlets

1

0.1%

Uttlesford

1

0.1%

Waltham Forest

1

0.1%

Unknown

87

4.9%

1,792

100%

Total

83
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

59

By Southend ward
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Belfairs Ward

9

0.5%

Blenheim Park Ward

16

0.9%

Chalkwell Ward

159

8.9%

6

0.3%

Kursaal Ward

305

17.0%

Leigh Ward

18

1.0%

Milton Ward

521

29.1%

Prittlewell Ward

87

4.9%

Shoeburyness Ward

11

0.6%

Southchurch Ward

74

4.1%

St. Laurence Ward

11

0.6%

St. Luke's Ward

68

3.8%

Thorpe Ward

99

5.5%

Victoria Ward

198

11.0%

West Leigh Ward

12

0.7%

West Shoebury Ward

12

0.7%

Westborough Ward

58

3.2%

Out of Southend / Unknown

128

7.1%

1,792

100%

Eastwood Park Ward

Total

By inside / outside proposed licensing area
Number of respondents Percentage of total
Inside

804

45%

Outside

901

50%

Unknown

87

5%

1,792

100%

Total

84
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

60

Appendix 4: Stakeholder organisations
interviewed
We spoke to 11 stakeholders representing the following range of organisations and interests in Southend:


Labour Group in Southend Council



Conservative Group in Southend Council



Essex Police



NRLA (landlord agency)



SEAL (landlords)



Eastern Landlords Association



HARP (homelessness support)



Peabody (floating support)



Citizen Advice Southend (tenant advice)

85
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

61

Appendix 5: Organisations submitting written
responses
Among the 22 formal written responses to the consultation, the following organisations submitted a
response:


ARLA



Eastern Landlords Association



Home Safe Scheme



NRLA



Property and Commercial Enterprises (PACE) Ltd



Safeagent



SEAL.

86
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

62

Appendix 6: Written responses to
consultation (separate document)

87
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

63

88
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

64

SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL

SELECTIVE LICENSING
SCHEME PROPOSAL

And

Supporting Evidence Base

1
89

Contents
1.

Introduction……………………………………………………………………………………………4.

2.

Background…………………………………………………………………………………………....5.
The Private Rented Sector in Southend on Sea
Southend-on-Sea Context
Southend 2050 and Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategic plans 2018-2028

3.

What is a Selective Licensing Scheme?.............................................................................. 11.

4.

What happens if I let a property without a Licence?...........................................................16.

5.

The proposal………………………………….………………………………………………………18.

6.

Why do we need Selective Licencing?.................................................................................20.
Effectiveness of Selective Licensing

7.

Aims and Objectives of the scheme……………………………………...…………………….23.

8.

The Evidence of Private Rented Sector (PRS).……………………………………………….25.
Locations of PRS in the borough

9.

Summary of key findings…………………………………………………………………………28.

10.

What has the council done to improve the Private Rented Sector?............................29.

Use of existing powers
Introductions of new powers and tools in PRS
11.

What alternative courses of action has the council considered?.................................33.

12.

How would the proposed Selective Licensing scheme be delivered?.........................37.

13.

Selective Licencing in operation………………………………………………………………39.

14.

The proposed fee structure:…………………………………………………………….……..42.

15.

Benefits of the Selective Licensing Scheme………………………………………………..44

16.

Risk Analysis……………………………..………………………………………………………47.

17.

How will the council consult?..........................................................................................49.

18.

Supporting Evidence Base & Methodology ………………………………….…………….54.

Criteria
19

Legal Framework ……………………………………………………………………………….84.

20.

How Selective Licensing would fit with other strategies……………………………….87.

21.

Potential Risks and how they would be managed……………………………………….92.

22.

Review of designation………………………………………………………………………….93.

23.

How do I make comments on this proposal……………………………………………….94.

2
90

Sources of Guidance and Reference

1. This document has been researched and drafted with due reference to the
following sources of guidance and good practice, in addition to those sources
referenced within the body of the document:
2. Selective Licensing Review 2019 by Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government (MHCLG)
3. “Approval Steps for additional and selective licensing designations in
England” published by MHCLG revised edition
4. “Selective Licensing for local authorities – A good practice guide” by Shelter
5. Selective Licensing in the private sector: A guide for local authorities.
6. Best practice examples have been gained from Local Authorities with a
Selective Licensing Scheme in place and from those Local Authorities which
have had their Selective Licensing designations subject to Judicial Review
proceedings.

3
91

1. Introduction
1.1

This document contains the Council’s proposal to implement a Selective
Licensing of private rented homes in some parts of the borough and the
Supporting Evidence Base to support the proposal. It includes the analysis
undertaken to establish that Selective Licensing is necessary and the result of
the research into whether there is evidence that the legal criteria to implement
Selective Licensing has been met.

1.2

It also provides information on how the scheme would be implemented and
what the anticipated outcomes would be in order that consultees have an
opportunity to consider and provide an informed response to the proposal.

1.3

It is important to note that at this stage these proposals are not finalised.
Following consultation the Council will consider all responses received, publish
a Consultation Report and prepare a report for the Council’s Cabinet for a
decision on whether some parts of these wards (i.e. Kursaal, Milton, Chalkwell
and Victoria) should be designated under the Selective Licensing scheme.

1.4

This document outlines the methodology and evidence used to justify the areas
proposed for inclusion in designation to ensure that the Council’s proposal
meets the guidance issued the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG).

1.5

A range of information/evidence from a variety of data sources has been
considered in order to inform the proposed locations which would be most
appropriate for inclusion in the provided Selective Licensing designation. This
information has been critical in terms of being able to justify (or not) the inclusion
of the identified areas in a proposed Selective Licensing (SL) scheme.

1.6

As a council, we are committed to ensuring that all residents in the borough
including those in the private rented sector are living in accommodation that is
safe and secure. One way that we are proposing to achieve this is by driving
up standards in the private rented sector in order to foster stronger and safer
communities.

4
92

2. Background
The Private Rented Sector (PRS) in Southend on Sea

2.1

The private sector within the borough has continued to grow over the years and
the 2011 Census data estimated it to account for 22% of properties. Excluding
the London Boroughs, Southend is the seventh most densely populated area
in the United Kingdom.

2.2

The East of England is considered to be an affluent region and yet in Southend
five Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs - geographical areas defined for
statistical purposes of minimum population 1000, average of 1500) fall within
the 10% most deprived areas in England. There is good evidence to suggest
that deprivation and social exclusion can impact on a number of aspects of life
including employment, crime, education/skills, health, housing and the
environment.

2.3

Southend has a higher proportion of households classified as overcrowded
compared with the East of England. Increased mortality rates, tuberculosis,
respiratory conditions and childhood meningitis can all be linked to
overcrowded conditions.

2.4

Many private landlords operating in Southend are professional and already
provide a good standard of accommodation. Some local landlords are members
of South East Alliance for Landlords (SEAL) which was previously formed to
provide a coordinated response for the Council’s previous proposal to introduce
Selective Licensing over five years ago. However, whilst SEAL has helped
some landlords improve their standards, the membership has remained low
since its inception and therefore unable to have the desired outcome in the most
needed areas and we have seen a continuation of significant amount of

5
93

privately rented properties with anti-social behaviour issues, poor condition and
that are not well managed.
2.5

The negative impact of poor quality, badly managed accommodation can cause
anti-social behaviour, crime, deprivation and poor property conditions which all
can have a serious detrimental effect on tenants and the surrounding
environment. Therefore, by improving the quality of private rented
accommodation, the surrounding community should also improve along with
cross tenure relations, reduced antisocial behaviour and stabilisation of local
neighbourhoods.

2.6

Our aims for the private rented sector are;


Improved housing conditions for those in the private sector



A reduction in significant and persistent problems caused by anti-social
behaviour



Reduced levels of property related crime



An increase in the proportion of good landlords and an elimination of rogue
landlords



To develop an improved private rented offer providing higher quality rented
accommodation which would result in improved neighbourhoods.

2.7

It is proposed to introduce Selective Licensing as a key tool to help tackle the
problems associated with persistent anti-social behaviour, poor quality, and
poorly managed properties in some of the most deprived parts of the borough.
We calculate that the introduction of Selective Licensing, alongside other
initiatives in the selected areas, will ultimately improve these areas and make
them more attractive places to live with improved neighbourhood environments.

Southend Context
2.8

Southend-on Sea is one of the largest built up areas in the East of England and
the closest seaside resort to London. It is located on the north side of the
6
94

Thames Estuary approximately 40 miles east of Central London and is
bordered to the north by Rochford District and to the west by Castle Point
District. Southend has many geographic, demographic and economic
characteristics that make it distinctive compared to other areas. Excluding the
London Boroughs, Southend is the seventh most densely populated area in the
United Kingdom.
2.9

Southend enjoys a diverse economy and unlike many of the traditional seaside
resorts, is not wholly reliant on its tourism industry for employment.

2.10

The private rented sector within Southend has grown significantly over recent
years and plays a vital role in the borough’s overall housing market. Evidence
would also suggest that this sector is still growing both nationally, regionally
and locally.

2.11

According to the 2011 Census, there were 17,109 households privately renting
in Southend on Sea. Whilst the census data is almost 10 years old, it is still the
best source of data in order to estimate the PRS as the next census is not due
until 2021. In May 2019, Southend Home Analytics estimated that out of 84,086
residential dwellings, 18,136 were privately rented. Whilst the next census data
is not due until 2021, from the above estimates the sector has continued to
grow and we can estimate it to be around 25%.

2.12

Given the stated increase above in the estimated numbers, its shows that the
private rented sector has continued to grow over the years. The proposed
scheme would not require approval from the Secretary of State (SoS) as it will
only affect 19.7% of properties within the private rented sector based on the
2011 Census data.

2.14

The 2011 census data used estimated the private rented sector at around
17,109 which makes up 22% of dwellings within the borough and was found to
be more prominent in LSOAs in Milton, Kursall, Chalkwell, Westborough,
Victoria, Leigh, Prittlewell and Thorpe wards.

7
95

2.15

Whilst private rented housing is a tenure of choice in all of the borough’s wards,
in some areas of our borough the concentrations are significantly above the
national and borough average and with this comes other problems.

Southend 2050 and Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategic
plans 2018-2028
2.17 Through the Southend 2050 vision, Southend-on-Sea Borough Council has
invited everyone to share their aspirations of the kind of place they want the
borough to become in the coming years.
2.18

Ensuring that housing within the borough meets the needs of the local residents
directly feeds into the ‘Safe and Well’ theme for Southend 2050, as well as more
broadly underpinning community cohesion and participation aspirations.

2.19

Southend’s Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy aims to provide
‘decent high quality, affordable and secure homes for the people of Southend’.
An important priority within the strategy is to improve and make best use of the
existing housing stock. To help achieve this the strategy is underpinned by a
range of actions including advice, financial assistance, enforcement, bringing
long term empty homes back into use and delivering demonstrable
improvements to private rented homes through the use of licensing schemes.

2.20

Prioritising the supply of safe, locally affordable homes is a key priority within the
Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy. Improving access to good
quality, well managed accommodation in the private rented sector is one of the
strategic priorities underpinning this strategy1 and actions proposed to help
deliver this include:
•

New approaches to working with the private rented sector including leasing

•

Improved joint working and support for private landlords
8
96

•

Bringing empty homes back into use, reviewing the tools/software,
resources and opportunities at our disposal to do so.

2.21

•

Tackling Rogue Landlords

•

Improving the condition of accommodation

•

Addressing standards of management

•

Licensing Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)

•

Possible Selective Licensing in the private rented sector

•

Addressing financial barriers to accessing accommodation

•

Ensuring people have support to sustain tenancies

•

Exploring opportunities for developing a Local Lettings Agency

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council is currently proposing the introduction of
Selective Licensing within parts of the borough with known ASB, poor property
conditions, high crime levels and deprivation. To do this, the Council
commissioned Arc4 to carry out the initial work needed of gathering the
evidence base which would inform the areas to designate, should the scheme
go ahead.

2.22 Arc4 have a detailed understanding of housing markets, excellent knowledge of
market intelligence and significant experience of collecting and interpreting data
to identify areas for designation under Selective Licensing as set out in
legislation. They have completed similar work for other local authorities and
came highly recommended by their previous customers.
2.23

As with several other local authorities, Southend Borough Council (SBC)
operates a mandatory licensing scheme for Houses in Multiple Occupation
(HMOs) which are properties that are occupied by five or more people, forming
two or more households, and with the occupants sharing amenities such as a
kitchen or bathroom. These HMOs in the Selective Licensing area will be
9
97

exempt as they will already be licensed under that scheme but the nonmandatory HMOs will be included in the scheme.
2.24

Managing the private rented sector well plays an important role in providing
choice and meeting the borough’s housing need. However, the generally shortterm nature of private tenancies also brings with it concerns about the impact
on communities when the sector gets out of balance and especially when
privately rented properties are not well managed. Too often poorly managed
properties result in unacceptable levels of antisocial behaviour, which can be
damaging to local neighbourhoods if not dealt with. In Southend the evidence
suggests that higher levels of anti-social behaviour occur where renting is
concentrated within the town. Within the privately rented areas there are also
concerns about housing conditions and standards.

2.25

SBC has already established a Mandatory Licensing scheme for Houses in
Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in various wards with a high concentration of
HMOs. This helps address management issues affecting whole buildings, e.g.
fire safety and common parts. If the proposal for Selective Licensing does go
ahead, it will help to improve property standards of the rest of properties in these
areas.

2.26

Working together to tackle crime and ASB in Southend is a key priority for the
Safe & Well theme for Southend 2050. This would ensure that people in
Southend feel safe in all aspects of their lives and are well enough to live
fulfilling lives.

10
98

3. What is a Selective Licensing Scheme?
3.1

Selective Licensing is a discretionary licensing scheme which was introduced
within the Housing Act 2004 (part 3, section 80) and allows local housing
authorities to designate ‘areas suffering from either significant and persistent
anti-social behaviour and / or low housing demand’. In 2015 the conditions
were expanded to include to include poor property conditions, high crime, high
levels of deprivation and high migration.

3.2

Selective Licensing requires the landlords of all privately rented properties
operating within a designated area to operate under the terms of a licence
awarded by the local authority. There are costs associated with administration
of the scheme which are then recouped in the form of charges to the landlords.
These charges vary across the country and discounts are often applied for early
applications and multiple properties. All licences will have conditions which
would typically include a range of requirements aimed at ensuring that
properties are safe and managed correctly, this allows the local authority a tool
to better regulate privately rented accommodation.

3.3

Following changes in the law on 1 April 2015, Councils now need to apply to
the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government for
confirmation of any scheme which would cover more than 20% of their
geographical area or that would affect more than 20% of privately rented homes
in the local authority area.

3.4

Under these new arrangements, if a Council makes a designation that covers
20% or less of its geographical area or privately rented properties, the scheme
will not need to be submitted to the Secretary of State, provided the authority
has consulted for at least 10 weeks on the proposed designation.

3.5

Also, if two new designations account for more than 20% of the area or private
rented stock when added together, they would both need to be submitted to the
Secretary of State for approval.

11
99

3.6

Non-statutory guidance issued by the Department for Communities and Local
Government (Selective Licensing in the private rented sector – A Guide for local
authorities March 2015) (‘the Guidance’) recommends the following approach.

3.7

When considering whether to make a selective licensing designation a local
housing authority must first identify the objective or objectives that a designation
will help to achieve – it must identify whether the area is suffering problems
(providing evidence of these problems) that are being caused or are attributable
to any of the specified criteria for making a designation and what it expects the
designation to achieve.

3.8

The Council must also consider whether there are any other courses of action
available to it that would achieve the same objective or objectives as the
proposed scheme without the need for the designation to be made. Only where
there is no practical and beneficial alternative to a designation, should a
scheme be made.

3.9

If the Council decides that there is no practical and beneficial alternative to the
scheme, section 81 (4) (b) of the Housing Act 2004 states that they must not
make a designation unless they consider that making the designation will
significantly assist them to achieve the objective or objectives (whether or not
they take any other course of action as well).

3.10

The Council must also ensure that Selective Licensing complements other
measures. It should only be used where existing measures alone are not
sufficient to tackle the underlying housing problems of a specific area. Local
authorities should also carefully consider any potential negative economic
impact that licensing may have in their area and some of the other possible
effects of the designation (and to include any risk assessment they may have
carried out).

3.11

The Council should ensure that the exercise of the power is consistent with its
overall housing strategy and seek to adopt a coordinated approach in
connection with dealing with homelessness, empty properties, regeneration
and anti-social behaviour both as regards combining licensing with other
courses of action available to them and with measures taken by others.
12
100

3.12

The Council must also demonstrate the role of other partners (if any) such as
the Police, Fire Services, Community Safety Officers or Social Services, in
ensuring the designation reaches its goal.

3.13

It is important for the Council to demonstrate how licensing will work in
conjunction with existing initiatives (such as landlord accreditation) and
partnerships. The Council must decide what other measures they, or other
persons together with the local authority, will take together with the selective
licensing scheme to eliminate or mitigate the problems identified in the area
and how they will work together. The Council must also assess what outcomes
will be delivered through the making of the scheme and taking other measures.
Selective Licensing is not a standalone tool.

3.14

For the Council to be able to declare a Selective Licensing designation it must
be able to satisfy one or more of the following conditions as set out by the
Government:
- low housing demand (or it is likely to become such an area)
- high levels of migration
- a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour
- poor property conditions
- high levels of deprivation
- high levels of crime.

3.15

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council seeks its designation on the basis of the
latter four criteria, that is, due to significant and persistent anti-social behaviour,
poor property conditions, high levels of crime and deprivation and a lack of
appropriate action by private sector landlords.

3.16

Under the Selective Licensing scheme, the landlord of every privately rented
property in the designated areas would be required to apply for a licence,
subject to the exemptions below. A licensee can be the owner or, if considered
appropriate by the Council, a suitable person designated by the owner, for
example, a managing agent.

13
101

3.17

If a Selective Licensing designation is approved, it can last for up to five years
and the landlord of every privately rented property in the designated area would
have to obtain a licence from the Council, subject to a number of exemptions
set out below.

3.17.i Exemptions to the designation include:


HMOs which are required to be licensed under Part 2 of the Housing Act
2004



Properties subject to a “temporary exemption notice”



Properties subject to a Management Order



Properties which are occupied under a tenancy or licence which has been
granted by a non-profit registered provider of social housing



Properties which are occupied under a tenancy or licence which has been
granted by a profit-making registered provider of social housing in respect
of social housing (within the meaning of Part 2 of the Housing and
Regeneration Act 2008) or



Properties which are occupied under a tenancy or licence which have
been granted by a body which is registered as a social landlord under Part
1 of The Housing Act 1996



Properties let under tenancies or licences described as ‘exempt’ from the
requirement to be licensed by the Selective Licensing of Houses
(Specified Exemptions) (England) Order 2006/370.

3.18

A person would have to apply to the Council or its approved service delivery
partner (if agreed following consultation) for a licence in accordance with certain
requirements which the Council would specify. In particular, the Council is
entitled to require that the application be accompanied by a fee.

3.19

When applying for a licence, landlords will have to provide evidence that they
are “fit and proper persons” and that they manage their properties correctly,
including taking appropriate action against tenants who are causing anti-social
behaviour. A landlord would require a licence for each property in the
14
102

designated area, subject to the exemptions listed above. The ‘fit and proper’
criteria are set out in appendix B.
3.20

When an application is received, the Council or its approved service delivery
partner would consider if the applicant is the most appropriate person to be the
licence holder and if they are a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold the licence.

3.21

The Council has the power to refuse to grant a licence to the applicant, or it can
grant the licence to another person if a mutual agreement is reached with the
applicant. Applicants have the right to appeal against certain Council decisions
relating to the grant, refusal, variation or revocation of licences. The Council
must follow procedures when making these decisions and advise landlords of
their right of appeal when appropriate.

3.22

A licence would be valid for five years (up to the expiry of the scheme) unless
it is revoked following serious breaches. Every licence will have a set of
conditions which the licence holder would be required to comply with. There are
certain mandatory conditions which a Council must include in the licence. For
example, if gas is supplied to the property, a licence holder would have to
produce to the Council annually a gas safety certificate obtained within the last
12 months. The Council has the discretion to add other conditions as deemed
necessary before the start scheme.

15
103

4. What happens if I let a property without a
Licence?
4.1

It is a criminal offence to let a property in an area designated for Selective
Licensing without a licence. Failure to apply for a licence could lead to
prosecution and the offence is punishable of a fine. However, from the 6 April
2017, under the Housing and Planning Act 2016, the Council can impose a Civil
Penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to a prosecution for this offence.

4.2

In addition, the tenants of the property or the Council could apply to the 1st Tier
Tribunal Property Chamber for a Rent Repayment Order. This means that a
landlord could be ordered to repay the rent they received during the period in
which the property was unlicensed (subject to certain limits set out in sections
96 and 97 of the Housing Act 2004).

4.3

A landlord is also prevented from serving a Section 21 Notice under the
Housing Act 1988 in relation to a shorthold tenancy of the whole or part of any
property which is an ‘unlicensed house’.

4.4

The Council must make what is called an ‘Interim Management Order’ in
respect of a property which should be licensed under a Selective Licensing
scheme but is not, and the Council considers that:


There is no reasonable prospect of the property being so licensed in the
near future, or



The ‘health and safety’ condition is satisfied. The ‘health and safety’
condition is that the making of an Interim Management Order is necessary
for the purpose of protecting the health, safety or welfare of persons
occupying the house, or persons occupying or having an interest in
premises in the vicinity.

4.5

An Interim Management Order lasts for a maximum period of 12 months, during
which time the Council has the right to do anything in relation to the property
which the landlord would be able to do, save for certain powers such as, for
example, creating tenancies (the landlord must consent to this in writing) or
selling the property. In certain circumstances, a Final Management Order can
16
104

replace an Interim Management Order. A Final Management Order can last for
a period of up to 5 years. For further information about Management Orders
please contact the Private Sector Housing team at the Council.
4.6

A licence holder (or person upon whom restrictions or obligations are imposed
by the licence) will also commit a criminal offence if they fail to comply with any
condition of a licence. This offence is punishable by a fine not exceeding
£5,000. Although, from the 6 April 2017, under the Housing and Planning Act
2016 a Council can impose a Civil Penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to
a prosecution for this offence. However, prosecution is always a last resort,
wherever possible we will work with landlords to educate and assist them in
meeting their licensing duties.

17
105

5. The proposal
5.1

The Guidance states that to introduce a licensing scheme, the Council has to
demonstrate that the area covered by the scheme is affected by one or more
of a range of social factors outlined below, and that licensing will have a positive
impact:
- low housing demand (or it is likely to become such an area)
- high levels of migration
- a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour
- poor property conditions
- high levels of deprivation
- high levels of crime.

5.2

The Council is proposing to designate on grounds of anti-social behaviour, poor
property conditions, and high levels of both deprivation and crime. The
designation will be used as a tool to tackle the said issues in the proposed areas
through improving the quality of the management of rented accommodation. It
is proposed that Southend-on-Sea Borough Council designate some of the
areas individually coloured on the map 8.15 as Selective Licensing areas found
in appendix 1. These locations are the worst performing locations for all four
designations and have the highest levels of PRS. This is widespread in Milton,
Kursaal and Victoria and specific locations in Chalkwell. Lists of the individual
streets can be found in Appendix 2, at the end of this document, including
specific maps of each area with various types of Anti-Social Behaviour, crime,
fire incidents and proportions of privately rented dwellings overlaid.

5.3

The housing conditions in the proposed areas are of concern as most are old
buildings and it is believed that a designation would improve the buildings and
also in the long term improve these areas. The Council is proposing a scheme
in parts of the borough as listed in appendix 1.

5.4

Whilst there are specific areas of concern and a significant number of roads
within, those areas are shown in the first map in appendix 1, the Council has
areas which are of particular interest. However, part of the consultation process
18
106

is to seek public input in the neighbourhoods (LSOAs) that should be part of the
scheme. A wide area has been researched and is being consulted on to ensure
that all known problem areas within the wards of Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and
some parts of Chalkwell have been considered and to ensure that the public
can have significant input into the proposal.
5.5

Additional wards of Southend have been ruled out of inclusion in the scheme
at this stage. The research, implementation and management over the five-year
life of such a scheme is labour intensive and for the areas highlighted for
inclusion, this action is considered warranted with the levels of anti-social
behaviour recorded as well as a combination of deprivation, poor property
conditions and crime.

5.6

It is anticipated that, where the evidence and findings supports it, the Selective
Licensing scheme will be put forward for a decision in March 2021 and, if
agreed, would become operative no sooner than three months from the date of
approval. The designation would run for a maximum of 5 years. The Council is
exploring resources and systems needed should the proposals go ahead.

5.7

Whilst the Council is consulting on the proposal to designate the specified areas
of the borough for Selective Licensing, due to the logistics of implementing such
a large scale selective licensing scheme, subject to the outcome of the public
consultation and the review of the wider evidence based, it is proposed that the
scheme could be delivered using a service delivery partner with experience in
delivering such a scheme. This will require landlords to sign up with the
successful delivery partner.

5.8

If the proposals were to proceed and a designation is made, initially it is
expected that compliant landlords would apply for a licence shortly after the
designation. It would also be necessary to introduce a comprehensive
enforcement programme to capture unlicensed properties. Inspections would
be carried out on a phased approach and could use a service delivery partner
option, which would enable the Council to focus its resources on enforcement.

5.9

Proposed Licensing Scheme

19
107

5.10

The proposal is to introduce Selective Licensing in some specific
neighbourhoods (LSOAs) of the borough mainly in Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and
parts of Chalkwell, on the principle grounds relating to anti-social behaviour,
poor property conditions, deprivation and crime.

5.11

The proposed scheme

would look to tackle the worst affected areas. It is

estimated to account for 19.7% of the private rented market in Southend as it
will only look at targeted areas of the borough with the worst identified issues
as well as high concentration of the private sector. This percentage is based on
the 2011 Census data.
5.12

The Council is confident it has a robust evidence base to justify the designation
of the scheme and can demonstrate the areas that are or are likely to be
experiencing a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social
behaviour, are areas with high concentrations of private rented housing, high
levels of deprivation, poor property conditions and high levels of crime. The
designation will work in hand with other strategic interventions to ensure overall
improvements in these areas. The proposed areas for inclusion have been
identified as listed above in Appendix 2 of this report.

5.13

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council appointed Arc4 to develop the evidence
based pack which helped to identify any potential locations within the borough
where there are high levels of private rented sector and whether there were any
links to anti-social behaviour, crime deprivation as well as poor property
conditions. Arc4 provided housing analysis and assessments that informed the
areas of designation that fit the said criteria. Further detail of these findings can
be found in Chapter 20.

6. Why do we need Selective Licencing?
6.1

Before proposing a designation and commencing consultation, the Council
needs to identify the problems affecting the areas to which the designation will
apply and provide evidence to support its Selective Licensing proposal. This
20
108

chapter summaries the Council’s evidence base for proposing the designation
on the basis that the areas are, or are likely to become areas affected by antisocial behaviour, poor property conditions, high levels of deprivation and have
high concentrations of private rented properties (well above the national
average).
In addition, this chapter details what actions are being taken and alternative
courses of action to be considered.
6.2

As highlighted previously the Council knows that many landlords of private
rented properties are ‘good’ landlords and provide quality accommodation and
a good standard of management. Unfortunately, there are a significant number
who continue to let out poor quality properties or do not manage their properties
well. The impact of this, coupled with issues such as anti-social behaviour, high
crime rates and high levels of deprivation result in substandard neighbourhoods
within parts of the borough.

6.3

The introduction of a Selective Licensing scheme in specific, targeted areas of
the borough would be an additional tool available to the Council to tackle the
problem of anti-social behaviour, poor property condition, and high levels of
deprivation in the designated areas.

The Council believes that Selective

Licensing will:


Ensure rented properties meet the minimum standards and that they are
managed properly



Support landlords, as licenced landlords should attract and retain good
tenants whilst those who continue to allow occupation by irresponsible
tenants or manage their properties poorly will be targeted and enforcement
action taken were necessary and



Make a direct and tangible difference to deprivation factors driven by high
crime and poor housing conditions.

6.4

There is evidence from other authorities which demonstrates that Selective
Licensing will bring benefits to an area.

Key findings from the “Selective

Licensing Review 2019” commissioned by MHCLG showed that:
21
109



Selective Licensing sets clear standards that all landlords should follow



Selective Licensing ensures that landlords and their agents will be readily
identifiable



Selective Licensing helps to improve the knowledge of landlords regarding
acceptable standards in private rented housings



Selective Licensing helps to ensure minimum standards for rented housing
are met



Selective Licensing enables targeted enforcement of landlords



Selective Licensing contributes to protecting the health, safety and welfare
of the community



Selective Licensing helps authorities gain extensive knowledge about their
private rented sector



Selective Licensing helps to ensure minimum standards for rented housing
are met

Further details on the Selective Licensing Review 2019 can be found here.
6.5

Effectiveness of Selective Licensing

6.6

The research indicates that Selective Licensing can be an effective policy tool
with many schemes achieving demonstrable positive outcomes. However,
studies also indicate that when implemented in isolation, the effectiveness of
Selective Licensing is often limited. Schemes appear to be more successful as
part of a wider, well planned, coherent initiative with an associated commitment
of resources – a finding entirely consistent with the expectations of
Government.

22
110

7. Aims and Objectives of the scheme
7.1

As detailed throughout this proposal document, the Council considers that the
proposed areas of designation are areas with high concentrations of private
rented properties accompanied with high levels of anti-social behaviour, poor
property conditions, high crime, and are experiencing high levels of deprivation.

7.2

7.3

The main aims for the proposed scheme is to:


improve anti-social behaviour issues within the proposed areas



improving property conditions in the private sector



reduced crime levels



reducing deprivation by raising standards within the private rented sector

All the above will lead to improvements in the overall social and economic
conditions in the areas to create strong, healthy and vibrant neighbourhoods
across the borough. It is also considered that other community interventions
alongside will assist in bringing about these improvements.

7.4

In order to achieve these aims, a number of key outcomes over the period of
designation have been identified and these include;


Improved housing conditions for those in the private sector



A reduction in significant and persistent problems caused by anti-social
behaviour

7.5



Reduced levels of deprivation



Reduced levels of property related crime



An increase in good landlords and an elimination of rogue landlords.

Throughout the period of the proposed 5-year designation, the Council would
adopt a robust monitoring and evaluation process of the scheme which would
23
111

inform the evaluation (impact and effectiveness) of the Selective Licensing
designation. Conversations are currently ongoing with a number of local
authorities who already operate Selective Licensing to learn from their
experiences and ensure a robust data set.

24
112

8. The Evidence of Private Sector (PRS)
8.1

One of the primary difficulties for introducing Selective Licensing is the
identification of the true extent of the private rented sector. Most local
authorities who have introduced the scheme reported discovering more
privately rented properties than they had previously believed to exist.

8.2

The lack of intelligence on the true extent of the private sector often provides a
significant impediment to authorities, since there is a need to first demonstrate
a connection between the problems an area is suffering (reports of ASB, high
crime etc.) and the privately rented sector, and secondly that Selective
Licensing will be an effective tool to tackle the issue. Even if a complete
knowledge of the location of all privately rented stock at a point in time can be
established, changes in tenure can be quite common, rendering such
information less accurate over time. Many authorities reported benefitting from
the assistance of licensed landlords and residents (both tenants and
neighbours) in continuously updating their knowledge of the sector.

8.3

This issue can be mitigated by applying data analytic techniques to pooled data
held borough-wide but this is again a resource heavy and potentially expensive
solution. Some authorities related internal difficulties in obtaining data from
other departments due to strict data protection policies; notwithstanding the fact
that section 237 of the 2004 Act permits the use of data for such purposes.

8.4

The Council appointed Arc4 to undertake a detailed and robust assessment to
determine whether Selective Licensing would be appropriate for the proposed
areas of designation. A report was provided with the evidence of the areas to
consider for designation. This report has been used to inform the final proposal
of the areas for designation as outlined in this evidence base report. In arriving
at our proposal the Council has closely followed the requirements of the
MHCLG guidance.

8.5

In conducting its research, a variety of data sources were used including:


Census data 2011



The National Rent Deposit scheme
25
113



UKCrimestats data



Police Recorded ASB & Crime data for 2017-2019 within Southend on Sea



Council’s ASB data from Environmental Services



Overall Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Score: IMD 2019.

8.6 Locations of PRS in the borough

The above map shows the highest concentration of privately rented properties in dark
blue and are located within the wards of Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and some parts of
Chalkwell.
8.7

In order to determine the streets to include in the proposed scheme for
designation, the Council looked at the four areas designations to see whether
they correlated with the private rented sector (PRS). The below table shows the
breakdown of the private sector across the various neighbourhood listed at
lower super output area (LSOA) level.

Table 3.1

LSOA
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002214

Private rented sector in each LSOA in 8 wards

Ward
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Chalkwell

Number in
the PRS
640
497
409
473
416

Percentage of
PRS
59.8
57.8
54.7
53.3
50.4

Rank
1
2
3
4
5

26
114

E05002214
Chalkwell
E05002218
Milton
E05002218
Milton
E05002218
Milton
E05002226
Westborough
E05002225
Victoria
E05002216
Kursaal
E05002216
Kursaal
E05002216
Kursaal
E05002217
Leigh
E05002226
Westborough
E05002225
Victoria
E05002226
Westborough
E05002216
Kursaal
E05002219
Prittlewell
E05002225
Victoria
Source: Census 2011 Table KS402EW Tenure

8.8

405
484
418
334
274
257
285
276
277
286
211
281
211
320
219
284

48.2
47.6
46.1
42.8
42.3
41.6
39.9
38.7
36.4
35.9
35.8
35.1
34.9
34.7
33.6
33.3

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

The above table shows the LSOAs with the highest concentrations of PRS and
estimated numbers located in the wards under consideration. The percentage
of PRS in Milton for the six LSOAs is averaged at 50.4%, followed by Kursaal
with the five LSOA average of 41.9%, followed by Chalkwell at 49.3%,
Westborough averages 37.7% and Victoria wards 36.7%. It should be noted
and Leigh and Prittlewell both have one LSOA each with a high concentration
of PRS.

8.9

Further investigations were undertaken in order to determine whether there is
a correlation between the high levels of PRS and ASB, deprivation, crime and
poor property conditions and the findings will be outlined in the evidence section
of this report. Indeed it was determined that there was a correlation between
LSOAs with the highest concentration of PRS and poorly performing locations
in terms of antisocial behaviour, crime, deprivation and poor property
conditions. These locations were identified and this report seeks to make a
proposal for Selective Licensing based on the findings.

8.10

Further details on the prevalence of the private sector in the proposed areas
are discussed further on in this report.

27
115

9. Summary of Key Findings
9.1

As noted previously in this document, the private rented sector has grown
significantly over recent years and plays a vital role in the borough’s overall
housing market. Evidence would also suggest that this sector is still growing
both nationally, regionally and locally. Whilst private rented housing is a tenure
of choice in all of the borough’s wards, in some areas of our borough the
concentrations are significantly above the national and borough average.

9.2

In summary the assessment has identified the areas proposed for inclusion in
the scheme for Selective Licensing designation:
• Have a higher than average percentage of private rented stock (when
compared to all wards in the borough and national averages)
• Experience disproportionately high levels of anti-social behaviour and crime
when compared to other areas of the borough
• Experience disproportionately high levels of environmental nuisance when
compared to other areas of the borough
• Experience high levels of deprivation (against a range of measures including
income, health, educational achievement etc.).

9.3

The findings of the Council’s research/evidence gathering identified that each
of the locations to be included in the proposed Selective Licensing designation
area, are experiencing a combinations of ASB, crime and poor property
conditions. As discussed in the earlier section of this report, this negatively
impacts on the surrounding neighbourhoods. In addition, these areas have high
concentrations of private rented properties and suffer from high levels of
deprivation.

28
116

10. What has the Council done to improve the
private sector?
10.1

The Council is committed to improving housing conditions in the private rented
sector and our actions to date are detailed below. It is important to note that a
number of the projects are ongoing and compliment the proposed Selective
Licensing scheme.

i.

Community Safety Team
The Council has a dedicated Community Safety Team who work as part of the
Community Safety Partnership in Southend which includes the Police, Essex Fire
& Rescue, Probation Services, Youth Offending Team, Drug & Alcohol teams and
other key agencies to tackle crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour plus drug
and alcohol related offending within the borough.
Furthermore, the Environmental Care Team (ECO = environmental care officers)
who are not directly part of the Community Safety Partnership, have dedicated
teams which are also responsible for ensuring that the environment within the
communities they serve remains clean, tidy and free from damage through a
program of education and enforcement action around waste on both public and
private land.
The team itself is made up of (7 in total from CST and 2 per shift from CCTV)
members of staff who serve in teams such as the Civic Enforcement Service, Case
Management Officers and CCTV operators with 167 CCTV cameras at their
disposal. This group work out of a central control room which also acts as a
community service hub. This enables the team to have access to a range of
information and resources to ensure that their work continues to target the right
problems with a view to ensuring the most vulnerable groups in our communities
are protected regardless of tenancy or housing arrangements.

ii.

Landlord Engagement
Practical support and information to both landlords and tenants is provided by the
Council’s Housing Solutions team, the Private Sector Housing team and the

29
117

Community Safety Team. Our experience would suggest that this support is
welcomed by responsible landlords.
In order to try and prevent and relieve homelessness within the borough of
Southend, the Council has looked at ways to best engage and work with local
landlords and letting agents. We have compared many local authority schemes
such as private sector leasing schemes and landlord incentives and have looked
at which is more effective for both landlords and the Council. Due to the high costs
of private sector leasing schemes, the Housing Solutions Team, opted to offer
landlord incentive schemes. The scheme offers landlords the following:


It’s free - no finder’s fee



Advertising the property to potential tenants



Providing a list of potential tenants ready and waiting



Landlord financial incentives



One month’s rent in advance



One month’s deposit



Ongoing support offered for tenants to ensure the tenancy is running
smoothly



Advice and support offered to landlords by a dedicated officer



Assistance for tenants to claim any Housing Benefit or Universal Credit they
may be entitled to



Income assessments completed on potential tenants



Landlords do not have to take the tenant if they feel the tenant is unsuitable



3 months check-ins with the tenant either by telephone or visit



If S21 is served and we are immediately notified we will assist and advise
both tenant and landlord and where possible prevent further eviction action
and unnecessary costs.

The biggest landlord offer that we have is access to the private sector solutions officer.
This officer is on hand to offer support for the duration of the tenancy and will, where
possible offer support and advice for the landlord and tenant, therefore assisting to
prevent rent arrears/ and addressing any ASB issues that may arise. In comparison to
other councils who may offer larger cash incentives to place outside of their local
30
118

authority without the ongoing support, we believe that Southend’s offer is more
beneficial to both landlords and tenants and would help sustain communities for
longer.
The service above is offered to encourage landlords to work with the council to prevent
and resolve homelessness within the borough.
We have also recently launched ‘call b4 serve’ initiative which is designed to
encourage landlords and tenants already in tenancies to engage with the Council’s
Housing Solutions team to try and help resolve any issues. This service is offered to
all landlord and tenants not just those who have previously used the team or those in
receipt of benefits. The aim is to prevent homelessness for all.
We are working with a rent guarantor company to offer guarantors for applicants who
are either working or in receipt of benefits without family/friends who are guarantors.
We are also in talks with help2rent who offer landlord insurance.
We have a dedicated email for landlords mypropertytolet@southend.gov.uk
We have recently written to all owners who have homes registered empty for 6 months
of less offering them to engage with the Council.
iii.

Homelessness prevention.
The Council recognises that a good quality and well managed private sector can
provide a viable, alternative housing offer. The Council’s Housing Solutions team
engages with landlords on a regular basis and offers a range of potential
interventions to either prevent or relieve homelessness. These include the use of
Rent Deposit Scheme and/or the use of financial initiatives such as Discretionary
Housing Payments, landlord financial incentives to secure homes in the private
rented sector.

iv.

Use of existing powers

The Housing Act 2004 introduced the Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme
(HHSRS) which allows local authorities to inspect privately rented properties to ensure
the condition of those properties do not have an adverse effect on the health, safety

31
119

or welfare of tenants or visitors to those properties. Where necessary the Council will
serve statutory enforcement notices to ensure that conditions are improved.
In addition, it is likely that requests for assistance received by the Council from private
rental tenants under-represent the scale of disrepair problems in private rented homes
in the proposed areas of designation. It is believed that in some cases, tenants would
not be able to report disrepair for fear of retaliatory evictions. The introduction of
Selective Licensing will enable the Council to carry out proactive inspections of all
properties within the proposed designated areas, ensuring that poor or unsafe housing
conditions are identified and remedied, thereby raising standards in those areas. By
improving property conditions this will assist in retaining and attracting occupants to
the areas.
Selective Licensing will also ensure that the Council is made aware of the person
responsible for managing the property, thereby reducing the pressures to trace down
the liable party in order to raise concerns with them. Currently, this can be problematic
and costly to the Council in terms of both time and resources, especially in the case
of absentee landlords.

v.

Introductions of new powers and tools in PRS

Through the Housing and Planning Act 2016 the Government introduced a range of
new measures to help tackle rogue landlords who rent out substandard properties.
These new powers include the extension of Rent Repayment Orders, the ability to
impose Civil Penalties up to £30,000, Banning Orders, the introduction of a data base
for rogue landlords/property agents and the introduction of a tougher “fit and proper
person” test for landlords. The introduction of these new measures were broadly
welcomed by private sector landlords and local authorities. The Council is and will be
prepared to use these new powers as/when appropriate.

32
120

11. What alternative courses of action has the
council considered?
11.1

As part of the exercise to consider Selective Licensing the Council is required
to consider whether there are any other courses of action available that may
provide an alternative and effective method of achieving the objectives that the
designation of the Selective Licensing Scheme is intended to achieve. The
overarching aims of the designation of the proposed Selective Licensing
Scheme is to improve the management of the private rented sector in order to
reduce the levels of anti-social behaviour associated with it and make a direct
and tangible difference to deprivation factors (which are often driven by high
crime and poor housing).

11.2

As noted previously within this paper, the Council is proposing to progress with
a scheme approach which will provide a visible neighbourhood presence in
those wards where Selective Licensing will be focused. To support this initiative
the Council acknowledges that a significant proportion of resource will be used
to fund the additional enforcement services that an effective Selective Licensing
scheme will require and to also support a range of focused initiatives working
with partner agencies and our local communities. This proposed, targeted
based scheme demonstrates the Council’s commitment to address the issues
experienced by the proposed areas for inclusion within the scheme. To be
effective, however, it needs to run in conjunction with other tools as Selective
Licensing alone cannot succeed in improving the designated areas.

11.3

The table below summarises in further detail some of the alternatives to
Selective Licensing the Council has considered:

Option 1: Housing Act 2004 Part 1 Enforcement of Housing Standards
Outcome

Barriers

Risks

Repair of individual Effective tool but
private
rented does not go far
properties
enough to tackle
the scale of the
Effective tool for issues across the
dealing with health designated areas
and
safety

Resource
Implication
Taking action to Resource
tackle hazards can intensive.
be slow (waiting for
a report in the first Can only achieve
instance).
widespread impact
in terms of property
Not all landlords condition with a
33

121

standards.
In the main a
reactive approach
i.e. we action when
a complaint is
received.

willing
to
engage/take
appropriate action,
Council needs to
pursue
formal
enforcement
action.

substantial
increase in Council
resources
to
implement.

Some tenants are
fearful of reporting
issues
to
the
council (fear of
eviction).
Does not tackle
ASB issues / poor
tenant behaviour or
poor management
standards.
Option 2: Management Orders (in isolation)
Outcome
Barriers
Risks

Resource
Implication
Remove property Process requires Does not provide a Resource intensive
from irresponsible considerable
long-term solution
landlord. Improves resources/of
to
poor
management
evidence/
management of the
standards.
authorisation
by PRS (up to 5
the
Residential years) and then
Is
a
forceful Property Tribunal. returned to the
original owner).
sanction
for
landlords that do The Council does
manage Intervention is a
not comply with not
Selective
housing stock, we last resort for a
Licensing.
would need to small number of
bring in another properties.
organisation
to
manage/ maintain
the property.
Option 3: Driving Up Standards initiative
Outcome
Barriers
Risks
Resource
Implication
Drive up individual Council only has Will not in isolation Can only achieve
private
rented the ability (with improve the range widespread impact
property standards existing resources) of issues faced by in terms of property
in the ‘focused’ to focus on limited, the
localities condition with a
areas.
small-scale areas
proposed
for substantial
inclusion within the increase in Council
selective licensing resources.
Effective tool for
dealing with health
designation area.
34
122

and
standards.

safety
Will not offer more
than the Council
does now.

Option 4: Landlord Accreditation scheme (in isolation)
Outcome
Barriers
Risks
Good landlords join
and sign up to
good property and
management
conditions.

It’s a voluntary
scheme so unlikely
that
the
irresponsible
landlords
would
join the scheme.

Enables good and
effective
Experience to date
engagement with demonstrates that
landlords.
not all landlords
would be willing to
join the scheme.
Supports
good
property
and
management
conditions.
Prospective
tenants
access
good
quality
accommodation.

Limited effect on a
concentrated area
(demonstrated by
the numbers of
landlords who are
current members).

To provide more
Less responsible incentives to join
landlords do not the scheme would
Council
join / no direct require
resources.
impact on them.
Less responsible
landlords do not
improve
their
standards
of
property
management and /
or condition.

Supports
the
Council
address
housing need and
relieve
homelessness.
Option 5: Targeted Action Area (in isolation)
Outcome
Barriers
Risks
No formal powers
Will provide a local to address issues
neighbourhood
(other than those
based presence.
already available to
the Council).
Active engagement
on
with
partners, Relies
landlords and local engagement/
some
residents
residents.
and landlords may
Will
deliver
of be unwilling to
projects to support engage.

Resource
Implication
No
additional
resource
implication as a
scheme
is
in
operation.

Relies on existing
council
enforcement
powers to address
issues of poor
standards
of
property
and
management
condition.

Resource
Implication
Council
has
committed
resources
to
support
this
initiative which will
bolster
enforcement
support to the
Selective Licensing
proposal.

In isolation will
have a limited
35

123

local priorities.

impact
on
a
concentrated area.

11.4

A coordinated Selective Licensing approach where landlords must register and
adhere to the terms of the licence conditions and where the ultimate sanction
is that the responsibility of managing a property can be removed from them
(with a management order), represents a much clearer and stronger sanction.

11.5

The Council feels the proposal is justified and that using the options and powers
detailed above is not a viable option, however combining and coordinating
these activities with Selective Licensing will support the Council to achieve the
aims of our proposed designation. Through this proposal the Council will focus
resources in those areas displaying the worst problems of ASB, crime,
deprivation and poor property conditions whilst also helping to empower
residents and the wider community to come forward to report poor practices,
knowing that there are robust sanctions in place.

36
124

12. How would the proposed Selective Licensing
scheme be delivered?
12.1

Should the designation be granted it will come into force no sooner than three
months from the date of designation. Once the designation is in force, every
privately rented property (house, flat or room) unless already licensed as a
House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) will require a licence to operate in the area
and landlords will be responsible for making an application to the Council or its
designated service delivery partner if the proposal for this method is eventually
approved after the consultation.

12.2

It is expected that compliant landlords will apply for the relevant licence shortly
after the designation, however if necessary, the Council will introduce a
proactive enforcement programme to identify unlicensed properties.

12.3

Failure to apply for a licence can lead to an unlimited fine upon conviction in the
Magistrates’ Court or a Civil Penalty of up to £30,000 imposed by the Council.
Following a conviction any rent or Housing Benefit that has been paid to the
landlord by either the tenant or the Council during the period the property was
rented out without a licence (up to a maximum of 12 months) may also be
reclaimed back through a Rent Repayment Order.

12.4

An application for a licence would need to be submitted for each property in
accordance with the specified requirements. Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004
outlines that the Council may require the application to be accompanied by a
fee fixed by the Council. The Council is not permitted to make a profit from the
introduction of Selective Licensing and fee income ringfenced for use on the
scheme. The fee, however, should take into account the costs incurred in
administering the Selective Licensing Scheme.

The Council’s proposed

Selective Licensing fee structure is detailed in Chapter 14 of this report.
12.5

As part of the application process, proposed licence holders and managers will
be required to provide information that they are ‘fit and proper persons’ and that
they have satisfactory management arrangements in place, including dealing
with anti-social behaviour. In circumstances where the Council are not satisfied
that the licence holder or manager are not ‘a fit and proper persons’, and/or the
37
125

management arrangements are unsatisfactory, then it can refuse to grant a
licence. Further guidance relating to the ‘fit and proper person’ criteria can be
found in appendix B
12.6

It is the Council’s intention to ensure that the actual application process for
landlords is as streamlined and as simple as possible. The licence application
process will involve landlords (and/or their managing agents) submitting a large
amount of supporting documentation as well as completing an application form.
The Council is currently exploring options of how to best deliver the scheme
and this includes an online application process which will allow for the
application to be completed, supporting documentation to be submitted and
payment of the licence fee to be made online or using a service delivery partner,
details of which can be found in appendix A.

12.7

Licence Conditions
A licence is valid for up to 5 years or the length of the period of designation.
Every licence will have a set of conditions which the licence holder will be
required to comply with. There are certain mandatory conditions which the
Council must include in the licence. For example, if gas is supplied to the
property, a licence holder would have to produce an annual gas safety
certificate obtained within the last 12 months.
A copy of the licensing conditions proposed areas is given in appendix C.

38
126

13. Selective Licencing in operation
13.1

The Council is committed to ensuring that the introduction of Selective
Licensing is meaningful in terms of improving the areas by raising the standard
of property management of privately rented properties and give residents and
local businesses within the area confidence. The Council’s intention is to
ensure that the properties licenced under the proposal are inspected. The
purpose of the inspection is to both ensure that properties meet the required
standard and provides an opportunity to provide advice and assistance to
landlords and tenants.

13.2

Licensing also places a legal requirement on landlords (or their managing
agents) to undertake a reference check on tenants prior to offering a tenancy.
By doing so the licence holder will be able to make an informed choice as to
whether a prospective tenant is suitable for the property.

13.3

All aspects of the administration of the licensing application process, including
the undertaking of inspections and advice to support landlords through the
whole process will be undertaken by a dedicated Selective Licensing Team.
Fee income from licence fees shall be used to cover the additional costs
incurred by the Council in administering and running the scheme.

13.4

If passed, the Council anticipates that the introduction of Selective Licensing
will see an increase in the level of housing conditions and ASB enforcement
activity within the areas. In addition, enforcement action will also be needed if
a landlord fails to licence their property or fails to comply with the licence
conditions. Where enforcement action is needed then this shall be carried out
by the Council’s Private Sector Housing enforcement team and not the
Selective Licensing officers. The Council will identify additional funding to
strengthen these teams to ensure necessary enforcement action is taken
quickly and effectively and also provide an increased resource to assist/support
landlords (to help them deal with problem tenants). The use of Council

39
127

resources together with the income from Selective Licensing will facilitate an
increased presence on the ground in the designation areas.
13.5

The Council also recognises that a tenant’s behaviour is equally as important
as a landlord’s in securing improvements within our local communities. We
therefore intend to work closely with occupiers to ensure they understand their
responsibilities as a tenant and as local residents. As already highlighted,
Licensing Officers will provide an increased local presence within the
designated areas, which will allow them the opportunity to get to know and build
up relationships with residents, with the aim of increased information sharing
and the identification of issues/concerns. The property inspection visit will also
provide an opportunity to discuss tenant responsibilities as detailed in their
tenancy agreement (i.e. expected behaviour, reporting of repairs, refuse
storage and disposal etc.) as well as offering any general and specific support
required to ensure the tenant can successfully sustain their tenancy.

13.6

In addition to the above the Council will also offer the following support services:



Information and advice to landlords and residents in the proposed Selective
Licensing areas to help address issues relating to anti-social behaviour, crime
and poor property conditions



Where a family is identified as requiring support it may be appropriate to make
a referral to the Council’s Early Help service and or other statutory or support
services;



To prevent homelessness a referral can be made to the Council’s Housing
Solutions Team who will consider whether a floating supporting service would
be appropriate (to support vulnerable tenants and help them to sustain their
tenancy) and



Tenant information to increase tenant awareness of their rights, where to seek
help and also regarding their responsibilities to behave and act within the terms
of their tenancy agreement will be distributed.

40
128

13.7

The Selective Licensing team will also work closely with partner agencies
(including the policy and fire authority, community safety teams, community and
voluntary services, and other housing providers) to ensure a joined approach
to tackling and resolving neighbourhood specific issues.

13.8

In conclusion, the Council’s Selective Licensing proposal will enable a period
of intense support to landlords, tenants and residents which will:


Ensure all private rented properties within the designation areas are
inspected to ensure that standards are good (and the Council will take
necessary enforcement action to drive up standards)



Offer training to all landlords, to ensure all are aware and are able to fulfil
their responsibilities



Facilitate contact/opportunities to provide advice to tenants to ensure they
understand their rights and responsibilities



Strengthen close working with partner agencies to ensure that ASB
concerns are addressed as quickly and effectively as possible



Result in enforcement action being taken to tackle landlords who fail in their
duties to manage their properties effectively.

41
129

14. The Proposed Fee Structure
14.1

It will be necessary to charge a fee to cover the costs and overheads associated
with operating the scheme. The Council’s proposed fees are based on the
actual costs of administering a scheme in the proposed designation areas. The
Council is not permitted and does not intend to seek or make a financial profit
for licensing. The scheme will be cost-neutral and the fees will be calculated
accordingly.

14.2

Proposed fees will be calculated based on the staff needed to cover the
processing of the estimated number of applications, the operation and
development of the scheme. Cost estimates for the scheme include salaries
and on costs and all anticipated non-salary revenue spend.

14.3

Each year the Council will review the cost of running the scheme and the
projected revenue stream from licences. This may mean that the fee charged
may need to be adjusted upwards or downwards after each annual review
depending upon whether the applications received deviate from the assumed
number of private sector rented properties we have assumed will need to be
licenced.

14.4

The Council proposes to set the fee at a level that ensures full cost recovery for
the scheme and is a balance between a reasonable cost for landlords whilst
also seeking to ensure that the scheme is successful and appropriately
resourced.

14.5

The proposed fee:
In accordance with the Housing Act 2004 section 87(7), the fee amounts are
based on:
(a) The staff employed to process and issue the application; and

42
130

(b) The costs of monitoring and delivering the scheme, including staff,
on costs and internal recharges.
14.6

The proposed licence fee has been worked out at £668.00 for each property.
The fee will be payable in two parts, which include an application fee (charged
at the time of the licence being applied for) plus a compliance and management
fee. All licence fees would be reviewed each financial year.

14.7

A licence would normally be granted for a period of five years and no further
fees would be payable during the life of the licence. Following the consultation,
if the Council’s proposal to use a Service Delivery Partner is approved, and
landlords start signing up for membership, in the event that the membership is
cancelled due to repeated or serious non-compliance, then a new licence
application would need to be made directly to the Council for the rest of the
term. Licences are non-transferrable in accordance with section 91(6) of the
Housing Act 2004.

14.8

The proposed licence fee and charges take into account all costs incurred by
the Council in administering the scheme. It has been calculated based on the
amount of officer time it is expected to take to complete the processing of a
licence application and subsequent property inspection and yearly monitoring
of the licence conditions over the five year life of the licence.

14.9

It should be noted that there are no refunds for licences that are created part
way through the 5-year term before the scheme ends. The funding relates to
the five years of the scheme and not the length that a licence is held.

14.10 Whilst the fees are an additional business expense for landlords, it is
anticipated that this would be offset by the overall improvements in properties
and neighbourhoods, as well as better tenant retainment and sustainment in
the long term when the benefits of the Selective Licensing scheme are
eventually recognised. Improvement in property standards will also increase
property values in the designated areas over time.

43
131

15. Benefits of the Selective Licensing Scheme
15.1

It is expected that introducing the Selective Licensing designation will bring a
number of direct and indirect benefits to the community, landlords, tenants,
property owners and the Council. In summary we believe the proposal will:


Help us to improve the proposed designation areas (by providing a
period of ‘intensive support’).



Allow us to tackle a whole neighbourhood at the same time rather than
properties on an ad-hoc and individual basis; and



Give a clear message to landlords and tenants that bad practice and
behaviour is not acceptable and will not be tolerated.

15.2

The defined aim of the scheme and a key outcome for the project is to take
measures that will lead to the improvement in the management of private rented
properties in the area during the 5-year period of the proposed designation. A
key benefit for landlords, tenants and the wider community will be a dedicated
point of contact within the Council’s Selective Licensing Team for advice,
support and, where necessary, complaints. Other expected benefits include:

a. Benefits to landlords:


Improved communication with Council services (better links and knowledge
between local landlords and the Council)



Better understanding from landlords and managing agents of their statutory
responsibilities through training and briefing sessions



Support and advice for inexperienced landlords



Improved confidence in the local housing market and potential growth in
property values and rental income



A level playing field where all landlords in the proposed area will be required
to operate to the same standards



Support for landlords in dealing with anti-social tenants/occupiers

44
132



Informing and educating tenants/occupiers regarding their responsibilities
(to act within the terms of their tenancy agreement).

b. Benefits to tenants:


Better understanding of what is expected of them and a better
understanding of what they should expect in terms of minimum property
condition and management standards



More professional landlords should bring improvements to the quality and
management of properties



Improvements to neighbourhoods will also benefit private tenants (i.e.
improved sense of security/pride in their neighbourhood)



Better management practices should help to increase length of tenure and
reduced incidence of unplanned moves or homelessness and



Protecting vulnerable groups, who are often occupiers of privately rented
accommodation which is poorly managed and maintained.

c. Benefits to the Community:


Improvements in the physical condition, management practices and overall
quality of the private rented stock



Improve the image of the areas



Associated benefits of more stable communities i.e. reduced anti-social
behaviour



Increased tenant/occupier awareness of their responsibilities (to act within
the terms of their tenancy agreement) and



Prevention of rogue landlord activity.

d. Benefits to the Council:



Landlords will have to engage with the Council, thereby opening
communication channels

45
133



Landlords will proactively be required to provide information of the location
and details of their privately rented homes they are responsible for



Increased ability to provide information to landlords / and sign-post them to
a wide range of support services (if required)



Non-compliant landlords will be forced to improve their practices or leave
the privately rented market



Schemes should be easy to administer and explain, as all private landlords
in the designated areas will now be covered by licensing of some kind; and



The Council will gain more knowledge about private renting in the particular
areas, enabling the Council to target support, information and compliance
more effectively, and to better understand the root of the problems the areas
face.

46
134

16. Risk Analysis
16.1

The 2015 Selective Licensing Guidance requires local authorities to carefully
consider any potential negative economic impacts that Licensing may have in
their area. In considering the proposed implementation of Selective Licensing
the Council has considered potential risks and how these can be mitigated
(managed and/or prevented).

A detailed Risk Register will be prepared

showing the current and proposed controls that would be implemented subject
to the scheme getting approval to proceed. Risks would be managed within the
Council’s existing management systems.
16.2

An overview of the key risks is detailed below:
Making a designation could have a negative impact on the proposed
areas:
Whilst the Council has identified the areas as needing support and intervention
the proposed introduction of Selective Licensing is not a negative action. In
essence it will provide a period of ‘intensive support’. As part of the consultation
process the Council will listen to the views of landlords, residents and
stakeholders to discuss and address any concerns and should the proposal
proceed, will actively engage throughout the 5-year Selective Licensing
designation.
Rental charges may increase as a result of landlords passing on the cost
of obtaining a licence to their tenants:
The Council will try to discourage this by keeping the licence fee as low as
possible to enable a cost neutral delivery of the scheme.
Displacement:
Potentially both compliant and non-compliant private sector landlords could
decide to sell their properties and/or decide to move elsewhere due to the
proposed introduction of Selective Licensing (linked to the licence fee and the
perceived increase in obligations). During the period of consultation Council

47
135

officers will actively engage with local landlords to both listen and address any
concerns.
Having spoken to a number of local authorities operating similar schemes, there
is little evidence to suggest that displacement has occurred. And the MHCLG
review also supports this view.
Increase in empty properties:
Landlords may decide to leave their properties empty, to avoid paying a licence
fee and complying with the management condition.

The Council’s Empty

Property officer will provide advice and support and ensure long term empty
properties are actively targeted for intervention.

The Council will take

enforcement action on all long-term properties that are in disrepair and are
causing negative impacts in the local community.
Increased homelessness:
The Council’s Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy has
recognised the need to improve engagement with all private sector landlords.
This is in addition to the services (both in preventing and addressing
homelessness) currently provided by the Council’s Housing Solutions Team.
If a landlord decides to sell their property within the proposed designation area,
the household will be supported by the Council (as required by the
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017). The Council will also use its powers under
the Protection from Eviction Act 1977 to intervene and will seek to prosecute
landlords who have unlawfully evicted tenants.
Resistance from private sector landlords:
As noted above throughout the consultation phase, all attempts will be made to
engage with landlords to help them understand the likely benefits that Selective
Licensing will bring to the areas proposed within the designation. Furthermore,
we will promote the package of measures the scheme will offer in terms of
landlord training and support and tenant guidance etc.

48
136

17. How will the Council consult?
17.1

Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 Section 80(9) states that when considering
designating an area for Selective Licensing the local authority must:



Take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected by the
designation; and



Consider any representations made in accordance with the consultation and
which are not withdrawn.

17.2

In preparing our consultation we have given due consideration to MHCLG
Guidance on ‘Selective Licensing in the private rented sector: a guide for local
authorities’ (published March 2015) and our statutory duty to consult i.e. to
ensure we have taken reasonable steps to consult those likely to be affected
by the proposed designation.
In order for the Council to discharge its statutory obligation, it will provide
consultees with detailed information about the proposed designation. This will
include:
- The areas affected
- The need and evidence for the proposed designation
- The alternative options considered by the Council to the proposed
designation and the reasons why they have been discounted
- Those likely to be affected by the designation
- The likely effect of the designation
- The process by which those affected may apply for and obtain a licence
- Likely licence conditions and
- The proposed licence fee and licence fee structure.

17.3 Details of the Consultation Plan

49
137

17.4

The Council has appointed M·E·L Research to conduct the consultation on its
behalf who will use a variety of methods to consult with all persons likely to be
affected by the proposed designation. Due to the current Covid19 guidelines,
M·E·L will virtually conduct the public workshops via a Zoom platform (dates of
these to be advised) but would still encourage all stakeholders to engage and
give feedback.
Below is an overview of the various consultation methods:



The Council’s website: M·E·L will conduct the consultation on behalf of the
Council, hosted on the Council’s Your Say Southend platform. This will have all
the details of the designation and will include copies of this report (and all
supporting appendices including the proposed licence fee structure and
proposed licence conditions), consultation arrangements, a summary
information leaflet, details of the timetable for implementation and
responses/feedback to consultation once considered.



In addition, all interested parties and wider members of the community will be
able to complete an online questionnaire.



A summary information leaflet and a paper questionnaire will be posted to all
residents within the proposed designation areas. This will include a pre-paid
envelope to post back completed questionnaire replies (as well as detailing the
option to reply online).



The same summary information leaflet and a paper questionnaire will be
delivered to a sample of residents in adjacent areas of the proposed
designation areas. This will include a pre-paid envelope to post back completed
questionnaire replies (as well as detailing the option to reply online).



A summary information leaflet and a paper questionnaire will be mailed out to
all known businesses in the proposed designation areas and a sample in the
adjacent/surrounding proposed designation areas. It will include details of how
to complete the online questionnaire if this is the landlord’s preferred method of
reply.

50
138



Workshop events for tenants/residents/local community members and interest
groups will be held online using Zoom. These events will provide information,
will allow members of the community to find out more about the proposal, to
ask questions and provide comment and feedback. Council staff will be on
hand to answer any questions. Owing to the current Covid19 restrictions, the
events will be virtual via a Zoom platform.



Virtual workshop events for landlords and/or their representatives will be held
via the Zoom platform and the dates will be advised soon.



All known landlords and managing agents will be contacted (mail-out) with the
aim of bringing the proposed consultation to their attention.



Direct contact (mail out/or email) to organisations which represent private
sector landlords.



Direct contact (mail out/or email) to known community and landlord groups
operating within the proposed designation area, with the aim of bringing the
proposed consultation to their attention.



Direct contact (mail out/or email) to key partner agencies i.e. the Police, Fire
Authority, Registered Housing providers etc. operating within (or in close
proximity) to the designation areas, with the aim of bringing the proposed
consultation to their attention.



Direct contact (mail out or email) with local MPs and all members.



Press release to announce and publicise the proposed designation consultation
including the timescale of the consultation period and how landlords/residents/
other stakeholders and all potential interested parties can respond.



Southend Borough Council’s Facebook



Southend Borough Council’s Twitter feed
The above demonstrates that all reasonable steps will be taken to ensure that
local residents, including private rented tenants, landlords and where
appropriate their managing agents, local businesses, stakeholders and wider
51
139

members of the community who live or operate a business or provide services
with the proposed designation will have been consulted on the Council’s
proposal.
17.5 Details of the consultation period
The Council has adopted a 10-week period for consultation regarding its
proposed Selective Licensing scheme. The consultation period will run from
2nd November 2020 and will end on 11th January 2021.
17.6 Consultation feedback
After the consultation period, all responses will be analysed and feedback
provided to the consultees. All responses received (that have not been
withdrawn) will be analysed and published as an anonymised summary
explaining how they have been either acted upon or not (and give reasons). A
copy of this consultation report/responses will be published.
Details of the above will then be reported back to the Council’s Cabinet. Subject
to the outcome of the consultation, the Council’s Cabinet will then make a final
decision as to whether or not to proceed with the Selective Licensing proposal
(including the scope and the scale of the designation).
17.7 Proposed implementation timetable
Analysis of all consultation responses received (and not withdrawn) will be
undertaken throughout the consultation period and will conclude by end of
January 2021.
There will be then a report back to the Council’s Cabinet for final consideration
in February/March 2021 (report will include details of consultation replies).
If full Council endorse the Selective Licensing proposal, a notice of proposed
designation will be published and this will run for 3 months.
Commencement of the Selective Licensing scheme would be no earlier than
the end of June 2021 - 3 months after the designation as required by the
Housing Act 2004.

52
140

17.8 Contact details for further information on the consultation
https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/selective-licensing-southend

Tel: 0800 073 0348
Email: southendprs@melresearch.co.uk

53
141

18. Supporting Evidence Base
The proposed areas for designation meet four of the six legal tests set out in the
Housing Act 2004 and regulations made thereunder. The designation is proposed
based on anti-social behaviour, crime, housing conditions and deprivation. A
designation based on migration or low demand is not proposed.
Only one test needs to be proved to make a designation lawful. The Council
considered data from a wide range of sources, collated and analysed by Arc4 (who
have undertaken similar work for numerous other local authorities in support of
Selective Licensing schemes) before coming to this conclusion. This chapter outlines
the key evidence that supports the proposed designation.
For clarity, and to present evidence regarding the challenges faced by some
communities within the borough, the following evidence will be presented in most
cases at the Government LSOA (Lower Super Output Area) level. These are
communities or areas that the UK Government use for Census and Office of National
Statistics data and reporting. There are 8 LSOAs being proposed in the scheme and
they are located in the wards of Kursaal (014A, 014B, 014C, 014F), Milton (015A,
015B, 015E) and in Victoria (010B). Each LSOA community has a code as stated in
the brackets which can be used to identify the area on the maps, figures, and tables
within this proposal.
In total the number of units accounted for in these LSOAs is 12,530. The total
number of units in Southend-on-Sea is 81,750. This accounts for 15.3%.

Housing Stock Overview
Number of properties and residents:
The wards of Milton, Kursaal and Victoria are urban areas characterised by a high
density of dwellings and occupants, within mostly older 19th century terraced housing,
flats, and houses in multiple occupation.

54
142

The bar chart below shows that 5 out of the 8 LSOAs (in yellow) proposed for
designation are in quintile 1. Indicating a high prevalence of properties built before the
1900.
Percentage of properties built pre 1900

This graph shows the
percentage of properties built
pre 1900 in quintile 1.
5 of the 8 LSOAS proposed in
the scheme are within quintile 1,
the remaining are in quintile 2.

VOA, Table CTSOP4.1 2019

Pre-qualification criteria
The four new tests or “set of conditions” are set out in The Selective Licensing of
Houses (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015 (SI 2015/977), hereinafter
referred to as the “Order”. However, before they can be applied, there are two initial
legal tests that must first be met. They are set out in Article 3(1)(a) and (b), and are:
(a) that the area contains a high proportion of properties in the private rented
sector, in relation to the total number of properties in the area
(b) that the properties referred to in sub-paragraph (a) are occupied either under
assured tenancies or licences to occupy.
The first test has been met, due to the size of the PRS, as discussed in Chapter 8
above, and the second test has been met, as the Council is aware that almost every
privately rented property in the proposed designated area is the subject of an assured
shorthold tenancy agreement (AST).
In the Council’s opinion, the pre-qualification criteria have been met, and the four new
sets of conditions may be applied if appropriate: anti-social behaviour, housing
conditions, deprivation, and crime. These conditions, or criteria, will be considered and
evidenced, during the rest of this chapter.

55
143

Methodology
The methodology and evidence used to identify the proposed Selective Licensing
designation areas and the Selective Licensing scheme proposal is built upon analysis
of data from a wide variety of information sources. The exercise was undertaken by
Arc4 which is an independent company with proven experience in such work and the
exercise was conducted in a robust manner using the most recent statistics.
Arc4 was originally appointed to support Southend-on-Sea BC to develop the evidence
base to identify potential locations for licensing through a Selective Licensing
arrangement. The report was complete and has supported the Council to prepare a
proposal for consultation for Selective Licensing. The report identified a number of
locations where areas were exhibiting poor performance and correlated to locations
with high levels of private rented property.

Criteria
For the Council to be able to declare a selective licensing designation it must be able
to satisfy one or more of the following conditions:







low housing demand (or it is likely to become such an area)
high levels of migration
a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour
(ASB)
poor housing conditions
high levels of deprivation
high levels of crime.

The Council’s proposal for designation is based on the last four, that is ASB, poor
property conditions, crime and deprivation.
In considering whether to designate an area for Selective Licensing on these grounds,
the local housing authority may only make a designation if the area has a high
proportion of property in the private rented sector.
An initial assessment was undertaken to identify areas within the Borough with high
levels of private rented stock, and it was established that PRS was more prominent in
LSOAS in Milton, Kursall, Chalkwell, Westborough, Victoria, Leigh, Prittlewell and
Thorpe. These wards where then compared with all wards within in the Borough using
a range of measures including:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Census data 2011
The National Rent Deposit scheme
UKCrimestats data
Police Recorded ASB data for 2018-2019 within Southend on Sea
Police Recorded Crime data for 2017 & 2018 within Southend on Sea
Council’s ASB data
Overall Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Score: IMD 2019.
56
144

This high level appraisal determined that the LSOAs in the wards identified above are
areas which tended to suffer from higher than average levels of private rented
accommodation, anti-social behaviour, high levels of deprivation and higher than
average levels of crime as well as poor property conditions.
The initial assessment was then followed by a robust examination of each of the wards
in detail to examine whether the issues faced were consistent across the full ward or
whether there are concentrations or pockets of areas experiencing issues which would
justify the implementation of Selective Licensing.
As detailed in appendix 1 (map 8.15 for the overall scores), data was geographically
mapped which was used to refine the proposed areas for inclusion within the proposed
Selective Licensing designation area. Following this assessment the Council is
confident it has a robust evidence base to justify the designation of a Selective
Licensing scheme and can demonstrate the areas are (or are likely to become areas)
experiencing a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour, are
areas with high concentrations of private rented housing and are areas with high levels
of deprivation and high levels of crime. Those LSOA areas proposed for inclusion
within the Selective Licensing designation have been identified (and will be referred to
throughout this chapter) as Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and parts of Chalkwell.

Detailed assessment
A wide variety of statistical information was gathered and used to inform this
assessment as listed above.
Wherever possible geographical (GIS) mapping of the data was undertaken which
helped to identify where the most problematic areas within the wards Milton, Kursaal
Victoria and parts of Chalkwell were, and therefore the streets that could be justified
for inclusion within the proposed Selective Licensing designation area.

57
145

The above graph shows that the percentage of the private sector in the wards
of Chalkwell, Kursaal, Milton, Victoria and Westborough are considerably
higher than the whole of Southend’s average of 22%. The investigation found
that the worst performing LSOAs were within the above wards. Further analysis
of the data was carried out in order to determine the worst affected
neighbourhoods within each ward which would potentially form part of the
scheme for Selective Licensing.
The measure/score for each indicator was recorded and each LSOA scored in
terms of the quintile it is within in Southend-on-Sea on the basis of: quintile 1
being the lowest/worst 20% LSOAs for each indicator and 5 being the
best/highest LSOAs for each indicator.
Each LSOA is then ranked within a final quintile by adding each individual
indicator quintile score to provide an overall rank retaining the assumption that
quintile 1 LSOAs overall are the worst performing LSOAs for the indicators that
have been identified.
The investigative work undertaken by Arc4 identified all the indicators in quintile
1 for each designation in detail and individual maps were provided for this which
are included in appendix 1. A further report was undertaken to focus the data
on the worst affected areas and the LSOAs for each indicator in quintile 1 and
summarises the information in maps in appendix 1.
As there are 107 LSOAs in Southend-on-Sea, the worst 21 LSOAs were
reviewed and recorded as Quintile 1. The number of LSOAs in quintile 1 can
increase, where there are identical scores in LSOAs. And the following
designations are proposed following that work.

58
146

The following chart shows the PRS located within the proposed areas for
designation and it demonstrates that all of them have a considerably higher
percentage than the borough’s average of 22%, with 3 having more than
double.
%PRS per LSOA

Percentage of PRS in potential licensing
locations compared to the average in
Southend-on-Sea
70

59.8

60

57.8

53.3

50
33.3

40

38.7

47.6
34.7

36.4

30

22

20
10

59.8%
57.8%
33.3%
38.7%
53.3%
34.7%
36.4%
47.6%
22%

So

ut

he

nd

on

Se

a

5A
01

4A
01

4F
01

5E
01

4B
01

0B
01

5B
01

01

4C

0

Kursaal
(014C)
Milton (015B)
Victoria
(010B)
Kursaal
(014B)
Milton (015E)
Kursaal
(014F)
Kursaal
(014A)
Milton (015A)
Southend on
Sea

The Council is proposing a designation on grounds of anti-social behaviour, crime,
poor property condition and deprivation. It should be noted that for the scheme to go
ahead, the Council only needs to satisfy just one of the said criteria. We will now look
at each of these four designations in detail.
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)
When identifying if an area is suffering from ASB, it is recommended by the MHCLG
that the local housing authority consider the following factors:


Crime: tenants engaged in poor tenant type behaviour, engaged in
vandalism, criminal damage, burglary or theft



Nuisance Neighbours: resulting in harassment, intimidation, noise or
nuisance affecting members of the public. Tenants engaged in begging,
anti-social drinking, drugs or prostitution as examples



Environmental crime: where tenants are engaged in graffiti, fly-posting,
fly-tipping, litter, waste and drugs as examples in/around the curtilage of
the property

ASB is not exclusively defined but can include acts of: verbal abuse, intimidation or
harassment behaviour of tenants or neighbours, noise, rowdy and nuisance behaviour
59
147

affecting persons living in or visiting the vicinity, animal related problems, vehicle
related nuisance, anti-social drinking or prostitution, illegal drug taking or dealing,
graffiti and fly posting and litter and waste within the curtilage of the property.
If ASB is being carried out within the immediate vicinity of the property, and is being
caused by the occupiers of it, then it would be reasonable to expect a landlord to
ensure that those persons are not conducting themselves in such a way that is
adversely impacting on the local community. This applies equally to visitors to the
property.
To inform the assessment data recorded by the Council, the police and UKCrimeStats
ASB rate 2019, Population estimates E&W NOMIS 2018 was analysed and there was
a clear demonstration of problems of ASB in the proposed areas.
To designate under ASB, the legal test is set out in section 80(6) of the Housing Act
2004. For an area to be designated under this section, the conditions are:
(a) that the area is experiencing a significant and persistent problem caused by
antisocial behaviour
(b) that some or all of the private sector landlords who have let premises in the
area (whether under leases or licences) are failing to take action to combat the
problem that it would be appropriate for them to take and
(c) that making a designation will, when combined with other measures taken
in the area by the local housing authority, or by other persons together with the
local housing authority, lead to a reduction in, or the elimination of, the problem.
“Private sector landlord” does not include a registered social landlord within the
meaning of Part 1 of the Housing Act 1996 (c. 52).
A legal definition is contained in Section1 (1) of The Crime and Disorder Act 1998
which states:
“Acting in an anti-social manner, that is to say, in a manner that caused or was likely
to cause harassment, alarm or distress to one or more persons not of the same
household as himself”.
This means that a complaint of anti–social behaviour cannot be made against a
perpetrator who lives in the same household as the complainant.
The different types of anti - social behaviour are dealt with by a number of different
enforcement agencies and data has been gathered from them to show the extent of
the problems in the areas proposed for the Selective Licensing designation and where
possible for the areas immediately adjacent to the proposed areas and the Borough
as a whole to give a comparison.
There are known areas within the borough that have serious issues relating to antisocial behaviour (ASB), or poor property conditions as well as several other issues
60
148

listed earlier in this report. Wards such as Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and a small part of
Chalkwell as well as Leigh are known to have several ASB issues. This is usually due
to a higher proportion of privately rented accommodation within such areas. This is
evidenced as shown in Map 8.2 of appendix 1.
Whilst it would not be feasible to declare the whole of such wards as part of the
designation due to staff resource implications, targeting areas with the highest degree
of anti-social behaviour for instance would be the most effective and successful way
forward.
This report is therefore proposing to designate specific neighbourhood of these wards
by focusing on those wards that have been identified as having the worst problems to
be part of the scheme for Selective Licensing.
For this designation, Council data from the Environmental Health service as well as
UKCrime stats data were used. The data examined was related, as far as possible to
the private rented sector and the maps linking ASB to the private sector can be found
in appendix 1. It is believed that a designation would be able to have an impact on
these problems.
The investigation found that LSOAs with the highest levels of anti-social behaviour are
widespread across Milton, Victoria, Kursaal and in specific locations in Southchurch
Chalkwell, Leigh and St Laurence.
It can be clearly demonstrated that the LSOAs being considered suffer from higher
than average incidents of ASB:
 The ASB rate per 1,000 population in the chart below is more than double that
of other areas within the borough.
The following graph shows the number of ASB incidents per 1000 population in quintile
1. All of the proposed LSOAs (in yellow) for licensing are in quintile 1

Source UKCrimeStats ASB rate 2019, Population estimates E&W NOMIS 2018

61
149

The chart shows that the LSOAs with the highest levels of recorded ASB are mostly
found within Milton, Victoria, Kursaal. This is consistent with the fact that these three
wards have the higher concentration of privately rented properties. Therefore, the
Council proposes that the worst LSOAs (quintile 1) in these wards are included in the
scheme as this will help improve these neighbourhoods in time.
Map 8.2 (in appendix 1) illustrates the overall quintile score for each LSOA under the
anti-social behaviour designation and it is clear that ASB issues are widespread across
Milton, Victoria, Kursaal and Leigh and in specific locations in Southchurch and
Chalkwell and St Laurence.

This graph shows the percentage
of noise related incidents per 1000
population 2018-2019 in quintile 1
for Southend-on-Sea.
5 of the 8 proposed LSOAs for
licensing are in quintile 1.

Source Southend-on Sea Council data

Milton ward, which is in the town centre, suffers from a disproportionate amount of
ASB, compared to the borough average. Incidents within this ward vary from adult
related ASB, alcohol related incidents to neighbourhood disputes.
Milton includes the High Street and Town Centre area where the majority of the night
time economy and alcohol related issues occur. Despite these factors we can
evidence that the proposed Selective Licensing designation area suffers from high
levels of ASB. This was determined by undertaking geographical mapping of Police
ASB incidents and tenure information. This exercise identified that there were clusters
(‘hotspots’) of high rates of ASB across the location of private rented housing stock in
the proposed LSOAs, which could therefore be proposed for inclusion within the
designation area.
Furthermore, recorded ASB incidents from the Council’s Environmental Health team
data were also analysed and mapped in order to ascertain if the ‘hotspot’ locations
correlated ASB and high levels of private rented stock. Map 8.7 in appendix 1 shows
the overall anti-social behaviour in quintile 1 combined with quintile 1 for the private
sector in the LSOAs being proposed.
62
150

Geographical mapping of the data alongside tenure information has identified that
across the proposed LSOAs for designation, there are high rates of recorded ASB by
both the Council’s records and Police data.

Police recorded ASB
It can be clearly demonstrated that the wards currently being looked at for designation
do suffer from higher than average incidents of ASB:
The graph below shows that the cases of reported ASB incidents between the years
2017 – 2019. It should be noted that the wards of Milton, Kursaal and Victoria recorded
considerably higher incidents than the rest of the Southend. The ASB in the three
wards alone accounts for more than 50% of the ASB reported in the whole borough.
Police recorded ASB in Southend on Sea

Total Recorded Anti-Social Behaviour Incidents by Ward
1400
1200
1000
800
600

2017
2018
2019

400
200

Bl

B
en elf
he air
im s
P
C ark
Ea halk
st
w wel
oo l
d
Pa
Ku rk
rs
aa
l
Le
igh
M
i
Pr lton
itt
Sh lew
oe
bu ell
So ryn
ut
e
hc ss
h
St
. L urch
au
re
n
St ce
.L
uk
e
Th 's
or
p
Vi e
ct
W or
W est ia
es
L
t S eig
ho h
W
e
es bu
r
tb
or y
ou
gh

0

Sourc
ehttps://

data.police.uk/data/

The reported ASB was further focussed to look at the LSOAs that are being
proposed for designation and the below graph shows the recorded incidents in the
LSOAs under proposal for designation.

63
151

Total Recorded Anti-Social Behaviour Incidents by Proposed LSOAs
700
600
500
400

2017
2018
2019

300
200
100
0
E01015839 E01015840 E01015841 E01015844 E01015851 E01015852 E01015855 E01015896
(Kursaal) (Kursaal) (Kursaal) (Kursaal) (Milton) (Milton) (Milton) (Victoria)

Source - https://data.police.uk/data/

All the LSOAs proposed for the scheme do have many incidents of recorded ASB in
the three years shown above. It should be noted that Milton figures include reports of
shoplifting on the high street which accounts for why they are excessively high.
How will Selective Licensing help improve the ASB?
Conditions of the licence will help to tackle ASB within these areas by ensuring good
property management by landlords including making tenants aware of their
responsibilities regarding theirs and their visitors’ behaviour. The Council will offer
support to landlords to deal with ASB in an effective, targeted and timely manner. The
proposed draft conditions can be found in appendix C.
Licensing will help to tackle environmental nuisance (such as noise, waste
accumulations in yards and incidents of fly tipping in the streets and alleyways) as the
proposed property inspections and contact with tenants will help to identify the source
of problems and facilitate opportunities to provide tenants with advice about their
responsibilities. If necessary, the Council will also pursue appropriate enforcement
action to address these issues.

64
152

Crime
In considering whether an area suffers from a high level of crime the Council may wish
to have regard to whether the area has displayed a noticeable increase in crime over
a relatively short period e.g. the previous 12 months; whether the crime rate in the
area is significantly higher than in other parts of the local authority area or that the
crime rate is higher than the national average. In particular, the local authority may
want to consider whether the impact of crime in the area affects the local community
and the extent to which a Selective Licensing designation will contribute to reducing
local crime.
• For this designation UKCrimeStats website data was used. UKCrimeStats
launched in April 2011 and is a leading independent crime, property price and
postcode analysis platform.
• The Crime Domain of the Multiple indices of deprivation measures the risk of
personal and material victimisation at local level. It is expressed as a decile
where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.
Table 7.1 below identifies the LSOAs with the highest rates of total crime per 1000
population compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the
quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest).
It is appropriate to note that crime levels within Milton ward are particularly high due
to offences linked to the number of crimes associated with the High Street (shoplifting
etc.).
Table 7.1

Highest rates of total crime

LSOA

Ward

E05002218
E05002225
E05002216
E05002216
E05002225
E05002216
E05002223
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002223
E05002219

Milton
Victoria
Kursaal
Kursaal
Victoria
Kursaal
Southchurch
Milton
Milton
Milton
Southchurch
Prittlewell
West
Shoebury
Kursaal
Victoria
St. Luke's

E05002228
E05002216
E05002225
E05002221

Level of PRS in the Rank
LSOA
1297.3
1
891.1
2
496.6
3
325.1
4
302.0
5
263.4
6
254.4
7
252.6
8
248.5
9
246.8
10
222.2
11
220.2
12
208.7
207.1
204.9
198.9

13
14
15
16

Score for
Q1 LSOAs
1
2
1
1
2
3
4
1
1
1
4
3
3
1
1
4
65

153

E05002214
E05002225
E05002220
E05002214
E05002221

Chalkwell
Victoria
St Laurence
Chalkwell
St. Luke's

194.1
191.9
187.5
185.8
184.1

17
18
19
20
21

2
3
3
1
3

Crime Rate 2019

This graph shows the UK
Crime stats Crime 2019 that
fall within quintile 1.
7 of the 8 proposed LSOAs for
licensing are in quintile 1.

Source UKCrimeStats, Population estimates
E&W NOMIS 2018

All the indicated LSOAs are shown in Map 8.13 in appendix 1, mainly situated within
the wards of Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and a small part of Chalkwell and Westborough,
and all have a clear link between the PRS and the crime.

Total Recorded Crime & Anti-Social Behaviour Incidents by
Ward
Police
recorded
crime

4500
4000
3500
3000
2500
2000

2017
2018
2019

1500
1000
500
Bl
en Bel
he fai
im rs
Ch Park
Ea al
st kw
w
oo ell
d
Pa
Ku rk
rs
aa
l
Le
igh
M
Pr ilto
i
Sh ttle n
oe we
b
l
So ury l
ut ne
ss
h
St chu
. L rc
au h
re
St nce
.L
uk
e
Th 's
or
Vi pe
W cto
W est ria
es
t S Leig
W hoe h
es bu
tb
or ry
ou
gh

0

66
154

Total Recorded Crime & Anti-Social Behaviour Incidents
by Proposed LSOAs
3000
2500
2000
2017
2018
2019

1500
1000
500
0
E01015839E01015840E01015841E01015844E01015851E01015852E01015855E01015896
(Kursaal) (Kursaal) (Kursaal) (Kursaal) (Milton) (Milton) (Milton) (Victoria)

Source - https://data.police.uk/data/

The above charts show that the incidence of crime and ASB in all wards increased
between 2017 and 2019 but with significantly high levels in the wards of Milton, Victoria
and Kursaal. The second chart shows the spread of crime and ASB across the LSOAs
proposed for designation.
It is appropriate to note that crime levels within Milton ward are particularly high due
to offences linked to the number of crimes associated with the High Street (shoplifting
etc.).
It is evident from the statistical and mapped data that residents living in the proposed
designation area are more likely to suffer from crime related issues than other localities
within the borough. These levels of crime and fear of crime increase negative
perceptions of the areas and have a detrimental impact on the community.
How will Selective Licensing help?
The Council recognises that a tenant’s behaviour is equally as important as a
landlord’s in securing improvements in our local communities. We therefore intend to
work closely with landlords to ensure their tenants understand their responsibilities as
local residents. Licensing officers will need to provide an increased local presence
within the designated areas, which will allow them the opportunity to get to know and
build up relationships with the aim of increased information sharing and the
identification of any issues/concerns. The property inspection visit will also provide an
opportunity to discuss tenant responsibilities as detailed in their tenancy agreement
(including for example expected behaviour, reporting of repairs, refuse storage and
disposal etc.) as well as offering any general and support required to ensure the tenant
can successfully sustain their tenancy.
67
155

Licensing also places a legal requirement on landlords to undertake a reference check
on tenants prior to offering a tenancy. By doing so the licence holder will be able to
make an informed choice as to whether a prospective tenant is suitable for the
property.

Poor property conditions
This legal test is set out in Article 4 of the Order. For an area to be designated under
this article (subject to Article 3), the conditions are:
(a) that having carried out a review of housing conditions under section 3(1) of the
[Housing Act] 2004 Act, the local housing authority considers it would be
appropriate for a significant number of the properties referred to in article 3(1)(a)
to be inspected, with a view to determining whether any category 1 or category
2 hazards exist on the premises;
(b) that the local housing authority intends to carry out such inspections as referred
to in paragraph (a), with a view to carrying out any necessary enforcement
action; and (c) that making a designation will, when combined with other
measures taken in the area by the local housing authority, or by other persons
together with the local housing authority, including any licence conditions
imposed under section 90 of the [Housing Act] 2004 Act, contribute to an
improvement in general housing conditions in the area.
Where a significant number of properties in the private rented sector are in poor
condition and are adversely affecting the character of the area and / or the health and
safety of their occupants, this could support a Selective Licensing designation. In that
case, as part of a wider strategy to tackle poor housing conditions, the local housing
authority may consider it appropriate to make a selective licensing scheme.
For this designation, the council relied on published datasets in support of the
designation and the following indicators were used;


property age and



the Living Environment Deprivation Domain which measures the quality of
the local environment. The ‘indoors’ living environment (used here)
measures the quality of housing. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the
bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%

The chart below illustrates the LSOAs with the highest percentage of properties that
predate 1900 compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the
quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

68
156

Further analysis showed that 11 out of the 21 LSOAs had properties that were built
pre 1900 and were found to have several problems with excess cold, poor energy
rating and several disrepair categories.
This graph shows the percentage
properties built pre 1900 in
quintile 1. 5 of the 8 LSOAS (in
yellow) are in quintile 1, the
remaining are in quintile 2. The
LSOAs being proposed for
designation have a high
proportion of older properties.

of

It is worth noting that the LSOAs with a low PRS proportion of all dwellings (i.e.
014A, 014B and 014F), have a high proportion of social housing and therefore the
lowest stock of pre 1900 PRS buildings.
The LSOAs with the poorest property conditions are widespread across Milton,
Victoria, Kursaal and in specific locations in Leigh, Belfairs, Thorpe, Chalkwell,
Prittlewell, St Laurence, St Luke’s and Westborough. Map 8.3 in appendix 1 illustrates
the overall quintile score for each LSOA under the poor property conditions
designation.
Due to the benefit cap on the local housing allowance for larger families, many of the
large properties in these areas have become attractive investments for landlords to
purchase and sub divide, creating additional flats and HMOs. These flats are easily
accessible housing for benefit dependent individuals and people on low incomes.
Many single-person benefit dependent households are transient and this can lead to
a high turnover of residents. This constant movement of single people within the
privately rented sector means it is difficult to maintain and develop any feeling of
community and this is likely to contribute to the high levels of crime and anti-social
behaviour (ASB) in the proposed areas.
The areas selected for this proposed designation were chosen due to high number of
private rented properties and high numbers of HMOs with higher than average and
higher than should be expected levels of anti-social behaviour considering the sizes

69
157

of the areas under consideration. Many of these are older converted properties as
described above.
Furthermore, we have also looked at historic complaints to the private sector team at
the Council and it is clear from the graph below that Kursaal and Milton recorded the
highest number of complaints for cat 1 hazards, with Chalkwell, Westborough and
Victoria also showing a significant number of complaints from the general public.

No. of Cat 1 Hazards
60
50
40
30
20
10

Bl Be
en lfa
he irs
im
p
Ch ark
al
kw
Ea ell
st
w
oo
Ku d
rs
aa
l
Le
igh
M
ilt
Pr
on
Sh ittle
w
oe
bu ell
So ryn
ut es
hc s
St hur
La ch
ur
an
St ce
Lu
ke
s
W
T
h
es
t S orp
e
h
W oeb
es
tb ury
or
W oug
es
h
tL
ei
g
Vi h
ct
or
ia

0

The Council has undertaken research regarding tenure type in the areas of interest
and found that the proportion of privately rented dwellings is significantly higher in the
proposed areas than for the remainder of Southend.
With regard to the Milton and Chalkwell Ward Station Road area, 38% of dwellings are
privately rented. In the Milton Ward Town Centre area, 56% are privately rented and
in the Kursaal Ward area, 50% are privately rented.
Combined, the three areas alone have an average of approximately 45% of all
dwellings being in the private rented sector. This is extremely high compared to the
national average of 22% and the local average of 19%.
Despite all these issues, Kursaal, Milton, Victoria and Chalkwell are still a priority for
improvement for Southend-on-Sea Borough Council. The areas are viewed as having
considerable prospects for the future with determination from the community, public
sector services and voluntary services to intervene and make a difference to the
current negative perception of specific neighbourhoods of these wards.
It is essential that the community are engaged with this proposal and have the
opportunity to make comment. This document sets out the detail behind the proposal
and the reasons why making a designation will enhance the existing activity and

70
158

welcomes any views or comments. Details on how to make representation are at the
end of this document and in Chapter 17
Following the 10-week consultation period, a final report will be submitted for a
decision on whether to proceed with the designation. The consultation is an important
part of the process and its results will contribute to which streets may eventually be
confirmed under the designation.
Deprivation
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is an official measure of deprivation in
England, and an updated version was published by government in September 2019.
In determining whether an area is suffering from a high level of deprivation, the local
authority may have regard to the following factors in relation to the area:








the employment status of adults
the average household income
the household’s health
the availability and ease of access to education, training and other services for
households
housing conditions
the physical environmental and
levels of crime.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation ranks all LSOAs in England, with 1 being the lowest
– or most deprived area. These are shown in the table below for the LSOAs in the
wards, along with the average rank for all Southend on Sea LSOAs. Also showing is
the decile (where the ranks are placed within 10% bandings based on their national
rank) for the LSOA, and the average decile for Southend, again with 1 being the most
deprived area nationally.
This legal test is set out in Article 6(1) of the Order. For an area to be designated under
this article (subject to Article 3), the conditions are:
(a) that the area is suffering from a high level of deprivation, which affects a
significant number of the occupiers of properties referred to in article 3(1)(a)
and
(b) that making a designation will, when combined with other measures taken
in the area by the local housing authority, or by other persons together with the
local housing authority, contribute to a reduction in the level of deprivation in
the area.
Where the local authority considers the area suffers from a high level of deprivation
which is related to concentrations of private rented stock, it is recommended that the
LA considers the following factors, compared to other similar neighbourhoods in the
local authority or neighbouring authorities.
71
159

It would be important to identify worsening in rankings over five-year periods for IMD
data. The data used for this designation is based on the most recent IMD figures which
were published in 2019 and provides a good starting point in order to look at this in
five years’ time when the next set of data is published.
Every small area in England is ranked according to its deprivation score from Rank 1
(being the most deprived) to Rank 32,844 (being the least deprived). This is what forms
the Index of Multiple Deprivation.
Thirty-eight separate indicators, organised across the seven distinct domains are
combined, using appropriate weights, to calculate the Index of Multiple Deprivation
(IMD). This is an overall measure of multiple deprivation experienced by people living
in a certain area.
For the purposes of the IMD, England has been broken down into 32,482 relatively
similar areas known as Lower layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs). Each LSOA relates
to a geographical area in which around 1500 people reside. The IMD ranks every
LSOA in England according to its relative level of deprivation, with ranking 1 being the
most deprived and 32,482 being the least deprived.
In Southend, over a third (35%) of our residents live in the top 30% most deprived
areas in England, and this is particularly high in the East Central Locality, which is in
the town centre. This includes wards St. Luke's, Victoria, Milton and Kursaal.
We know that a large proportion of our children and working age residents live in the
most deprived areas, compared to our residents aged 65+.
Deprivation is directly linked to life expectancy and the length of disability free life. This
essentially means that those living in poorer areas do not only die sooner, but they will
also spend more of their shorter lives with a disability.
The consequences of poverty, higher levels of harmful behaviour and lower levels of
protective behaviours are seen more clearly in the distribution of illnesses and health
status. When compared to those living in more affluent communities, populations living
in areas of high deprivation statistically have:
•

Higher levels of mental illness

•

Increased likelihood of developing a long-term condition, particularly chronic
respiratory conditions, cardiovascular diseases and arthritis

•

A higher prevalence of unhealthy lifestyle behaviours such as obesity, physical
activity and smoking

The research conducted by Arc4 concluded that wards of Kursaal, Victoria and Milton
were among the least deprived in the borough and with this there are significant
negative consequences experienced by the residents in these wards.
72
160

The impact of high deprivation to children can include: higher risks of infant mortality,
higher risk of acute illnesses requiring hospital admissions, may be more likely to
experience emotional and behavioural problems, less likely to maintain a healthy
weight, more likely to experience problems with oral health and are more likely to
achieve lower levels of educational attainment.
In addition, young people growing up in areas of high deprivation are more likely to
conceive and become teenage parents, more likely to enter the youth justice system,
more likely to start smoking at young age, are at a higher risk of becoming NEET (Not
in Education, Employment or Training) and may experience lower earnings and poorer
qualifications in adulthood.
The following charts look at the 7 domains of deprivation and illustrates how the eight
LSOAs under proposal are ranked in each domain

i.

The Health and Disability deprivation domain

The Health Deprivation and Disability Domain is expressed as a decile where 1 is the
bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%

This graph shows the decile
score for quintile 1 LSOAs for
Health Deprivation and Disability
Deprivation Domain. 7 of the 8
proposed LSOAs for licensing
are in quintile 1.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government, The English Indices of
Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG 2019.

Health & Wellbeing
In summary the health of people in Southend-on-Sea is varied compared with the
England average.
Approximately 6,365 children live in low-income families, this equates to 19.1%.
•

Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average

73
161

•
•
•
•
•
•

ii.

Life expectancy is 11.5 years lower for men and 10.3 years lower for women in
the most deprived areas of Southend-on-Sea than in the least deprived areas
In child health, levels of teenage pregnancy are worse than the England
average
In adult health, the rate of alcohol-related harm hospital admissions is
approximately 595 per 100,000 population, which is lower than the average for
England
The rates of homelessness and employment are better than the England
average
The rate of under 75’s mortality rate from cancer is worse than the England
average
In child health, the under 18 teenage conception rate is above the England
average
Barriers to Housing and Services

This domain measures the physical and financial accessibility of housing and local
services. The indicators fall into two sub domains; that is, ‘geographical barriers’ which
relate to the physical proximity to local services and ‘wider barriers’ which includes
issues relating to access to housing such as affordability and homelessness.
This graph shows the decile
score for quintile 1 LSOAs for
the Barriers to Housing and
Services Deprivation Domain.
6 of the 8 (in yellow) proposed
LSOAs for licensing are in
quintile 1.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG
2019.

The above domain represents physical and financial accessibility of housing and
local services, representing deciles 1 & 2 being in the bottom 10% for England.

74
162

iii.

Education, Skills and training deprivation domain
The Education, Skills and Training Deprivation Domain is expressed as a decile
where 1 is the bottom 10% and
10 is the top 10%.
This graph shows the decile
score for quintile 1 LSOAs for
Education, Skills and Training
Deprivation domain. 5 of the 8
proposed LSOAs for licensing
are in quintile 1. These include;
014A, 014B, 014C, 015B and
010B.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG
2019.

This domain measures the lack of attainment and skills in the local population. The
indicators fall into two sub domains: one relating to children and young people which
measures the attainment of qualifications and associated measures while the other
relates to adult skills measuring the lack of qualifications in the resident working age
adult population.

iv.

Crime Deprivation Domain
The Crime Domain measures the risk of personal and material victimisation at local
level. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.
All 8 of the proposed LSOAs are among the worst performing in this domain.

75
163

This graph shows the decile
score for quintile 1 LSOAs
for Crime Deprivation
Domain. All 8 of the
proposed LSOAs for
licensing are in quintile 1.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG
2019.

v.

Living Environment Deprivation Domain

This domain measures the quality of the local environment. The indicators fall into two
sub domains; the ‘indoors living environment’ measures the quality of housing while
the ‘outdoors’ living environment contains measures of air quality and road traffic
accidents.

This graph shows the decile
score for quintile 1 LSOAs for
Living Environment (indoors)
Deprivation Domain. 6 of the 8
proposed LSOAs for licensing
are in quintile 1.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG 2019.

76
164

vi.

Employment deprivation domain

The Employment Deprivation Domain is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom
10% and 10 is the top 10%.

This graph shows the
decile score for quintile 1
LSOAs for Employment
Deprivation Domain. 6 of
the 8 proposed LSOAs for
licensing are in quintile 1.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG
2019.

vii.

Income Deprivation Domain
The Income Deprivation Domain is expressed as a score which reflects the proportion of
the population experiencing deprivation relating to low income

This graph shows the score for
income deprivation for quintile 1
LSOAs. 5 of the 8 proposed
LSOAs for licensing are in
quintile 1.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG
2019

77
165

This graph shows the
number of households that
are claiming housing
benefits per 1000 population
in quintile 1. All of the
proposed LSOAs for
licensing (in yellow) are in
either quintile 2,3, or 4. It is
likely that those that have the
highest rates are focused on
where social housing is
located.

Source DWP, Stat-X-plore 2019, Census 2011 Table KS402EW Tenure

Overall IMD 2019
Overall indices of multiple deprivation expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and
10 is the top 10%.

This graph shows the decile
score for quintile 1 LSOAs for
Multiple deprivation. 7 of the 8
proposed
neighbourhoods
(LSOAs) for licensing are in
quintile 1.

Source Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London: MHCLG
2019.

78
166

The LSOAs with the highest levels of deprivation are widespread across Milton,
Victoria and Kursaal and in specific locations in St Laurence, St Lukes, West
Shoebury, Shoeburyness, Southchurch, Chalkwell, Westborough, and Blenheim Park
as shown in the map below. The most deprived areas include the neighbourhoods
being proposed under the scheme. IMD is made available for smaller areas than wards
to identify pockets of deprivation

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the overall indices
of multiple deprivation compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is
illustrated by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of
PRS). The measure is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the
top 10%.
Table 6.1
LSOA

Lowest decile for the overall indices of multiple deprivation
Ward

Score for Q1
LSOAs

E05002216
Kursaal
E05002216
Kursaal
E05002218
Milton
E05002220
St Laurence
E05002222 Shoeburyness
E05002223
Southchurch
E05002223
Southchurch
E05002225
Victoria
West
E05002228
Shoebury
E05002213
Blenheim

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

Level of PRS in
the LSOA
1
3
1
3
3
4
4
2

1
2

1
10

5
4
79

167

E05002213
E05002214
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002221
E05002222
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002228

Park
Blenheim
Park
Chalkwell
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St. Luke's
Shoeburyness
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
West
Shoebury

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10

4
1
1
1
1
1
3
3
3
1
3
2

2

10

3

It can be clearly demonstrated at ward and LSOA level that the proposed areas are
suffering from very high levels of deprivation. This is coupled with a high proportion of
privately rented properties.
Map 8.4 (appendix 1) illustrates the overall quintile score for each LSOA under the
deprivation designation.
For the proposal, we have selected eight neighbourhoods1 with the largest proportion
of households in private rented accommodation. These neighbourhoods also suffer
higher levels of deprivation and crime compared with the rest of Southend and the
wider region.
The following table ranks these eight neighbourhoods on a common deprivation
measure, the IMD score2. This is the Government's standard measurement of
deprivation and inequality and assesses conditions in each area according to a
weighted selection of seven measures, including disadvantage in income,
employment, health, housing and crime. The more deprived an area, the higher the
IMD score.
Table A
Neighbourhood IMD
(LSOA)1

IMD rank
IMD rank local
area
Southend
(of
107 (Southend/Castle
Point/Rochford)
LSOAs)
(of 217 LSOAs)

IMD rank
East
of
England3
(of
3614
LSOAs)

Milton (015B)
Kursaal (014C)
Kursaal (014F)
Kursaal (014B)
Victoria (010B)
Milton (015A)

2
5
13
14
19
22

19
33
184
186
248
319

60.79
56.34
40.85
40.71
37.58
34.79

2
5
15
16
23
27

80
168

Milton (015E)
Kursaal (014A)

34.01
28.75

23
29

28
35

338
525

Table A shows that the LSOA of Milton (015B), for example, is the second mostdeprived neighbourhood out of 107 neighbourhoods in Southend. It is also second
most-deprived in the wider area comprising 217 neighbourhoods in Southend, Castle
Point and Rochford, and ranked 19th of 3614 in the East of England3 region.
Table B below ranks these eight neighbourhoods on a common crime measure. the
Crime Domain measures the risk of personal and material victimisation and is made
up of several indicators based on the recorded numbers of violent crimes, burglaries,
thefts and criminal damage.
Table B
Neighbourhood
(LSOA) 1

Crime4

Crime rank
Southend
(of
107
LSOAs)

Crime rank local
area
(Southend/Castle
Point/Rochford)
(of 217 LSOAs)

Crime rank
East
of
England3l
(of
3614
LSOAs)

Milton (015A)
Kursaal (014C)
Milton (015B)
Kursaal (014B)
Kursaal (014F)
Milton (015E)
Kursaal (014A)
Victoria (010B)

2.08
1.9
1.74
1.52
0.93
0.92
0.87
0.81

1
2
3
5
13
14
17
24

1
2
3
5
14
15
19
26

4
9
23
47
245
251
285
338

The above table shows that Milton (015A), which is a different LSOA from the one in
the previous table, has the highest level of crime deprivation in both the 107 Southend
neighbourhoods and the 217 neighbourhoods in the wider local area.
Footnotes
1. We have used the Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOA) defined for the

Census. LSOAs have a similar population size, averaging 1500 people or 650
households. Rural LSOAs will cover a larger area than those in urban areas.
2. IMD score: Index of Multiple Deprivation, Ministry of Housing, Communities &
Local Government, English Indices of Deprivation (2019). The more deprived
an area, the higher the IMD score.
3. East of England comprises all local authority areas in the traditional counties of
Essex (including Southend-on-Sea and Thurrock), Suffolk, Norfolk,
Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and Cambridgeshire.
4. IMD Crime score: Average deprivation score from the crime domain, Index of
Multiple Deprivation, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government,
English Indices of Deprivation (2019). The higher recorded crime is in an area,
the higher the crime score.
81
169

How will licensing help?
Licensing can make a direct and tangible difference to deprivation factors driven by
high crime and poor housing. Conditions of a licence will also ensure properties are
managed properly and can contribute to an improvement in the well-being of
occupants and the wider community, including improving the health of households.
Overall Ranking
The evidence presented above shows the position within the proposed LSOAs in
Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and Chalkwell. To designate the proposed Selective Licensing
scheme, this report has focused on the 8 LSOAs within these wards.
In designating an area within a Selective Licensing scheme certain conditions must be
met:
• Any area must contain more than the national average of private rented
housing if designating on the grounds of anti-social behaviour, property
conditions, deprivation or crime. The English Housing Survey 2016-17 (Ministry
of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Jan 2018) shows 20% of all
households are private rented.
• Local authorities can designate a Selective Licensing scheme without seeking
confirmation from the Secretary of State providing the scheme covers no more
than 20% of its geographical area or would not affect more than 20% of privately
rented homes in the local authority area.
Each of the LSOAs have been ranked from 1 to 10 on each of the relevant indicators.
Those ranked 1 are the worst on each indicator, while those ranked 10 are the best
relative to the other LSOAs; ties are ranked at the lowest number.
Based on all the evidence combined, 8 LSOAs stand out and these are the ones being
proposed on for selective licensing. All the proposed LSOAs for the scheme fall in the
within the wards of Kursaal, Milton, & Victoria.
As well as scoring the worst rank overall, all 8 of these LSOAs scored the worst rank
in more indicators than any others which is why they were selected to be included in
the scheme. All the proposed LSOAs have considerably more concentrations of the
private rented housing. Together, they make up 19.7% of the total PRS stock,
therefore under the 20% limit before needing the Secretary of State’s confirmation.
These 8 LSOAs combined make up just a small fraction of the surface area of
Southend on Sea, so well under the 20% threshold.
There were further poor ranking LSOAs within the three wards including Chalkwell.
However, even adding just one of these LSOAs would push the Selective Licensing
scheme over the 20% threshold of PRS housing, therefore demanding confirmation
82
170

from the Secretary of State. Should the scheme be successful, any extension of the
scheme in future would require approval from the SoS.
Therefore, on the basis of all the collated and analysed evidence presented, we
recommend that the most appropriate course of action is to designate a Selective
Licensing scheme, which covers the eight identified LSOAs within the wards of Milton,
Kursaal, Victoria and a few roads in Chalkwell. This should bring the greatest benefits
for these most challenged communities, and to the whole borough, without the delays
and cost to the tax payer that an application to the Secretary of State would involve.
Conclusion
In conclusion, there are correlations between the LSOAs with above average private
rented sector levels and indicators that measure, high levels of crime, anti-social
behaviour, crime property conditions and deprivation. The locations where the overall
score is in quintile 1 and correlating with high concentrations of the private sector are
potential locations to consider for inclusion in the scheme for licensing.
A list of proposed streets to include in the licensing scheme has been compiled and it
is within the 20% threshold therefore there will be no need to apply to the Secretary
of State (SoS) for this scheme but any future expansion to the scheme will require
approval from the SoS.
Following additional analysis, the worst affected locations were identified to be
considered as appropriate for inclusion in the proposal Selective Licensing alongside
a wider evidence base and complementary activities of the Council.
The evidence in this report demonstrates that the legislative criteria have been met to
implement the proposed Selective Licensing scheme. The introduction of the scheme
will help to secure the future of the PRS as being a key element of housing choice in
Southend. The scheme would introduce minimum standards for all landlords to meet
before letting a property within the designated area. This will therefore mean that
where a landlord/property fails to meet licenced standards, strong and appropriate
action will be taken to resolve issues in a timely manner. Overall, the housing market
in the areas will improve and, more importantly through the licencing, the reputation of
the PRS will also increase. As a result of this more people will trust in the quality of
these properties and have faith in proper enforcement where appropriate.
It is intended that Selective Licensing will also:
• Establish clear minimum management and property standards
•

Make Landlords and Agents more accountable

•

Improve communication with landlords/agents

•

Make it easier to identify poor properties and their landlords

•

Empower tenants to act where landlord/agents are failing to meet the required
standards
83
171

•

Reduce levels of complaints which draw on Council services

•

Reduce ASB and crime by ensuring that landlords are taking greater
responsibility how they manage their properties, including the behaviour of
their tenants

•

Raise the standard of tenants’ behaviour as unacceptable behaviour is dealt
with consistently and appropriately.

19. Legal Framework
This section of the report summarises the legal requirements necessary for the
introduction of Selective Licensing in an area.
Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 (the Act) sets out the scheme for licensing private
rented properties in a local housing authority area. Under section 80 of the Act a local
housing authority can designate the whole or any part of its area as subject to selective
licensing, subject to two prerequisites. Firstly, s80(9) requires the housing authority to
have taken reasonable steps to consult persons likely to be affected by the designation
and to consider any representations made in response. Secondly, s80(2) requires that
the proposed licensing scheme must satisfy one or more of a number of specified
statutory conditions, set out in ss80(3) (a) and (b) and (6) of the Act:
a) That the area is, or is likely to become, an “area of low housing demand”; and that
the proposed designation will contribute to the improvement of the social or economic
conditions in the area when combined with other measures taken in the area by, or in
cooperation with, the local authority
b) That the area is experiencing a “significant and persistent problem” caused by antisocial behaviour (‘ASB’); that some or all of the private sector landlords letting
premises in the area have failed to take action which it would be appropriate for them
to take to combat the problem; and that the proposed designation will, when combined
with other measures, lead to a reduction in or elimination of the problem.
In March 2015, the Government extended the conditions for designation of Selective
Licensing in England. The Selective Licensing of Houses (Additional Conditions)
(England) Order 2015/977 came into force on 27 March 2015, and permits licensing
where:
The area contains a high proportion of properties in the private rented sector (PRS),
being properties which are occupied under assured tenancies or licences to occupy,
and one or more of specified further conditions also apply:

84
172



Deprivation: the area is “suffering from a high level of deprivation, which affects
a significant number of the occupiers of [the] properties” and the designation
will contribute to a reduction in deprivation



Housing conditions: the local housing authorities considers it appropriate and
intends to carry out inspections of a significant number of properties to
determine the existence of category 1 and 2 hazards, with a view to taking any
necessary enforcement action



Crime levels: the area “suffers from high levels of crime”; criminal activity affects
persons occupying the properties; and the designation will contribute to a
reduction in crime levels “for the benefit of those living in the area”.



Migration: the area has “recently experienced or is experiencing an influx of
migration into it”; a significant number of properties are occupied by those
migrants; and the designation will assist the local housing authority to preserve
or improve conditions in the area, ensure properties are properly managed, or
prevent overcrowding

In addition, in making a Selective Licensing designation, the local authority must,
under section 81 of the 2004 Act:
a) Ensure that it exercises its power to designate consistently with the Council’s
overall housing strategy; and
b) Seek to adopt a co-ordinated approach in connection with dealing with
homelessness, empty properties and anti-social behaviour, both as regarding
(i) combining Part 3 licensing with other available courses of action and (ii)
combining Part 3 licensing with measures taken by other persons.
Furthermore, the authority must not make a particular designation under section 80
unless:
(a) it has considered whether there are any other courses of action available to
them (of whatever nature) that might provide an effective method of achieving
the objective or objectives that the designation would be intended to achieve
and
(b) it considers that in making the designation it will significantly assist in
achieving the objective or objectives (whether or not other course of action are
also taken).
Amended General Approval – April 2015
The Secretary of State has power to give general approvals for Selective Licensing
designations, meaning that any licensing scheme compliant with the statutory tests
would come into force subject only to compliance with any further conditions specified
85
173

in the approval. The first General Approval was issued in March 2010 and required
only that consultation on Selective Licensing take place for a minimum of ten weeks.
On 1 April 2015 an amended General Approval was issued. The Secretary of State’s
consent is now required for implementation of any Selective Licensing scheme which
covers more than 20% of a local housing authority’s geographical area, or more than
20% of the private rented sector homes in the district area.
It should be noted that Southend Borough Council’s Selective Licensing proposal does
not cover more than 20% of our geographical area, nor does it cover than 20% of the
private rented sector homes in the borough.
Where a Selective Licensing designation is made it applies to privately rented
properties in the area. Subject to certain exemptions (which are detailed in Chapter 3
of report), all properties in the private rented sector which are let or occupied under a
tenancy or licence, are required to be licenced by the local housing authority, unless
a property is a House in Multiple Occupation and is required to be licenced under Part
2 of the Act.
Owners of rented properties will be required to make an application to the Council for
a licence and will need to nominate either the manager or the owner to be the licence
holder. Landlords will require a licence for each individual property they rent out within
the designated area.
This report provides a strong evidence base that a scheme for Selective Licensing can
be introduced in the areas under consideration and how it would contribute to the
Council’s overall strategic priorities documented in key Council policies and strategies
including the Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleepers Strategy 2018-2028 (as
detailed earlier on in this document).
Licence Conditions:
Each licence is valid for up to 5 years and will contain a number of conditions with
which the licence holder will be required to comply. The conditions will include issues
relating to tenancy management (including tenant referencing), ensuring properties
are safe and dealing with anti-social behaviour. The Council’s draft Selective Licensing
Conditions are detailed in Appendix C.
Fit and Proper Person:
In addition to ensuring compliance with the licence conditions, the Council will need to
determine that the proposed licence holder as a ‘fit and proper’ person in terms of their
suitability to manage their property/properties before issuing a licence. The Council
will use the relevant legislation in undertaking this assessment. Further information on
this is contained in appendix B.
Selective Licensing fees:
86
174

Costs associated with the administration of a Selective Licensing scheme are
recouped via fees charged to the landlord. Details of the Council’s proposed Selective
Licensing fee structure are detailed in Chapter 14.
Selective Licensing enforcement:
Failure to apply / obtain a licence when a property is let could result in unlimited fine if
convicted or a Civil Penalty up to £30,000. In addition, were a breach of a licence
condition is identified this could lead to a fine of £5000 or a Civil Penalty for each
breach.
In addition, local authorities and tenants can claim back from landlords up to 12 months
benefit/rent paid during the period a property has not been licenced (Rent Repayment
Order). Landlords who continually fail to licence a property can have control of their
property taken away from them through a Management Order.
If approved, during the period of the designation, a programme of pro-active property
inspections would be carried out and the Council would take action where breaches
of conditions are found. These enforcement activities would not be met by the revenue
from fees, they would be funded through the Council’s investment into the Selective
Licensing Team.

20. How Selective Licensing would fit in with other
Strategies and activities of the Council
Whilst the data collected as discussed above in Chapter 18 gives strong evidence to
support the implementation of a Selective Licensing Scheme in the areas under
consideration, under Section 81 of the Act the Council is legally required to ensure
that any potential scheme is consistent with the authority’s overall housing strategy
and compliments existing projects and activities of the Local Authority and its partners.
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleepers Strategy 2018-2028
The vision of this Strategy is for:
"Southend to offer a wide range of housing opportunities which support our ambition
for a strong community and attractive environment where people can live, learn,
work and play."
Ensuring the provision of good quality housing in the private sector and ensuring the
integrated blend of different tenures is a vital part of this.
A key objective of this Strategy is:
"Creating neighbourhoods where people want to live" and the following is how this
can be achieved
87
175

Regeneration
The Council will listen to local people and understand what they need to live well and
thrive in Southend-on-Sea. The Council is committed to housing being far more than
bricks and mortar, and our investment and asks of the market will equally consider the
infrastructure needed, such as places to learn, play and work where the community
comes together. Regeneration and growth require high quality planning, management
and resident engagement so that residents are supported and listened to throughout
the regeneration/ growth process. In this strategy, the Council seeks to encourage,
enable and empower successful neighbourhoods and strong, cohesive communities
with collective responsibilities for the people and places we live. The Local Plan will
unlock new sites for housing and, through our work with housing associations and
developers, and through our own developments, will ensure that new homes
contribute to the shaping and improving of local areas.
For example: Better Queensway seeks to create a new neighbourhood that will not
only deliver a significant increase in the number of new homes during the lifetime of
this strategy, but will also provide new green space, better infrastructure, local jobs
and a healthy community to work, live and thrive in.

Empty homes
Under Section 81 of the Act a co-ordinated approach in connection with dealing with
empty properties is required. The Empty Homes Strategy is part of the Council's
wider strategic framework. The overall aim of this is to ensure that:
"Empty properties are managed quickly and efficiently helping to create sustainable,
safe and pleasant communities leading to the provision of housing that meets the
needs of local people."
The Council will also work to bring empty homes across the borough back into use
and will seek to make some of these available as affordable housing by agreeing
nominations rights on properties. An emphasis will be placed on properties empty 2
years plus.
The Council will take a proactive approach to empty properties, understanding the
reasons behind individual empty homes so that we can work with owners, offering
advice and guidance to help bring the properties back into use.
Empty properties have an increased risk of vandalism and crime and may require
costly repair works to ensure the property meets the current Housing Standards.
Empty properties can also have a direct impact on adjoining properties through damp,
structural issues, looking unsightly and may impact neighbouring house prices.

88
176

Abandoned or long-term empty properties can have an impact on the local community
in terms of economic depreciation of adjacent properties.
They may cause additional pressures on the housing market, supressing market
‘churn’ and resulting in additional pressures on social housing and private rented
accommodation.
Bringing properties back into use in a timely and cost-effective manner will therefore
have a positive impact on neighbourhoods, resident safety and increase the quality
and volume of housing stock in the borough.
It is possible that the designation of a Selective Licensing Scheme could result in
some properties being vacated before the formal designation is made once landlords
are aware of the proposals. These properties could be put on the market for sale or
left vacant pending the owner deciding on a course of action. In the current housing
climate, there is the potential that such properties could remain unsold for some
time.
The Council currently has a dedicated officer tasked with the role of bringing longterm vacant properties back into occupation. Any properties which become vacant as
a result of the designation of the Selective Licensing Scheme will be entered on to
the empty homes database and consideration given to the use of a variety of powers
at its discretion to bring properties back into use.
Homelessness
The Council is committed to being accessible to people when all types of
homelessness occur, responding quickly and with the most effective resources and
approaches required to make sure that people are housed in the types of homes they
need. This does not mean placing people in temporary accommodation for extended
periods and we will always move swiftly to move people into sustainable longer-term
solutions both through increasing the availability of affordable homes and by making
sure people get the bespoke personal housing plans they need. Most of the Council’s
homeless duties would be best discharged into the private sector and improving
standards within the sector will ensure that more homes are decent and fit for
homeless discharge therefore reducing the pressure on the housing register.
The Council through its homelessness prevention duties provides housing options and
advice and a Rent Deposit Scheme. These activities are intended to assist a
household to remain in their current home, where appropriate, or provide options to
enable a planned and timely move and help sustain independent living. Improving the
property standards within the private sector would go a long way in improving the offers
within the sector.

89
177

It is recognised that the designation of a Selective Licensing Scheme could result in
some properties being taken out of the rental market by reluctant landlords leading to
a potential increase in homeless households.
If households find themselves displaced as a result of the Selective Licensing
designation, the aforementioned assistance would be made available to explore the
range of options available to households facing homelessness. The Council commits
itself to a service for all customers with less of a distinction in the level of service
provided to persons in relation to their probable "priority need" status.
Partner agencies and powers to deal with Anti- social behaviour (ASB)
Under Section 81 of the Act a co-ordinated approach in connection with dealing with
anti-social behaviour is required.
Tackling ASB is a core part of effective neighbourhood and tenancy management and
the creation of sustainable communities. There are a range of powers available to the
council, police and various partner agencies and groups as well as the Council’s
Community Safety team which deal with ASB through the Crime and Disorder
Partnership.
The range of legislation means that the Council and the police have more powers
than ever before to deal with ASB.
Alternative courses of action considered
Under Section 81 of the Housing Act 2004, the Council must consider whether there
are any other courses of action available to them (of whatever nature) that might
provide an effective method of achieving the objectives that the designation of the
Selective Licensing scheme is intending to achieve and must consider that making the
designation will significantly assist the Council in achieving the objectives of the
scheme.
The overall aim of the designation of a Selective Licensing Scheme is to reduce the
levels of ASB, deprivation, crime, and poor property conditions associated with
privately rented properties by improving the standards of management.
The Housing Act 2004 introduced additional discretionary powers for Local Authorities
to deal with properties which are causing a problem of ASB, deprivation, crime and
poor property conditions. Selective Licensing is only one of them and the other powers
have all been considered to determine if they would be more appropriate to utilise in
achieving the same objectives as described below.
Interim Management Orders (IMOs) and Special Interim Management Orders (SIMO)
powers should be used in extreme cases where the landlord of any HMO (IMO) or
privately rented dwelling (SIMO) fails to take action against anti-social behaviour
caused by his tenants and there is a threat to the health, safety and welfare of tenants.
90
178

These orders have to be authorised by the Residential Property Tribunal and their
effect is to transfer all management responsibilities and rent collection to the local
authority for one year. If there is no improvement in the situation after one year, a Final
Management Order can be put in place which lasts for five years.
This power is useful for rare cases of individual properties where it is clear that one or
more occupiers are causing the ASB which is a serious problem in the area and the
landlord is not taking the appropriate action to combat this problem.
This power has not been deemed to be suitable to deal with the ASB in the areas
proposed for Selective Licensing as the ASB cannot be attributed to an individual
property or select group.
Summary
A range of powers and tools are available to councils to deal with crime, ASB or
nuisance caused by private tenants or their visitors. Landlords also may have the
power to evict tenants if their behaviour is anti-social and it is occurring within the
curtilage of the rented property.
Southend Council, its partners as well as various community groups have undertaken
many initiatives which have all had a positive impact on the areas under consideration
for Selective Licensing.
Critically, however, they have not improved the standard of management of privately
rented properties, which may be at the heart of the crime, deprivation and anti-social
behaviour. Although the Council and its partners reactively respond to complaints
relating to ASB, crime and poor property conditions, a reactive response only deals
with a small proportion of the problems leaving the remaining area largely unregulated.
Selective Licensing can be used as an additional tool which would go hand in hand
with the above partnerships and would form part of the coordinated response to
tackling ongoing issues in the designated areas. It is not intended that Selective
Licensing would replace the work of any of the above groups but rather provide a
complementary resource for the improvement of conditions and reduction of prevalent
problems within the selected areas.
In order to ensure that the designation of the scheme compliments the work of other
bodies, a multi-agency Selective Licensing Steering Group will have to be created.
This should consist of members of all the relevant Council Departments and partner
agencies including Community Safety team, Police and Essex County Fire and
Rescue Service and any other identified service provider groups. The aim of this group
is to steer the project, ensure that work is not duplicated, all factors and challenges
have been considered and that there are no gaps in service delivery to ensure that the
scheme is a success and the anticipated outcomes are achieved.
91
179

21.

Potential risks of a Selective Licensing designation and
how these could be prevented and/or managed


There is the risk that making a designation could have a negative impact on the
proposed areas. Both good and bad landlords could leave the area due to the
licence fee and perceived increased obligations.



There could be an increase in abandoned and vacant properties as landlords
take them out of use. This has been considered and will be managed through
the work of the Council as contained within the Empty Homes Strategy.



There could be an increase in homelessness applications as persons are
displaced by reluctant landlords. As detailed above this has been considered
and will be managed through the work of the Council and its homelessness
prevention functions and other initiatives.



Speculative landlords could move their business elsewhere to an area where
there are not the additional perceived burdens of a Selective Licensing
designation. This cannot be controlled but as discussed above, the private
rented market in Southend is buoyant and reluctant landlords are likely to be
replaced by landlords willing to comply.



There is a risk to the Council that landlords could challenge the designation and
apply for a Judicial Review of the decision to make a designation. To avoid this
risk, the Council has followed all available guidance in considering the
designation of a Selective Licensing Scheme. Advice has been sought from
several other authorities who have already implemented the scheme. A wide
range of data has been gathered to support the proposals and the existence of
a problem of ASB, crime, deprivation and poor property conditions. These have
been analysed fully and a link shown between problem areas and high levels
of privately rented properties. A link has also been shown between specific
complaint cases and privately rented properties. A full consultation is to be
undertaken and copies of all supporting documentation made available through
the Council’s web site.
Examples of best practice have been used from other Local Authorities. The
lessons learned from a successful application for a Judicial Review of another
Local Authority’s designation have also informed our considerations. As part of
the consultation process, landlords will be invited to become members of a
Selective Licensing Project Group – this would enable them to be involved in
the detailed planning of the scheme.

92
180



There could be resistance from some landlords who view the designation as
additional control by the Council over their business. This can be managed by
ensuring that landlords are made fully aware of the likely benefits to the overall
area that making the designation will bring- improved desirability, a settled
community, increased property prices etc. In addition, the “added value”
package of measures which the scheme will offer in terms of landlord training
and support and other services to assist them in managing their properties
should increase the support of the scheme. The cost of a licence spread over
the five-year period of the licence is not unreasonable for the services which
will be provided.



There is a risk to neighbouring boroughs that displaced landlords and problem
tenants moved to other areas.

22. Review of the Designation
Whilst the designation is intended to last for five years, Section 84 of the Act requires
the Local Housing Authority to review the operation of the designation from time to
time.
If following a review, it is considered appropriate to do so, the designation may be
revoked.
This could occur if the findings of a review of the operation of the designation before
the end of the five years found that the set objectives of reducing ASB, crime,
deprivation and poor property conditions in the area, improving the management of
the privately rented sector and the wider community of the area had been achieved.
Alternatively, if the designation is failing to tackle the issues it is meant to address, the
Council may consider that the designation should be revised or revoked and
alternative measures considered to address the issues.
The Government has recognised that Selective Licensing is a long-term strategy and
it will not provide instant solutions, neither can it be successful as a single tool. If in
the initial phases of the designation there has been little improvement in the area, this
does not necessarily mean that the designation is a failure.

23. How do I make comments on this proposal?
93
181

For general enquiries about this consultation please contact:
Phone: (01702) 215000
Email: council@southend.gov.uk
To complete a survey, this can be done online or by downloading and printing a copy
at: https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/selective-licensing-southend
All surveys and comments should be completed online or returned to M·E·L
Research and not to the Council’s office.
Please note that the return address for the paper surveys is as stated below;
Freepost Plus RUBU–GJRK–GHBT
M E L Research Ltd
Somerset House
37 Temple Street
Birmingham
B2 5DP

GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS
SoS – Secretary of State
ASB – Anti-Social Behaviour
MHCLG - Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government
PRS – Private Rented Sector
ONS - Office of National Statistics

94
182

Appendices
Appendix 1
All the maps of the proposed designations areas

95
183

Appendix 2
List of streets for inclusion
Every attempt has been made to ensure that this list is as comprehensive as possible;
however, the proposed designation is based on the geographical area delineated by
the blue line on the proposed designation map. The map overrides this list and is final
and conclusive as to whether a property would or would not be subject to selective
licensing should the designation be made.
Milton Ward
1. Ashburnham Road
2. Gordon Road
3. Queens Road
4. Napier Road
5. Elmer Avenue
6. Gordon Place
7. Elmer Approach
8. High Street
9. Colchester Road
10. Warrior Square
11. Tyrell Drive
12. Whitegate Road
13. Tyler’s Avenue
14. Hillcrest Road
15. Toledo Road
16. Baltic Avenue
17. Grover street
18. Heygate Avenue
19. Chancellor Road
20. Hartington Road

21. Marine Parade
22. Lucy Road
23. Sea way
24. Herbert Grove
25. Church Road
26. Pier Hill
27. Royal Terrace
28. Royal Mews
29. Alexandra Street
30. Clarence Road
31. Weston Road
32. Nelson Street
33. Clarence Street
34. Nelson Street
35. Clarence Road
36. Cambridge Road
37. Scratton Road
38. Western Esplanade
39. Clifton Parade
40. Hamlet Court Road

41. Ceylon Road
42. London Road
43. St. John Road
44. Preston Road
45. Cossington Road
46. Retreat Road
47. Hermitage Road
48. Seaforth Road
49. Palmeira Road
50. Shorefield Road
51. Leonard Road
52. Clifton Drive
53. Ditton Court Road

Kursaal
1. Woodgrange Drive
2. York Road
3. Pleasant Road
4. Stanley Road
5. Albert Road
6. Wesley Road
7. Hastings Road
8. Kilworth Road
9. Cromer Road
10. Hilcrest Road
11. Wimborne Road
12. Boscombe Road
13. Lancaster Gardens
14. Windermere Road
15. Fowler Close
16. Chase Road

17. Honninton Road
18. Cheltenham Road
19. Park Lane
20. Ambleside Drive
21. Riviera Drive
22. Ilfracombe Avenue
23. Lovelace Avenue
24. Surbiton Avenue
25. Oakleigh Avenue
26. Lovelace Garden
27. Glen Mews

96
184

Victoria
1. Claremont Road
2. Albion Road
3. Windsor Road
4. Osborne Road
5. Hamlet Court Road
6. Rayleigh Avenue
7. Salisbury Avenue
8. Albany Avenue
9. Cliff Avenue
10. North Road
11. Brighton Avenue
12. London Road
13. Chelmsford Avenue
14. Boston Avenue
15. Colchester Avenue
16. Harcourt Avenue
17. Baxter Avenue
18. Carnarvon Road
19. Tunbridge Road
20. Short Street

21. Victoria Avenue
22. Kenway
23. Balmoral Road
24. Crowborough Road
25. Short Street
26. Sweyne Avenue

Chalkwell
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Station Road
Grosvenor Road
Cobham Road
Pembury Road
Palmerston Road
Manor Road

97
185

This page is intentionally left blank

Draft Licence Conditions
Important Notice
The person to whom this licence is granted is responsible for ensuring compliance with its
conditions at all times and remains so whether or not another person has also agreed to be bound
by them.
Definitions
For the purpose of licensing conditions attached to a licence:
In these licence conditions:
“house” refers to the building or such part of it as is licensed under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004;
 “Authority” refers to the local authority, namely Southend Borough Council;
 “Licence Holder” refers to: (a) the person to whom the Authority has granted this licence;
and (b) from the date of his or her consent, any other person who agrees to comply with
the licence restrictions and obligations that follow;
 “Mandatory Licence Conditions” refers to conditions that the Authority is obliged to
impose under any licence granted under Part 3 Housing Act 2004 by virtue of Schedule 4 of
that Act.
Conditions for the regulation of licensing properties under Part 3 of The Housing Act 2004.
Tenancy Management
Permitted Occupation
1. The Licence Holder must, if required, by written notice, provide to the Authority within 14 days on
demand, the following particulars as may be specified in the notice with respect to the occupancy of
the house:
(a) The names and number of individuals/households accommodated specifying the rooms they
occupy within the property.
(b) Number of individuals in each household.
Notification of Changes
2. The Licence Holder must inform the Landlord Licensing team directly, in writing, of any changes
listed below within 14 days of the change occurring:
a) Licence Holder’s change of address, contact telephone number or email address.
b) Manager’s change of address, contact telephone number or email address.
c) Change of emergency contact number provided to the tenant.
d) Any changes to the Licence Holder, the Manager’s or any associate’s circumstances which
could affect their fit and proper person status, i.e. any cautions or convictions for any
offence involving fraud, dishonesty, violence, drugs, sexual offences (under Sexual Offences
Act, schedule (3) discrimination or breach of housing or landlord / tenant law or convicted of
a banning order offence or issued with a banning order.
Written information

187

3. The Licence Holder must supply the occupiers of the property with a written statement of the
terms on which they occupy it within 7 days of the commencement of their occupation of the
property.*
4. Within 7 days of the commencement of any new tenancy or within 14 days of the licence coming
into force for tenants already in occupation on that date, the Licence Holder must provide the
occupier(s) with:
a) Written information explaining how they can make a complaint in relation to matters
concerning their occupation, such as disrepair/pests/emergency issues relating to the
security of the property, (this must include a contact address, daytime telephone number
and emergency out of hours telephone number) and how the Licence Holder will deal with
such issues, including timescales for completion of repair works;
b) Written information of arrangements for the disposal of rubbish and bulky waste (including
where applicable, details in relation to obtaining and returning ally-gate keys); and
c) A copy of the licence, including licence conditions, for the property.
5. Any changes to contact details, for the purposes of reporting complaints or emergencies, must be
provided to the tenant within 24 hours of the change taking place. A written record must be kept of
this and provided to the Authority within 14 days on demand.
6. The Licence Holder must demand references from persons who wish to occupy a letting in the
property before entering into any tenancy agreement with them.*
7. The Licence Holder must retain all references obtained for tenants of the property for the
duration of this licence and provide copies to the Authority within 14 days on demand.
8. When rent or licence fees are collected or received in cash from the occupiers, a written rent
receipt must be given to the occupiers, within 7 days of receiving the rent (this can be an email or
written invoice confirming to the tenant, the date and amount paid). Copies of the rent receipts and
records must be provided to the Authority within 21 days on demand.
Anti-Social Behaviour
9. The Licence Holder must ensure that any tenancy agreement granted after the issue of this licence
includes the following clause within the tenant’s obligations:
“ Nuisance and Anti-social Behaviour: Not to cause, or allow household members, or visitors to
engage in anti-social behaviour, which means any conduct causing or capable of causing a nuisance
or annoyance to the landlord, other occupiers, neighbours or people engaging in lawful activity
within the locality. (Examples of anti-social behaviour include but not limited to failure to control
dogs or children, leaving gardens untidy, not properly disposing of rubbish, inconsiderate use of the
property, as well as more serious problems such as noise, violent and criminal behaviour, domestic
abuse, the supply and use of controlled drugs, and intimidation, harassment or victimisation on the
grounds of a persons’ race, sex (gender), sexual orientation, disability, age, religion or belief,
pregnancy or maternity status, socio-economic status).”
10. The Licence Holder must effectively address all problems of anti-social behaviour resulting from
the conduct on the part of a tenant, occupiers, or visitors to the property by complying with the
requirements of paragraphs (a) to (i) below amongst other steps as appropriate:
The Licence Holder must not ignore or fail to take action, if he has received complaints of anti-social
behaviour that concern the occupiers of or visitors to the property or that result from their actions.

188

a) Any letters, relating to anti-social behaviour, sent or received by the Licence Holder, or agent
of the Licence Holder, must be kept by the Licence Holder. True copies of the original
document(s) should be made available to the Authority within 7 days on demand (but the
Licence Holder shall not thereby be required to disclose to the Authority, any information
which the Licence Holder reasonably believes to have been provided to him in confidence by
a third party).
b) The Licence Holder must ensure that written notes are kept of any meetings or telephone
conversations or investigations regarding anti-social behaviour.
c) If a complaint is received, or anti-social behaviour is discovered, the Licence Holder must
contact the tenant within 7 days. The tenant must be informed of the allegations of the antisocial behaviour in writing and of the consequences of its continuation.
d) The Licence Holder must, from the date of receipt of the complaint of anti-social behaviour,
monitor any allegations of anti-social behaviour and take all necessary steps to establish if it
is continuing.
e) Where the anti-social behaviour is continuing after 14 days from receipt of the complaint,
the Licence Holder, or his agent, must within 5 days visit the property and give to the tenant,
or leave at the property marked for their attention, a warning letter advising them of the
possibility of eviction.
f)

Where the Licence Holder or his agent has reason to believe that the anti-social behaviour
involves criminal activity, the Licence Holder must ensure that the appropriate authorities
are informed.

g) If after 14 days of giving a warning letter the tenant has failed adequately to address the
anti-social behaviour so that it is continuing, the Licence Holder must take appropriate
formal steps under the tenancy agreement, whether to enforce its terms or to terminate it,
including, where necessary, by taking legal proceedings against the occupier(s).
h) Where the obligation under (g) has arisen, the Licence Holder must, within 7 days, provide
to the Authority in writing a plan setting out the steps he proposes to take, and the
timescale for the taking of those steps, in order to resolve the problem.
i)

Whether following the provision of a plan referred to at (h) above, or generally, if the
Licence Holder is invited to do so, they must attend a case conference or Multi-Agency
Meeting arranged by the Authority or Police.

Property Inspections
11. (a) The Licence Holder must ensure that inspections of the property are carried out a
minimum of every 6 months to identify any problems relating to the property. The records of
such inspections must be kept for the duration of this licence. The records must contain (as a
minimum):


a log of who carried out the inspection and other persons present,



date and time of the inspection,



a breakdown of each room inspected, the common parts and external curtilage of the
property, with any issues identified



a log of the number and location of each smoke alarm in the property,

189



confirmation that each smoke alarm in the property has been tested and whether it is in
working order,



a log of the number and location of carbon monoxide alarms in the property (if
applicable as per licence condition 20),



confirmation that each carbon monoxide alarm has been tested and whether it is in
working order (if applicable as per licence condition ….),



action(s) taken or to be taken as a result of any issues identified during the inspection.

(b) Copies of the inspection records must be provided to the Authority within 14 days on demand.
12. The Licence Holder must ensure that the tenant’s right to quiet enjoyment of the property is
respected. Where entry is required to the property, the Licence Holder must ensure that any notice
requirements contained in the tenancy agreement are complied with. Where the tenancy
agreement does not contain any such requirements, the Licence Holder must ensure that the tenant
receives at least 24 hours written notice of intention to enter the property specifying the reason
entry is required, save where it would not be reasonable to give such notice, such as where services
are to be provided more quickly or in an emergency.
Property Management and Safety
Disrepair/Pests
13. In the event that disrepair or pest problems are reported;
(a) The Licence Holder must ensure that if they are informed in writing or other form of
communication, about a complaint of disrepair/pest infestation/emergency issue in the property
from the occupiers, the Authority or a third party, they investigate the complaint within a
reasonable period of time (depending on the nature of the complaint/issue) and in any event
within 7 days from receipt of it.
(b) The Licence Holder shall write to the tenant within 14 days of receipt of the complaint, stating
what action they have taken or intend to take, including timescales for completion.
(c) The Licence Holder must ensure that remedial work in relation to disrepair/emergency
issues/pest treatment is carried out within a reasonable period of time taking account of the
particular issue, and in any event within any timescales notified to tenants under condition 4(a)
above.
(d) Copies of any such written complaint(s) and the Licence Holders response referred to in
condition 13(a) and (b), must be provided to the Authority within 14 days on demand.
(e) Copies of receipts/invoices for repairs or pest treatments at the property must be retained for
the duration of the licence and copies provided to the Authority within 14 days on demand.
(f) The Licence Holder must ensure that any repairs or pest treatments at the property are
carried out by a competent person (a person with relevant current training and experience, and
with access to the requisite tools, equipment and information, and capable of carrying out the
defined task).
14. If the Licence Holder appoints a person to manage the house during the period of the licence, he
or she must:

190

(a) before or upon the manager’s appointment, obtain from the manager a written declaration
identifying the licence conditions, above and below, if any, by which he or she agrees to be bound;
(b) Ensure that the declaration includes:
1. Written confirmation that the manager has read and understood the licence conditions;
2. A notice informing the manager that a failure to comply with the conditions may result in
criminal and/or civil liability, including an unlimited fine or a financial penalty of up to
£30,000 for each breach;
3. A notice that, if the manager requires advice about the conditions or any failure to comply
with them, he or she should consult a Citizens Advice Bureau or a housing solicitor, before
signing the declaration;
4. Written confirmation that the manager understands the consequences of failing to
comply with the licence conditions;
5. Written confirmation that either (a) the manager agrees to be bound by all of the licence
conditions, above and below, (b) the manager agrees to be bound by such of the conditions
as the declaration specifies or (c) a recital that the manager does not agree to be bound by
any of the licence conditions, above or below; and
6. In the case of (b) or (c) above, a statement that the person to whom the licence was
granted alone is bound by the licence conditions; c) Ensure that the aforementioned
declaration is signed and dated by the appointed manager; and d) Within 21 days of the
manager’s appointment, ensure that the Authority is provided with a copy of the above
declaration.
Gas Safety
15. (a) If gas is supplied to the property, the Licence Holder is to provide to the Authority annually a
valid gas safety record (obtained in respect of the property within the last 12 months).*
(b)The Licence Holder must obtain, keep and upon each anniversary of the date on which this
licence comes into force, produce to the Authority a current valid gas safety record obtained
within the last 12 months by a Gas Safe registered Engineer or, if the boiler was installed less
than 12 months ago, a Gas Safe Installation Certificate. Copies of this certificate must also be
provided to all occupiers at the start of their occupation.
(c) The Licence Holder must provide to the Authority, within 14 days on demand, copies of all
gas safety records and/or certificates specified in the notice that relate to the property.
16. (a) The Licence Holder must ensure that all gas installations and appliances are kept in a safe
condition as far as reasonably practicable.
(b) The Licence Holder must ensure all works in relation to the gas appliances / installations are
carried out by a Gas Safe registered engineer. Details of registered Gas Safe engineers can be found
at www.gassaferegister.co.uk
Electrical Safety

191

The new Regulations require landlords to have the electrical installations in their properties
inspected and tested by a person who is qualified and competent, at least every 5 years. Landlords
have to provide a copy of the electrical safety report to their tenants, and to their local authority if
requested.
The licence holder must ensure that: (for new tenancies from 1st July 2020 and all existing specified
tenancies from April 2021)
a. Every electrical installation in the house is in proper working order and safe for continued
use; and
b. Supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration as to the safety of such installations;
For clarity, “electrical installation” has the meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the Building
Regulations 2010. “electrical installation” means fixed electrical cables or fixed electrical equipment
located on the consumer’s side of the electricity supply meter.
What do the Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 require?

Landlords of privately rented accommodation must:


Ensure national standards for electrical safety are met. These are set out in the 18th edition
of the ‘Wiring Regulations’, which are published as British Standard 7671.



Ensure the electrical installations in their rented properties are inspected and tested by a
qualified and competent person at least every 5 years.



Obtain a report from the person conducting the inspection and test which gives the results
and sets a date for the next inspection and test.



Supply a copy of this report to the existing tenant within 28 days of the inspection and test.



Supply a copy of this report to a new tenant before they occupy the premises.



Supply a copy of this report to any prospective tenant within 28 days of receiving a request
for the report.



Supply the local authority with a copy of this report within 7 days of receiving a request for a
copy.



Retain a copy of the report to give to the inspector and tester who will undertake the next
inspection and test.



Where the report shows that remedial or further investigative work is necessary, complete
this work within 28 days or any shorter period if specified as necessary in the report.



Supply written confirmation of the completion of the remedial works from the electrician to
the tenant and the local authority within 28 days of completion of the works.

Which rented properties do the Electrical Safety Regulations apply to?

The regulations came into force on 1 June 2020, they apply to new tenancies from 1 July 2020 and
existing tenancies from 1 April 2021. The relevant date for determining when the new requirements
apply is the date on which the tenancy is granted. A new tenancy is one that was granted on or after
1 June 2020.
Fire Safety
18. (a) The Licence Holder must ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the
property on which there is a room used wholly or partly as living accommodation (including a
bathroom or lavatory) and keep each smoke alarm in proper working order.*

192

(b) The Licence Holder must provide to the Authority within 14 days on demand a declaration as to
the condition and positioning of smoke alarms installed in accordance with condition 16(a)*,
19. (a) The Licence Holder must ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in each room in the
property which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation (including a bathroom or lavatory)
and contains a solid fuel burning combustion appliance and to keep each carbon monoxide alarm in
proper working order.*
(b) The Licence Holder must supply to the Authority within 14 days on demand a declaration as to
the positioning and condition of such carbon monoxide alarms as installed in accordance with
condition 17(a)*.
Furniture
20. (a)The Licence Holder must ensure that all furniture made available by him (or by the landlord, if
he is not the landlord) in the property is in a safe condition. All upholstered furniture, covers and
fillings of cushions and pillows should comply with current fire safety legislation*.
(b) The Licence Holder must supply to the Authority, within 14 days on demand, a declaration by him
as to the safety of such furniture made available by him (or by the landlord, if he is not the landlord)
in the property.*
Refuse/Waste Disposal
21. The Licence Holder must provide the occupier(s) of the property with appropriate information
for days and times of the disposal of refuse and recycling.
Internal/External Condition of Property
22. The Licence Holder must ensure that, as far as reasonably practicable:
(a) The exterior and interior of the property is maintained in a good state of repair;
(b) Gardens, yards and other external areas within the curtilage of the property are free
from overgrowth, litter or other accumulations and maintained in a clean and tidy condition;
(c) That ‘To Let’ signs are removed within 14 days of the property being occupied and must
not be re-erected until notice has been given on the current tenancy.
(d) The exterior of the property (including boundary walls, fences and gates) are kept free
from graffiti;
Window Keys
23. If window keys are required to open/close the windows within the property, these must be
provided to the tenant at the start of the tenancy.

Limitations of the Licence
LICENCE TRANSFER - The licence cannot be transferred to another person or organisation or
property.
COMPANIES AND PARTNERSHIPS - If the Licence Holder is a company or partnership and it is
dissolved while the licence is in force, the licence ceases to be in force on the date of dissolution.
PENALTY FOR BREACH OF LICENCE CONDITIONS - Failure to comply with any of the above licence
conditions may result in enforcement action and/or prosecution. On conviction, a Court may impose

193

an UNLIMITED fine for each breach of these licence conditions. Alternatively, the Authority may
impose a financial penalty of up to £30,000 for each licence condition breach.
The level of any financial penalty issued will be based on factors including:
• Severity of the offence,
• Culpability and track record of the offender,
• Harm caused, or the potential for harm to be caused, to the tenant(s),
• An appropriate and proportionate punishment of the offender,
• A suitable deterrent to committing the offence,
 Removal of any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of
committing the offence.
Other Statutory and Legal Requirements
PLANNING PERMISSION - This licence does NOT grant any planning approvals, consents or
permissions under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or any related planning legislation,
retrospectively or otherwise. If the property is being used as a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO)
this may constitute a breach of planning control and you should check the Authority to ensure the
correct planning permissions are in place. https://www.southend.gov.uk/planning-building/viewcomment-planning-applications-online-1
This licence does not offer any protection against enforcement action taken by the Planning
Department. If you are unclear on the matters outlined above, you should seek professional
planning advice.
BUILDING CONTROL - This licence does NOT grant any Building Control (Development Control)
approvals, consents or permissions, retrospectively or otherwise. This licence does NOT offer any
protection or excuse against enforcement action taken by the Building Control (Development
Control) Department.
PROPERTY CONDITION - This licence is NOT evidence that the property is safe or free from hazards
and defects. The licence does not offer any protection against criminal or civil legal action being
taken against the Licence Holder, or anyone else with an interest in the property, in respect of any
hazards, nuisances or any other problems discovered in relation to the condition of the property.
CONSUMER RIGHTS & UNFAIR PRACTICES - The Licence Holder’s attention is drawn to Office of Fair
Trading’s (OFT) guidance on unfair contracts in relation to their tenancies or licences. The Licence
Holder must negotiate its agreements in good faith and must not carry out misleading or aggressive
commercial practices. Full information should be supplied to any prospective occupier including
details
of
this
licence.
Further
advice
can
be
found
here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/unfair-contract-terms-cma37
It is not the responsibility of the Authority’s Property Licensing Team to ensure the Licence Holder
has complied with the above statutory requirements. If you are unclear on any of the matters
outlined above, you should seek professional advice.
PROSECUTION/ CONTRAVENTIONS CONSEQUENCES - Please note that any Prosecutions,
enforcement action or legal action taken against the licence holder or anyone associated with
licence holder, or the management of the property, may affect the licence holder’s ‘fit and proper’
status. The Authority can revoke or vary the licence at any time, giving proper statutory notice.

194

Refocusing the evidence base to identify potential
locations for selective licensing

Southend-on-Sea

October 2020

Main Contact:
Email:
Telephone:
Website:

Helen Brzozowski
helen.brzozowski@arc4.co.uk
07721 011 276
www.arc4.co.uk

© 2020 arc4 Limited (Company No. 06205180)

195

Southend-on-Sea

Page 2 of 65

Table of Contents
1.
2.
3.
4.

Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 4
Methodology ......................................................................................................................... 5
Private Rented Sector in Southend-on-Sea ........................................................................... 9
Anti-social behaviour: .......................................................................................................... 11
Council’s noise data ............................................................................................................. 12
Anti-social behaviour data ................................................................................................... 13
5.
Poor property conditions..................................................................................................... 14
Property age ........................................................................................................................ 15
6.
High levels of deprivation .................................................................................................... 18
The overall indices of multiple deprivation ......................................................................... 19
The Income Deprivation Domain......................................................................................... 20
The Employment Deprivation Domain ................................................................................ 21
The Education, Skills and Training Deprivation Domain...................................................... 22
The Crime Domain measures the risk of personal and material victimisation at local level
............................................................................................................................................. 24
The Living Environment Deprivation Domain ..................................................................... 25
7.
Crime ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………32
Total crime ........................................................................................................................... 33
The Crime Domain of multiple deprivation the risk of personal and material victimisation
at local level. ........................................................................................................................ 34
8.
Ranking quintiles and identifying locations ......................................................................... 35
Antisocial Behaviour ............................................................................................................ 37
Poor property conditions..................................................................................................... 38
Deprivation .......................................................................................................................... 39
Crime.................................................................................................................................... 40
Overall scores ...................................................................................................................... 41
Correlations with the Private Rented Sector ....................................................................... 42
9.
Potential scale of selective licensing ................................................................................... 53
Appendix 1: Definitions of total crime indicator ............................................................................. 56
Appendix 2: Street levels maps of quintile 1 locations with quintile 1 scores for Private Rented
Sector ....................................................................................................................... 58

List of Tables
Table 3.1
Table 4.1
Table 4.2
Table 5.1
Table 5.2
Table 6.1
Table 6.2
Table 6.3
October 2020

Private rented sector in each LSOA in Southend-on-Sea .......................................... 9
Noise data 2018-19.................................................................................................. 12
Anti-social behaviour ............................................................................................... 13
Properties built pre 1900 ......................................................................................... 15
Property condition deprivation ............................................................................... 17
Lowest decile for the overall indices of multiple deprivation ................................. 19
Lowest scores for the income deprivation domain ................................................. 20
Lowest decile for the employment deprivation ...................................................... 21
196

Southend-on-Sea

Table 6.4
Table 6.5
Table 6.6
Table 6.7
Table 6.8
Table 6.9
Table 6.10
Table 6.11
Table 7.1
Table 7.2
Table 8.1
Table 8.2
Table 9.1
Table 9.2

Page 3 of 65

Lowest decile for the education, skills and training deprivation ............................ 22
lowest decile for the health deprivation and disability ........................................... 23
Lowest decile for the crime domain ........................................................................ 24
Lowest decile for the living environment domain................................................... 25
Property condition deprivation ............................................................................... 27
Housing and barriers to services deprivation .......................................................... 29
Highest rates of households claiming housing benefit ........................................... 30
Lowest predominant income ................................................................................... 31
Highest rates of total crime ..................................................................................... 33
lowest decile for the crime domain ......................................................................... 34
Overall scores quintile 1 .......................................................................................... 52
Overall scores quintile 1 and 2 ................................................................................ 52
Overall scores quintile 1 .......................................................................................... 53
Overall scores quintile 1 and 2 ................................................................................ 54

List of Maps
Map 3.1
Map 8.1
Map 8.2
Map 8.3
Map 8.4
Map 8.5
Map 8.6
Map 8.7
Map 8.8
Map 8.9
Map 8.10
Map 8.11
Map 8.12
Map 8.13
Map 8.14
Map 8.15

Private renting 2011 ................................................................................................ 10
Locations .................................................................................................................. 36
Overall scores for anti-social behaviour .................................................................. 37
Overall scores for property conditions .................................................................... 38
Overall scores for deprivation ................................................................................. 39
Overall scores for crime ........................................................................................... 40
Overall scores for all four designations ................................................................... 41
Anti-social behaviour quintile 1 LSOAs .................................................................... 43
Anti-social behaviour quintile 1 and 2 ..................................................................... 44
Poor property conditions quintile 1 LSOAs ............................................................. 45
Poor property conditions quintile 1 and 2 LSOAS ................................................... 46
Deprivation quintile 1 LSOAs ................................................................................... 47
Deprivation quintile 1 and 2 LSOAs ......................................................................... 48
Crime quintile 1 LSOAs ............................................................................................ 49
Crime quintile 1 and 2 LSOAs .................................................................................. 50
Overall scores quintile 1 LSOAs ............................................................................... 51

Registered Address: arc4, 41 Clarendon Road, Sale Manchester M33 2DY
Email: businessteam@arc4.co.uk www.arc4.co.uk
arc4 Limited Registered in England & Wales 6205180 VAT Registration No: 909 9814 77
Directors - Helen Brzozowski – Michael Bullock

October 2020

197

Southend-on-Sea

Page 4 of 65

1.

Introduction

1.1

arc4 was originally appointed to support Southend-on-Sea BC to develop an evidence base
to identify potential locations for licensing through a selective licensing arrangement. The
report was complete and has supported the Council to prepare a proposal for consultation
for selective licensing. The report identified a number of locations where areas were
exhibiting poor performance and correlated to locations with high levels of private rented
property.

1.2

The original report set out a substantial number of locations that were exhibiting poor
performance and the Council has now reappointed arc4 to support them to focus on the
very worst performing locations.

1.3

A selective licensing designation may be made if the area to which it relates satisfies one
or more of the following conditions. The area is experiencing:
•

low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area);

•

a significant and persistent problem caused by antisocial behaviour;

•

poor property conditions;

•

high levels of migration;

•

high level of deprivation; and

•

high levels of crime.

1.4

The Council ruled out low demand and migration given the local knowledge of officers, that
these are not criteria that would correlate / be present in Southend-on-Sea.

1.5

Therefore, the report considers an evidence base on the remaining 4 designations of:
•

a significant and persistent problem caused by antisocial behaviour.

•

poor property conditions.

•

high level of deprivation.

•

high levels of crime.

October 2020

198

Southend-on-Sea

Page 5 of 65

2.

Methodology

2.1

The same indicators as used in the initial report have been replicated within this report.
Data has been assembled at the LSOA administrative boundary. The indicators are:

Designation and
background
information to
data collection

Definition of indicator

Scores

Level of Private
Rented Sector

The percentage of rented property in an LSOA: Census 2011 Table KS402EW
defined as those renting a home from a
Tenure.
landlord and all other private rented sector
households. It excludes those living rent free.

Anti-social
Behaviour

The percentage of noise related incidents per
1000 population 2018-2019

Southend-on Sea Council data

ASB per rate per 1000 population

UKCrimeStats ASB rate 2019,
Population estimates E&W
NOMIS 2018

Includes personal, environmental and nuisance
anti-social behaviour.

Poor property
conditions

Percentage of properties built pre 1900

Build period
VOA, Table CTSOP4.1 2019.

Deprivation

October 2020

The Living Environment Deprivation Domain
measures the quality of the local environment.
The indicators fall into two sub-domains. The
‘indoors’ living environment measures the
quality of housing, while the ‘outdoors’ living
environment contains measures of air quality
and road traffic accidents. It is expressed as a
decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the
top 10%. The indoors indicator is used here.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is an
overall relative measure of deprivation
constructed by combining seven domains of
deprivation according to their respective
weights. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is
the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

199

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Southend-on-Sea

Designation and
background
information to
data collection
The seven
domains of
deprivation are as
follows

October 2020

Page 6 of 65

Definition of indicator

Scores

1.The Income Deprivation Domain measures
the proportion of the population experiencing
deprivation relating to low income. The
definition of low income used includes both
those people that are out-of-work, and those
that are in work but who have low earnings
(and who satisfy the respective means tests). It
is expressed as a score.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

2.The Employment Deprivation Domain
measures the proportion of the working-age
population in an area involuntarily excluded
from the labour market. This includes people
who would like to work but are unable to do so
due to unemployment, sickness or disability, or
caring responsibilities. It is expressed as a
decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the
top 10%.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

3.The Education, Skills and Training
Deprivation Domain measures the lack of
attainment and skills in the local population.
The indicators fall into two sub-domains: one
relating to children and young people and one
relating to adult skills. These two sub-domains
are designed to reflect the ‘flow’ and ‘stock’ of
educational disadvantage within an area
respectively. That is, the ‘children and young
people’ sub-domain measures the attainment
of qualifications and associated measures
(‘flow’), while the ‘skills’ sub-domain measures
the lack of qualifications in the resident
working-age adult population (‘stock’). It is
expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom
10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

4.The Health Deprivation and Disability
Domain measures the risk of premature death
and the impairment of quality of life through
poor physical or mental health. The domain
measures morbidity, disability and premature
mortality but not aspects of behaviour or
environment that may be predictive of future
health deprivation. It is expressed as a decile

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

200

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Southend-on-Sea

Designation and
background
information to
data collection

Page 7 of 65

Definition of indicator

Scores

where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top
10%.
5.The Crime Domain measures the risk of
personal and material victimisation at local
level. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the
bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.
Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Used for housing
conditions

October 2020

6.The Living Environment Deprivation Domain
measures the quality of the local environment.
The indicators fall into two sub-domains. The
‘indoors’ living environment measures the
quality of housing, while the ‘outdoors’ living
environment contains measures of air quality
and road traffic accidents. It is expressed as a
decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the
top 10%.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

7.The Barriers to housing and services Domain
The domain measures the physical and
financial accessibility of housing and local
services. The indicators fall into two subdomains: 'geographical barriers', which relate
to the physical proximity of local services, and
'wider barriers' which includes issues relating
to access to housing such as affordability and
homelessness.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

The Living Environment Deprivation Domain
(housing conditions) measures the quality of
the local environment. The indicators fall into
two sub-domains. The ‘indoors’ living
environment measures the quality of housing,
while the ‘outdoors’ living environment
contains measures of air quality and road
traffic accidents. It is expressed as a decile
where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top
10%. The indoors indicator is used here.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

Housing Benefit PRS rate per 1,000 PRS
households 2019.

DWP, Stat-X-plore 2019, Census
2011 Table KS402EW Tenure.

201

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

Southend-on-Sea

Designation and
background
information to
data collection

Crime

Page 8 of 65

Definition of indicator

Scores

Income where the category records
predominant category in each LSOA where
income is between £x and £x.

Source: Cameo INCC

The Crime Domain measures the risk of
personal and material victimisation at local
level. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the
bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Department for Communities
and Local Government, The
English Indices of Deprivation
2015, London: DCLG 2015.

© TransUnion UK CAMEO
segmentation.

Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local
Government, The English Indices
of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.
Crime rate per 1000 population
Total for all crime as set out in appendix 1

UKCrimeStats, Population
estimates E&W NOMIS 2018

2.2

The measure/score for each indicator has then been recorded and each LSOA scored in
terms of the quintile it is within in Southend-on-Sea on the basis of: quintile 1 being the
lowest/worst 20% LSOAs for each indicator and 5 being the best/highest LSOAs for each
indicator.

2.3

Each LSOA is then ranked within a final quintile by adding each individual indicator quintile
score to provide an overall rank retaining the assumption that quintile 1 LSOAs overall are
the worst performing LSOAs for the indicators that have been identified.

2.4

The original report identifies those indicators in quintile 1 for each designation in detail and
provides individual maps. This report does not contain the same detail. It provides the
LSOAs for each indicator in Quintile 1 and summarises the information in maps in section
8.

2.5

As there are 107 LSOAs in Southend-on-Sea, we have reviewed the worst 21 LSOAs and
recorded them as Quintile 1. The number of LSOAs in quintile 1 can increase, where there
are identical scores in LSOAs.

October 2020

202

Southend-on-Sea

Page 9 of 65

3.

Private Rented Sector in Southend-on-Sea

3.1

Table 3.1 illustrates the levels of PRS from the 2011 Census to identify locations of high
private rented housing and includes those renting a home from a landlord and all other
private rented sector households. It excludes those living rent free. The percentage is 22%
which would increase to 22.9% if those living rent free were included.

3.2

Living rent free is excluded because 'living rent free' could include households that are living
in accommodation other than private rented.

3.3

The LSOAs in quintile 1, with the highest levels of PRS are identified in table 3.1.

Table 3.1
LSOA

Private rented sector in each LSOA in Southend-on-Sea
Ward

E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002214
E05002214
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002226
E05002225
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002217
E05002226
E05002225
E05002226
E05002216
E05002219
E05002225

Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Chalkwell
Chalkwell
Milton
Milton
Milton
Westborough
Victoria
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Leigh
Westborough
Victoria
Westborough
Kursaal
Prittlewell
Victoria

Number in the
PRS
640
497
409
473
416
405
484
418
334
274
257
285
276
277
286
211
281
211
320
219
284

Percentage of
PRS
59.8
57.8
54.7
53.3
50.4
48.2
47.6
46.1
42.8
42.3
41.6
39.9
38.7
36.4
35.9
35.8
35.1
34.9
34.7
33.6
33.3

Rank

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

Source: Census 2011 Table KS402EW Tenure

3.4

This data for the percentage of PRS in each LSOA is mapped in Map 3.1 overleaf with wards
overlaid.

October 2020

203

Southend-on-Sea

Map 3.1

204
October 2020

Page 10 of 65

Private renting 2011

Southend-on-Sea

Page 11 of 65

4.

Anti-social behaviour:

4.1

In deciding whether an area suffers from anti-social behaviour to support a designation, it
is recommended that local housing authorities consider whether private sector landlords
in the designated area are not effectively managing their properties, so as to combat
incidences of anti-social behaviour, caused by their tenants or people visiting their
properties. This covers behaviour conducted both within the curtilage of the rented
property or in its immediate vicinity.

4.2

The test should be: ‘Does the area suffer from anti-social behaviour as a result of private
landlords’ failure to manage their properties or because that failure significantly
contributes to that problem?’
•

The Council has provided data on ASB recorded over the past 12 month 2018-19. This
data is primarily relating to noise nuisance and cannot be consistently considered by
‘type’ of ASB category

•

Data has also been used from UKCrimeStats website data. UKCrimeStats launched in
April 2011 and is a leading independent crime, property price and postcode analysis
platform. The data reflects rates per 1000 population and includes personal,
environmental and nuisance anti-social behaviour.

October 2020

205

Southend-on-Sea

Page 12 of 65

Council’s noise data
4.3

Table 4.1 illustrates the LSOAs with the highest rates of noise incidence rate per 1000
population 2018-2019 compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by
the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 4.1

LSOA
E05002218
E05002216
E05002217
E05002225
E05002214
E05002220
E05002226
E05002218
E05002226
E05002225
E05002225
E05002219
E05002226
E05002217
E05002219
E05002223
E05002225
E05002218
E05002216
E05002223
E05002216

Noise data 2018-19

Ward
Milton
Kursaal
Leigh
Victoria
Chalkwell
St Laurence
Westborough
Milton
Westborough
Victoria
Victoria
Prittlewell
Westborough
Leigh
Prittlewell
Southchurch
Victoria
Milton
Kursaal
Southchurch
Kursaal

Score
for Q1
LSOAs
23.3
11.4
11.4
10.9
8.7
8.7
8.7
8.5
8.4
8.3
8.2
7.8
7.7
7.6
7.6
7.6
7.5
7.3
6.6
6.6
6.4

Source: Southend-on Sea Council data

October 2020

206

Rank
1
2
2
4
5
5
5
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
14
14
17
18
19
19
21

LSOA Qunitle rank
for PRS

1
1
2
2
1
3
1
1
2
2
1
3
1
1
1
2
1
1
1
4
1

Southend-on-Sea

Page 13 of 65

Anti-social behaviour data
4.4

UKCrimeStats data illustrates the LSOAs with the highest rate of anti-social behaviour rates
per 1,000 population in 2019, compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is
illustrated by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 4.2

LSOA

E05002218
E05002225
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002225
E05002216
E05002223
E05002221
E05002217
E05002216
E05002218
E05002219
E05002225
E05002222
E05002225
E05002221
E05002223
E05002228
E05002225

Anti-social behaviour
Score for Q1
LSOAs

Ward

Milton
Victoria
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Victoria
Kursaal
Southchurch
St. Luke's
Leigh
Kursaal
Milton
Prittlewell
Victoria
Shoeburyness
Victoria
St. Luke's
Southchurch
West Shoebury
Victoria

306.6
170.4
145.5
79.7
77.8
70.4
69.1
64.7
62.6
60.6
52.4
51.3
51.0
47.7
47.4
45.1
41.5
41.4
40.3
39.2
38.0

Rank
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

Source: UKCrimeStats ASB rate 2019, Population estimates E&W NOMIS 2018

October 2020

207

Level of PRS in
the LSOA

1
2
1
1
1
1
2
1
4
3
2
1
1
3
1
3
3
3
4
3
1

Southend-on-Sea

Page 14 of 65

5.

Poor property conditions

5.1

Where a significant number of properties in the private rented sector are in poor condition
and are adversely affecting the character of the area and / or the health and safety of their
occupants, this could support a selective licensing designation. In that case, as part of a
wider strategy to tackle poor housing conditions, the local housing authority may consider
it appropriate to make a selective licensing scheme.

5.2

The Council has not been able to provide data for this indicator and therefore we have
relied on published data sets. In support of this designation, arc4 has considered:
•

property age; and

•

the Living Environment Deprivation Domain which measures the quality of the local
environment. The ‘indoors’ living environment (used here) measures the quality of
housing. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

October 2020

208

Southend-on-Sea

Page 15 of 65

Property age
5.3

Table 5.1 illustrates the LSOAs with the highest percentage of properties that were built
pre 1900 compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile
that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 5.1
LSOA
E05002218
E05002218
E05002222
E05002218
E05002225
E05002218
E05002225
E05002218
E05002217
E05002225
E05002216
E05002218
E05002214
E05002228
E05002217
E05002219
E05002223
E05002224
E05002222
E05002217
E05002225

Properties built pre 1900
Ward
Milton
Milton
Shoeburyness
Milton
Victoria
Milton
Victoria
Milton
Leigh
Victoria
Kursaal
Milton
Chalkwell
West Shoebury
Leigh
Prittlewell
Southchurch
Thorpe
Shoeburyness
Leigh
Victoria

Score for Q1
LSOAs
38.8
18.9
17.5
17.0
16.0
12.3
12.1
10.8
10.5
8.7
7.8
5.7
5.6
5.3
4.9
4.6
4.5
4.2
3.7
3.6
3.6

Source: VOA, Table CTSOP4.1 2019

October 2020

209

Level of PRS in
the LSOA

Rank
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
20

1
1
3
1
1
1
1
1
2
1
1
1
2
2
1
3
2
2
3
2
2

Southend-on-Sea

Page 16 of 65

The housing conditions component of deprivation
5.4

Table 5.2 illustrates the LSOAs with the lowest scoring decile for the property conditions
component of the indices of multiple deprivation compared with the levels of PRS in each
LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest
levels of PRS).

5.5

The Living Environment Deprivation Domain which measures the quality of the local
environment. The ‘indoors’ living environment (used here) measures the quality of
housing. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

October 2020

210

Southend-on-Sea

Table 5.2

Page 17 of 65

Property condition deprivation

LSOA

Ward

E05002216
E05002218
E05002221
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002221
E05002225
E05002225
E05002226
E05002226
E05002226
E05002226
E05002226
E05002228
E05002214
E05002214
E05002216
E05002217
E05002217
E05002217
E05002221
E05002221
E05002221
E05002223
E05002224
E05002225
E05002225
E05002226

Kursaal
Milton
St. Luke's
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St. Luke's
Victoria
Victoria
Westborough
Westborough
Westborough
Westborough
Westborough
West Shoebury
Chalkwell
Chalkwell
Kursaal
Leigh
Leigh
Leigh
St. Luke's
St. Luke's
St. Luke's
Southchurch
Thorpe
Victoria
Victoria
Westborough

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank

1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

Level of PRS in the LSOA

1
1
1
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
21

1
1
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
1
1
1
3
2
2
2
2
3
2
2
1
2
1

Source: Source: IMD Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015,
London: DCLG 2015. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation
2019, London: MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

211

Southend-on-Sea

Page 18 of 65

6.

High levels of deprivation

6.1

Where the local authority considers that an area suffers from a high level of deprivation
which is related to concentrations of private rented stock, it is recommended that the LA
considers a number of factors, compared to other similar neighbourhoods in the local
authority or neighbouring authorities.

6.2

For this designation, arc4 used the English Indices of Deprivation in Southend-on-Sea
published on 26 September 20191 and its subcomponents plus data on housing benefit
claimants and income as follows:
•

overall indices of multiple deprivation: It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom
10% and 10 is the top 10%;

•

the Income Deprivation Domain. It is expressed as a score which reflects the proportion
of the population experiencing deprivation relating to low income;

•

the Employment Deprivation Domain. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom
10% and 10 is the top 10%;

•

the Education, Skills and Training Deprivation Domain. It is expressed as a decile where
1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%;

•

the Health Deprivation and Disability Domain. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the
bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%;

•

the Crime Domain measures the risk of personal and material victimisation at local
level. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%;

•

the Living environment Deprivation Domain. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the
bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%;

•

the Living Environment Deprivation Domain (indoors-property conditons). It is
expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%;

•

Housing Benefit PRS rate per 1,000 PRS households 2019;

•

income where the category records predominant category in each LSOA where income
is between 3x and £x.

1

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the official measure of relative deprivation in England and is part of a suite of outputs that form the
Indices of Deprivation (IoD). It follows an established methodological framework in broadly defining deprivation to encompass a wide range of an
individual’s living conditions. People may be considered to be living in poverty if they lack the financial resources to meet their needs, whereas
people can be regarded as deprived if they lack any kind of resources, not just income.
The IoD2019 is based on 39 separate indicators, organised across seven distinct domains of deprivation which are combined and weighted to
calculate the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 (IMD2019, see Key Info box). This is an overall measure of multiple deprivation experienced by
people living in an area and is calculated for every Lower-layer Super Output Area (LSOA), or neighbourhood, in England. All neighbourhoods in
England are then ranked according to their level of deprivation relative to that of other areas. High ranking LSOAs or neighbourhoods can be referred
to as the ‘most deprived’ or as being ‘highly deprived’ to aid interpretation. However, there is no definitive threshold above which an area is
described as ‘deprived’. The Indices of Deprivation measure deprivation on a relative rather than an absolute scale, so a neighbourhood ranked
100th is more deprived then a neighbourhood ranked 200th, but this does not mean it is twice as deprived.

October 2020

212

Southend-on-Sea

Page 19 of 65

The overall indices of multiple deprivation
6.3

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the overall indices of
multiple deprivation compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the
quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

6.4

The measure is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Table 6.1
LSOA
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002220
E05002222
E05002223
E05002223
E05002225
E05002228
E05002213
E05002213
E05002214
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002221
E05002222
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002228

Lowest decile for the overall indices of multiple deprivation
Ward
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
St Laurence
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Southchurch
Victoria
West Shoebury
Blenheim Park
Blenheim Park
Chalkwell
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St. Luke's
Shoeburyness
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
West Shoebury

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10

1
3
1
3
3
4
4
2
5
4
4
1
1
1
1
1
3
3
3
1
3
2
3

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019

October 2020

213

Southend-on-Sea

Page 20 of 65

The Income Deprivation Domain
6.5

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest scores for the income deprivation
domain compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that
each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 6.2
LSOA
E05002216
E05002225
E05002228
E05002223
E05002218
E05002213
E05002222
E05002216
E05002223
E05002222
E05002221
E05002220
E05002225
E05002213
E05002216
E05002228
E05002225
E05002225
E05002216
E05002219
E05002214

Lowest scores for the income deprivation domain
Ward
Kursaal
Victoria
West Shoebury
Southchurch
Milton
Blenheim Park
Shoeburyness
Kursaal
Southchurch
Shoeburyness
St. Luke's
St Laurence
Victoria
Blenheim Park
Kursaal
West Shoebury
Victoria
Victoria
Kursaal
Prittlewell
Chalkwell

Score for Q1 LSOAs
0.474
0.39
0.369
0.365
0.337
0.315
0.302
0.3
0.28
0.273
0.271
0.27
0.27
0.265
0.265
0.26
0.249
0.249
0.238
0.238
0.228

Rank

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
12
14
14
16
17
17
19
19
21

3
2
5
4
1
4
3
1
4
3
3
3
3
4
1
3
1
2
1
3
1

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019

October 2020

214

Southend-on-Sea

Page 21 of 65

The Employment Deprivation Domain
6.6

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the employment
deprivation domain compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the
quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

6.7

The measure is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Table 6.3
LSOA
E05002213
E05002214
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002220
E05002221
E05002222
E05002223
E05002223
E05002225
E05002228
E05002228
E05002213
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002219
E05002222
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225

Lowest decile for the employment deprivation
Ward

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Blenheim Park
Chalkwell
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
St Laurence
St. Luke's
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Southchurch
Victoria
West Shoebury
West Shoebury
Blenheim Park
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Prittlewell
Shoeburyness
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
14
14
14
14
14
14
14
14
14

4
1
1
3
1
3
3
3
4
4
2
5
3
4
1
1
1
3
3
1
3
2

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

215

Southend-on-Sea

Page 22 of 65

The Education, Skills and Training Deprivation Domain
6.8

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the education, skills and
training deprivation domain compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated
by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

6.9

The measure is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Table 6.4
LSOA
E05002213
E05002216
E05002220
E05002222
E05002223
E05002223
E05002225
E05002228
E05002228
E05002213
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002220
E05002221
E05002221
E05002221
E05002222
E05002222
E05002225
E05002225

Lowest decile for the education, skills and training deprivation
Ward
Blenheim Park
Kursaal
St Laurence
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Southchurch
Victoria
West Shoebury
West Shoebury
Blenheim Park
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
St Laurence
St. Luke's
St. Luke's
St. Luke's
Shoeburyness
Shoeburyness
Victoria
Victoria

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10
10

4
3
3
3
4
4
2
5
3
4
1
1
1
1
3
2
4
3
3
2
1
3

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

216

Southend-on-Sea

Page 23 of 65

The Health Deprivation and Disability Domain
6.10

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the health deprivation
and disability domain compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by
the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

6.11

The measure is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Table 6.5
LSOA
E05002213
E05002214
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002222
E05002223
E05002223
E05002225
E05002225
E05002213
E05002221
E05002225
E05002225
E05002228
E05002213
E05002214
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002220
E05002222
E05002228

lowest decile for the health deprivation and disability
Ward
Blenheim Park
Chalkwell
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Southchurch
Victoria
Victoria
Blenheim Park
St. Luke's
Victoria
Victoria
West Shoebury
Blenheim Park
Chalkwell
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St Laurence
Shoeburyness
West Shoebury

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
12
12
12
12
12
17
17
17
17
17
17
17
17
17
17

4
1
1
3
1
1
3
4
4
2
3
4
3
1
2
3
5
2
1
1
1
1
3
3
3
5

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

217

Southend-on-Sea

Page 24 of 65

The Crime Domain measures the risk of personal and material
victimisation at local level
6.12

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the crime domain
compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that each
LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

6.13

The measure is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Table 6.6
LSOA
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002223
E05002216
E05002216
E05002217
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002220
E05002221
E05002222
E05002223
E05002224
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002228

Lowest decile for the crime domain
Ward
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
Southchurch
Kursaal
Kursaal
Leigh
Milton
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St Laurence
St. Luke's
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Thorpe
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
West Shoebury

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9

1
1
3
1
1
1
3
4
1
1
2
1
1
1
1
3
3
3
4
2
2
1
2
1
1
3

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

218

Southend-on-Sea

Page 25 of 65

The Living Environment Deprivation Domain
6.14

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the living environment
domain compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that
each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

6.15

The measure is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

Table 6.7

Lowest decile for the living environment domain

LSOA

Ward

E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002221
E05002225
E05002226
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002221
E05002223
E05002225
E05002226
E05002226
E05002226
E05002226
E05002228

Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Milton
St. Luke's
Victoria
Westborough
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St. Luke's
Southchurch
Victoria
Westborough
Westborough
Westborough
Westborough
West Shoebury

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

Level of PRS in the LSOA

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9

1
1
1
1
1
2
1
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
1
1
2
2
2
2

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

219

Southend-on-Sea

Page 26 of 65

The property conditions component of deprivation
6.16

Table 6.8 illustrates the LSOAs with the lowest scoring decile for the property conditions
component of the indices of multiple deprivation compared with the levels of PRS in each
LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest
levels of PRS).

6.17

The Living Environment Deprivation Domain which measures the quality of the local
environment. The ‘indoors’ living environment (used here) measures the quality of
housing. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

October 2020

220

Southend-on-Sea

Table 6.8
LSOA

Page 27 of 65

Property condition deprivation
Ward

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank

Level of PRS in the LSOA

E05002216
Kursaal
1
1
1
E05002218
Milton
1
1
1
E05002221
St. Luke's
1
1
2
E05002216
Kursaal
2
4
1
E05002216
Kursaal
2
4
1
E05002218
Milton
2
4
1
E05002218
Milton
2
4
1
E05002218
Milton
2
4
1
E05002218
Milton
2
4
1
E05002218
Milton
2
4
1
E05002219
Prittlewell
2
4
1
E05002221
St. Luke's
2
4
2
E05002225
Victoria
2
4
1
E05002225
Victoria
2
4
1
E05002226
Westborough
2
4
1
E05002226
Westborough
2
4
2
E05002226
Westborough
2
4
2
E05002226
Westborough
2
4
2
E05002226
Westborough
2
4
2
E05002228
West Shoebury
2
4
2
E05002214
Chalkwell
3
21
1
E05002214
Chalkwell
3
21
1
E05002216
Kursaal
3
21
1
E05002217
Leigh
3
21
3
E05002217
Leigh
3
21
2
E05002217
Leigh
3
21
2
E05002221
St. Luke's
3
21
2
E05002221
St. Luke's
3
21
2
E05002221
St. Luke's
3
21
3
E05002223
Southchurch
3
21
2
E05002224
Thorpe
3
21
2
E05002225
Victoria
3
21
1
E05002225
Victoria
3
21
2
E05002226
Westborough
3
21
1
Source: Source: IMD Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015,
London: DCLG 2015. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation
2019, London: MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

221

Southend-on-Sea

Page 28 of 65

The barriers to housing and services component of deprivation
6.18

Table 6.9 illustrates the LSOAs with the lowest scoring decile for the barriers to housing and
services component of the indices of multiple deprivation compared with the levels of PRS
in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the
highest levels of PRS).

6.19

The barriers to housing and services Deprivation Domain which measures the physical and
financial accessibility of housing and local services. It is expressed as a decile where 1 is the
bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

October 2020

222

Southend-on-Sea

Table 6.9
LSOA
E05002219
E05002220
E05002214
E05002218
E05002220
E05002225
E05002212
E05002216
E05002216
E05002220
E05002220
E05002220
E05002223
E05002225
E05002226
E05002226
E05002226
E05002228
E05002228
E05002213
E05002214
E05002214
E05002215
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002221
E05002222
E05002222
E05002223
E05002225
E05002225
E05002226
E05002228
E05002228

Page 29 of 65

Housing and barriers to services deprivation
Ward

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Prittlewell
St Laurence
Chalkwell
Milton
St Laurence
Victoria
Belfairs
kursaal
kursaal
St Laurence
St Laurence
St Laurence
Southchurch
Victoria
Westborough
Westborough
Westborough
West Shoebury
West Shoebury
Blenheim Park
Chalkwell
Chalkwell
Eastwood Park
kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St. Lukes
Shoeburyness
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Victoria
Victoria
Westborough
West Shoebury
West Shoebury

Rank
2
2
3
3
3
3
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
1
3
3
3
3
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20

3
3
1
1
4
2
4
1
3
4
4
3
4
3
1
2
1
5
5
4
1
2
4
1
1
1
1
3
3
3
3
5
1
2
2
4
3

Source: Source: IMD Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015,
London: DCLG 2015. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation
2019, London: MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

223

Southend-on-Sea

Page 30 of 65

Housing Benefit PRS rate per 1,000 PRS households 2019
6.20

Table 6.10 table identifies the LSOAs with the highest rates of households claiming housing
benefit per 1000 PRS households compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is
illustrated by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 6.10
LSOA
E05002223
E05002228
E05002225
E05002220
E05002215
E05002221
E05002212
E05002222
E05002213
E05002220
E05002222
E05002220
E05002223
E05002225
E05002215
E05002223
E05002226
E05002228
E05002220
E05002226
E05002228

Highest rates of households claiming housing benefit
Ward
Southchurch
West Shoebury
Victoria
St Laurence
Eastwood Park
St. Luke's
Belfairs
Shoeburyness
Blenheim Park
St Laurence
Shoeburyness
St Laurence
Southchurch
Victoria
Eastwood Park
Southchurch
Westborough
West Shoebury
St Laurence
Westborough
West Shoebury

Score for Q1 LSOAs
647.1
589.7
576.0
557.7
531.3
506.7
505.6
495.4
490.9
483.5
477.3
459.0
455.9
455.5
445.4
444.4
436.0
435.9
430.0
412.3
410.9

DWP, Stat-X-plore 2019, Census 2011 Table KS402EW Tenure.

October 2020

224

Rank

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

4
5
2
4
4
2
4
3
4
3
5
4
4
1
3
2
1
5
3
1
2

Southend-on-Sea

Page 31 of 65

Income where the category records predominant category in each LSOA
where income is between £x and £x
6.21

Table 6.11 identifies the LSOAs with the lowest predominant income compared with the
levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that each LSOA falls into, where
1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 6.11
LSOA
E05002212
E05002213
E05002213
E05002214
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002219
E05002220
E05002220
E05002221
E05002222
E05002222
E05002222
E05002223
E05002223
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002228
E05002228

Lowest predominant income
Ward
Belfairs
Blenheim Park
Blenheim Park
Chalkwell
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Prittlewell
St Laurence
St Laurence
St. Luke's
Shoeburyness
Shoeburyness
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Southchurch
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
West Shoebury
West Shoebury

Income
Score for Q1 LSOAs
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k
£10 - £20k

Source: Cameo INCC
© TransUnion UK CAMEO segmentation.

October 2020

225

Level of PRS in
the LSOA

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

4
4
5
2
1
1
3
1
1
1
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
4
4
2
1
3
2
5
3

Southend-on-Sea

Page 32 of 65

7.

Crime

7.1

In considering whether an area suffers from a high level of crime the Council may wish to
have regard to whether the area has displayed a noticeable increase in crime over a
relatively short period e.g. the previous 12 months; whether the crime rate in the area is
significantly higher than in other parts of the local authority area or that the crime rate is
higher than the national average. In particular, the local housing authority may want to
consider whether the impact of crime in the area affects the local community and the
extent to which a selective licensing designation will contribute to reducing local crime.
•

For this designation UKCrimeStats website data was used. UKCrimeStats launched in
April 2011 and is a leading independent crime, property price and postcode analysis
platform.

•

The Crime Domain of the Multiple indices of deprivation. The Crime Domain measures
the risk of personal and material victimisation at local level. It is expressed as a decile
where 1 is the bottom 10% and 10 is the top 10%.

October 2020

226

Southend-on-Sea

Page 33 of 65

Total crime
7.2

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the highest rates of total crime per 1000
population compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile
that each LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 7.1
LSOA
E05002218
E05002225
E05002216
E05002216
E05002225
E05002216
E05002223
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002223
E05002219
E05002228
E05002216
E05002225
E05002221
E05002214
E05002225
E05002220
E05002214
E05002221

Highest rates of total crime
Ward

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Milton
Victoria
Kursaal
Kursaal
Victoria
Kursaal
Southchurch
Milton
Milton
Milton
Southchurch
Prittlewell
West Shoebury
Kursaal
Victoria
St. Luke's
Chalkwell
Victoria
St Laurence
Chalkwell
St. Luke's

Rank

1297.3
891.1
496.6
325.1
302.0
263.4
254.4
252.6
248.5
246.8
222.2
220.2
208.7
207.1
204.9
198.9
194.1
191.9
187.5
185.8
184.1

Source: UKCrimeStats ASB rate 2019, Population estimates E&W NOMIS 2018

October 2020

227

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

1
2
1
1
2
3
4
1
1
1
4
3
3
1
1
4
2
3
3
1
3

Southend-on-Sea

Page 34 of 65

The Crime Domain of multiple deprivation the risk of personal and
material victimisation at local level.
7.3

The following table identifies the LSOAs with the lowest decile for the crime domain
compared with the levels of PRS in each LSOA (this is illustrated by the quintile that each
LSOA falls into, where 1 is the highest levels of PRS).

Table 7.2
LSOA
E05002216
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002223
E05002216
E05002216
E05002217
E05002218
E05002218
E05002218
E05002219
E05002220
E05002221
E05002222
E05002223
E05002224
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002225
E05002228

lowest decile for the crime domain
Ward
Kursaal
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
Southchurch
Kursaal
Kursaal
Leigh
Milton
Milton
Milton
Prittlewell
St Laurence
St. Luke's
Shoeburyness
Southchurch
Thorpe
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
Victoria
West Shoebury

Score for Q1 LSOAs

Rank
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

Level of PRS in the LSOA
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9
9

1
1
3
1
1
1
3
4
1
1
2
1
1
1
1
3
3
3
4
2
2
1
2
1
1
3

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, London: DCLG
2015.Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, The English Indices of Deprivation 2019, London:
MHCLG 2019.

October 2020

228

Southend-on-Sea

Page 35 of 65

8.

Ranking quintiles and identifying locations

8.1

For each of the designations the quintile scores for each individual indicator have been
added together to provide an overall score and these scores have then been ranked into
quintiles; quintile 1 indicators are the worst performing locations for each designation. An
accompanying Excel spreadsheet captures all of the data and scoring details.

8.2

Individual designations are considered below and identifiable through the Locations Map
8.1.

October 2020

229

Southend-on-Sea

Map 8.1

230
October 2020

Page 36 of 65

Locations

Southend-on-Sea

Page 37 of 65

Antisocial Behaviour
8.3

Map 8.2 illustrates the overall quintile score for each LSOA under the anti-social behaviour designation. The LSOAs with the highest levels of
anti-social behaviour are widespread across Milton, Victoria, Kursaal and Leigh and in specific locations in Southchurch and Chalkwell and St
Laurence.
Map 8.2

231
October 2020

Overall scores for anti-social behaviour

Southend-on-Sea

Page 38 of 65

Poor property conditions
8.4

Map 8.3 illustrates the overall quintile score for each LSOA under the poor property conditions designation. The LSOAs with the poorest property
conditions are widespread across Milton, Victoria, Kursaal and in specific locations in Leigh, Belfriars, Thorpe, Chalkwell, Prittlewell, St Laurence,
St Lukes and Westborough.
Map 8.3

232
October 2020

Overall scores for property conditions

Southend-on-Sea

Page 39 of 65

Deprivation
8.5

Map 8.4 illustrates the overall quintile score for each LSOA under the deprivation designation. The LSOAs with the highest levels of deprivation
are widespread across Milton, Victoria and Kursaal and in specific locations in St Laurence, St Lukes, West Shoebury, Shoeburyness,
Southchurch, Chalkwell, Westborough, and Blenheim Park.
Map 8.4

233
October 2020

Overall scores for deprivation

Southend-on-Sea

Page 40 of 65

Crime
8.6

Map 8.5 illustrates the overall quintile score for each LSOA under the crime designation. The LSOAs with the highest levels of crime are
widespread across Milton, Victoria, Kursaal and Leigh and in specific locations in St Lukes, Prittlewell, St Laurence Chalkwell, Thorpe,
Shoeburyness and Southchurch.
Map 8.5

234
October 2020

Overall scores for crime

Southend-on-Sea

Page 41 of 65

Overall scores
8.7

Map 8.6 illustrates an overall score for the study area by combining the final scores for each of the four designations and applying quintile
scores to each LSOA. The LSOAs in quintile one is widespread in Milton, Kursaal and Victoria and in specific locations in St Laurence, St Lukes,
Chalkwell, Prittlewell, Southchurch and West Shoebury.
Map 8.6

235
October 2020

Overall scores for all four designations

Southend-on-Sea

Page 42 of 65

Correlations with the Private Rented Sector
8.8

The overall quintile scores for LSOAs identifies those LSOAs that are the most poorly
performing for each of the designations and potentially the Council may wish to apply
selective licensing here.

8.9

However, there is a requirement that before selective licensing is applied that those ‘worst’
performing locations (quintile 1) correlate with locations where the Private Rented Sector
is also high.

8.10

The following maps consider this in more detail for each of the designations and then
overall for all designations.

October 2020

236

Southend-on-Sea

Page 43 of 65

Anti-social behaviour
8.11

Map 8.7 shows those LSOAs in quintile 1 for antisocial behaviour and overlays quintile 1 PRS LSOAs. These locations have the highest levels of
antisocial behaviour and the highest levels of PRS. This is widespread in Milton, Kursaal and Victoria and there are specific locations in Chalkwell,
and Prittlewell.
Map 8.7

237
October 2020

Anti-social behaviour quintile 1 LSOAs

Southend-on-Sea

8.12

Page 44 of 65

Map 8.8 illustrates the same information but includes quintile 1 and 2 LSOAs and PRS.
Map 8.8

238
October 2020

Anti-social behaviour quintile 1 and 2

Southend-on-Sea

Page 45 of 65

Poor property conditions
8.13

Map 8.9 shows those LSOAs in quintile 1 for poor property conditions and overlays quintile 1 PRS and LSOAs. These locations have the highest
levels of poor property conditions and the highest levels of PRS. This is widespread in Milton, Kursaal and Victoria and there are specific locations
in Chalkwell and Prittlewell.
Map 8.9

239
October 2020

Poor property conditions quintile 1 LSOAs

Southend-on-Sea

8.14

Page 46 of 65

Map 8.10 illustrates the same information but includes quintile 2 LSOAs and PRS.

Map 8.10

240
October 2020

Poor property conditions quintile 1 and 2 LSOAS

Southend-on-Sea

Page 47 of 65

High level of deprivation
8.15

Map 8.11 shows those LSOAs in quintile 1 for deprivation and overlays quintile 1 PRS and LSOAs. These locations have the highest levels of
deprivation and the highest levels of PRS. This is widespread in Milton, Kursaal and Victoria and there are specific locations in Chalkwell.
Map 8.11

241
October 2020

Deprivation quintile 1 LSOAs

Southend-on-Sea

8.16

Page 48 of 65

Map 8.12 illustrates the same information but includes quintile 2 LSOAs PRS.
Map 8.12

242
October 2020

Deprivation quintile 1 and 2 LSOAs

Southend-on-Sea

Page 49 of 65

High levels of crime.
8.17

Map 8.13 shows those LSOAs in quintile 1 for levels of crime and overlays quintile 1 PRS and LSOAs. These locations have the highest levels of
crime and the highest levels of PRS. This is widespread in Milton, Kursaal and Victoria and there are specific locations in Chalkwell.
Map 8.13

243
October 2020

Crime quintile 1 LSOAs

Southend-on-Sea

8.18

Page 50 of 65

Map 8.14 illustrates the same information but includes quintile 2 LSOAs for PRS.
Map 8.14

244
October 2020

Crime quintile 1 and 2 LSOAs

Southend-on-Sea

Page 51 of 65

Overall scores
8.19

Map 8.15 shows those LSOAs in quintile 1 for all designations and overlays quintile 1 PRS and LSOAs. These locations are the worst performing
locations for all four designations and have the highest levels of PRS. This is widespread in Milton, Kursaal and Victoria and there are specific
locations in Chalkwell, and Prittlewell.
Map 8.15

245
October 2020

Overall scores quintile 1 LSOAs

Southend-on-Sea

8.20

Page 52 of 65

These LSOAs that have quintile 1 scores for PRS and overall designations are listed below
and individual locations identified at street level in appendix 2.

Table 8.1

Overall scores quintile 1
Overall quintile score

Southend-on-Sea 014C
Southend-on-Sea 015B
Southend-on-Sea 010B
Southend-on-Sea 014B
Southend-on-Sea 015E
Southend-on-Sea 014F
Southend-on-Sea 014A
Southend-on-Sea 015A
Southend-on-Sea 012B
Southend-on-Sea 010E
Southend-on-Sea 015D
Southend-on-Sea 004F
Southend-on-Sea 010F
8.21

E05002216
E05002218
E05002225
E05002216
E05002218
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002214
E05002225
E05002218
E05002219
E05002225

Kursaal
Milton
Victoria
Kursaal
Milton
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Chalkwell
Victoria
Milton
Prittlewell
Victoria

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

PRS quintile
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

The LSOAs where the overall score is quintile 1 with PRS either quintile 1 or 2 are listed
below.

Table 8.2

Overall scores quintile 1 and 2

Southend-on-Sea 014C
Southend-on-Sea 015B
Southend-on-Sea 010B
Southend-on-Sea 014B
Southend-on-Sea 015E
Southend-on-Sea 010A
Southend-on-Sea 010D
Southend-on-Sea 014F
Southend-on-Sea 014A
Southend-on-Sea 015A
Southend-on-Sea 012B
Southend-on-Sea 010E
Southend-on-Sea 015D
Southend-on-Sea 004F
Southend-on-Sea 009B
Southend-on-Sea 010F

October 2020

E05002216
E05002218
E05002225
E05002216
E05002218
E05002225
E05002225
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002214
E05002225
E05002218
E05002219
E05002223
E05002225

Kursaal
Milton
Victoria
Kursaal
Milton
Victoria
Victoria
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Chalkwell
Victoria
Milton
Prittlewell
Southchurch
Victoria

246

Overall quintile score
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

PRS quintile
1
1
1
1
1

2
2
1
1
1
1

1
1
1
2
1

Southend-on-Sea

Page 53 of 65

9.

Potential scale of selective licensing

9.1

In conclusion, there are correlations between the LSOAS with above average Private Rented
Sector levels and indicators that measure, high levels of crime, anti-social behaviour,
property conditions and deprivation. Those locations where the overall score is in quintile
1 that correlate with high PRS (quintile 1 or 2) are potential locations to consider licensing.

9.2

In the previous report, we recommended that the Council develop a proposed licensing list
of locations and identify whether it is less than 20% of the authority or PRS. Secretary of
State approval is required for schemes that (taken together with other selective licensing
schemes), cover more than 20% of the geographic area of the local authority concerned or
would (taken together with other schemes), affect more than 20% of private rented sector
homes in the area. The section tests the percentage of the market that would be accounted
for if the Council licensed locations in quintile 1 (all designations) and quintile 1 locations
for PRS as well as quintile 1 (all designations) and quintile 1 and 2 locations for PRS. The
Council is ken to remain below the 20% threshold as the initial licensing will be treated s a
pilot to monitor its potential impact.

Quintile 1 locations and quintile 1 PRS
9.3

Table 9.1 shows the LSOAs in quintile 1 overall and PRS in quintile 1 (the highest levels). In
total the number of units accounted for in these LSOAs is 12,530. The total number of units
in Southend-on-Sea is 81,750. This accounts for 15.3%.

9.4

The table also confirms that the number of PRS units included in quintile 1 locations and
quintile 1 PRS; the total is 4,833. The census 2011 confirmed 16,439 units in the private
rented sector (excluding living rent free). This accounts for 29.3%

Table 9.1

014C
015B
010B
014B
015E
014F
014A
015A
012B
010E
015D
004F
010F

Overall scores quintile 1

E05002216
E05002218
E05002225
E05002216
E05002218
E05002216
E05002216
E05002218
E05002214
E05002225
E05002218
E05002219
E05002225

Kursaal
Milton
Victoria
Kursaal
Milton
Kursaal
Kursaal
Milton
Chalkwell
Victoria
Milton
Prittlewell
Victoria
TOTAL

Overall
quintile score
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

Source: * 2019 VOA Dwelling stock
**Census 2011

October 2020

247

PRS
quintile
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

No of units
in LSOA *
1290
1140
910
810
1060
1160
840
1020
980
940
940
750
690
12,530

No of PRS
units **
640
497
284
276
473
320
277
484
416
281
409
219
257
4,833

Southend-on-Sea

Page 54 of 65

Quintile 1 locations and quintile 1 and 2 PRS
9.5

Table 9.2 shows the LSOAs in quintile 1 overall and PRS in quintile 1 and 2. In total the
number of units accounted for in these LSOAs is 16,310. The total number of units in
Southend-on-Sea is 81,750. This accounts for 19.9%.

9.6

The table also confirms that the number of PRS units included in quintile 1 locations and
quintile 1 PRS; the total is 5,573. The census 2011 confirmed 16,439 units in the private
rented sector (excluding living rent free). This accounts for 34.2%

Table 9.2

Overall scores quintile 1 and 2

Southend-on-Sea 014C
Southend-on-Sea 015B
Southend-on-Sea 010B
Southend-on-Sea 014B
Southend-on-Sea 015E
Southend-on-Sea 010A
Southend-on-Sea 010D
Southend-on-Sea 014F
Southend-on-Sea 014A
Southend-on-Sea 015A
Southend-on-Sea 012B
Southend-on-Sea 010E
Southend-on-Sea 015D
Southend-on-Sea 004F
Southend-on-Sea 009B
Southend-on-Sea 010F

E05002216 Kursaal
E05002218 Milton
E05002225 Victoria
E05002216 Kursaal
E05002218 Milton
E05002225 Victoria
E05002225 Victoria
E05002216 Kursaal
E05002216 Kursaal
E05002218 Milton
E05002214 Chalkwell
E05002225 Victoria
E05002218 Milton
E05002219 Prittlewell
E05002223 Southchurch
E05002225 Victoria
TOTAL

Overall
quintile
score
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

PRS
quintile
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
1

No of
units*
1290
1140
910
810
1060
1690
980
1160
840
1020
980
940
940
750
1110
690
16,310

No of PRS
units**
640
497
284
276
473
256
250
320
277
484
416
281
409
219
234
257
5,573

Source: * 2019 VOA Dwelling stock
**Census 2011

9.7

If the council wishes to license below the 20% threshold it should license those LSOAs
highlighted in table 9.1. This accounts for 19.7% of PRS properties in southend-on-Sea.

9.8

The council must now consider where it will apply selective licensing proposals

9.9

If the council decide that some locations should be designated, it must consider its overall
strategic interventions and plans. Selective licensing is not a tool that can be used in
isolation. The local authority will need to demonstrate how such a designation will be part
of the overall strategic borough wide approach, how it fits with existing policies on:
•

homelessness;

•

empty homes;

•

regeneration; and

October 2020

248

Southend-on-Sea

•

Page 55 of 65

anti-social behaviour associated with privately renting tenants.

9.10

The council must also ensure that selective licensing complements other measures. It
should only be used where existing measures alone are not sufficient to tackle the
underlying housing problems of a specific area. Local authorities should carefully consider
any potential negative economic impact that licensing may have on their area – particularly
the risk of increased costs to landlords who are already fully compliant with their
obligations. These additional costs can reduce further investment and are frequently
passed on to tenants through higher rents.

9.11

The council will also have to demonstrate the role of other partners (if any), such as the
police or social services, in ensuring the designation reaches its goal. It must show:

9.12

•

it has considered whether there are any other courses of action available to them that
might provide an effective method of achieving the objectives that the designation is
intended to achieve; and

•

how the making of the designation will significantly assist the local housing authority in
achieving its’ objectives (whether or not in conjunction with those other measures).

Finally, if the council decide to pursue selective licensing, it will need to:
•

take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected by the
designation; and

•

consider any representations made in accordance with the consultation.

9.13

The council will need to conduct a full consultation. This should include consultation of local
residents, including tenants, landlords and where appropriate their managing agents and
other members of the community who live or operate businesses or provide services within
the proposed designation. It should also include local residents and those who operate
businesses or provide services in the surrounding area outside of the proposed designation
that will be affected. Local housing authorities should ensure that the consultation is widely
publicised using various channels of communication.

9.14

Once the consultation has been completed the results should then be published and made
available to the local community. This should be in the form of a summary of the responses
received and should demonstrate how these have either been acted on or not, giving
reasons.

9.15

It is recommended that:

9.16

The council consider those locations listed and agree for each:
•

does it require intervention and if so, can an alternative to licensing be found; and

•

if not, what are the complementary activities and strategic approach for licensing.

9.17

Develop a proposed licensing list of locations

9.18

The authority should and develop an evidenced proposal for licensing. This should be a
detailed document, incorporating the results of this study as well as the plans for the
authority in line with MHCLG guidance.

9.19

Use the evidence as a basis for consultation and develop a consultation strategy for
licensing.

October 2020

249

Southend-on-Sea

Page 56 of 65

Appendix 1: Definitions of total crime indicator
Total for all categories.
•

Anti-social behaviour
Includes personal, environmental and nuisance anti-social behaviour.

•

Bicycle theft
Includes the taking without consent or theft of a pedal cycle.

•

Burglary
Includes offences where a person enters a house or other building with the intention of
stealing.

•

Criminal damage and arson
Includes damage to buildings and vehicles and deliberate damage by fire.

•

Drugs
Includes offences related to possession, supply and production.

•

Other crime
Includes forgery, perjury and other miscellaneous crime.

•

Other theft
Includes theft by an employee, blackmail and making off without payment.

•

Possession of weapons
Includes possession of a weapon, such as a firearm or knife.

•

Public disorder and weapons
Includes offences which cause fear, alarm, distress or a possession of a weapon such as a
firearm.

•

Public order
Includes offences which cause fear, alarm or distress.

•

Robbery
Includes offences where a person uses force or threat of force to steal.

•

Shoplifting
Includes theft from shops or stalls.

•

Theft from the person
Includes crimes that involve theft directly from the victim (including handbag, wallet, cash,
mobile phones) but without the use or threat of physical force.

•

Vehicle crime
Includes theft from or of a vehicle or interference with a vehicle.

October 2020

250

Southend-on-Sea

•

Page 57 of 65

Violence and sexual offences
Includes offences against the person such as common assaults, grievous bodily harm and
sexual offences.

October 2020

251

Southend-on-Sea

Page 58 of 65

Appendix 2: Street levels maps of quintile 1 locations with
quintile 1 scores for Private Rented Sector

October 2020

252

Southend-on-Sea

253
October 2020

Page 59 of 65

Southend-on-Sea

254
October 2020

Page 60 of 65

Southend-on-Sea

255
October 2020

Page 61 of 65

Southend-on-Sea

256
October 2020

Page 62 of 65

Southend-on-Sea

257
October 2020

Page 63 of 65

Southend-on-Sea

October 2020

Page 64 of 65

258

Southend-on-Sea

259
October 2020

Page 65 of 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Part A

Part B

261

Per Licence Cost for the Council Delivering Selective Licensing

Action (per licence)
Initial Licensing process
Create record, process application, etc.
Deal with landlord application enquiries
Fit and Proper Person Check
Collection of application fee
Determine application and set out any requirements e.g. for works etc.
Draft licence to relevant persons
Prepare licence
Postage/materials
Other scheme costs (e.g. advertising, tracking landlords, publishing landlords, etc.)
Land registry (includes £6 fees)
Sub Totals for processing and issuing licence etc.
Compliance Monitoring, Maintenance, Engagement with landlords, complaints etc.
Inspection, verification of registration conditions, advice to landlords etc.
Inspection, verification of registration conditions, advice to landlords etc.
Compliance monitoring, advice to landlords, etc.
Collection and preparation of evidence for formal action*
Compliance monitoring, advice to landlords, etc.
Consultation and other work with landlords over the scheme
Manager input* expertise, coordination, reporting, discipline
Legal advice (in house) @ 1 week a year x 5 years =12.5% of a single year's salary
Sub Totals for compliance monitoring, scheme promotion and management, etc.

Time (hrs)
0.75
1
0.5
1
0.5
0.5
0.5

0.3
5.05

2
1.4
4
1
2
0.5
2
0.05
10.9

On costs e.g. office costs, transport, other consumables, IT kit and support, etc.
5 years Inflation @ 2%

Totals for operating 5 year licence scheme

13.95

* averaged over all homes

262

Estimated
Cost per
Officer Grade working hour
7
7
7
7
9
7
7

23.68
23.68
23.68
23.68
35.12
23.68
23.68

7

23.68

7
9
7
9
9
11
11
Solicitor CEL1

23.68
35.12
23.68
35.12
35.12
47.11
47.11

5%
10%

Cost (£)

Annualised
working total

17.76
23.68
11.84
23.68
17.56
11.84
11.84
6.00
25.00
13.10
162.30

12.19
16.26
8.13
16.26
8.13
8.13
8.13
0.00
0.00
4.88
82.09

12.19
16.26
8.13
16.26

47.36
49.17
94.72
35.12
70.24
23.55
94.21
1.73
416.10

32.51
22.76
65.02
16.26
32.51
8.13
32.51

32.51

Grade 7

8.13
8.13

4.88

65.02

28.92
60.73

668.05
WTEs

263

171.49
4.29

Grade 9

Grade 11

8.13

24

22.76
16.26
32.51
8.13
32.51

79.65
1.99

40.64
1.02

264

Appendix F
Map of Southend – proposed selective licensing areas

265

Map 3.1 – Private renting 2011

266

Map 8.1 - Locations

267

268

Map 8.2 – Overall scores for anti-social behaviour

269

Map

8.3

-

Overall scores for property conditions

270

Map 8.4 – overall scores for deprivation

271

Map 8.5 – overall scores for crime

272

Map 8.6 – overall scores for all four designations

273

Map 8.7 – anti-social behaviour quintile 1 LSOAs

274

Map 8.8 - Anti-social behaviour quintile 1 and 2

275

276

277

Map 8.9 - Poor property conditions quintile 1 LSOAs

278

Map 8.10 - Poor property conditions quintile 1 and 2 LSOAS

279

Map 8.11 - Deprivation quintile 1 LSOAs

280

Map 8.12 - Deprivation quintile 1 and 2 LSOAs

281

Map 8.13 - Crime quintile 1 LSOAs

282

283

284

285

Map 8.14 – Crime quintile 1 and 2 LSOAs

Map 8.15 - Overall scores quintile 1 LSOAs

286

Street maps for the proposed LSOAs

Kursaal ward - 014C

287

Milton ward – 015B

288

Victoria ward – 010B

289

Kursaal ward – 014B

290

Milton ward – 015E

291

Kursaal ward – 014F

292

Kursaal ward – 014A

293

Milton ward – 015A

294

Consultation on selective licensing of private
rented property in Southend
Appendix 6: Written responses to
consultation (separate document)
Written responses from organisations
Response from ARLA Propertymark
January 2021
Background
1. ARLA Propertymark is the UK’s foremost professional and regulatory body for letting agents,
representing over 9,500 members. ARLA Propertymark agents are professionals working at all
levels of letting agency, from business owners to office employees.

2. Our members operate to professional standards far higher than the law demands, hold Client
Money Protection and we campaign for greater regulation in this growing and increasingly
important sector of the property market. By using an ARLA Propertymark agent, consumers
have the peace of mind that they are protected, and their money is safe.

Executive Summary
3. In consideration and evaluation of the evidence presented by Southend-on-Sea Borough
Council for the proposed selective licensing scheme, ARLA Propertymark’s position is
summarised in the following points:
• We do not support Selective Licensing schemes, as they are not an effective method of
driving up standards in the private rented sector.
• In line with the UK Government’s advice to local authorities for property licensing,
Southend-on-Sea Borough Council should avoid commencing a scheme unless its
administration will not conflict with latest government advice regarding the COVID-19
outbreak.1

1

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-and-renting-guidance-for-landlords-tenants-andlocal-authorities

295
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

1

• We are concerned about the lack of information in the consultation regarding costs for
enforcement. Unless the Selective Licensing scheme has additional resources for
enforcement, criminal operators will continue to ignore their legal responsibilities and
avoid the scheme which is designated to target them, penalising lawful landlords and
agents with additional cost burdens.
• Landlords and letting agents have little influence over their tenants in order to manage
anti-social behaviour. This is a law enforcement issue and landlords and letting agents
must be provided with support in combatting this.
• We welcome the recognitions in the evidence base that waste management and antisocial behaviour management is not the sole responsibility of the landlord.
• We welcome the introduction of officers to deal with anti-social behaviour and other
issues, however we think this approach could be focused on without Selective Licensing.

General concerns
4. ARLA Propertymark does not believe that Selective Licensing schemes are an effective way of
promoting higher quality accommodation in the private rented sector. The schemes are often
poorly resourced, and consequently Selective Licensing schemes become an administrative
exercise that penalises compliant landlords and allows rogue operators to continue
functioning under the radar. Enforcement and prosecution remain low where the schemes
operate, doing little to improve the minority of substandard properties in the private rented
sector, which licensing schemes aim to target.

5. Many licensing schemes fail due to the lack of adequate resources needed to undertake the
necessary enforcement activity. Due to the EU Services Directive,2 the fee to apply for a
property licence cannot exceed the cost to process the application, this means that the cost of
enforcing the schemes must come from elsewhere. Councils operating discretionary licensing
schemes have often indicated that the schemes cost more to operate than the funding
generated from licence fees, such as in Blackpool.3

6. Licensing schemes heavily focus on the administration involved, often directing local authority
staff away from enforcement to process applications. We know that Councils have indicated

2

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32006L0123
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/housingcommunities-and-local-government-committee/private-rented-sector/oral/77774.html
3

296
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

2

that processing a single application can take between 15 minutes and one hour. This can be
incredibly time consuming and costly when thousands of properties require licensing.

7. Often, the rogue landlords that the schemes are created to target continue to operate under
the radar. Already compliant landlords pay their licensing fees, funding the administration of
the scheme, while more than often those providing poor housing ignore their legal
requirements.

8. The Housing and Planning Act 20164 allows civil penalty fines levied for offences in the private
rented sector to be retained by the local authority for further enforcement. Research
conducted by the Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee in April 2018 5
highlighted that local authorities on the whole rarely issue landlords and agents with penalties.
Existing licensing schemes have demonstrated that only a small number of prosecutions ever
occur, with 50 per cent of all prosecutions in 2016-17 coming from Newham Borough Council
out of 33 boroughs with discretionary licensing across all of England. Consequently, we would
argue that the issue does not lie with existing legislation, rather the lack of enforcement. Local
authorities pinpoint lacking enforcement as a product of stretched resources. Although this
should have been remedied with the introduction of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, many
local authorities do not exercise their powers to bring additional resources into enforcement
of the private rented sector.

9. ARLA Propertymark believes that instead of introducing further Selective Licensing schemes,
local authorities should adopt a collaborative approach with letting agents, landlords and
professional bodies to tackle issues within the private rented sector. This approach recognises
and rewards landlords and agents that already adhere to good practice and enables local
authorities to better target their resources on effective intelligence-led enforcement.

Covid-19 concerns
10. ARLA Propertymark is concerned about the impact of Coronavirus on agent’s business costs
and overheads. To this end, members are alarmed that a number of Councils are ignoring
guidance issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government which says
that where local authorities are in the process of introducing non-mandatory licensing

4
5

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents/enacted
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/440/440.pdf

297
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

3

schemes, but these are not yet in force, they should consider pausing these at an appropriate
point, in line with the advice on proactive and reactive work. The requirement for applications
to still be submitted and fees paid will place additional pressure on the sector in four ways.
Firstly, tenants will likely see the cost of licensing passed on to them via rent increases.
Secondly, if landlords who cannot afford the license fee decide not to pay and remove their
property from the market, tenants will be forced to seek new homes, placing people at risk
and spreading rather than stemming the pandemic. Thirdly, with little or no rents being paid
on properties, landlords are not able to fund new license fees at this time, leaving them with
the choice of criminal liability, or evicting their tenants. Fourthly, with agents furloughed or
continuing to work from home they are unable to access relevant paperwork and
documentation to complete licensing scheme applications and process fees. Councils who are
pursuing the implementation of licensing schemes are being socially irresponsible as it
needlessly puts vulnerable people at risk of being infected. In this unprecedented situation
landlords and agents are not able to comply with the requirements of the scheme and Council
resources are unlikely to be able to effectively enforce them.

11. The UK Government are encouraging local authorities to take a common-sense, pragmatic
approach to landlord licensing enforcement during these unprecedented times. On 1 June
2020, the UK Government published updated Coronavirus (COVID-19) Guidance for Landlords
and Tenants. The Guidance advises landlords who have property in an area subject to Selective
or Additional Licensing that local authorities should consider pausing the introduction of nonmandatory licensing schemes where this will allow limited resources to be focused where they
are most needed.

12. Local authorities that already have landlord licensing schemes in place have been instructed
by the UK Government to:
•

Contact landlords who are waiting for licences to be determined to explain potential
delays.

•

Take individual landlords’ circumstances into account where licence fee payments may
have been delayed due to the current situation.

•

Prioritise high-risk licensable properties if this is necessary to protect vulnerable tenants
and target imminent risks to health.

•

Continue as usual for non-mandatory licensing schemes which are already in place but, as
with all enforcement, take a pragmatic and common-sense approach to enforcement
action.

298
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

4

13. Where schemes are in the process of being introduced but are not yet in force the UK
Government have advised local authorities to consider:
•

Pausing the process completely wherever practicable until current restrictions are lifted
and/or assessed that it is safe and reasonable to continue.

•

Extending relevant parts of the process such as the consultation period or the date of the
commencement of the scheme to a more suitable time.

•

Avoiding, wherever possible, commencing a scheme unless its administration will not
conflict with latest government advice regarding the COVID-19 outbreak.

Scheme operation
14. Sufficient numbers of staff will be needed to ensure that the scheme runs timely and
effectively. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council have not indicated how many staff will be
recruited to police the scheme. In the interests of transparency, we think that these figures
should have been made available so that interested parties could assess whether the numbers
are adequate. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council in the evidence base talk about an online
application system, however they do not mention an alternative. We think it is important there
is a paper-based application system to accommodate some landlords who may struggle with
an online system, or may not have an internet connection.

15. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council should ensure that the online application system can deal
with a large influx of applications. Technical issues such as website crashes could result in
applicants having to begin the process multiple times, or even making multiple payments for
a single application.

Poor housing conditions
16. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council knows that many landlords of private rented properties are
‘good’ landlords and provide quality accommodation and a good standard of management.
The evidence base states that ‘unfortunately, there are a significant number who continue to
let out poor quality properties or do not manage their properties well’ and therefore this
necessitates the scheme. We are concerned that landlords of properties that have poor
housing condition will not be inclined to apply for a licence, or rectify the condition of their
property, in order to be eligible to be granted a licence. Instead, landlords with properties
already up to standard will apply and foot the bill for enforcing against rogue operators with
substandard properties. Given our experience of these schemes we can advise that despite
299
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

5

the best of intentions, the schemes always penalise compliant landlords, leaving rouge
landlords to operate under the radar. Instead, we would urge Southend-on-Sea Borough
Council to step up efforts to increase the number of accredited landlords given that is
recognised in the evidence base that they do operate to higher standards. The evidence base
specifically states that Selective Licensing will lead to ‘an increase in good landlords and an
elimination of rogue landlords’, however our experience in this area shows the opposite effect
happens as decent landlords struggle to afford the license, while rouge landlords avoid the
costs and gain a competitive advantage.

Anti-social behaviour
17. One aspect of the evidence base we do agree with is the recognition by Southend-on-Sea
Borough Council that, ‘A tenant’s behaviour is equally as important as a landlord’s in securing
improvements within our local communities’ and the Council ‘therefore intend to work closely
with occupiers to ensure they understand their responsibilities as a tenant and as local
residents’. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council pledges to ‘discuss tenant responsibilities as
detailed in their tenancy agreement (i.e. expected behaviour, reporting of repairs, refuse
storage and disposal etc.) as well as offering any general and specific support required to
ensure the tenant can successfully sustain their tenancy.’ We think this is an important
recognition, because ultimately only tenants can be responsible for their own behaviour and
generally all Councils should be taking steps like this to inform them of their responsibilities
while also deploying anti-social behaviour officers in problem areas.

18. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council offer access to private sector solutions officers. According
to the Council ‘This officer is on hand to offer support for the duration of the tenancy and will,
where possible offer support and advice for the landlord and tenant, therefore assisting to
prevent rent arrears/ and addressing any ASB issues that may arise’. We think this is an
important and effective strategy which will work to address issues of anti-social behaviour and
should be focused on separately, rather than implementing Selective Licensing. In our
experience dedicated officers working on anti-social behaviour have made a great impact in
areas where there are issues. For example, anti-social behaviour officers operating in Liverpool
City Council have reduced instances of anti-social behaviour.
19. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council state in the evidence base that ‘If ASB is being carried out
within the immediate vicinity of the property, and is being caused by the occupiers of it, then
it would be reasonable to expect a landlord to ensure that those persons are not conducting
300
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

6

themselves in such a way that is adversely impacting on the local community’. We think it is
beyond the authority of landlords or letting agents to control poor behaviour especially with
such burdensome requirements. We see no reason as to how Selective Licensing will make any
impact in this area. Additionally, licence holders are unlikely to be equipped to resolve issues
associated with a tenants’ mental health or narcotic/alcohol abuse where associated with antisocial behaviour. Moreover, where licence holders feel an obligation to address the anti-social
behaviour of their tenants, this will likely result in the tenant being evicted unless support
measures are put in place. Evicting tenants due to anti-social behaviour will cause further
displacement of tenants throughout the local authority and beyond rather than solving the
underlying issue.

Existing enforcement powers
20. Up to June 2015, there were 145 laws with over 400 regulations that landlords need to abide
by to legally let a property in England and Wales.6 Legislation on residential lettings is amended
regularly with new laws introduced frequently. Consequently, local authorities are already
equipped with a sufficient toolkit in order to drive up standards in the private rented sector.
Despite this, local authority enforcement levels are low in the private rented sector – with
successive laws being passed, but not enforced.
a. The Housing Act 20047 introduced property licensing, management orders and the
housing health and safety rating system (HHSRS).
b. The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property Management Work
Regulations 20148 made it mandatory for letting and management agents in England
to belong to one of the government-approved redress schemes.
c. The Consumer Rights Act 20159 requires letting agents to prominently display their
fees online and in their office, as well as making it clear if they are a member of a Client
Money Protection (CMP) scheme.
d. The Deregulation Act 201510 brought about added protection for tenants against
retaliatory eviction where they had reported a genuine complaint for the property.
This Act also prohibits landlords and agents from serving an open-ended eviction
notice at the start of a tenancy and added requirements for serving a Section 21.

6

http://www.propertychecklists.co.uk/downloads/20170508_1
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/contents
8
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111116821/contents
9
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/15/contents/enacted
10
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/contents/enacted
7

301
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

7

e. The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm Regulations 201511 required landlords to
install and test smoke alarms on each storey of their property. Carbon Monoxide
alarms are also required in every room with a solid fuel burning appliance.
f.

The Assured Shorthold Tenancy Notices and Prescribed Requirements Regulations
201512 made issuing a ‘How to Rent’13 guide to all tenants a legal requirement.

g. The Housing and Planning Act 201614 introduced a range of measures that seek to
target the business of criminal landlords. The Act was brought about to incentivise and
bring additional resource to local authorities in order to drive up standards in the
private rented sector. This includes extended rent repayment orders, tenancy deposit
data sharing, banning orders, civil penalties and a database of rogue landlords and
property agents. Also included was enabling powers to enforce electrical safety
standards and for mandatory CMP.
h. The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 201815 places requirement on landlords
and agents to ensure that a property meets the Housing Health and Safety Rating
System (HHSRS) at the beginning and throughout the duration of a tenancy. The Act
also gives rights to tenants to take their property manager to court where HHSRS is
breached.

21. We have seen further legislative change targeting the private rented sector. The Tenant Fees
Act 2019 banned most charges made by letting agents and landlords to tenants, as well as
capping deposits.16 Consequently, we would argue that the issue does not lie with existing
legislation, rather the lack of enforcement. Local authorities pinpoint lacking enforcement as
a product of stretched resources. Although this should have been remedied with the
introduction of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, many local authorities do not exercise their
powers to bring additional resources into enforcement of the private rented sector. We
acknowledge that there are some local authorities that are proactive with enforcement in the
private rented sector, such as Newham Borough Council – however, this is not the case for
most local authorities. Figures released under the Freedom of Information Act highlighted that
almost six in ten Councils had not prosecuted any landlords in either 2016 or 2017, and more
than 80 per cent of Councils prosecuted fewer than five landlords.17 In contrast to these
11

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111133439/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1646/pdfs/uksi_20151646_en.pdf
13
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/723773
/How_to_Rent_Jul18.pdf
14
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents/enacted
15
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2017-19/homesfitnessforhumanhabitation.html
16
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/tenant-fees-act
17
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/oct/28/rogue-landlords-enjoy-an-easy-ride-as-councils-fail-toprosecute
12

302
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

8

figures, Newham Borough Council accounted for 331 landlord prosecutions during this time
period.18

22. Southend-on-Sea Borough Council are aware of some of these existing powers, for instance
the evidence base mentions that ‘new powers include the extension of Rent Repayment
Orders, the ability to impose Civil Penalties up to £30,000, Banning Orders, the introduction of
a data base for rogue landlords/property agents and the introduction of a tougher “fit and
proper person” test for landlords’. We urge Southend-on-Sea Borough Council to make more
effective use of these powers, because the national picture suggests that most Councils do not
take advantage of the wide range of powers they already have. Moreover, Southend-on-Sea
Borough Council make reference to ‘The Housing Act 2004 introduced the Housing Health and
Safety Rating Scheme (HHSRS) which allows local authorities to inspect privately rented
properties to ensure the condition of those properties do not have an adverse effect on the
health, safety or welfare of tenants or visitors to those properties.’ Again, we welcome this
awareness and believe that these existing enforcement powers are a more effective route to
improvement in the PRS, rather than Selective Licensing.

Collaborative approaches
23. ARLA Propertymark believes that instead of introducing further property licensing, Southendon-Sea Borough Council should adopt a collaborative approach with letting agents, landlords
and professional bodies to tackle issues within the private rented sector. Indeed, the
consultation discusses the officers which are intended to work collaboratively with landlords
and tenants. This approach recognises and rewards landlords and agents that already adhere
to good practice and enables local authorities to better target their resources on effective
intelligence-led enforcement. We believe that Southend-on-Sea Borough Council is open to
working collaboratively as stated in the evidence base, ‘The Selective Licensing team will also
work closely with partner agencies (including the policy and fire authority, community safety
teams, community and voluntary services, and other housing providers) to ensure a joined
approach to tackling and resolving neighbourhood specific issues.’ We think that such an
approach could be effective on its own, without the need for Selective Licensing and would
bring up standards, rather than adding extra costs to decent landlords.

18

Ibid

303
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

9

24. Homestamp19 in the West Midlands is an example of a collaborative approach. The initiative
combines local authorities, private rented sector bodies such as ARLA Propertymark,
universities, Police and Fire services. Homestamp considers and responds to regional and
national issues affecting the sector alongside providing information and training for landlords,
addressing potential issues before they arise.

25. Up until March 2020, ARLA Propertymark was a co-regulation partner with Liverpool City
Council.20 The scheme allowed the Council to effectively target their resources and rewarded
ARLA Propertymark agents already adhering to high standards. Landlords who opted to use
our members received a discount on licensing fees. We were pleased that Liverpool specifically
mentioned ARLA Propertymark and the positive contribution co-regulation has had on the
sector. We agreed with Liverpool City Council’s reasons for the collaboration with ARLA
Propertymark: ‘The rationale for the initiative was that co-regulated properties would
generally require less active regulation by the Council, thereby reducing its investigation and
enforcement costs’. Furthermore, Liverpool City Council noted that: ‘The achievements of the
first scheme in addressing poor housing conditions and property management have helped to
address the Council’s wider strategic objectives of addressing low housing demand’. To this
end, we would invite Southend-on-Sea Borough Council to collaborate with us, and other
bodies to deliver a similar approach to the previous Liverpool scheme, given that it can deliver
results with less resources.

26. The London Rental Standard ran from 2014-17. ARLA Propertymark was appointed as one of
the accrediting bodies to the scheme by the former London Mayor. The voluntary set of
minimum rules separated out agents and landlords performing their duties to a high
professional standard, allowing scarce local authority resources to be directed towards
inadequate landlords and agents.

Waste management
27. ARLA Propertymark has previously been part of LEDNET (London Environment Directors’
Network) Group that worked with Resource London and other sector stakeholders to produce
a tool kit of best practice for waste management in private rented property.21 The

19

https://homestamp.com/
https://liverpool.gov.uk/business/landlord-licensing/liverpools-landlord-licensing-scheme/fees-discountsand-exemptions/
21
https://resourcelondon.org/resources/toolkits/guide-improving-waste-management-domestic-rentedsector/
20

304
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

10

recommendations are backed up by case studies and good practice examples. A total of six
sections are covered in the guide including: communications, collaboration, tenancy
agreements, waste collection service provision and policies, licencing, and enforcement. As a
result, we do not believe that licensing landlords will simply change tenant behaviour and
improve waste and recycling rates in private rented property in Southend Southend-on-Sea.

28. Furthermore, Southend-on-Sea Borough Council should avoid attaching any waste
management duties on landlords. Other Council consultation have stated that the licence
holder must ensure that gardens, yards, and other external areas are cleared of rubbish, debris
and accumulations and are cleared between tenancies. Here we have asked, what happens
where the receptacles are located in communal areas (such as blocks of flats) which are
outside of the landlord’s ability to control? Would they be in breach of their licensing
conditions without any ability to rectify the situation? We also think that should landlords
comply with waste management responsibilities as a licence condition they would be in breach
of the tenant’s ‘quiet enjoyment’ and could also be criminally prosecuted for harassment. A
landlord is not allowed to enter the curtilage of a rented property without the tenant’s consent
during a tenancy.
29. The evidence base states that ‘Licensing will help to tackle environmental nuisance (such as
noise, waste accumulations in yards and incidents of fly tipping in the streets and alleyways)
as the proposed property inspections and contact with tenants will help to identify the source
of problems and facilitate opportunities to provide tenants with advice about their
responsibilities’. We agree that property inspections can help tenants to manage their waste,
however we do not think that Selective Licensing is necessary to do this and is a wasteful
administrative exercise. Instead, the council could identify high areas of problem spots and
talk to tenants without the need of a license.

30. We do believe that Southend-on-Sea Borough Council should provide the landlord with the
written information they wish the landlord to distribute to tenants rather than expecting the
landlord to produce it themselves following advice. Communication and education are key to
reducing waste and improving recycling.

Proposed area
31. While we do not agree with Selective Licensing in any case, for the discussed reasons we do
think that a narrower approach is preferable, rather than a city-wide approach. The
305
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

11

consultation proposes licensing mainly in Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and parts of Chalkwell, on
the principle grounds relating to anti-social behaviour, poor property conditions, deprivation,
and crime. It is estimated to account for 19.7% of the private rented market in Southend-onSea Borough Council, which is certainly preferable to licensing the whole area. In our
experience Selective Licensing schemes have been over burdensome for local authorities due
to the resources required to manage the scheme. To this end, we urge Southend-on-Sea
Borough Council to take this into consideration and either reconsider the proposals in their
entirety or keep the scheme as small as possible to prevent overstretch.

Enforcement in Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
32. The evidence base states that ‘Where enforcement action is needed then this shall be carried
out by the Council’s Private Sector Housing enforcement team and not the Selective Licensing
officers.’ However, it does not state exactly how many officers will be employed, or how much
it will cost. We think that in the interests of transparency the Council should have published
these details in order for all parties to be able to make an informed assessment of the scheme.

33. The evidence base also states that ‘It is expected that compliant landlords will apply for the
relevant licence shortly after the designation, however if necessary, the Council will introduce
a proactive enforcement programme to identify unlicensed properties’. We think it is alarming
that given the faith the Council places in Selective Licensing it will only enforce the scheme ‘If
necessary’. This makes the scheme seem particularly weak because ultimately prosecutions
are what change behaviour, taking improper houses off the market and sending a warning to
other unscrupulous landlords. Unfortunately, no matter how good the intentions of the
scheme, resources mean that there will never be many prosecutions, so decent landlords foot
the bill for the license, while those in violation of the terms avoid detection, staying under the
radar. Any scheme must have effective enforcement and significant numbers of officers to
make the checks, otherwise it will not make any difference.

Fee Structure
34. The Council state that the proposed licence fee has been worked out at £668.00 for each
property, the fee will be payable in two parts. While the fee is not hugely excessive on its own,
when taken in combination with the other costs landlords face, this is likely to place additional
financial pressure on landlords. To this end, local Councils must recognise that the private
rented sector has already been heavily impacted financially in recent years based on the
306
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

12

phasing out of tax relief on mortgage interest for landlords, the additional Stamp Duty Land
Tax surcharge on buy-to-let property and the Tenant Fees Act 2019. However, the ongoing
repercussions of the pandemic means that landlords costs have increased significantly, and
many landlords can no longer make ends meet. Taken together these costs may become so
restrictive that it may no longer be profitable for many landlords to continue to operate.
Another implication is that the costs of the fee are likely to be passed onto tenants, through
higher rents.

35. We think that there should be discount for letting agents who belong to an accredited body
and in particular members of ARLA Propertymark. For instance, Propertymark launched in
February 2017, combining five different associations into a single brand. The five associations
(ARLA, NAEA, NAVA, ICBA and APIP) were dedicated to promoting the highest industry
standards for over 50 years. Our members join and seek to become Propertymark Protected
voluntarily to demonstrate transparency and ensure they are at the forefront of developments
in the industry in accordance with our Conduct and Membership Rules.22 We regulate
individual members of Propertymark and companies which fall within the jurisdiction of the
different divisions. Propertymark regulates a company (legal entity) when it has a PPD Principal (sole trader), Partner (partnership or LLP) or Director (limited company) who is a
member of a division and is active in a business area relevant to the member’s work. There are
eight main company obligations. Firstly, all members need to pay the levy to join our Client
Money Protection scheme. Propertymark is one of the six government approved schemes for
Client Money Protection. Secondly, members need to provide an Accountant’s Report
completed by a chartered/certified accountant or complete a client money 'Health Check’.
Thirdly, members need to provide evidence that they have appropriate cover for Professional
Indemnity Insurance. Fourthly, it is a requirement for all members to belong to a governmentapproved independent redress scheme. Fifthly, if applicable to a members’ business
Propertymark requires evidence that the company is registered with HMRC for Anti Money
Laundering purposes. Sixthly, Propertymark require a company declaration form for each
company (legal entity) that a PPD is legally responsible for. Seventhly, requirements to obtain
members’ Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) registration number as regulations require
every organisation or sole trader who processes personal information to pay a fee to the ICO,
unless exempt. Eighthly, PPDs are required to follow The Property Ombudsman’s Chartered
Trading Standards Institute (CTSI) approved Codes of Practice.

22

https://www.propertymark.co.uk/working-in-the-industry/member-requirements/

307
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

13

36. In addition to a discount for accreditation, if Southend-on-Sea Borough Council decide to go
ahead with licensing then we believe that they should further support landlords and letting
agents by providing a discount for properties which go above the legally required EPC rating
levels, which are currently a minimum of EPC E.23 The UK Government have recently consulted
on Improving the Energy Efficiency of Privately Rented Homes,24 but landlords have little
access to funding outside of their own income in order to make high-cost energy efficiency
improvements to their properties. Given the importance of helping combat climate change
and the fact that Southend-on-Sea Borough Council has declared a Climate Change Emergency,
the Council must support all sectors to combat climate change but also ensure everyone has
access to warm and energy efficient homes.25 To this end, Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
should look to incentivise landlords and support them to improve the energy efficiency of their
property.

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council considered alternatives to Selective Licensing
37. The consultation sets out several alternatives to licensing such as accreditation, enforcement
of housing standards, management orders, private sector leasing schemes, and raising
landlord awareness. The document concludes that ‘The ultimate sanction is that the
responsibility of managing a property can be removed from them (with a management order)’,
and therefore Selective Licensing is the preferred option. However, our assessment of
Selective Licensing schemes across the UK is that they rarely improve conditions for tenants
and instead decent landlords pay the fee, while rouge landlords continue to operate under the
radar. We think alternative collaborative approaches have a much higher record of success
and Southend-on-Sea Borough Council should investigate these approaches in more detail.

23

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/domestic-private-rented-property-minimum-energy-efficiency-standardlandlord-guidance
24
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/improving-the-energy-performance-of-privately-rentedhomes
25
https://democracy.southend.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=8652

308
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

14

Eastern Landlords Association response 27 November 2020 12:40

Dear Madam,
I am the Chairman of the Board of Directors for the Eastern Landlords Association. Our members are
based throughout the UK, but particularly in East Anglia. I am writing to you to make representations
on behalf of our members who will be affected by the proposed Selective Licensing Scheme in
Southend. The scheme will also have an impact on tenants, owner-occupiers and house prices. Our
overarching concerns about this proposal are listed below.
Due to the ongoing pandemic I request that you delay this consultation by several months.
Inspections of properties will not be able to go ahead while the current Tier system is in place and as
there is a 2 year back log on the issuing of licences for HMOs it appears that Southend Council
currently lack the capacity to introduce any additional licensing; which incidentally, has been
scrapped in other areas, e.g. Liverpool as it had no impact on anti-social behaviour, drug use etc.
On the behalf of the ELA I also propose that good landlords, those that are members of SEAL and the
ELA are rewarded, not penalised, for their high standards and for being a member of an organisation
that expects this of them. SEAL and Southend council have had a longstanding good working
relationship and many of the “new” proposals are based on an agreement between the council and
SEAL that already exists.
Over-arching concerns about the proposed Selective Licensing in Southend:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Consultation document itself seems biased and has data inaccuracies
2011 Census data has been used so that the scheme does not have to go to Secretary of
State, as it will be under the required 20% of housing stock, which is highly misleading
No evidence that negative behaviour is caused by ‘PRS Residents’ and not Owner Occupiers
and Council & Social Housing Tenants
HMO licensing has been very slow in operating in this area in the past two years (despite
good Landlords paying their fees)
HMO licensing is already in force (this does not affect HMOs)
Council has enforcement powers but is not using them (596 complaints of PRS properties in
2017-18 and just 12 improvement notices issued)
Anti-social behaviour is not a Landlords responsibility to tackle
• Concern that Tenants will feel harassed by their landlords once SL imposed.
• 24 hrs notice required before going to the property, tenants entitled to quiet
enjoyment of their homes
Section 21 is going. Evicting tenants is already difficult and will become more so
Waste management will be difficult for Landlords to control. Tenants are adults and
responsible for their own actions and behaviour.
There are streets and wards that have anti-social behaviour and waste problems that have
not been included in the scheme, why?
There are areas that do not have these problems, that have been included, why?
Landlords and Letting Agents had a very positive working relationship with the Council in
previous years (as did SEAL), however, there has been a changeover of council staff and
Landlord Forums have not been held.
Original objectives will not be met
Budget for taking enforcement action on rogue landlords who will not license their
properties:
‘Good’ landlords will end up paying/being responsible and ‘Bad’ landlords will continue to
operate below the radar, Good landlords will be the ones paying for this scheme

309
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

15

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Social housing is not included in the licensing scheme
Why are landlords paying for the administration of this scheme (why not out of council
purse, Police budget, etc)
Concern for Tenants: Landlords will start selling up, resulting in increased homelessness
Rents will be raised (to cover cost of the licensing fee)
No named concrete evidence of where this scheme has been effective
This scheme does not address owner occupied poor property conditions
All the issues identified in the Consultation Paper are not as a result of poor housing, e.g. an
unhealthy lifestyle due to lack of healthy diet/exercise. Tenants are adults are make their
own life choices.
Owner occupiers property values will decrease. Purchasers prefer to not buy in the SL
areas. Some mortgage lenders, (residential and Buy To Let), prefer not to lend in SL areas.

The ELA will work closely with its members in Southend and all others who will be affected by this
scheme to support and assist them in every way possible.
I look forward to your response.
Your sincerely,

Charles Clarke
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Eastern Landlords Association

Angie Gill
Office Manager
Eastern Landlords Association

310
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

16

The Home Safe
Scheme Ltd
The Castle Mill
Minneymoor Hill
Conisbrough
Doncaster
DN12 3EN

Email:info@thehomesafescheme.org.uk
Telephone: 0330 6600 282
Company No. 09371007

Date: 18 December 2020

Response from The Home Safe Scheme Ltd to the proposal by
Southend-on-Sea Borough Council to introduce Selective Licensing
We wholeheartedly support the proposals by Southend-on-Sea Borough Council to introduce a new
Selective Licensing Scheme and would formally like to express our interest in being your delivery
partner. I have detailed below some background information about Home Safe and the delivery
partner approach to Selective Licensing that we have developed. This also includes some details
specific to this proposal, which we would appreciate the opportunity to meet and discuss.
I would also like to draw your attention to the 2019 MHCLG Independent Review of the Use and
Effectiveness of Selective Licensing. Sections 8.15-8.16 refer to The Home Safe Scheme (but not in
name) and give a positive mention with a recommendation to consider using at the planning stage
and although not 100% accurate in their understanding they do get the general concept.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-review
Please also find attached an independent review commissioned by Liverpool City Council which
speaks positively about Home Safe and this approach (easiest way to find is to do a search for 'Home
Safe' - the bullet points on page 8 and the third bullet point on page 21 are worth noting).

1.

Introduction and background

1.1

The Home Safe Scheme Limited (Home Safe), with professional knowledge of the private
rented sector and landlord culture particularly, works in partnership with Local Authorities to
deliver the objectives of Selective and Additional Licensing – raising standards and changing
landlord behaviour, in a way that Local Authorities alone have traditionally found difficult to
do.

1.2

We are the originators of this approach, developing the concept with Doncaster
Metropolitan Borough Council through 2014 and are currently working in partnership with 3
Local Authorities on 4 schemes covering designations in Doncaster Borough (1 Selective and
1 Additional), West Lindsey District (1 Selective) and Great Yarmouth Borough (1 Selective).

1.3

The Home Safe concept was developed to provide licensing support enabling Local
Authorities to maximise the outcomes of any licensing scheme whilst providing both benefits
and support to their landlord community, particularly in areas subject to Selective and
311
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

17

Additional Licensing. Our Directors have both public sector Local Authority and private sector
landlord experience, including former representatives of the National Landlords Association.
1.4

We provide support and development to engaging landlords whilst working with the
licensing and enforcing Local Authorities who can focus their efforts on non-engaging and
non-compliant landlords. Working in partnership with Local Authorities and private landlords
to raise standards in the private rented sector, improving communities, improving tenant
experience, saving tax-payers money and protecting private investment.

1.5

We are happy to attend an interview and deliver a presentation on this approach along with
answering any questions.

2.

What it’s not!!

2.1

This approach is not an alternative to licensing and does not replace or dilute Local Authority
powers who remain as the licensing and enforcing authority throughout just as they would if
licensing in the traditional way.

3.

How it works

3.1

Upon designation landlords can either apply for a licence direct with the Local Authority or
from the Local Authority once they have joined the Home Safe scheme. If a Local Authority is
using a delivery partner, we believe it makes sense to encourage landlords to use that vehicle
otherwise the perception could be that there are two schemes in operation which could lead
to confusion.

3.2

If landlords choose this route, they will need to set up a Direct Debit and pay a monthly
membership subscription with the intention that over 5 years they will pay little or no more
by following this route (one-off up-front payments have been requested in other Local
Authority areas and will be considered). As part of their application to join, landlords will
need to submit the certificates and self-declarations to Home Safe as they would if applying
for a licence direct with the Local Authority (all agreed with the Local Authority). If
acceptable Home Safe will confirm to the Local Authority who can complete the process in
terms of any further checks they want to conduct before issuing the licence at a discounted
rate as the time taken for them to process this way is less. Home Safe will also collect the
licence fee on behalf of the Council and forward on monthly (or an agreed frequency other
than monthly).

3.3

All Managing Agents nominated by scheme member landlords to manage properties in the
scheme area will need to provide evidence of their Fit & Proper Person status and that they
are members of an approved Redress Scheme.

3.4

Once a member of the scheme, and in receipt of their Local Authority issued licence, any
issues regarding the property, landlord or tenant, are referred to Home Safe
(notwithstanding the Local Authority could enforce immediately if it so chooses). Home Safe
will work with the licence-holder, their member, to resolve the issue whilst compiling the
evidence should it result in Local Authority legal action. This will take no longer in time than if
the Local Authority were to resolve and all timescales are agreed at the outset and enshrined
in a contract between the Local Authority and Home Safe. This leaves the Local Authority
free to focus on the more non-engaging, non-compliant part of the sector where
enforcement action can be more efficiently focused and more effective.

312
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

18

3.5

Membership Terms and Conditions are clearly laid out to members, along with a code of
practice, maintenance mandate and local charters to deal with specific problems such as
ASB, waste, overcrowding, etc., (please see the Home Safe website at www.
thehomesafescheme.org.uk).

3.6

Home Safe then offers support and development for licence holders to compliment the more
robust legislative approach taken by our Local Authority partners. Where necessary we will
work with Local Authorities to provide the evidence required for enforcement action.

3.7

If at any time, for whatever reason (such as cancelling their Direct Debit or in breach of their
membership T&Cs) licence-holders cease to be members of the Home Safe scheme the
licence they obtained through that membership lapses (other than where they have sold the
licensed property) and they must re-apply directly to the Council for a licence to be able to
continue to legally rent out their property or properties. We recommend this is included in
the licence conditions for the avoidance of doubt.

3.8

Home Safe will conduct an agreed number of property inspections for the duration of the
designation by deploying our team of trained HHSRS inspectors to inspect all scheme
properties. We are committed to using local inspectors where they are available. Inspection
reports are emailed to scheme members upon completion of the inspection. Any issues
raised are graded with a high, medium or low priority (consistent with HHSRS) and the
membership maintenance mandate gives strict timescales to respond to these follow-up
actions all of which are agreed with the Local Authority.

3.9

The follow-up actions are managed by Home Safe who currently work to the following
timescales:
High Priority issues – submit an agreed plan of action within 3 days.
Medium Priority issues – submit an agreed plan of action within 10 days.
Low Priority issues – submit an agreed plan of action within 20 days.

3.10

An agreed plan of action is confirmation, within the above timescales, that the licenceholder/scheme member will rectify the defects raised using competent tradespeople within
an immediate or reasonable timescale agreed with Home Safe.

3.11

Once agreed, the plan of action will be managed further by Home Safe with the licenceholder/scheme member required to ‘confirm’ satisfactory closure of Medium Priority issues
whilst providing ‘evidence’ of satisfactory closure of High Priority issues.

3.12

In the event that a member becomes in breach of their Terms and Conditions, then a breach
rectification process will be activated. An example of a breach could be a member failing to
provide Home Safe access to the property to conduct an inspection, failing to provide a Plan
of Action (POA) following an inspection, in either 3, 10 or 20 days (depending whether High,
Medium or Low priority), Home Safe not receiving confirmation and, where applicable,
evidence of the POA being completed on or before the agreed date, or for a member
cancelling a Direct Debit.

3.13

Once a member is deemed to be in breach of their T&Cs a breach management
administration fee of £25 plus vat will be added to the members account, to be collected at
the end of the following calendar month and this fee will continue to be charged on a
monthly basis until the matter is resolved, in order to cover the additional
administration costs of managing the breach. This also serves as an effective deterrent to a
member being in breach, or staying in breach, but the fee is not collected until the end of the
313
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

19

following month from the breach occurring giving plenty of time to resolve. All matters in
breach are shared with the Local Authority who can simply monitor the situation, advise
Home Safe of their preferred course of action or step in and take enforcement action.
3.14

Action by the Local Authority may lead to the member losing their fit and proper person
status and could consequently lead to the termination of their membership with Home Safe
and therefore an application for a new licence will need to be made directly to the Local
Authority. At any point, if the member contacts Home Safe and advises that the issue is
resolved and any required evidence is provided, then any future dated breach management
administration fees will be cancelled immediately and the breach process will come to an
end. It is therefore in the members best interest to avoid a breach situation occurring, or, if it
does, to resolve it swiftly.

3.15

The first 18 months to 2 years of a designation concentrates on issuing licences and bringing
properties up to an acceptable standard thus encouraging better property management.
Thereafter, whilst inspections continue, the focus can move to making a real and lasting
difference in communities by delivering local charters to address the worst problems, such as
ASB, waste management or tenancy management and sustainment. These charters are also
agreed with the Local Authority to address their specific issues.

3.16

A contract between the Local Authority and Home Safe is put in place from the outset with
key performance indicators to ensure the scheme objectives are met if not exceeded. As with
any contract, where there are reasonable grounds, the Local Authority can terminate this
and revert to the traditional form of Selective Licensing.

3.17

Home Safe can report, at any time, on the number of High, Medium and Low priority issues
found during an inspection programme, how many inspections have been conducted, how
many have a failed access issue, how many issues have been resolved and the time taken to
do so.

3.18

Home Safe has an IT facility in place, a cloud-based project management platform, shared
with the Local Authority whereby relevant officers can escalate issues direct to our team,
simply, efficiently and with an audit trail, if the property in question is registered with Home
Safe. This also works well for the member landlord as the team can liaise quickly with them,
point out the potential licensing breach and then guide them towards a plan of action to
resolve the issue that has been raised by the Local Authority.

3.19

The flow-charts at appendix 1 explains the process for joining and at appendix 2 for dealing
with serious property hazards.

4.

Costs

4.1

There is no cost for Local Authorities to Home Safe for using this delivery partner service.

4.2

As the Local Authority are still the Licensing (and Enforcing) Authority landlords have a choice
of whether they apply for a licence direct to the Local Authority, as with traditional schemes,
or whether to first join Home Safe and apply for their (Local Authority issued) licence through
Home Safe. However, as stated previously, if using a delivery partner, we believe it makes
sense to encourage landlords to use that vehicle otherwise the perception could be that
there are two schemes in operation which could lead to confusion.

314
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

20

4.3

Local Authorities have different objectives that will require different levels of Home Safe
resource, for example on the number of inspections they want or how we manage follow-up
actions from inspections, but we are committed to providing a service that closely matches
the Local Authority licence fee for landlords.

4.4

The legislation only permits Local Authorities to charge a licence fee commensurate to the
costs of running the scheme and not to make a profit. This fee is made up of processing the
application, producing and issuing the licence and thereafter monitoring and managing
compliance. If Home Safe processes the application and thereafter monitors and manages
compliance then the Local Authority licence fee is justifiably lower than a licence direct with
the Local Authority. Home Safe’s monthly subscription fee covers our role in processing the
application and thereafter monitoring and managing compliance. Home Safe and the Local
Authority need to understand and agree the respective fee structures which will be similar to
each other in total and we note the proposed licence fee in your consultation document is
£668.00 in total for each licence.

4.5

A major benefit to landlords, in respect of costs, of joining Home Safe is that we will accept
monthly subscriptions over the licence period thus spreading costs and helping with their
cashflow. Local Authorities, justifiably, have traditionally charged a one-off up-front licence
fee, which the legislation permits.

5.

Where it works and headline statistics

5.1

Home Safe developed this concept and worked with Doncaster MBC on their first-ever
Selective Licensing scheme, in Hexthorpe, with 237 members and 416 properties. The
scheme came into force on 1st July 2015 and expired on 30th June 2020. Doncaster MBC
published a year 1 review which reported that after the first 12 months of the scheme noise
complaints reduced by 35%, nuisance complaints by 44%, housing complaints by 25% as well
as a 20% reduction in reports of unkempt properties. There is a link that will open the report
on the Council’s web page at http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/businessinvestment/selective-licensing and section 3, on page 9 details the ‘Added Value from the
Home Safe Approach to Selective Licensing’.

5.2

Indeed, the MP for Hexthorpe, the Rt Hon Dame Rosie Winterton DBE, mentioned this
scheme in a House of Commons debate on 28th November 2016 when she said “Is
the Secretary of State aware that, as part of the neighbourhood plan for Hexthorpe in
my constituency, a Selective Licensing system was introduced for private landlords, which
reduced all types of antisocial behaviour by between 20% and 45%?”

5.3

Unfortunately, due to staff turnover, by the end of the scheme all those involved at the
outset had been replaced and the understanding of the concept and how it should work was
lost. A key lesson here is that the Local Authority must continue to work with the delivery
partner and as such Home Safe now has a dedicated local Scheme Manager for each
designated scheme to act as the liaison with the Local Authority.

5.4

Overall however the scheme was judged to be a success and the area improved as a result
but we feel the improvements could have been greater and a lot of lessons have been learnt
from this first scheme.

5.5

Doncaster Council are currently consulting on a follow-up scheme in the same area, to
commence mid-2021, and have asked Home Safe to submit a response to the consultation
on how they can provide the delivery partner service for the proposed follow-up scheme.
Doncaster Council have stated they want the focus this time to be on ASB and waste
315
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

21

management, less on property condition, so we are developing processes and initiatives to
address these different challenges.
5.6

In February 2018 Doncaster MBC designated their second scheme, in the area of Edlington,
again using Home Safe as their delivery partner. To date there are 94 members and 156
properties and Home Safe continues to be the Council’s delivery partner.

5.7

Doncaster MBC have also designated an Additional Licensing scheme, coming into force on
1st October 2018, and again using the services of Home Safe as their delivery partner.

5.8

Home Safe are also working with West Lindsey District Council in the delivery of their
Selective Licensing scheme in Gainsborough, which expires on 18th July 2021, currently with
297 members and 541 properties.

5.9

On 7th January 2019, Great Yarmouth Borough Council’s Selective Licensing scheme came
into force using Home Safe as their delivery partner for a scheme with an estimated 1,630
properties. Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic interrupting activity 1,060 inspections had been
completed raising a total of 2,009 High Priority issues (4,123 issues in total). 1,251 High
Priority issues have been resolved and the average time taken to close a report was 46 days.
3 inspections in the 5-year period have been agreed and it is anticipated, as we have seen in
other areas, that fewer High Priority issues will be found on the subsequent inspections but
different issues will be found suggesting that ongoing effective property management is an
issue to be addressed.

5.10

By this time Home Safe have refined their operation and use of IT, particularly for monitoring
works arising from inspections. The whole operation is evolving but the importance of Local
Authorities being prepared to take enforcement action at the appropriate time has never
diminished, indeed, it is fundamental to this approach.

5.11

From 1st November 2018 GYBC are also using Home Safe as their mandatory HMO
application service partner where we will process all new and renewal applications and
forward completed applications and fees collected so they can issue the mandatory HMO
licences. This is purely an application-only service however, unlike the Selective Licensing
service which includes all the on-going support and development opportunities and property
inspections.

5.12

The B&Q TradePoint Card is available as a membership benefit to all Home Safe members.
During the 5-year Hexthorpe designation the B&Q spend in their Doncaster store amounted
to an average spend of £1,125 per property licensed to a Home Safe Member. This is
notwithstanding some spend will have been for personal use but a list of all store areas
where Home Safe members are using their card shows the 3 designated areas are by far the
highest spending stores. The 2019 year-end total Doncaster spend by Home Safe members
was £88,000, Gainsborough/Lincoln £30,000 and Great Yarmouth £22,000 (where
inspections did not begin until September 2019).

6.

Procurement of delivery partners

6.1

Every scheme we have been involved in, indeed every Local Authority we have spoken to,
has mentioned the issue of procurement. Doncaster and West Lindsey District Council took
the view that this is precisely why you consult – to learn about best practice and new
innovative approaches. Furthermore, they held the view that there was no need to conduct a
time-consuming procurement exercise as:

316
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

22

•
•
•

The Council wasn’t paying anything for the service.
They were reasonably confident there was no market to test.
They left it open for any other such provider to submit an expression of interest with
strict criteria of what was needed to ensure they were getting genuine responses (to
date there have been no other responses submitted to any Local Authority). The criteria
used by DMBC, WLDC and GYBC is shown at appendix 3.

6.2

West Lindsey District Council went even further and advertised on their web site that they
preferred that all landlords become members of Home Safe to obtain their licence. Great
Yarmouth Borough Council went further still and actually consulted on landlords becoming
members of Home Safe to obtain their licences as they were aware of this approach before
the consultation began and shaped their consultation around this.

6.3

In the designation report following the consultation, dated 13th September 2018, they wrote
“The RLA objection to only having one Delivery Partner, though this is the basis on which the
vast majority of contracts are awarded by any organisation, ensuring best value, service,
consistency and avoiding confusion for all parties, as happens where there are multiple
contractors. The assertion that there is no competition to be the Delivery Partner is incorrect
as page 13 of the consultation document states: “The contract will be awarded as a
‘Concession’, rather than through procurement, as the Delivery Partner will not be paid
anything by the Council. Great Yarmouth Borough Council welcomes any competent party
with an interest in being the Service Delivery Partner to submit an application for the
Concession.”

6.4

They also wrote “The Council understands that stakeholders may have concerns that working
with a Delivery Partner could be a privatisation of services, and at a considerable increased
cost, due to a profit-making motive. However, this is not an existing Service, and so it has not
been privatised, nor jobs moved to the private sector. Equally, where Delivery Partners have
worked within schemes, they have not been vast organisations profiteering off of the Public
Sector, rather a smaller organisation, with a social conscience, with limited profits.”

7.

Summary

7.1

Finally, by way of summary, I would like to point out the benefits of adopting this approach
and, as mentioned earlier, would appreciate the opportunity to meet and discuss further if
you have any questions or just require further clarifications.

7.2

Filtering
This partnership approach will provide a genuine opportunity to support and develop
designated parts of the private rented sector whilst enabling the use of legislative powers
and resources more efficiently and effectively. This would be in a more targeted manner
allowing a focus of resources directly against the willingly bad, un-cooperative and noncomplying landlords who will all have had a chance to change.

7.3

Local Authority costs
The revenues received from effective and efficient enforcement action (due to Home Safe
being a filter) will ensure the scheme does not run at a loss and be a burden to the local
taxpayer. There is no cost from the Local Authority to Home Safe.

7.4

Landlord costs
Landlords will get the opportunity to pay monthly instalments, as opposed to a one-off upfront cost, and obtain a licence from the Local Authority at a reduced cost due to the time
taken for them to process the licence being less. Landlords should be required to acquire
317
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

23

their licence through the delivery partner and by doing so will become members of the
delivery partner.
7.5

Local Authority retention of powers
It is important to remember that the Local Authority powers are not diluted in any way and
they remain the licensing and enforcing authority but, in this way, are able to offer support
and development, through Home Safe, to those landlords that request it.

7.6

Accountability and Scrutiny of Home Safe as Delivery Partner
The relationship between the Local Authority and Home Safe needs to be a contractual one
including key performance indicators and the need for Home Safe to periodically attend
Local Authority management meetings, such as Overview and Scrutiny, to provide updates,
report progress and be open to scrutiny.

7.7

Legislation compliance
As Great Yarmouth Borough Council noted in their report approving the use of a Delivery
Partner . . . . The Housing Act 2004, section 80 (3) (b) requires Local Authorities to consider
"that making a designation will, when combined with other measures taken in the area by
the local housing authority, or by other persons together with the local housing authority,
contribute to the improvement of the social or economic conditions in the area.” The
proposed approach is Selective Licensing combined with other measures taken, e.g. the
Delivery Partner approach with 'other persons', and we consider that this will be partnership
working at its best.

7.8

MHCLG observations regarding a Delivery Partner approach (An Independent Review of the
Use and Effectiveness of Selective Licensing, 2019)
In respect of licence applications received through the Delivery Partner . . . . “the burden on
the authority administrative team is reduced since they no longer have to deal with
incomplete or incorrect applications”.
In respect of property inspections . . . . “The partner agency then carries out inspections,
typically conducting 3 separate inspections of each property over the five-year period.
Where problems are noted, revisits occur, and the authority becomes involved only when
there is a failure to correct the issue. After each inspection an electronic report is generated
with a summary page of recommendations, and photographic evidence of corrections made
by the landlord can be submitted electronically where appropriate. The benefits of such a
scheme is that it keeps costs down, reduces administrative burdens, and ensures that
inspections are continually progressing” . . . . and . . . . “authorities using a delivery partner
consistently report positive outcomes, so it may be worth consideration by an authority at
the planning stage”.
MEL Research, who conducted the Council’s consultation, also spoke positively about the
Delivery Partner approach, in their 2019 review of selective licensing for Liverpool City
Council.

7.9

Local presence
We firmly believe in having a strong local presence wherever we are working to not only
create local employment, through inspectors and a Scheme Manager, but also because it
makes sound operational sense to be present in those areas. This is of course subject to
availability of the right people at the right time.

318
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

24

7.10

Increased local spend in B&Q and other building suppliers
The B&Q TradePoint Card is available as a membership benefit to all Home Safe members.
During the 5-year Doncaster designation the B&Q spend in their Doncaster store amounted
to an average spend of £1,125 per property licensed to a Home Safe Member. This is
notwithstanding some spend will have been for personal use but a list of all store areas
where Home Safe members are using their card shows the 3 designated areas are by far the
highest spending stores. The 2019 year-end total Doncaster spend by Home Safe members
was £88,000, Gainsborough/Lincoln £30,000 and Great Yarmouth £22,000 (where
inspections did not begin until September 2019).

7.11

Council reputation
The last scheme Southend-on-Sea Borough Council consulted upon resulted in the selfregulation approach offered by SEAL. This did not prove successful and the Council needs to
be careful to avoid a similar mistake this time. It would also be commonplace for there to be
little confidence in the PRS that the Council has the understanding of the PRS or the
resources to run a scheme with the same credibility that Home Safe will, particularly on the
amount and frequency of property inspections – for all properties (subject to access – for
which Home Safe has a process culminating in the member being in breach for failed
access). For example, the scheme in Great Yarmouth using Home Safe, has 3 inspections in
the 5-year designation.

Kind Regards,

Ian Wailes
Mobile: 07795 955691
ian.wailes@thehomesafescheme.org.uk

319
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

25

Appendix 1 – Licence process and issue

Every landlord in the PRS within the designated
area must obtain a licence from the Local
Authority (LA). Landlords will be encouraged to
apply through Home Safe.

Appendix 2 – Dealing with

Apply direct to the LA

Category 1 hazards

Apply to join Home Safe

Reported to the Local
Authority (LA).

Not reported.

• If application approved (criteria preagreed with the LA) landlord joins.
• Usually one-off up-front licence fee
• Membership T&Cs apply which
charged, pro-rata if necessary.
include licence conditions.
• Fee covers licence issue and
• Subscription fees apply.
compliance
LA refersmonitoring.
it to Home Safe
Found on Home Safe
• Home Safe confirms to LA.
(could still enforce
annual inspection or
•
immediately if so chooses).
through a referral.
LA issues all licences irrespective of route taken.

• LA monitors compliance.

Complaint received:
• Dealt with as per current policy.

These
steps will
take no
more time
than the
LA would
take to
resolve or
start legal
action

Home Safe contacts their
scheme member (licenceholder), usually within 24
hours.

The Home Safe scheme
member (licence-holder)
must submit an agreed
action plan within 3 days.

Hazard must be removed
within an agreed and
reasonable timescale.

Scheme member (licenceholder) must confirm
outcome, with
photographic evidence.

• Licence fee less than direct fee as
time taken to process is less.
• Support and advice available.
• Training and development available.
• Property inspections with report
sent immediately to landlord.

Complaint received (either from LA or
elsewhere):
• Issue raised by Home Safe with
landlord/member.
• Report back to LA with outcome.
Home
• LA enforcement may result.
Safe’s
• All timescales pre-agreed with LA.
added
value
Termination of membership (for
whatever reason):
• Licence lapses.
• Landlord must apply direct to LA for
new licence paying pro-rata fee.
• Any fees paid to Home Safe are nonrefundable.
• Preferable to be a licence condition.

Home Safe confirms to LA
and provides evidence. If
320
not confirmed
LAUsing
canevidence
take to shape better services
Measurement Evaluation
Learning:
enforcement action.

26

Appendix 3 – Delivery Partner criteria

Any company wishing to be a Delivery Partner will need to apply to the Council’s Regulation and
Enforcement Team (or equivalent).
The application will need to satisfy the following criteria:
•
Submit application pack stating suitability and proposals for approval and inspection-based
compliance monitoring of scheme members.
•
Provide details of all persons that are proposed to work on the scheme.
•
Provide details of any privately rented property interests (ownership and management) within
the designated area of all persons proposed to be working on the scheme, including that of
immediate family members.
•
Min. 2-year proven track record in property management within the Private Rented Sector as
these proposals relate only to the PRS.
•
Minimum 2-year proven track record in the delivery of similar schemes with other Local
Authorities.
•
Provide details of arrangements for Data Protection and obtaining a Data protection licence.
•
Demonstrate resource levels to support the scheme.
•
Deliverable online with a support mechanism for scheme members and Local Authority.
•
Demonstrate ability to meet required workflow set by the Council’s Regulation and Enforcement
Teams.
•
Ability to deliver supporting information in a multi lingual format as required.
•
Evidence of suitable insurance to indemnify the Council.
•
Completion of Declaration of Interest form (Council template).
•
Provide at least 2 professional business references.
•
Sign a Delivery Contract with the Council.
On receipt of the application the following initial checks will be made:
•
DBS check (highest level as may involve working with vulnerable people) for all working on the
scheme.
•
Fit and Proper Person Check for all working on the scheme which would include; finance
check/company history, Enforcement history (Council against the applicant), Potentially Violent
Persons (or equivalent) register check, Housing Benefit/Council Tax fraud check, etc.
•
If appropriate a company viability check.
•
Due diligence check.
•
Attendance for interview.
•
Confirmation that the Delivery Partner will not be approving themselves as a licence holder.
The above vetting process needs to confirm suitability, in terms of sector knowledge, experience,
skills and attitude and that the scheme objectives can be met. Any applicant successfully completing
the above steps would be invited to attend an interview. The interview will require the applicant to
present how they will ensure the aims and objectives of Selective Licensing will be met. This must be
inspection based with at least annual inspections (or otherwise agreed with the Local Authority).
Upon completion of the above application the Head of Service for Regulation and Enforcement and
portfolio holder for Enforcement (or equivalents) will authorise and confirm the decision. Once a
delivery partner has been approved, they will need to sign a Delivery Contract with the Local
Authority. To ensure a consistent approach to delivery, whilst maintaining standards, only one
delivery partner per designation will be chosen.

321
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

27

National Residential Landlords Association response January 2021

Introduction
The National Residential Landlords Association (NRLA) exists to protect and promote the
interests of private residential landlords.
The NRLA would like to thank Southend Council for the opportunity to respond to the
consultation. We are happy to discuss any comments that we have made and develop any of
the issues with the local authority.
The NRLA seek a fair legislative and regulatory environment for the private rented sector,
while aiming to ensure that landlords are aware of their statutory rights and responsibilities.
Summary
The NRLA believes that local authorities need a healthy private rented sector to compliment
the other housing in an area. This provides a variety of housing types and can be flexible
around meeting the needs of both the residents that live and want to live in the area and the
landlords in the area.
The sector is regulated, and enforcement is an important part of maintaining the sector from
criminals who exploit landlords and tenants. An active enforcement policy that supports good
landlords is important as it will remove those that exploit others, and create a level playing
field. It is only through an effective enforcement policy that a licensing scheme will be
successful.
If a scheme that is proposed were to go ahead, it is important if the council could publish the
full results, annually. The number of landlords prosecuted; enforcement notices served etc
per year against the inspections would give confidence to the sector that the council is taking
this seriously.
It is important to understand how the sector operates as landlords who are often victims of
criminal activity with their properties being exploited.
Having considered the evidence presented, as well knowing the area very well and having
undertaken our own evaluation of the circumstances faced by landlords, tenants and
residents of Southend, a number of questions are raised:
•

•

•
•

In following Hemmings and the Gaskin court cases, the fee is split which we welcome, and is
assigned to the individual who makes the application. It cannot be used to support another
landlord. Having worked on the Gaskin case, it is clear that the monies paid by a landlord
clearly now coming under the service directive. Can the council guarantee part B monies paid
by a landlord are apportioned to the individual landlord and works done in connection to the
license?
The documentation provided fails to indicate what additional funding will be available to
support the introduction of licensing. This is a concern around issues identified and how
adult social care and children’s services will be involved as many tenants have mental health,
alcohol, or drug related illnesses. How do landlords’ access this for their tenants especially
around ASB?
The council fails to say how it will prevent malicious claims of poor housing being made,
which could result in tenants losing their tenancies. More than one inspection will be
required. This will be especially true with mixed communities living in the area.
The council should outline how the proposal will tackle rent-to-rent and subletting, or even
Airbnb. These are all increasing in the county. Support for landlords is required, and we
322
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

28

would hope the council will support the private rented sector where problems arise.
Clarification on these points will create confidence in any scheme that is delivered, along with
the set aims by the local authority.
The NRLA will judge the scheme against the criteria that the council is proposing the
scheme, a drop in ASB. We are not opposing the schemes nor are we supporting it either, as
we need to understand how the local authority is going to deliver against what it is proposing.
We believe that any regulation of the private rented sector must be balanced. Additional
regulatory burdens should focus on increasing the professionalism of landlords, improving
the quality of private rented stock and driving out the criminals who act as landlords and
blight the sector. These should be the shared objectives of all the parties involved, to
facilitate the best possible outcomes for landlords and tenants alike. Good practice should be
recognised and encouraged, in addition to the required focus on enforcement activity.
The landlord is to manage the tenancy not the occupants. The law is clear, landlords do not
manage their tenants; they manage a tenancy agreement. If a tenant is non cooperative or
causing a nuisance a landlord can end the tenancy, they do not manage the individual. I
hope the council will make it clear in the report that they will support the landlord in the
ending of the tenancy and support an eviction if an allegation of ASB is made, especially
under the Renters Reform Bill proposals.
Consultation
Licensing is a powerful tool. If used correctly by Southend Council, it could resolve specific
issues, as has been demonstrated. We have historically supported/worked with many local
authorities in the introduction of licensing schemes (additional and selective) that benefit
landlords, tenants and the community.
Many of our members are disappointed that the council has decided to run the consultation
for the minimum period during a global pandemic. Although we welcome the use of MEL
Research which shows the local authority is following a process that is open and transparent.
Costs
While any additional costs levied on the private rented sector runs the risk of these being
passed through to the tenants. We welcome the local authority has looked at a cost in a
weekly/monthly basis, with a delivery partner. This is supportive of landlords and will help
with the cash flow of many members. The introduction of licensing post Covid 19 will have an
impact on cash flow for many landlords, and tenants, monthly payments will help in this.
A joined-up coordinated approach within the council will be required. Additional costs in
relation to adult social care along with children’s services and housing will be incurred if the
council’s goal is to be achieved. How will landlords feed into the system if they suspect a
tenant is at risk? What support will be put in place so a landlord can support a tenancy where
a tenant has mental health, alcohol, drug issues or they have problems and need support.
The NRLA works with many local authorities on this. The NRLA would be keen to work with
Southend council in the development of best practice that works in other local authorities e.g.
Leeds, Brighton.
Criminal Activity
In addition, the proposal does not take into account rent-to-rent or those who exploit people
(both tenants and landlords). Criminals will always play the system. For instance, there is no
provision for landlords who have legally rented out a property that has later been illegally
323
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

29

sublet, as you are removing inspections which were successful. This is especially true with
properties that have been converted into small HMO’s, the landlord does rent the property as
an HMO, but it is sublet illegally as an HMO. The license holder can end the tenancy (of the
superior tenant, the sub tenants have no legal redress) and support from the local authority
in a criminal prosecution would be helpful in this situation. But what is the process for
landlords, it would help if the council could document how this would work before a scheme
was implemented. Often, landlords are victims, just as much as tenants. What support will
the council provide for landlords to whom this has happened? Will the council support an
accelerated possession order, when the local authority identifies ASB?
The issue of overcrowding is difficult for a landlord to manage if it is the tenant that has
overfilled the property. A landlord will tell a tenant how many people are permitted to live in
the property, and that the tenant is not to sublet it or allow additional people to live there.
Beyond that, how is the landlord to manage this matter without interfering with the tenant’s
welfare? Equally, how will the council assist landlords when this problem arises? It is
impractical for landlords to monitor the everyday activities or sleeping arrangements of
tenants. Where overcrowding does take place, the people involved know what they are doing
and that they are criminals, not landlords. The decision to have three inspections will deter
some criminals and the delivery of this will show the council is taking the maters seriously.
Tenant behaviour
Landlords are usually not experienced in the management of the behaviour of tenants, and
they do not expect to. The contractual arrangement is over the renting of a property, not a
social contract. They do not and should not resolve tenants’ mental health issues or drug
and alcohol dependency. If there are allegations about a tenant causing problems (e.g.,
nuisance) and a landlord ends the tenancy, the landlord will have dispatched their obligations
under the selective licensing scheme, even if the tenant has any of the above issues.
This moves the problems around Southend, but does not actually help the tenant, who could
become lost in the system, or worst moved towards the criminal landlords. They will also
blight another resident’s life. There is no obligation within selective licensing for the landlord
to resolve an allegation of behaviour. Rather, a landlord has a tenancy agreement with a
tenant, and this is the only thing that the landlord can legally enforce.
We would like clarification on the council’s policy in relation to helping a landlord when a
section 21 notice (Renters Reform Bill was proposed in the Queens speech) is served? If the
property is overcrowded or the tenant is causing antisocial behaviour, as per what the council
says in the consultation. What steps will the council take to support the landlord? It would be
useful if the council were to put in place a guidance document before the introduction of the
scheme, to outline its position regarding helping landlords to remove tenants who are
manifesting antisocial behaviour. This could then be given to tenants at the start of a tenancy
so they are aware of the process. We are willing to work with Southend council in the
development of this.
Energy
The government have consulted on moving the energy performance of buildings to an EPC
C from 2025, this will be a significant step in a short space of time. This will have a large
impact on the housing sector, with many struggling to get to this point. We would like to see a
strategy from the council building on selective licensing approach to energy efficiency such
as in Great Yarmouth. The inspections should also take into account the energy performance
of the buildings and look to use LAD funding to deliver community improvements.
Changes to section 21
324
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

30

We also have concerns over how a scheme will interact with the current government
consultation on Section 21, the Renters Reform Bill. The change to how tenancies will end
and a move to a more adversarial system, will mean landlords will become more risk adverse
to take tenants that do not have a perfect reference and history. As already indicated, we
would be willing to work with the council and develop a dispute resolution service which we
have with other local authorities.
Tenancy Management
We would also like to see the council develop a strategy that includes action against any
tenants who are persistent offenders. These measures represent a targeted approach to
specific issues, rather than a blanket licensing scheme that would adversely affect all
professional landlords and tenants alike, while leaving criminals able to operate covertly.
Many of the problems are caused by mental health or drink and drug issues. Landlords
cannot resolve these issues and will require additional resources from the council, these
should be outlined before a scheme starts and how a landlord can access them.
Often when tenants are nearing the end of their contract/tenancy and are in the process of
moving out, they will dispose of excess household waste by a variety of methods. These
include putting waste out on the street for the council to collect. This is in hope of getting
there deposit back, this is made worse when the council does not allow landlords access to
municipal waste collection points. Local authorities with a large number of private rented
sector properties need to consider a strategy for the collection of excess waste at the end of
tenancies. We would be willing to work with the council to help develop such a strategy. An
example is the Leeds Rental Standard, which works with landlords and landlord associations
to resolve issues while staying in the framework of a local authority.
Current law
The findings from the Gaskin case, shows that just as part A of a license is person specific
so is part B. Equally you cannot use the income for cross support, but it has to be focused on
the individual who has paid it. Thus, clarity from the council on how the money is going to be
spent where, would give confidence to landlords that the council is supporting landlords in
tackling anti-social behaviour. The use of delivery partner would support this clarity.
With a landlord currently has to comply with over 130 pieces of legislation, and the laws with
which the private rented sector must comply can be easily misunderstood. A landlord is
expected to give the tenant a ‘quiet enjoyment’ of the property. Failure to do so could result
in a harassment case being brought against the landlord. The law within which landlords
must operate is not always fully compatible with the aims of the council. For example, a
landlord keeping a video record of a tenant could be interpreted as harassment.

325
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

31

Property and Commercial Enterprises (PACE) Ltd response Mon 23/11/2020 11:40
Hello

Martin is currently on furlough and we do not have the resources at the moment to participate in
this. Please tell the council that letting agents and landlords have got quite enough of their plate
with the pandemic, the cladding scandal, evictions being banned and the other changes to electrical
safety and energy performance that have all happened in one year. How they expect us to devote
time to this, and landlords to spend even more money, I cannot get my head round.

We are seeing a continuing mass exodus of private landlords due to the unceasing increasing burden
in regulation and costs. I hope the council have a plan for that. Perhaps they could pick on another
industry for a while and give landlords and agents a chance to recover.

Crystal Horwood, MARLA, MNAEA
Chief Executive
Property and Commercial Enterprises (PACE) Ltd

326
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

32

SOUTHEND COUNCIL’S SELECTIVE LICENSING PROPOSALS

A RESPONSE TO THE CONSULTATION FROM SAFEAGENT - JANUARY 2021

INTRODUCTION

safeagent www.safeagents.co.uk is an accreditation scheme for lettings and management
agents operating in the Private Rented Sector (PRS) safeagent firms are required to:

•
•
•
•

deliver defined standards of customer service
operate within strict client accounting standards
maintain a separate client bank account
be included under a Client Money Protection Scheme

Firms must provide evidence that they continue to meet safeagent criteria on an annual basis,
in order to retain their licence. The scheme operates UK wide and has 1500 firms with over
2500 offices.

safeagent is an accredited training provider under the Rent Smart Wales scheme and meets
the requirements for training for agents under the Scottish Government Register. Recently,
we have been approved by Government as an approved Client Money Protection scheme.
IMPACT OF CORONAVIRUS (COVID 19)
safeagent is currently calling for new property licensing schemes in the Private Rented
Sector (PRS) to be placed on hold, to free up resources in the wake of the Coronavirus
crisis.
safeagent says licensing schemes not already in force should be delayed now and reviewed
again in due course This approach is two-fold; to ensure focus on maintaining core services
through what lies ahead and to discourage non-essential property inspections that could add
to community spread of the virus.
safeagent has requested:
327
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

33

•
•
•
•

the Secretary of State to impose a moratorium on approving any new licensing schemes
Local Authorities to impose a moratorium on making any new additional and/or selective
licensing scheme designations
any scheme designations made, but not yet in force, to be withdrawn
any proposed licensing consultations not already underway to be delayed for a similar
period of time.

This is because the lettings industry, and the millions of tenants reliant upon it, remains under
immense pressure. In this context, now is not the right time to implement new property
licensing schemes that will necessitate thousands of extra property inspections. We are not
anti-licensing but at this time would prioritise urgent measures in response to Coronavirus. It
seems likely that the limited resources in local government, and the expertise offered by
Environmental Health Officers, will need to be re-focussed on maintaining key public services
to support the wider public health agenda. It is important that the lettings industry, central and
local government work in close collaboration to tackle the challenges.

We are mindful of the guidance published by the government at Guidance for local authorities
- GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). At paragraph 8.2 of the Q&A, this states that:
“Where local authorities are in the process of introducing selective or additional Houses in
Multiple Occupation licensing schemes, but these are not yet in force they should:
•
•

continue to take a pragmatic approach and continue/commence work on licensing
having regard to local circumstances
…be prepared to pause the process completely where it is not safe and
reasonable to continue or if it will conflict with latest government advice regarding
the COVID-19 outbreak”

There is further relevant guidance at paragraph 2.26 of the document Guidance for landlords
and tenants - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

As of May 2020, agents have been able to re-open. We know that, as long as they can work
safely, agents are keen to get back to work. During the November 2020 lockdown:

•

Renters & homeowners have been able to move

•

Removal firms and estate and lettings agents have been operating

•

Viewings and valuations of residential properties to buy and rent have continued

•

Tradespeople have been able to enter homes.

328
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

34

However, this has not been a return to business as usual and has required agents to adapt
processes, to ensure that Government COVID-19 guidelines are followed whilst keeping
themselves, their staff and tenants safe. At the time of writing, the impact the return to another
national lockdown, remains unclear. As a result, we remain of the view that this is the wrong
time to divert efforts towards licensing.
Notwithstanding the above, we are pleased to be able submit a detailed response to your
licensing proposals. This is set out below.
SAFEAGENT AND LICENSING
safeagent is supportive of initiatives such as Selective Licensing, providing they are
implemented in a way that takes account of the Private Rented Sector (PRS)’s own efforts to
promote high standards.
safeagent believes that positive engagement with voluntary schemes and the representative
bodies of landlords and agents (such as safeagent) is essential to the success of initiatives
such as Selective and Additional Licensing. We are mindful that the operational problems
associated with lack of such engagement have been highlighted in House of Commons
Standard Note SN/SP 4634 https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cm
The same note sets out how important it is for licensing schemes to avoid being
burdensome. We believe that promoting voluntary schemes, and offering discounted licence
fees to accredited landlords and agents, can help to achieve this. Voluntary schemes often
require members to observe standards that are at least compatible with (and are often over
and above) those of licensing schemes. We believe, therefore, that if Southend Council
were to allow discounts based on membership of safeagent (as well as other similar bodies)
implementing and policing the licensing scheme would ultimately be less costly and more
effective, allowing resources to be concentrated in the areas where they are most needed.
This is a commonly accepted approach by many English Local Authorities. We would further
point out that, in Wales, the Welsh Government has recently recognised the importance of
membership of specified bodies such as safeagent and is offering discounted fees to
members as a consequence https://www.rentsmart.gov.wales/en/
PROMOTING PROFESSIONALISM IN THE PRS - THE ROLE OF AGENTS
safeagent’s engagement around the country, with various local authorities, suggests that
lettings and management agents have a key role to play in making licensing, accreditation
and other, voluntary regulatory schemes work effectively. Agents tend to handle relatively
large portfolios of properties, certainly when compared to small landlords. They tend,
therefore, to be in a position to gain an understanding of licensing based on wider
experience. They become expert in trouble shooting and ensuring that the balance of
responsibilities between the agent and the landlord is clearly understood. This, amongst
other things, can help to prevent non-compliance due to misunderstandings about local
licensing arrangements.
safeagent ensures its members maintain certain operational standards, have Client Money
Protection arrangements in place, keep separate client accounts and comply with their legal
obligation to be a member of a redress scheme. We also provide training. All this can be of
assistance to councils who are trying to drive up standards in the PRS.

329
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

35

Although agents are now required to belong to a government approved redress scheme,
display their fees and publish their mandatory client money protection status, our experience
to date suggests local authorities face challenges in enforcing these standards. Membership
of bodies such as safeagent can reduce the need for the local authority to use its formal, legal
powers in these areas.
Furthermore, safeagent firms have a key role to play in helping to avoid the occurrence
of widespread evictions, following the expiry of the COVID-19 eviction ban. Lettings and
management agents are uniquely placed to offer mediation and negotiation between tenants
and landlords.

In a survey of safeagent firms across England, agents were asked about the proportion of
landlords who have been sympathetic and willing to help tenants affected by COVID-19, by
offering rent reductions or payment plans. 47% of firms said 75-100% of their landlords were
willing to help, showing a high level of support for tenants to allow them to stay in their homes.
Agents can provide the important service of setting up payment plans, as well as collating and
holding the confidential evidence needed at all stages of the process.

SOUTHEND COUNCIL’S PROPOSALS - SPECIFIC ISSUES
Partnership Working with Lettings and Management Agents
We would urge Southend Council to work closely with accredited lettings & management
agents to ensure that the regulatory effort associated with the licensing schemes is focussed
on the greatest risks. The highest priority should be tackling rogue landlords and agents, not
policing the compliant.
Many rogue landlords and unaccredited agents operate “under the radar”. Resources should,
therefore, be directed towards these serious cases. There is danger that too much time will
be spent on those properties and landlords where an existing, reputable agent is best placed
to ensure compliance with license conditions.
We would urge the council to fully recognise the compliance work reputable agents carry out
as part of their day to day work. We would also suggest that the Council work closely with
accredited agents to proactively seek out and identify unlicensed properties.
Selective Licensing Fee
A fee of £668 seems unreasonably high. Furthermore, there appear to be no discounts
available for members of recognised accreditation bodies such as safeagent. We would
request, therefore, that Southend Council list safeagent as a recognised accreditation body,
and offer a fee discount to:
•

Agents who are members of safeagent (where the agent is the licence holder)

•

Landlords who engage agents that are members of safeagent (where the landlord is the
licence holder)

We would suggest that this is justified because safeagent members and the landlords who
engage them are less likely to be non-compliant and that, as a result, there would be reduced
costs to the council. We would also suggest that safeagent membership mitigates the need
330
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

36

for compliance visits to be carried out by the council. For example, the timing and content of
inspections could be risk based, recognising that the risk of non-compliance is much lower in
the case of properties managed by safeagent agents.

To sum up, the council will have fewer concerns about the management, use, condition or
occupation of the property where a safeagent member is managing it.

Fee Waiver – Tackling Homelessness
We are pleased that, in promoting prevention of homelessness, the “council recognises that
a good quality and well managed private sector can provide a viable, alternative housing
offer”
We note that “the Council’s Housing Solutions team engages with landlords on a regular
basis and offers a range of potential interventions to either prevent or relieve homelessness.
These include the use of Rent Deposit Scheme and/or the use of financial initiatives such as
Discretionary Housing Payments, landlord financial incentives to secure homes in the private
rented sector”. We are supportive of these measures.
In light of this, as a further incentive, we would suggest that, in cases where a private
landlord is assisting the Council to achieve the aims set out in its Homelessness & Rough
Sleeping Strategy, by offering permanent accommodation to fulfil homelessness duties,
license applications should be accepted without any fee being payable.
Furthermore, this approach could become more structured if the council were to enter into
partnership arrangements whereby lettings agents source properties for council referrals of
homeless people or those at risk of homelessness. safeagent is currently working on a
model whereby a “Social Lettings Agency” is created through links to one or more
established local agents. This is an alternative to the traditional approach whereby entirely
new voluntary sector entities need to be set up. We would be happy to discuss this model
with the council at any time.

Licensing Period and Changes in License Holder
We note that “a licence would be valid for five years (up to the expiry of the scheme)” We
also note that “ there are no refunds for licences that are created part way through the 5-year
term before the scheme ends”
We are concerned that this means that any “new” licence holder applying part way through
the designation period would be required to pay the full fee. This is unfair and makes
licenses granted later in the designated period poor value for money. In these cases, we
believe the fee should be charged “pro-rata”.
This issue is highlighted in the government report “An Independent Review of the Use and
Effectiveness of Selective Licensing” (MHCLG 2019)

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/833217/Selective_Licensing_Review_2019.pdf
331
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

37

This report describes how “Most licence fees do not take any account of the remaining
time of the licensing designation. This can lead to landlords being required to pay the full
cost five-year of licensing even if there is only a short time remaining before the designation
expires (with no option to “carry over” where re-designation is intended). This negatively
impacts on relationships with landlords, who perceive this as manifestly unfair. This issue
can be partially mitigated by making the enforcement portion of the licence fee
payable on a pro-rata basis”
Charging of full fees for part periods is also anti-competitive, as it can add cost to the process
of engaging or changing a license holding managing agent. Specifically, we often see cases
where a reputable agent has to take on management of the property and the license, when
there has been a history of management and/or compliance problems. We would suggest
that, in cases where an agent has to step in as licence holder/manager, where problems
have been identified during the designated period, the licensing fee should again be charged
“pro rata”.
Proposed Licensing Area
We welcome the targeted nature of the licensing proposals.
LICENCE CONDITIONS
In our detailed comments below, we point out some of the areas where compliance with key
standards is an inherent part of the safeagent scheme. These are the areas where we think
promotion of safeagent membership through license fee discounts could ultimately save the
Council money, as well as increase the take up of voluntary accreditation.
Tenant Referencing
We are supportive of the requirement to obtain references for prospective tenants.
safeagent is actively involved in promoting good practice in tenant referencing. We would be
happy to discuss our work in this area with the Council.
Tenancy Management
safeagent agents are expected provide and fill in a tenancy agreement on behalf of the
landlord. they will always make sure the terms of the tenancy are fair and help the tenant to
understand the agreement.
They will always provide clear information to the tenant about any pre-tenancy payments and
what these cover. They will explain any requirement for a guarantor and what the guarantor
role entails.
At the end of a tenancy, they will always serve the tenant with the correct period of notice as
set out in the tenancy agreement.
Under safeagent’s service standards, agents are required to take a deposit to protect
against possible damage. They are required to explain the basis on which the deposit is
being held and the purpose for which it is required, as well as to confirm the deposit
protection arrangements. When joining safeagent, agents are asked to provide details of the
number and value of the deposits they have registered with the scheme.
332
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

38

Agents are asked to authorise safeagent to contact the scheme to verify this information.
During the course of a tenancy, safeagent agents will check the condition of the property
and draw up a schedule to outline any deductions to be made from the tenant’s deposit.
They will return the deposit in line with timescales and processes required by the statutory
tenancy deposit schemes.
safeagent agents are also required to:
•
•
•

have a designated client account with the bank
operate to strictly defined Accounting Standards
be part of a mandatory Client Money Protection Scheme.

These requirements provide additional security for client monies held, over and above the
requirements of the Southend licensing scheme. Again, this is an area where increased
safeagent membership would be of benefit to the Council and local tenants.
Licence Conditions Relating to the Property
We welcome Southend Council’s drive to improve property standards. We believe that
safeagent’s standards go a long way to ensuring compliance with license conditions.
Under safeagent’s service standards, safeagent agents are expected to visit any property to
be let with the landlord and advise on any action needed before letting the property. This
includes any repairs and refurbishments needed to put it into a fit state for letting. They will
also go with possible new tenants to view unoccupied property. Tenants can, therefore, be
confident that safeagent agents have provided advice to the landlord concerning any repairs
or refurbishments which are necessary.
safeagent agents are expected to explain both the landlord’s and the tenant’s the rights and
responsibilities. To guard against misunderstandings, they will arrange for the preparation of
a schedule of the condition of the property.
safeagent agents are required to ensure that tenants are provided with copies of safety
certificates on gas and electrical appliances before they commit to the tenancy. They will
provide details of the condition of the property, plus a list of its contents. The property will
have undergone all required safety checks on furnishings, and gas and electrical services.
Thereafter, safeagent’s standards require agents to carry out property inspections
periodically, as agreed with the landlord, in line with normal good practice. safeagent and
our firms would anticipate inspections to be carried out every 6 months as a minimum, to
identify any problems relating to the condition and management of the property. In line with
common practice, records of such inspections would contain a log of who carried out the
inspection, the date and time of inspection and issues found and action(s) taken. Under a
licensing scheme, this information could be shared with the council in an appropriate format.
Tenants will be fully aware of access arrangements. safeagent agents are expected to
arrange in advance a time for access, in order to inspect the condition of the property in
accordance with the tenancy agreement. safeagent agents will arrange to have routine
maintenance work carried out, up to a limit agreed with the landlord. The agent will refer
expenditure above that limit to the landlord.
Training
333
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

39

We would welcome any proposal that agents who are license holders should undergo
training. We would ask that Southend council list safeagent as an “equivalent recognised
landlord accreditation body”.
Membership of safeagent means that agents already have access to an extensive training
package, engagement with which should reduce the need for the local authority to intervene.
Although not a condition of safeagent membership, safeagent offers accreditation through
an online foundation course as well as qualifications such as BTEC Level 3 in Lettings and
Management practice.
safeagent offers training to those who have been involved in lettings and management for
some time as well as those who are just starting out. Training is available for principals of firms
as well as employees. Thus, safeagent’s Virtual Learning Environment (VLE) is designed to
cater for a wide range of professional development needs. Training is easily accessible and
can be undertaken when it suits the trainee. Any candidate completing the safeagent
Foundation Lettings Course successfully also has the opportunity to use the designation
'safeagent qualified'. safeagent Foundation Lettings Course (Wales) is also approved
training recognised by Rent Smart Wales, the Welsh Government’s regulatory body as meeting
the requirements for agents to have complying with their licensing requirement.

One advantage of this approach is that it makes it easy to ascertain (through on-line
monitoring) that participants have in fact undertaken the required training, prior to or
immediately after accreditation. Modules available cover:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Pre-tenancy issues
Responsibilities and liabilities
Setting up a tenancy
During a tenancy
Ending a tenancy
General law concepts, statute vs contract
Relationships
Obligations
Process
Considerations for corporate tenants
Continuing Professional Development (CPD)

In addition, safeagent provides mini online courses designed to cover a number of elements
in more detail, as appropriate to the learner's role, include topics such as:

Assured Shorthold Tenancies (ASTs)
Client Money
Consumer Protection Regulations (CPRs)
Deposits
Disrepair
Electrical Appliances & Safety
Gas Appliances & Safety

334
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

40

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
Housing, Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS)
Inventories and schedules of condition
Joint Tenancies
Notice Requiring Possession

We would further suggest that discounted fees for safeagent firms would provide an
incentive to positive engagement with training that is fully compatible with the requirements
of the licensing scheme.
Anti-Social Behaviour
For our members, dealing with actual and perceived anti-social behaviour in the PRS is a day
to day activity. However, in general, we have concerns about the assumed link between the
amount of PRS accommodation in the neighbourhood and the incidence of ASB.
There may be some correlation between incidences of ASB and the prevalence of PRS
accommodation on the area. However, correlation does not equate to causation. The causes
of ASB are many and varied. It is not, in our view, reasonable to expect agents and landlords
to play a disproportionately large part in tackling them.
Furthermore, we would strongly advise against any proposals which imply a parity of approach
between the PRS and the social rented sector. Social landlords are publicly funded (and
regulated) to develop and manage housing on a large scale. Their social purpose brings with
it wider responsibilities for the communities in which they work. As private businesses, PRS
landlords and their agents, whilst having clear responsibilities to manage their properties
professionally, cannot reasonably be expected to tackle wider social problems.
Fit and Proper Person Test - Suitability of Licence Holder
All principals, partners and directors of a safeagent firm are asked to make the following
declaration on application:

– “I confirm that: for a period of 10 years prior to this application I have had no conviction for
any criminal offence (excluding any motor offence not resulting in a custodial sentence) nor
have I been guilty of conduct which would bring the Scheme or myself into disrepute; I am
not an undischarged bankrupt nor is there any current arrangement or composition with my
creditors; I am not nor have I been a director of a company which has within the period of 10
years prior to this application entered into liquidation whether compulsory or voluntary (save
for the purpose of amalgamation or reconstruction of a solvent company) nor had a receiver
appointed of its undertaking nor had an administration order made against it nor entered into
an arrangement or composition with its creditors; nor have I at any time been disqualified
from acting as a Director of a company nor subject to a warning or banning order from the
Consumer Markets Authority or the Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory
Reform.
If I am subject to any current claim or am aware of any impending claim for professional
negligence or loss of money or if I have been the subject of any investigation by the
Consumer Markets Authority and/or local Trading Standards Office, full details of the
335
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

41

circumstances are set out in a report enclosed with the application; all information provided
by me in connection with this application is, to the best of my knowledge, correct”

We believe this certification is broadly in line with Southend council’s licensing conditions
and is another example of where promotion of safeagent membership through discounts
could help to ensure compliance.
Complaints
All safeagent firms are required to have a written customer complaints procedure, available
on request. Our guidance sets out how the first step for complainants is to ask the firm they
are dealing with for a copy, which will outline the method by which they can seek to resolve
any issues.
In line with statutory requirements, all safeagent members must also be members of a recognised
redress scheme. Firms are required, at the request of the complainant, to refer the complaint to

a redress scheme once their in-house procedure has been exhausted. They are also
required to comply with any award determined by the redress scheme, within the timescale
prescribed.
Under co-regulation schemes elsewhere in the UK, safeagent has undertaken to review any
complaints that have been adjudicated upon by any of the redress schemes. Under such an
arrangement, safeagent can report to the Council on the number of complaints reaching this
stage and on the adjudications made. Non-compliance with a redress scheme’s adjudication
would eventually lead to disqualification of the agent from safeagent. We would be happy to
come to a similar arrangement with Southend.
MEASURING THE SUCCESS OF THE SCHEME
We believe that regular information on implementation of the scheme should be made
available in a clear and consistent format. Reports to local landlord and agent forums,
representative bodies and other stakeholders should include at minimum:
•

The estimated number of private rented properties that require licensing under the
selective or additional licensing scheme

•

The number of applications received in respect of these properties

•

Progress in processing (granting, querying or refusing) the licence applications received

•

Analysis of the reasons for any queries or refusals and the extent to which remedial
action is identified and taken as a result

•

Analysis of the outcomes of ongoing inspections and the extent to which remedial action
is identified and taken as a result

•

Progress reports across the whole 5 year period covered by the scheme.

336
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

42

This should help to enable the Council to work in partnership with landlords, agents,
representative bodies and other stakeholders to ensure the success of the scheme.

CONCLUSION
It seems to us that many of the licencing requirements in the Southend scheme highlight how
important it is for landlords to work with reputable agents such as safeagent members.
Offering a discount to licence holders who work with a safeagent accredited agent would
help to promote this.
safeagent would welcome a collaborative approach with Southend Council, based on
shared objectives. We believe that agents who are members of a recognised body are more
likely to embrace Selective and Additional Licensing and less likely to generate complaints or
breaches of their licence. Discounted fees for safeagent members would be a significant
incentive to positive engagement by agents. In return, the Council would experience reduced
administration and compliance costs.

CONTACT DETAILS

safeagent
Cheltenham Office Park
Hatherley Lane
Cheltenham
GL51 6SH
Tel: 01242 581712 Email: info@safeagentcheme.co.uk

337
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

43

APPENDIX 1 – COMPATIBILITY OF SAFEAGENT SERVICE STANDARDS WITH
TYPICAL SCHEME CONDITIONS

Example Scheme
Conditions

SAFEAGENT Service Standard Requirements

Fees

SAFEAGENT promotes complete transparency in agency
fees. Members provide landlords with a statement of
account as often as agreed.

Rent Liabilities and
Payments

SAFEAGENT agents collect the rent and pass it on every
month or as otherwise agreed. The agent will keep a
separate clients' account to hold all monies.

Contact Details

SAFEAGENT agents are expected to respond to tenant
and other legitimate enquiries in a timely manner. Up to
date contact details will enable them to respond to
tenants’ requests for maintenance or repairs which might
in some cases have to be referred to the landlord for
approval.

State of Repair

SAFEAGENT agents visit the property with landlords and
advise on any action needed before letting the property.
This includes any repairs and refurbishments needed to
put it into a fit state for letting. They will also go with
possible new tenants to view unoccupied property.
Tenants can be confident that SAFEAGENT agents have
provided advice to the landlord concerning any repairs or
refurbishments which are necessary.

Access and Possession
arrangements

SAFEAGENT agents will visit the property periodically
during the course of the tenancy as often as agreed with
the landlord. Tenants will be fully aware of access
arrangements. At the end of a tenancy, they will always
serve the tenant with the correct period of notice as set
out in the tenancy agreement.

338
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

44

Example Scheme
Conditions

SAFEAGENT Service Standard Requirements

Repairs and Maintenance

SAFEAGENT agents will arrange to have routine
maintenance work carried out, up to a limit agreed with
the landlord. The agent will refer expenditure above that
limit to the landlord.

Access, Cleaning and
Maintenance of Common
Parts

SAFEAGENT agents will arrange in advance a time for
access to the property in order to inspect the condition of
the property in accordance with the tenancy agreement.

Level of Facilities

SAFEAGENT agents ensure that tenants are provided
with copies of safety certificates on gas and electrical
appliances before you commit to the tenancy. They
provide details of the condition of the property, plus a list
of its contents. The property will have undergone all
required safety checks on furnishings, and gas and
electrical services.

Deposits

SAFEAGENT agents provide and fill in a tenancy
agreement and take a deposit to protect against possible
damage. They will explain the basis on which it is being
held and the purpose for which it is required

References

SAFEAGENT agents choose a tenant in a way agreed
with the landlord, taking up references or checking the
tenant's rent payment record.

Complaints & Dispute
Handling

SAFEAGENT agents explain both the landlord’s and the
tenant’s the rights and responsibilities. To guard against

339
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

45

Example Scheme
Conditions

SAFEAGENT Service Standard Requirements

misunderstandings, they will arrange for the preparation
of a schedule of the condition of the property.
During the tenancy, they will arrange to check the
condition of the property and draw up a schedule to
outline any deductions to be made from the tenant’s
initial deposit. They will return the deposit as soon as
possible, less any appropriate deductions.

340
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

46

SEAL Response to the closing date of the Consultation on the Proposal for Selective
Licensing
Dear Councillors and Officers,
SEAL (South Essex Alliance of Landlords, Letting Agents and Tenants) represents 20 Agents and 53
Landlords managing over 7,000 properties in the Southend Borough and has consulted with informed
Members and our leading associations, the NRLA (National Residential Landlords Association) and
the ELA (Eastern Landlords Association). We have already, along with the Associations mentioned,
asked for an extension or pause of the closing date of the SL Consultation as we need more time to
form a supporting proposal that will prove strongly successful for our town.
SEAL has begun to build trust with the Council Officers leading the project, and is developing points
of wide agreement, which need researching and consulting with Members and Officers to arrive at a
formal proposal to get the best structure for our town. A structure that will turn the negatives of an
SL scheme into positives. Please see the attached flyer sent out to Residents of some of the
proposed SL areas titled ‘Renters face Higher Rents’. These are the points we need to deal with in
order to make any scheme work, and we are researching how this can best be done.
In our most recent Zoom meetings with Larissa Reed we have discussed and generally agreed or
outlined to explore:1.
2.
3.
4.

A revised scheme is needed - AGREED
The scheme needs to be mandatory - AGREED
A priority is an efficient well trained ASB ‘SWAT Team’ to liaise and educate -AGREED
The fees and additional budget mentioned in the proposal need to be transparent on a
monthly/quarterly basis as does the operational structure (who does what) –
AGREED/EXPLORE
5. SEAL should be involved in decision making through regular monthly/bimonthly meetings
and build on the successful connections and operations made previously by SEAL –
AGREED/EXPLORE
6. Explore a SEAL Passport Scheme similar to Stockton-On-Tees PLuSS, whereby SEAL members
are inspected and monitored by SEAL – rewarding good compliant landlords. We need to
explore with the council how this would work and data sharing from SEAL to the Council on
non-compliant landlords, regular auditing of SEAL, administration activities, etc. –
AGREED/EXPLORE
7. Swift contact with Steve Moore, Larissa’s replacement - DONE
8. We need to seek out successful schemes UK wide to learn and incorporate findings –
ALREADY EXPLORING.
As can be seen, we have all come a long way in a few very difficult weeks, and the SEAL Project
Leaders and the Council Officers need a few weeks more to forge an inspiring structure to support
the Council’s Proposal. We all need to ensure that the emerging scheme is as successful as possible
for the town, as soon as possible, and the researching of sound information from across the UK
needs more time in order to provide strong foundations for that success.
Yours Faithfully,
Mandie Adams (Project Coordinator, ELA Representative)
Callum Stevens (Associate Project Coordinator)
Judith Codarin (Secretary)

341
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

47

SEAL Flyer 11/1/21
Renters Face Higher Rents!! Properties Devalued by £30-£50,000!!
Southend on Sea Borough Council has recently opened a Consultation on Selective
Licensing to tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB), poor property conditions, high crime levels
and deprivation. It appears to be stigmatising good tenants, suggesting those living in the
selective licensing areas are solely to blame for anti-social behaviour - not taking into
account that we are a seaside town with many visitors (some of whom engage in littering and
anti social behaviour). The proposed scheme would require landlords to pay for a license fee
costing at least £668 per property for 5 years. However, it is not just landlords who will be
affected by the Selective Licensing scheme, it is also Tenants and Owner Occupiers. You
need to be aware of:-

- RENT INCREASES - other areas in England have seen rent increases when these
schemes came into force. Landlords will need to recover the Selective Licensing fee
and associated compliance costs by passing it on to the tenant.
- HOMELESSNESS INCREASES - Tenants risk losing their homes. Landlords are
already subject to many costs and regulation and Landlord confidence in the rental
sector is Low with a quarter of Landlords in polls intending to sell their properties.
Southend Council acknowledge that homelessness will likely increase due to the
scheme, and their emergency homelessness costs will rise even further.
- PROPERTIES DEVALUED - owner occupiers have their home at risk of being
devalued by £30,000 to £50,000 (quote from local agents) in an area that becomes
stigmatised as being an area of deprivation, crime or ineffective waste managment
(e.g. fly tipping, littering).
- MORTGAGE LENDERS HESITANT TO LEND - at a time when Lenders are
already decreasing the amount of mortgages/loans available, this situation will be
worsened. Either the Lenders will be resistant to lending, with strict criteria, or will not
lend at all.
- STIGMATISING CERTAIN RESIDENTS - Residents in proposed areas face
becoming stigmatised and unfairly blamed for causing anti-social behaviour.
Unusually, the scheme’s focus omits Scoial Housing Tenants and Owner Occupiers,
who could be equally responsible for displaying anti-social behaviour and
littering/flytipping.
- STIGMATISING CERTAIN STREETS - There appears to be a lack of careful
thought given to the list of streets included in the scheme, with some affluent roads
being affected and other roads excluded that have higher levels of anti social
behaviour.
- POWERS TO DEAL - Southend Council have all the powers to deal with their
issues of concern, i.e. Anti Social Behaviour and Waste Management, which
residents already pay for.

342
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

48

- INNEFFECTIVENESS OF THE LICENSING SCHEME ON A STAND ALONE
BASIS - the Ministry of Housing summary declared that the effectiveness of
Selective Licensing can be limited when implemented in isolation. Schemes work
better as an associated pool of initiatives.
SEAL agrees with the aims and objectives of the proposal, and wishes to formulate a
scheme alongside the Council to tackle these issues and improve the streetscene to
benefit our Community.
SEAL facebook page https://www.facebook.com/sealsouthend we look forward to
hearing from you.
You can lobby your Councillor to make sure your views are heard. Contact details
can be found at https://democracy.southend.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx
You have until 11th January 2021 to reply to the Southend Council Consultation on
https://yoursay.southend.gov.uk/selective-licensing-southend. Be aware that the
Questionnaire and the Consultation documents are biased and hence should be
treated as such.
We are fully supported by the Eastern Landlords Association (ELA)
https://www.easternlandlords.org.uk/

343
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

49

Anonymised written responses from individuals
E 10/01/2021 17:46
The Housing Act 2004 and the amendments in 2015 permit local authorities to designate an area for
selective licensing for five years; but must first they must demonstrate the evidence for their
concerns, look at alternative approaches and consult widely.
Indeed the Government’s own 2019 review of licensing projects across the country emphasizes that
“the importance of thorough consultation was stressed by numerous stakeholders”
Consultation - The Act requires local authorities to engage in meaningful consultation with those
likely to be affected by the prospective designation (including landlords, tenants and letting agents). I
would suggest that the consultation exercise Southend Council have engaged in does not meet this
criterion. The fact that no public consultation meetings could take place will have put many at a
disadvantage by excluding those who are not internet savvy. Many (myself included) only heard
about the licensing proposal and that a 3rd Zoom consultation was to take place a few hours before
the event. I was fortunately free and I did take part; however there were not many attendees and I
was ill prepared at such short notice. I didn’t have the opportunity to ask the questions which I would
now be in a position (having done a lot of background research) to do.
Southend and their agent Arc4 by using the 2011 census figures to determine the level of private
rented housing are working with very out of date statistics and the Government review mentions this
fact , “outside of the Census, detailed or reliable information on the privately rented sector at any
local geography is difficult to obtain”. This will have a detrimental impact on the figures used to
substantiate the criteria for “quintile” scoring. If more up to date statistics were to be used it would I
am sure paint a very different picture. It might even upset the figure currently relied upon as
currently being under 20% of the total privately rented stock and also the figure of 19% privately
rented in the area to be designated. More up to date figures might require a referral to The Secretary
of State – perhaps this is why this is being rushed through ahead of the next census which is due in
May – only 2 months after the projected decision date? Use of such old figures seems at least
careless if not perverse or devious.
The 3 areas which are designated as the worst performing are all, unsurprisingly, on the edge of
Southend’s town centre. This is where you will find a high number of pubs and late night
entertainment venues such as discos, the new university and its accommodation, plus the late
opening take away food venues that support a number of these operations. These establishments
are all potential catalysts for higher anti social behaviour and crime levels, which will naturally but
unfairly impact on the statistics used to justify the selection of particular areas for inclusion in the
scheme.
These 3 wards also have a lot of council housing - particularly high rise tower blocks which historically
have serious tenant problems. Indeed I know from personal experience that council workers are not
allowed to enter some of these blocks as a lone worker – they had to attend “double handed” for
staff safety reasons! These tenants and their behaviour are not the responsibility of private landlords
but are the responsibility of the Southend council. Therefore it is highly likely that the statistics for
anti social behaviour are heavily influenced by these occupants on whose behaviour the anticipated
upgrade in standards of private landlord management would have no impact.

344
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

50

In paragraph 2.24 the document claims that” poorly managed properties result in unacceptable
levels of anti social behaviour” but there is no evidence to support this causation. In paragraph 2.26
the document talks about tackling crime and ASB as a key priority for Southend but no link is shown
between those issues and poor property management.
The Government review also indicated that “when implemented in isolation, the effectiveness of
selective licensing is often limited. Schemes appear to be more successful as part of a wider, well
planned, coherent initiative with an associated commitment of resources – a finding entirely
consistent with the aims of the Housing Act.”, and further “The extent to which a scheme is
integrated into wider local strategies appears to play a key role in its effectiveness”
One of my concerns with Southend’s proposal is that although mention is made of engaging with
other services in their documents no examples are provided of how this will work and indeed more
importantly where the additional funding required for what (if the statistics are accurate) will be a
large scale project is to come from. Also many of the additional costs cannot be set directly against
the licence fee (e.g. landlord training, tenant support, and no doubt an increase in workload for the
legal department).
Further the Government review states “it is often the case where there is high crime, deprivation or
ASB, licensing brings to light social problems such as addiction, depression, alcoholism, mental health
issues, unemployment, overcrowding, modern slavery etc. Where there is an increase in the number
of these cases being brought to the authority’s attention, this puts added pressure on the
departments responsible for supporting these individuals. If the departments are not sufficiently
resourced, there is a risk that this support becomes less available, and the underlying social factors
that contribute to the decline of an area are consequently not dealt with appropriately.” Would
Southend be ready and fully able to meet any additional demand on services? Sadly,I suspect not!
As a result of these factors, effective wider regeneration schemes will also require some resourcing
from the general fund to support activities beyond the licensing component, even when the licence
fee covers the costs of administration and enforcement in full .
One of the key concerns and thus reasoning behind the justification (according to the Arc4 data) for a
licensing system in these wards is the age of a large number of the properties and thus a correlation
with poor levels of property condition. However there is no provision in the Housing Act which would
allow the council to include anything in the license conditions to address poor property conditions
and the 2018 Court of Appeal case Brown v Hyndburn BC confirms this. So the council will have to
continue to rely upon the numerous powers that it currently has to deal with this problem.
The Government review also says that “obtaining a designation is a significant undertaking; and
should be a power only engaged after proper consideration of all alternative options.” What
evidence is there that there have been robust and meaningful endeavours to meet this requirement?
A further reason highlighted by Southend is that it has “a higher proportion of households classified
as overcrowded compared with the East of England. Increased mortality rates, tuberculosis,
respiratory conditions and childhood meningitis can all be linked to overcrowded conditions.” There
may be a general link to support the above but I receive updates from PHE and the figures (NOIDS)
for the Southend area do not indicate a problem with TB or Meningitis etc.
I have been a landlord for a few years yet I have only become aware of SEAL in the context of this
consultation. I have used a letting agent in the past but was not made aware of the organization,
345
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

51

which I may have been interested in joining. Many other small landlords are probably in the same
position so it is not helpful to base assumptions on the imput or otherwise from SEAL. I am a
responsible landlord and have taken on tenants who would not meet the criteria for most landlords,
e.g. no reliable reference or deposit available having moved from the local refuge; others have been
in receipt of benefits – another no no for many landlords. If the taking of references were to be
required (and I appreciate that this condition is mandatory where selective licensing applies) such
potential tenants might have to be turned down.
The Government guidance says that selective licensing is about “improving management standards”
where there is a “SORE NEED” (and other approaches would be inadequate or ineffective.)
Southend’s consultation document describes selective licensing merely as “an additional tool”. It says
“a key outcome for the project” is better management…but that should be the sole outcome. The
“aims” the council specifies (Para 7.2) are far wider than management standards and the link
between management standards and those aims is hypothetical and unsupported by evidence. The
hassle for compliant landlords would be considerable and I suggest it would be more cost effective
for the council and less burdensome for such landlords to focus attention on known problem cases.
In paragraph 16.2 under the heading “Risks” the council brushes aside the likelihood of rental
increases by saying it will keep the licence fee as low as possible. However this is totally unrealistic
for low value properties where the projected fee in many cases will exceed a month’s rental income
and will have to be passed on.
With regard to the proposed draft licensing conditions, my comments (using the numbers in the draft
are as follows:
1 I do not consider this to be a matter of improved management or any business of the authority
4 (b) Why place this burden on landlords? All other citizens have to find this out for themselves.
4 (c) The licence document is between the council nad the landlord and should be confidential to
them. It is no business of the tenant.
5 - 24 hours is too tight – I suggest 7 days
8 The second sentence constitutes an unnecessary burden and is unreasonable.
9 The words “ capable of causing” are far too wide and vague and should be deleted. Garden tidiness
and what is inconsiderate are a matter of subjective judgement and should be deleted. Domestic
abuse and use of drugs are not necessarily anti social and should be deleted.
10 (c) After “the licence holder must” it would be much better to put - make reasonable endeavours
to.
10 (d) Similarly I suggest “ reasonable” instead of “all necessary”.
11 (a) I suggest deleting “to identify any problems relating to the property” and “ any issues
identified”. These phrases are too vague and wide.
13 (f) I suggest the whole phrase in brackets be deleted. It is onerous and may be unreasonable for a
small landlord who would do the job himself.
20 (a) In the second sentence I suggest inserting “so supplied” after “pillows”
346
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

52

21 See comment on 4 (b) above: this should be deleted.
22 (d) I suggest this be deleted: it could create an unfair burden.

347
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

53

Email Mon 11/01/2021 14:18
Dear Adam

Thank you. If I had heard the news today before I sent the document I would have added a couple of
additional points.
Local authorities are apparently in dire straight financially and having to make cuts in many areas as a
result of Covid and other matters. Against this background it is surprising that Southend would
contemplate a far reaching, new venture, with an unknown financial outcome.

Perhaps you could kindly add this point to my original thoughts.

Kind regards

348
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

54

Email S 07/01/2021 14:42
Feedback on the proposal to selectively licence certain PRS landlords.
1. I feel that PRS landlords are being given the entire responsibility for any problem areas, given that
council, Housing association and charity properties are excluded.
2. Personally as a responsible landlord I STRONGLY OBJECT to paying what is effectively a supra level
of joint management fee, in a pool of landlords, who by your arguments, contain a high number of
inexperienced or irresponsible landlords.
I don't want to pay for 'hand holding' and advice giving to new landlords.... I pay my own agent for
that, and expect others to as well, or to pay you, not for me to subsidise it. I also don't want to pay
for you dealing with rogue landlords, I expect fines given to them to pay for it.
3. If such a scheme were valuable, I would suggest a farer cost distribution would be a smaller
registration fee, to cover appropriate landlord status and inspection (if you really feel it is necessary
to inspect properties that have never attracted complaints). Also, landlords of multiple properties
need only one appropriate person investigation.
The remainder of costs should be obtained from fees/fines to those landlords who merit more of
your attention, fees payable by those who need your support... and not paid for by those of us who
are doing a good job already. Cost and fees/ fines should be set to balance.
It is quite inappropriate to take high fees from the majority, so that you don't have worry about
getting appropriate restitution from the actual trouble makers. it may be more difficult, but it is
farer.
Please acknowledge receipt of this email.
Yours faithfully

349
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

55

Email A Mon 11/01/2021 09:03
The problem with this is. All Landlord need to be licensed because a bad landlord you will find major
problems. So make all landlords licensed. And then you can hold them to account when faced with.
Anti-social behaviour.
The amount of illegal evictions will go down property's would be kept in better care. Not just licenced
they should also be forced to have a what was known as a ENHANCED CRB CHECK

350
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

56

H Wed 09/12/2020 10:36
Totally not required. All my portfolio in the affected areas will be sold. The council can house the
tenants

351
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

57

AL 23 November 2020 13:45

RE [property address]
I am the owner of the above which I divided into 5 self contained flats in 1982
Because I have always looked after my tenants and keep the property well maintained providing
decent accommodation, my tenants are mostly long term and all very good citizens. Throughout the
past 38 years there has never been any anti social behaviour of any kind as my owner/occupied
neighbours, including Victoria Residential Home directly opposite, could testify. Examine police
records over the past 40 years and you will not find even the smallest misdemeanour regarding my
property.
In my view this proposal is not in fact truly selective, it is by its very nature discriminatory, one side of
an arbitrarily drawn line good, the other perceived as bad and requires a punative “tax”. Has anyone
in Southend Council pushing for this to be passed even considered that it could create “ghetto
zones”, the very opposite of the stated intentions. Why would any prospective Landlord with good
intentions invest in these zones? Why would any law abiding decent tenants want to reside in these
designated “bad areas”. Southend Council know the police know the rented properties inside and
outside these proposed zones whose landlords let properties fall into disrepair and who allows anti
social behaviour to proliferate.
If the council really wants to curb this very real problem then be truly selective, select these known
culprits and properties, don’t smear good landlords and good pocket areas with this crude, broad
discriminatory tarred brush.
It’s not by accident that [property address] has provided good tenants with decent accommodation
for almost 40 years, it’s because I have been a good landlord. Why not ask my tenants about their
Landlord and their accommodation.
Flat 1 for over 15 years – [personal details remove]. Flat 2 for over 7 years – [personal details
remove]. Flat 3 for over 20 years – [personal details remove]. Flat 4 for 3 years – [personal details
remove] and Flat 5 for 10 years – [personal details remove].
If there is anyone in Southend Council who can explain to me, without using meaningless platitudes,
how my payment of £3,340 for this first license for [property address] can improve by one iota my
exemplarary record over 38 years I would be very interested to meet them.

352
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

58

R Sun 15/11/2020 12:24

Dear Sir/Madam,
I trust this email finds you well.
I am writing to you to express my most utmost objections to the requirement for obtaining the
licence as a private landlord. My property is in [property address] which is a well managed private
Estate. Furthermore, my property is managed by a local Estate agency called HOPSON and occupied
by a tenant who is a nice retired gentleman . The property is in an immaculate condition . So I fail to
see why I should apply for this licence. This is a blanket and indiscriminate scheme unfair to some
landlords such as me.
Could you therefore please advise that given the above am I still legally required to obtain this
licence ?
Awaiting your reply
Kind regards

353
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

59

R Fri 08/01/2021 15:40
Hello,
Here is my response to the consultation on SL in Southend. As the consultation closes on Monday, I
did not want to take it to the wire. Sadly, I have not had a response to the FOI request and so my
response is not fully complete. As I have no more time at the moment I hope you find my viewpoint
helpful.
Regards, R
Fri 08/01/2021 15:40

Response to consultation on Selective Licensing in Southend – 8/1/21 A. Summary of Key Points: 1.
Given we are in a global pandemic with the associated health and severe economic consequences,
this is not the time to introduce or conclude consultation on selective licensing. 2. Due to Covid-19
the Council have been unable to reply to an FOI request asking how current powers have been used
over the last 5 years (HA 2004 and H&P Act 2016). At the very least the consultation period should be
extended beyond 11/1/2021. 3. The symptoms of ASB are societal, and not just related to one issue
or location. 4. There will be unintended consequences which the Council have started to be explored
at Section 16. In particular: Rent Increases: A LL will not necessarily absorb the licence cost and not
increase rents. An advance payment of £668 per property is a significant amount, particularly at this
time. There are financial pressures both on tenants and landlords. Displacement: The PRS landscape
is rapidly changing. The economic consequences of Covid19 (unpaid or part rent), future regulation
within the Rent Reform Bill expected 2021/22, investment so that current rental properties meet EPC
Band C by 2025 (regulatory requirement) and further potential tax changes in the Budget 2021 are
putting significant burdens on LLs. A significant proportion of LLs rent just one property (59%
reported by Shelter), but this scheme could be the final straw. If the sector suffers from LLs selling,
and remains unattractive to further investment, there is a perfect storm brewing which may leave an
acute shortage of rental properties in Southend. The Council will have to pick up the pieces. 5. The
DRAFT license conditions at Appendix C and the narrative at Page 60 requires LLs to take effective
action against ASB in “the locality”. An AST relates to a property and boundary in which the LL has a
contract with the tenant. I raise questions about the lawfulness of the additional AST wording, what
is defined as “locality”, and if it has been tested in Court. In Leeds, the Council have apparently
advised tenants that if they are evicted from PRS due to ASB they will not automatically be socially
rehoused – this would support the LL and make the tenant clear on the implications. 6. It is
recognised that SL cannot work in isolation and will require support from other parts of the Council.
There is a real perception that SL simply brings significant burdens to LLs, and increases costs - £668
for a 5 year licence - for little return. It is important not to raise false expectations on the benefits as
it may not be possible to fulfil in future years due to pressures on Council budgets. I am therefore
asking for a more detailed 5 year costed plan showing deliverable functions,
costs/resources/performance measures. This will show LLs, tenants and Council decision makers the
complete costed SL proposal. 21-1-8 - Response to SL Consultation B. Comments/Questions from
Proposal: Appendix C: The DRAFT license conditions at Appendix C state that the following must be
included in the Tenancy Agreement (TA). “Nuisance and Anti-social Behaviour: Not to cause, or allow
household members, or visitors to engage in anti-social behaviour, which means any conduct causing
or capable of causing a nuisance or annoyance to the landlord, other occupiers, neighbours or people
354
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

60

engaging in lawful activity within the locality. (Examples of anti-social behaviour include failure to
control dogs or children, leaving gardens untidy, not properly disposing of rubbish, inconsiderate use
of the property, as well as more serious problems such as noise, violent and criminal behaviour,
domestic abuse, the supply and use of controlled drugs, and intimidation, harassment or
victimisation on the grounds of a persons’ race, sex (gender), sexual orientation, disability, age,
religion or belief, pregnancy or maternity status, socioeconomic status).” (a). The AST relates to the
property and boundary and I question if the term “within the locality” is reasonable to include in an
agreement. From reading Page 60 the Council is expecting the LL to enforce ASB behaviour by
tenants or their visitors outside the rented property or boundary. This would not be a reasonable
expectation of the LL and I question if the current wording would hold up in Court. Question 1: Has
this been drafted by Property Lawyers, and ever tested in Court? What is defined as “locality”? Leeds
Council have apparently made it clear when introducing SL that should tenants be evicted from PRS
due to ASB they will not automatically be rehoused using social housing. This robust support to the
PRS LL is a good example of direct action. Question 2: Will the Council support this approach? The
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 defines anti-social behaviour, but the definition in
the Housing Act 2004 seems to highlight the difficulties in defining ASB. (b). In quantifying ASB, I note
the Council has used two sources: • Police Recorded ASB data for 2018-2019 within Southend on
Sea; and • Council’s ASB data I appreciate collecting data sets can be quite challenging. The Police
data is here for Southend 2018- 2019 - https://data.police.uk/. However, after filtering for ASB, it
says “on or near a location”. Question 3: I question if the data used in the consultation also includes
ASB which has nothing to do with tenants and properties (a) within the PRS sector, or (b) from the
actual location given Southend is a seaside resort. Para 6.6. SL is limited in effectiveness when
implemented in isolation. 11.5 discusses options including Enforcement of housing standards;
Management orders; Driving Up standards; LL Accreditation Scheme; Targeted Action Area. 21-1-8 Response to SL Consultation Question 4: Do the Council intend to mandate a LL accreditation scheme
in Southend? If so, it should be explicit and not implicit in the proposal. SL cannot work in isolation.
This is the conclusion from the MHCLG review and the Council recognise this. However, from 15.2 it
is difficult to see the boundary between what the selective licensing partner will do, and how other
parts of the Council will interface. Question 5: In order for the Council, Landlords and Tenants to
have a complete overview of the cost of the SL proposals and the crucial support identified would
you provide a matrix showing: (i) The functions and costs of the delivery partner; (ii) What functions
the Council are required to support the SL proposal, the current resources, and additional resources
required; and (iii) A plan over 5 years (the licence period) setting out what the Council is to deliver
and how success will be measured. Para 13.5. Licensing officers will provide advice to tenants during
inspections. “The property inspection visit will also provide an opportunity to discuss tenant
responsibilities as detailed in their tenancy agreement (i.e. expected behaviour, reporting of repairs,
refuse storage and disposal etc.) as well as offering any general and specific support required to
ensure the tenant can successfully sustain their tenancy”. Question 6: This does not appear to be in
the specification at Appendix A – Delivery Partner? Para 14.9. If a LL decides to sell or exit the sector
the license fee will not be refunded on a pro-rata basis. This is unreasonable. Car tax, Insurance and
many other upfront costs are refunded Question 7: Can the Council clarify the rationale behind this?
Para 22. Review Question 8: When is it envisaged the proposed designation will be reviewed? 21-1-8
- Response to SL Consultation C. Alternatives to SL: Overview: • There is a need in the current
environment to devise an alternative which is Simple, Transparent and Affordable. • The current SL
proposal should be paused until we better recover from the pandemic. With the Renter’s Reform Bill
on the horizon, the Council should wait to see if there is any impact from the Bill. • Council Tax
returns could in the interim be used to create a register of PRS rented properties and landlords – This
355
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

61

would update the 2011 Census data with the information updated annually. Up to date data would
better inform actual size of PRS. The Council should prioritise the areas identified by the proposed SL
designation to undertake the following: Poor property conditions - The Council already have
adequate powers and must continue to use them. Retaliatory evictions are illegal, and areas
identified by the proposed SL designation to be: • Mailshot with tenants encouraged to report poor
property standards; • This to be followed up by a series of meetings encouraging poor standards to
be reported; and • Develop an 0800 hotline and online portal to report concerns. If poor standards
are identified by the Council, this would prevent retaliatory eviction(s) and sanctions available to take
against Landlords who do not meet statutory requirements. Significant and persistent problem
caused by anti-social behaviour – This is complex and far too simplistic to think SL will resolve. • The
Council to work more closely with the Police. ASB is Priority 2 in the 2020 Police and Crime
Commissioners Plan – Page 18; • Areas identified by the SL consultation to be the focus of more
visible Policing – Priority 1 of the PCCP’s 2020 plan; • Discuss with the PCC adding an additional
precept to support ASB priority locations in Southend ; • Provide an advice/support contact for LLs to
support more complex cases where ASB occurs in the rented property, or boundary. For example in
Leeds where SL has been introduced the council have apparently made it clear that should tenants
be evicted from PRS due to ASB they will not automatically be rehoused using social housing; and •
Council to review their resourcing to the Community Safety Partnership for ASB outside the property
and boundary 21-1-8 - Response to SL Consultation High levels of deprivation - These are societal,
and it would be far too simplistic to suggest SL will resolve. However, the action under property
standards will be a start. High levels of crime – Closer working with the Essex Police and Crime
Commissioner Roger Hirst. Central Government are committed to more police resources. There are
503 additional Police officers planned for Essex by Spring 2021. Police should use the proposed SL
designation to target more visible policing. Landlord Engagement - Council to actively engage with
Landlords – SEAL, All Landlord Associations with a view to increasing membership - The report at
Page 5 Para 2.4 cites a lack of membership as being the reason for not SEAL not fulfilling
expectations.
8 January 2021

356
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

62

H Email Thu 19/11/2020 15:56

Question. What can I expect to recieve in return for my licence fee and in the event that I became a
bad landlord instead of a responsible one .. what actions would be taken against me ? ..

Thank you

357
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

63

R Monday, January 11, 2021 2:14 am
Dear Councillors and officers,
May I firstly comment on the timing of the proposed Selective Licensing Scheme. Right now, people,
including landlords are dealing with sickness, loss of staff, loss of income, rent arrears, increased
borrowing, and the deaths of friends and family. Is this really the time to add to the costs of
landlords and tenants?
Landlords have had to deal with the recent introduction of the S24 Landlord/Tenant tax, where
interest on borrowings are no longer deductible for tax purposes. There has been new legislation
introduced to improve properties and management of properties which has come at a cost for most
Landlords who own older properties, most of whom will not be eligible for grants. EPC rating
requirements have increased and will increase again in the next year or so with even more
costs. HMO’s already pay a license fee and many small landlords have struggled to meet these
financial demands in the Southend area where many properties are around 100 years old. Adding a
further licensing scheme at this stage, when rents aren’t being paid and finding decent tradesmen is
an impossibility as all the good trades are working for the larger more established landlords and
other businesses. I only have three properties (buildings) left as I move towards retirement, one of
which owes me around £10K in rent as the tenant is self employed and has struggled to pay and keep
his family. I also am a self employed landlord and not entitled to any of the governments Covid
aid. This scheme should definitely not be introduced until the Covid Pandemic is under control and
people have returned to work and can afford to pay rent again.
Renters have been misled as to how this scheme will help. They have been sold improved standards,
cleaner streets and less anti social behaviour. How exactly can a landlord who now has to operate as
a social worker, help tenants manage their money, become a customs officer, doing checks on right
to reside, now to be expected to be responsible for peoples behaviour when the police themselves
can do little about it and there is no deterrent for the tenants themselves. Currently we can’t evict
anyone whatever they do as the courts are so full delays are running to years not months! Landlords
are people too. An almost impossible task is being set by the proposed Selective Licensing
objectives. Sadly there is no mention in any of the sales pitch that the tenants will pay for it all in
increases in rents. Most of my tenants would probably continue with the slow gradual
improvements that take place each year and not have to have a large leap in rents to cover further
changes. Will DSS payments increase to cover the payments for those tenants too?

1. More than anything we require more homeless hostels in the form of studio flats/ container
flats/caravan sites to keep people off the streets. Landlords should not be forced to accept
homeless people/DSS as there is no support for when these people cannot pay or when
there are mild mental health/drugs/alcohol problems as is often the case with
homeless. Rents are stopped if someone misses an appointment. Should landlords really be
penalised for a tenants lack of timekeeping or lack of desire to attend a jobseekers
interview?
2. If any body other than the council should be in charge of Landlord Compliance it should be
SEAL who have negotiated with the council, and have set up meetings to inform Landlords
and mediate between both the council and Landlords.

358
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

64

3. Landlords cannot be held responsible for Anti Social Behaviour in any neighbourhood. Police
struggle to control it and Landlords have no legal powers in this situation
whatsoever. Evictions are long and lengthy affairs, and costly.
4. More should be done to tackle non compliant landlords ie those who do not belong to any
association, who often are not even registered with the council or SEAL. Bad landlords who
overcrowd their properties etc.
5. Why are landlords expected to pay for all this when powers already exist within the council
to place orders upon properties for improvements. The council DOES have enforcement
powers already. Add to the council tax as everyone is going to benefit from the proposals.

As you can no doubt see I am totally not in favour of the scheme whatsoever. Money for this scheme
would be better spent recruiting more housing enforcement officers within the council and on
providing cheap warden assisted accommodation for the homeless, giving good references for those
who are genuinely suited to living in the normal PRS environment. Tax and Council tax should be
used to cover this as everyone benefits.
Abolishing S21 notices is a drastic action which will lead to misery of thousands of people, landlords
and tenants alike as landlords will no longer be able to remove undesirable tenants eg noisy, dirty or
with drug or alcohol issues. People who enter into a 6m AST know that it is a short term agreement,
which by arrangement can be extended. Most of the people who live in this type of accommodation
are students, young people who have yet to put down roots, and people working abroad or at least
away from their regular homes. There is a need for this type of accommodation. Not everyone
wants to live in a place forever, but often need short term security that a B n B cannot offer. There
should at the very least be a register of bad tenants held by either the council or some body so that
as part of the referencing process a landlord doesn’t unwittingly end up with the tenant from hell as I
myself have done this year. Landlords are known to give positive references to get rid of bad tenants
so there should be somewhere to get an independent and honest review. You cannot get credit
without a Credit rating, and the same should apply to renters. There should be a renter rating with
scores for how the property is cared for, how rents are paid and how the tenats behaves and any
other comments. The same could apply to landlords. Any negative reviews should be verified in
both cases. A council SWAT team could deal with this nationwide
I do not agree with selective licensing – it isn’t necessary. The council and police already hold all the
necessary powers to enforce all current and future legislation. I do not agree with abolishing S21 as
it gives a Carte Blanche to every selfish tenant with no care for fellow tenants or their
landlords. However, I fear that both of these things will happen as landlords are sitting ducks. If so
at least introduce a fair system where landlords are not penalised for the actions of their
tenants. Funding should be by other means, but if it must come from Landlords then at least take it
in monthly increments over the 5 years not all at once in advance!!! Most of all wait until Covid is
under control and people have money again to afford these changes.

359
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

65

10 January 2021 at 20:18:01 GMT
Dear Councillors,
As you know, Southend Council is suggesting to introduce a Landlord Licensing Scheme for the
Milton, Victoria and Kursaal wards. The consultation period for this scheme ends on Monday, 11
January 2021.
I am a private tenant in one of these wards, and have sent the attached response to Southend
Council's consultation to the independent organisation, MEL Research, who are carrying out this
consultation on behalf of the council.
In summary, I am opposed to the scheme because I think the Housing Act of 2004 gives the council
quite enough powers to tackle unsafe property conditions, poor property management and antisocial behaviour. I am also opposed to, and personally insulted by, Southend Council's attempt to
establish a correlation between the private rented sector and anti-social behaviour. Please peruse
the attached response for further details.

Please note that S is not my real name. I have sent my response anonymously because I don't wish to
experience any repercussions from Southend Council. I am, however, a real person and happy to
respond to any questions you may have by email.
With kind regards,
S

360
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

66

Southend on Sea
Response to Consultation on licensing private rented property in Southend

Dear Sir/Madam,
Thank you for sending me the questionnaire for your consultation on licensing private rented
property in Southend on Sea. Apart from the fact that you are planning to implement this scheme in
the middle of a pandemic, when many people (including tenants and private landlords) are struggling
financially and have enough problems to deal with already, I take issue with a number of points you
are making.
“Improving standards” and existing powers
You claim that there are “issues associated with private renting, including unsafe property
conditions, poor property management and anti-social behaviour”, and that your “Landlord Licensing
Scheme” will “improve standards in these properties, protect residents, and address antisocial
behaviour (ASB).
May I point out that Southend Council already has an in-house Private Sector Housing Team, with
powers to serve legal notices to landlords, requiring necessary work to improve or make the property
safe. According to the council’s website, these powers affect the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

fire safety
ineffective or lack of heating
damp and mould growth
trip and falling hazards
dangerous or defective electrics
overcrowding
structural stability
inadequate ventilation
inadequate lighting
water supply
drainage

Your document “Selective Licensing Scheme Proposal And Supporting Evidence Base” states that the
scheme would enable the council to carry out inspections, and that it “could use a service delivery
partner option, which would enable the Council to focus its resources on enforcement.”
However, the same document informs me
“The Housing Act 2004 introduced the Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme (HHSRS)
which allows local authorities to inspect privately rented properties to ensure the condition of
those properties do not have an adverse effect on the health, safety or welfare of tenants or
visitors to those properties. Where necessary the Council will serve statutory enforcement
notices to ensure that conditions are improved.”
In other words, you already have powers to inspect privately rented properties, and to serve
enforcement notices.
Your document “Selective Licensing Scheme Proposal And Supporting Evidence Base” also states (on
p. 91) that

361
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

67

“The Housing Act 2004 introduced additional discretionary powers for Local Authorities to
deal with properties which are causing a problem of ASB, deprivation, crime and poor
property conditions. …
These orders have to be authorised by the Residential Property Tribunal and their effect is to
transfer all management responsibilities and rent collection to the local authority for one
year. If there is no improvement in the situation after one year, a Final Management Order
can be put in place which lasts for five years.
This power is useful for rare cases of individual properties where it is clear that one or more
occupiers are causing the ASB which is a serious problem in the area and the landlord is not
taking the appropriate action to combat this problem.
This power has not been deemed to be suitable to deal with the ASB in the areas proposed for
Selective Licensing as the ASB cannot be attributed to an individual property or select group.”
In other words, you already have powers to tackle ASB, deprivation, crime and poor property
conditions. The last sentence makes it clear that the ASB cannot be attributed to an individual
property or select group, so why are you claiming that private tenancies are the cause of ASB? There
is no evidence for this claim.
With regards to your claim that sometimes it is impossible to take action because tenants fear
“revenge evictions” if they complain, I am told that in 2017/2018 Southend Council received 596
complaints relating to the condition of private rented homes, but served just 12 improvement
notices. Clearly tenants are reporting problems, regardless of the threat of “Section 21” notices.

Bias against private tenants
Your document “Selective Licensing Scheme Proposal and Supporting Evidence” states:
2.15 Whilst private rented housing is a tenure of choice in all of the borough’s wards, in some
areas of our borough the concentrations are significantly above the national and borough
average and with this comes other problems.
2.24 … Too often poorly managed properties result in unacceptable levels of antisocial
behaviour, which can be damaging to local neighbourhoods if not dealt with. …
And, later:
“Wards such as Milton, Kursaal, Victoria and a small part of Chalkwell as well as Leigh are
known to have several ASB issues. This is usually due to a higher proportion of privately
rented accommodation within such areas.”
Are you seriously claiming that private tenancies are the cause of crime and antisocial behaviour?
This does not correspond with my own 30-years’ experience as a private tenant, and there is nothing
in your documentation that proves any direct correlation between private tenants and ASB either.
Your document states (on p. 63) that, between 2017 and 2019,
“… the wards of Milton, Kursaal and Victoria recorded considerably higher incidents than the
rest of the Southend. The ASB in the three wards alone accounts for more than 50% of the
ASB reported in the whole borough.”
And later:
362
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

68

“… the LSOAs with the highest levels of recorded ASB are mostly found within Milton, Victoria,
Kursaal. This is consistent with the fact that these three wards have the higher concentration
of privately rented properties.”
No, it’s consistent with the fact that Milton, Victoria and Kursaal constitute the town centre of a
popular seaside resort, with plenty of pubs, bars and restaurants and a fair stretch of the seafront
with its amusement arcades and yet more pubs and bars. Considering this very obvious fact, it is
hardly surprising that there is a high incidence of ASB in these wards. At the same time, the people
frequenting Southend’s town centre, pubs, bars, restaurants and amusement parks – whether
they’re from Southend or from further afield - do of course greatly contribute to the financial
prosperity of Southend.
It seems highly likely that the ASB is caused by visitors to this “party zone” rather than local
residents. I dare say that, rather than be the cause of ASB, local residents are more likely to be fed up
with it. You wouldn’t blame the residents of London’s Soho for the localised ASB that occurs there on
a regular basis, so why would you blame Southend residents for ASB occurring in their town centre?
And why would you only blame the minority (private tenants) but not the majority (owner occupiers)
of residents?
How do I know the majority of residents are owner occupiers? It’s in your document (on p. 27):
“The percentage of PRS in Milton for the six LSOAs is averaged at 50.4%, followed by Kursaal
with the five LSOA average of 41.9%, followed by Chalkwell at 49.3%, Westborough averages
37.7% and Victoria wards 36.7%. It should be noted and Leigh and Prittlewell both have one
LSOA each with a high concentration of PRS.”
In other words, the majority of residents in the respective areas are actually NOT private tenants, but
owner occupiers. Yet you are blaming the minority of private residents for the localised anti-social
behaviour. Once again, there is no evidence whatsoever that the ASB is caused by private tenants,
only that it occurs in an area where there is a higher percentage of privately rented flats – and a large
part of that area happens to be Southend’s town centre.
Landlords already have the power to evict tenants if their behaviour is anti-social and it is occurring
within the curtilage of the rented property. And as, according to your own documents, most of the
private tenancies in the respective wards are Assured Shorthold Tenancies, their landlord can easily
serve them with a Section 21 notice and ask them to vacate the property. Assured Shorthold Tenancy
Agreements already contain a clause that enables landlords to end the tenancy if the tenant has
broken any of their obligations in the Agreement, which include “Not to cause a nuisance” (i.e. “Not
to do or keep anything in the Property which might be a nuisance or which might annoy the landlord
or any neighbours or which might cause damage to the Property”).

Concerns about your Licensing Scheme
There are a number of concerns I have about Southend on Sea’s planned scheme:
•

You are expecting landlords to provide information about their tenants to the council, including
“tenants’ references”. I value my privacy very much, and as far as I know you already have all the
information you need about me for the purpose of paying my council tax and getting on the
electoral register. I strongly object to providing my references to the council.

•

Based on my own experience of a “Landlord Licensing Scheme” (see below), such schemes tend
to encourage perfectly good landlords to sell up. Our previous landlord wasn’t the only one who
363
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

69

decided on that course. A number of other flats in the same building were also sold after the
licensing scheme was introduced. I know for a fact that they were not rented out again, but sold
to owner occupiers who then moved in themselves. “Landlord Licensing Schemes” do not
encourage people to become landlords, due to the administrative nightmare they present. But
they are “freeing up” properties for sale. This is likely to push tenants into less desirable areas.
Perhaps that is what you want?
•

It is also not clear whether your scheme is going to include freeholders / leaseholders who are
renting out their property on a temporary basis, e.g. via Airbnb or as holiday lets.

•

Your scheme will make landlords responsible for their tenants’ behaviour. That’s like making a
car rental company responsible for their customers’ traffic offences. As I have pointed out
earlier, you already have powers to tackle anti-social behaviour.

No financial profit – really?
You claim that “The Council is not permitted and does not intend to seek or make a financial profit
for licensing”. This unfortunately doesn’t ring true. It is no secret that the council has experienced
massive government funding cuts over the past ten years. Of course you must find ways to
recuperate these funding cuts, and I believe this scheme is one way of doing so, either directly
through the scheme or by making your in-house Private Sector Housing Team redundant and
outsourcing their work to a “delivery partner”.
Let’s look at the figures. According to your own document (“Supporting Evidence Base”), the number
of rental units in the respective wards is 12,530. If each of their landlords pays a £680 license fee for
each of these properties, we arrive at a figure of £8,520,400. Divided by five years, we arrive at a
figure of £1,704,080 per year. And I’m sure the plan is to charge landlords roughly the same amount
again to renew their licence after 5 years. That’s a nice little earner. Somebody is going to make
money, but it certainly won’t be the tenants who will eventually have to carry the cost for your
scheme, as private landlords are bound to pass it on to them.
It is no coincidence that the wards selected for this scheme are the ones with the highest
percentages of privately rented properties in Southend. They present the greatest opportunity to
raise money through this scheme.

Focus on tenants’ rights instead
Rather than creating the administrative nightmare of a “Landlord Licensing Scheme”, why not focus
on tenants’ rights, and enforce them? Here are a few suggestions:
•

Lobby against unfair evictions. Currently, “Section 21” notices enable landlords to boot
tenants out without a reason. (NB - In April 2019, the government promised to abolish
“Section 21”, but still hasn’t published the Renters Reform Bill to change the law)

•

Prevent landlords from cancelling a tenancy agreement unless they (or their family
members) wish to occupy the property themselves, or the tenant has breached the tenancy
agreement.

•

Extend the notice period to three months for both sides, six months for landlords after a 5year tenancy, and nine months for landlords after an 8-year tenancy.

•

Implement a rent freeze, or at least a rent cap. For example, you could prevent landlords
from increasing rent by more than 20 percent within a period of three years.
364
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

70

•

Make deposits more affordable. Right now it costs an average of £1,088 to put down a
deposit on a new home to rent. This is a huge amount of money, especially when tenants
probably have a similar sum already locked away in a deposit for the home they’re leaving.
“Deposit passporting” would give tenants access to some money from their current deposit
to put towards the next one.

•

Work with established organisations. Generation Rent (www.generationrent.org) provides a
whole list of organisations at https://www.generationrent.org/organisations_we_love.

My personal experience with Landlord Licensing Schemes
I have been directly, and negatively, affected by another council’s landlord licensing scheme. We
used to live in a furnished flat in central London, which we rented from a private landlord who we
had an excellent relationship with. The few times we had any problems (e.g. with the boiler, the
fridge or the washing machine), the landlord got on the case immediately. They religiously sent their
trusted plumber every year to check on the gas boiler, update the gas safety certificate and –
eventually – install a brand new boiler. While they did increase the rent three times during the 18
years of our tenancy, they kept it low (compared with market prices) because they knew that, if they
increased it by too much, we would be unable to afford it and would have to move – and they would
have lost excellent, reliable tenants.
Then the council decided to introduce a “Landlord Licensing Scheme”. As it turned out, the licensing
scheme became the direct cause for the end of our tenancy. For starters, it was purely online based.
Our landlord was elderly and didn’t have a computer or internet connection, meaning they were
unable to complete the online registration or find out more about the scheme, as they had only
received a letter telling them to register online. They then found out that they had to pay a higher
“registration fee” because they had asked for the paper version of the form (and all relevant
documents) to be sent to them by post. When they finally received the paper version, they were
shocked by the amount of documentation that was required. Eventually they decided that they were
unable to deal with this administrative nightmare and put the flat on the market.
As a result we had to find a new flat within only two months. Our new landlord has dispensed with
the lettings agents’ services as property manager and now manages the property themselves. We are
both extremely happy with this outcome, and I doubt that anything could possibly be improved by
our landlord signing up for your scheme.

Summary
I strongly object to the introduction of a “Landlord Licensing Scheme”, for the following reasons:
•

There is no need to set up a “Landlord Licensing Scheme” to tackle unsafe property
conditions and poor property management in the private rented sector. The council already
has sufficient powers to tackle these issues.

•

The scheme would do nothing to tackle unsafe property conditions in the homes of owner
occupiers, who represent the majority of residents in the respective wards.

•

There is no need to set up this scheme to tackle crime anti-social behaviour. The council, and
the police, already have sufficient powers to tackle both issues.

365
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

71

•

The council claims that there is a correlation between private renting and anti-social
behaviour. Threre is no evidence to support this claim. The council’s attempt to portray
private tenants as the cause of crime and ASB is shameful.

•

If the council wishes to help tenants, it should focus on preventing unfair evictions,
implement a rent cap and actually deal with tenants’ complaints.

Sincerely,
A resident and private tenant in Southend-on-Sea

366
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

72

Email S, 19 November 2020 17:04
Hi

It’s so naïve to think that tenants will conform to any anti-social behaviour order within the tenancy
agreement:-

They are supposed to pay the rent on time and DON’T
They are not supposed to have pets and DO

So may I kindly ask please tell me why you think that they will adhere to this?

I LOOK FORWARD TO HEARING FROM YOU. . . .

367
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

73

Email from T 13 November 2020 17:24
Subject: Fwd: Proposed private landlord selective licensing
Dear Sir/Madam
Please see below and add this to your questionnaire that I have posted to you.
All I want recorded is that I as a private landlord believe the whole process of selective targeting of
post codes with rules that apply to one area and not to another is completely unfair.
I have taken this matter up with the leader of Southend council and with my MP and will be seeking
independent legal advice. He even agrees that they would have preferred to apply to all wards in
Southend but the framing of the Housing Act makes that not possible. So the leader of Southend
Council has confirmed this whole process is not their ideal solution and yet I am expected to agree
with it.
A box that simply says strongly agree or disagree with a comments box is nowhere near sufficient for
a process like this.
Please confirm that the entirety of my complaint is included as opposed to the tick box exercise with
small comment box.
Please confirm
---------- Forwarded message ---------

Email From: T
Sent: 13 November 2020 13:45
To: council <council@southend.gov.uk>
Subject: Proposed private landlord selective licensing
Dear Sir/Madam
I have completed your questionnaire on the above proposal.
I am not even sure legally you can penalise landlords in a certain area over another area.
I have a extremely well maintained property in what you designate as an “ASB” area I already will be
paying close to 2000.00 pounds a year in service charge/ Ground rent have obtained the EICR report
and have done everything to ensure my tenant has a first class flat to live in.
Now you are proposing to penalise me, if you go ahead with this selective penalisation based on a
rough idea that a certain ward is worse than another I will not only consider a legal challenge I will
arrange for Landlords to get together and contact the local press to publicise the unfairness of
targeting all landlords on what you judge as a bad area.
How can it be right a landlord who is not as conscientious as myself who may treat tenants badly in a
368
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

74

“good area” will not be subject to paying the exorbitant figure you specify in registration and
compliance fees and yet the tenant will be mistreated yet I am treating my tenants correctly but
because of a post code am expected to pay.
In basic fairness this scheme must be applied to all wards of Southend and wouldn’t that reduce the
fees from landlords as there would be more contributions from the whole area. In effect you are
discouraging reputable landlords from investing in the selective wards by arbitrarily introducing
additional costs.
I expect your reply and if this proposal is not radically amended will take further action as I am pretty
sure that penalising one group of people in one area under basic legal principles is entirely
unjustifiable.
I await your response.
Sent from my iPad

369
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

75

Email from P Wed 30/12/2020 14:38
Dear Sir/Madam
I am a single property Buy to Let Landlord.
I wonder if the licensing would be for people like me or those with 2 or more properties.?
It's just that with keeping in line with tenants needs I have frozen my rent since 2016.
I dont want to put the rent up but if Licensing goes ahead for me as a single property owner I would
consider selling as costs for Gas Safety and now Electrical safety tests are eating into any profit
already - please confirm if this could be set for those with multiple properties who use it as a
business income only? I only kept my flat because it was so good I didnt want to sell it in case my son
needs it one day. I rent it out for a small fee which covers the mortgage / costs / maintenance and
management company. Leaving none left.

370
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

76

P email 2-12-2020

371
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

77

Letter 21-12-2020

372
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

78

R letter 10-12-2020

373
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

79

374
Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services

80

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of Deputy Chief Executive & Executive Director
Growth & Housing
To
Cabinet
On
rd
23 February 2021
Report prepared by:
Glyn Halksworth – Director of Housing

Agenda
Item No.

6

HRA Land Review Phase 4 (Lundy Close) Update
Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee
Cabinet Member: Councillor Ian Gilbert
Part 1 (Public Agenda Item)
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To update members on the progress of the HRA Land Review Phase (Lundy
Close) following the Public Notice for the appropriation of land on the North Site
of Lundy Close and to agree the next steps for this development following the
consideration of the responses received.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To note responses received following a Public Notice and the considerations
and mitigations in regards to these as detailed in section 3.6-3.14 of this report.

2.2

To agree to proceed with the development of the north site of Lundy Close for
Council Housing based on the conclusion detailed in section 3.15 of this report.

3.

Background

3.1

Cabinet on 17th January 2019 considered and agreed the recommendations of
a report titled Future Phases of Affordable Housing Development Programme
Update which outlined Phases 3 and 4 of the HRA Land Review project. This
detailed Phase 3 in Shoeburyness ward and Phase 4 in St Laurence ward
(Lundy Close).

3.2

Cabinet on 15th September 2020 considered a further report entitled HRA Land
Review Phase 4 (Lundy Close) Update which contained an Options Appraisal
for the development of the sites in Lundy Close for Council Housing. Cabinet
agreed to proceed with the proposed Option 3 which would see the north site in
Lundy Close developed and would yield between 9-12 council homes.

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

375

Fig 1 – North site in Lundy Close
3.3

Following Cabinet agreement to proceed with the development of the north site
in Lundy Close, and in keeping with advice from the Council’s Legal team, the
Strategic Housing team published a Public Notice to advertise the appropriation
of land as required by section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972. This is a
necessary procedural step as, even though the Site is held as HRA land, it is
possible that it has become open space as well, due to its use by the public.
Therefore a Public Notice in the local paper was published on weeks
commencing 10th and 17th November 2020 with responses considered for up to
28 days after the final publication.

3.4

The advert advised people who objected to the appropriation of the land, to
send their objections to the Council in writing, and provided a contact and
address.

3.5

Public Notice Responses

3.5.1 15 responses to the Public Notice were received in the 28 days following
publication. 9 of these were written by Lundy Close residents (1 respondent
signed a letter written by another resident to express their objection), 2 were
from ward members, 2 objections were from individuals who live within the
borough but not in Lundy Close, and 2 individuals did not express their
connection to Lundy Close.
3.5.2
Type of Respondent
Count
Lundy Close Residents
9*
Ward Members
2
Individuals who live within the
2
borough but not in Lundy Close
Unknown
2
Total 15
*1 respondent signed a letter written on their behalf by another resident

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

376

3.5.3 In terms of a response rate to the Public Notice, there are 85 properties in
Lundy Close, and 9 residents in total sent an objection to the Council, therefore
the Lundy Close resident response rate is 11%.
3.6

Public Notice Response Themes

3.6.1 A number of responses received were not in regards to the appropriation of the
land for housing and were focused on the design and future planning
considerations however they will be covered in detail within this report. The
table below provides an overview of the key themes of the responses received
to the Public Notice.
Response
Number
1

Importance
of outdoor Environment Safe Area for Nature /
al Impact
Children
Wildlife
space
x

x

Traffic /
Parking

Loss of
Privacy

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

7

x

x

8

x

x
x

x

x

x

2

x

3

Devaluation

x

4

x

5

x

6

x

9

x

x

10

x

x

12

x

x

x

x

13

x

x

x

x

14

x

x

x

x

15

x

x

x

11

10

3.7

x
x

10

4

x

x
11

9

3

Mitigation of Response Themes

3.7.1 The Council’s Strategic Housing team has considered the responses made to
the Public Notice and have offered mitigations to the key themes highlighted
within these responses.
3.8

Importance of Public Space

3.8.1 One of the recurring themes within the responses was that the open space was
frequently used by residents for a variety of reasons, particularly this year due to
the pandemic. It was often stated that the open space acts as an escape for

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

377

1

residents, by providing them with a safe, easily accessible space for them to go
for a walk, do some exercise, walk their dogs, and socialise with other residents.
3.8.2 Despite this concern, the Strategic Housing Team aims to provide good quality
and accessible open spaces to all local residents when delivering Council
housing. With regards to Lundy Close, the Council has opted to proceed with
the North Site for development only, and the area of the proposed North Site is
1260m2 which represents approximately 18% of the total greenspace to be built
on. This means that approximately 82% of the green open space within Lundy
Close will remain untouched. As part of the project, there is also the aim to
enhance the remaining green open land. This will look to improve the
experience for the users which can include but not restricted to planting,
accessible paths, a dog walking friendly area (with more dog bins) and a safe
area for children to play. The team will consult with the users of the space to
determine the best options that will benefit all that use the space.
3.9

Environmental Impact

3.9.1 The environmental impact of the development was also mentioned in a number
of objections. The possibility that mature trees would be cut down to build this
development was a key concern and was mentioned in 8 of the objections.
Some also felt that the new development would undermine the Council’s
declaration of a climate emergency, by cutting down trees rather than planting
them.
3.9.2 The Council’s Strategic Housing Team, under guidance from the Council’s
Arboriculturist Team, engaged an external tree consultant to carry out an
independent survey of the area to determine the quality of the trees within the
overall green area of Lundy Close. Three trees have been identified in the tree
survey which may need to be removed as part of the development based on the
feasibility drawings which have been prepared. Once an architect is appointed
and detailed drawings are prepared an understanding as to whether these trees
need to be removed or can be retained. Any tree that is removed for the
development will be replaced on a 2 for 1 basis (2 trees will be planted to
replace the 1 that was removed) and where possible the project will look to
increase this number and utilise semi mature trees as a preference.
Furthermore, as part of any new development, mitigating measures will be
applied to replace and increase the number of any green rooted areas to
compensate for the loss of other green infrastructure such bushes etc. Any tree
found to be close to the development will have a tree root protection put in
place, and if any peripheral trees require lopping this would be under the strict
control of the Council’s Parks and Open Spaces Team
3.10

Safe Area for Children

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

378

3.10.1 The issue of children having a safe area to play was mentioned in 7 of the
objections. It was highlighted that the open space was a perfect area for
children to play, due to it being near their homes, allowing parents to keep an
eye on them.
3.10.2 As mentioned previously, the Strategic Housing Team always seeks to provide
good quality and accessible open spaces to all its residents, especially younger
people in the borough. Part of the contractor’s agreement will be to require an
enhancement of the green space, this would include consultation with residents
and the Council’s Parks and Open Spaces team to facilitate an environment for
a safe and pleasant area for all children and residents to enjoy. Furthermore, as
mentioned previously, approximately 82% of the green open space within Lundy
Close will remain untouched therefore leaving a sizeable amount of space for
children to play safely near their homes.
3.11

Nature and Wildlife

3.11.1 Another recurrent theme in the objections was the concern that protected
wildlife would be disturbed by the new development at Lundy Close. To protect
the wildlife within Lundy Close, the Strategic Housing Team under guidance
from the Council’s Arboricultural Team, appointed an external tree consultant to
carry out an independent survey of the area. This also included engaging a
consultant ecologist to survey the wildlife in and around the green space area of
Lundy Close. The report indicated the presence of a number of wildlife species,
and the course of action required to mitigate any impact that a development
would have on their habitat and surrounding area. The proposed development
on the north site will require further monitoring of the wildlife to take place and
the consultant ecologist will then work alongside the architect and contractor
moving forward.
3.12

Traffic and Parking

3.12.1 Concerns around traffic and parking were mentioned in 5 of the objections.
Some residents noted that Lundy Close is already heavily congested, due to
there being too many cars in the area and not enough parking spaces. Those
who mentioned traffic/parking as an issue, believed that the new development
would simply exacerbate the problem, as more residents will add more cars to
the area. The issue of congestion, and the fact that there is only one entrance
in/out of Lundy Close was viewed as a hazard.
3.12.2 In response to these concerns, it is important to note that any new housing
development that the Strategic Housing Team undertakes requires its
contractor to sign up to the Considerate Constructors Scheme. Such a scheme
is independently monitored and promotes good working practice and creates a
safe environment for its workforce and residents. An example of this would be
HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

379

scheduled material deliveries to the site in appropriate vehicles for local
conditions and the delivery site. The contractor will also be required to have a
designated person to supervise and oversee deliveries and traffic movement,
including site parking.
3.12.3 With regards to parking, all new housing development within Southend-on-Sea
requires adequate off-street parking for the proposed dwellings, whether this is
flats or houses. This is a requirement by the Local Planning Authority for
Southend and would be included in any planning application. The Strategic
Housing Team may also look into providing additional parking and visitor
parking, which should alleviate any issues found with a lack of parking spaces.
Lastly, the fact that there is only 1 entrance in and out of Lundy Close falls
within the remit of the highways department, who are consulted as part of the
planning process, and will flag up any concerns they may have.
3.13

Loss of privacy

3.13.1 Four residents mentioned that the new development could result in a loss of
privacy, due to their properties being overlooked by the new properties. In
response to this concern, the Strategic Housing Team are mindful that any new
development should not cause issues that would affect existing residents’ right
to privacy, in and around any proposed use of its land. When considering new
Council housing development, the team and its architect must abide to by
planning policy around the loss of light and privacy, which includes overlooking.
Any new Council housing development must take these issues into account
when instructing its architect, and to follow the planning guideline when
designing flats and houses for the Council’s new build programme. With regards
to Lundy Close, the Council intends to add screening trees to the rear of the
development, to increase privacy and help stop the development from being
overlooked by factories or other properties.
3.14

Devaluation

3.14.1 Two individuals expressed a concern that the new development would devalue
the properties of Lundy Close residents who own their own home. The role of
the Strategic Housing Team is to enhance the local estate and consult
extensively with the Council’s Arm’s Length Management Company, South
Essex Homes, to support this objective. The team has successfully completed
two phases of this programme around the borough and has testimonials from
residents of these phases that support and applaud its work of improving and
enhancing the character of their estates. There has been no evidence of
properties in and around the Council housing developments that have led to any
devaluation of their properties.
3.15

Summary

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

380

3.15.1 A summary of the key aspects of the proposed HRA Land Review development
are detailed below:
Key aspect
Project overview
Scheme details
 Development of the north site only in Lundy
Close for the purpose of much needed
Council housing
 Reduction in proposed unit numbers from
31 homes to between 9 – 12 homes.
Outdoor space
 82% of the outdoor space in Lundy will be
retained.
 In consultation with residents, the
remaining space will look to be improved
with option to include dog walking areas,
increased planting, accessible paths and
communal facilities.
The Environment
 Three trees may have to be removed
however trees will be replaced on a higher
than 2 for 1 basis with semi mature or
mature tree being the preference.
 Additional planting and greening will be
included as part of the project.
Safe place for children
 82% of the open space in Lundy Close to
remain
 Remaining open space will be improved for
community use in consultation with local
residents.
Local wildlife
 Arboriculturalist will continue to be
consulted and ecologist will be part of the
project bringing forward the development
 Plan in place to mitigate impact on local
wildlife.
Traffic & Parking
 The proposed contractor will be required to
sign up to the Considerate Constructors
Scheme so additional care will be given to
parking, deliveries and construction traffic.
 All units would have access to off street
parking and visitor parking may be provided
 Additional parking may also be able to be
provided and will consulted upon with local
residents
Privacy
 The development will be in line with
Planning policy regarding overlooking.
 Screening trees will be utilised to create
barriers where possible
HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

381

3.15

Conclusion

3.15.1 Following due diligence and necessary consideration of the responses received
to the Public Notice and balancing the comparative and completing community
needs for the site, it is felt the Council should proceed with the development of
the north site only in Lundy Close. The Strategic Housing team have highlighted
how the concerns raised by respondents will be mitigated against and where
the project will also look to make significant improvements to the estate in
Lundy Close and to the community more widely. Extensive engagement with
the residents of Lundy Close to agree other community benefits has also been
clearly detailed. It should also be noted that the proposals represent a
significantly reduced development of between 9-12 Council homes as
compared to the previously agreed proposals of 31 homes across 3 sites in
Lundy Close.
4.

Other Options

4.1

The Council can decide to not proceed with the development of the North site,
due to the objections raised however after careful consideration it was felt that
the concerns raised to the development were mitigated against. Also if the
Council were not to pursue the housing development the long-term benefits of
increasing housing supply and reducing homelessness would not be achieved.

4.2

The Council does not need to pursue delivery of Council housing via the HRA
Land Phases Review, however these approaches are considered important
contributions to the aims of the Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping
Strategy and of the Southend 2050 ambitions endorsed by the Council.

5.

Reasons for Recommendations

5.1

To update Cabinet on the progress of the HRA Land Review Phase 4 and to
agree the most appropriate option in order to the progress the scheme following
the responses received to the Public Notice.

6.

Corporate Implications

6.1

Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map

6.1.1 The development of Council housing contributes towards the Southend 2050
Safe and Well outcomes of “We are well on our way to ensuring that everyone
has a home that meets their needs” and “We act as a green city with
outstanding examples of energy efficient and carbon neutral buildings”.

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

382

6.1.2 Southend’s Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy aims to
provide ‘decent high quality, affordable and secure homes for the people of
Southend’ and the development of Council housing contributes to this.
6.2

Financial Implications

6.2.1 Cabinet has previously agreed the capital budget of £6.187m for the HRA Land
Review Phase 4 to be funded from the HRA Capital Reserves and the Council’s
1-4-1 Right to Buy receipts. This budget will be reduced in line with the
reduction in unit numbers from 31 down to between 9 -12.
6.3

Legal Implications

6.3.1 Consultation has been undertaken with the Council’s Legal Team and
considerations relating to the progress of the individual site will be dealt with
through the usual due diligence process.
6.3.2 The Council must meet its requirements under section 122 of the Local
Government Act 1972 in advertising and considering any objections, where
necessary. The Council can balance the different options and uses for the Site
and, in coming to a decision, must only show a logical and rational decision
making process.
6.4

People Implications

6.4.1 No direct people implications have been identified at this stage however will be
monitored throughout the progress of the project.
6.5

Property Implications

6.5.1

Phase 4 of the HRA Land Review will increase stock within the Council’s
housing stock and therefore consultation is ongoing with South Essex Homes in
regards to ongoing management and maintenance of the properties.

6.6

Consultation

6.6.1 Consultation has taken place with internal colleagues regarding the potential
changes to the scheme and additionally, there is ongoing consultation with
affected residents in Lundy Close in order to garner their views on the proposed
development put forward and to get their views on the wider community
improvements. A Your Say Southend page has been set up to provide regularly
updates on the project.
6.7

Equalities and Diversity Implications

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

383

6.7.1 The relevant equality assessments will be undertaken as necessary on a project
by project basis.
6.8

Risk Assessment

6.8.1 As per all Council housing development schemes, risk register and issue logs
will be used as part of the project governance and will be updated as the
scheme progresses.
6.9

Value for Money

6.9.1 All spend in relation to HRA Land Review Phase 4 is subject to the relevant
procurement rules, in order to ensure full procurement compliance and value for
money.
6.10

Community Safety Implications

6.10.1 Community Safety will be an important aspect of the project and will be
monitored through consultation process through to the development The
Council will look to meet Secured by Design standards where possible and
practical.
6.11

Environmental Impact

6.11.1 Environmental and ecological studies have formed part of site feasibility work
will form part of the final design of the schemes. Sustainability and energy
efficiency will be integral to the construction process and measures will be
included within the designs.
7.

Background Papers
Cabinet Report. Future Phases of Affordable Housing Development Programme
Update, 17th January 2019
Cabinet Report, HRA Land Review Phase 4 (Lundy Close) Update, 15th
September 2020

8.

Appendices
None

HRA Land Review Phase 4(Lundy Close) Cabinet Report

Report Number

384

Agenda
Item No.
CABINET
Tuesday, 23 rd February, 2021

7

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 46
The following action taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 46 is
reported. In consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member(s):1.

The Executive Director (Finance and Resources) authorised:

1.1

Costa and Airport Business Park
Decision to progress with a commercial transaction to deliver a Costa
Drive-Thru unit at the entrance to Airport Business Park using funds
already allocated in the Capital Programme. Planning permission has
been granted by Rochford District Council and the development will
ensure that construction activity continues at the business park with the
associated benefits to marketing, jobs creation and economic activity
whilst providing a long-term commercial income to the Council.

2.

The Interim Executive Director (Neighbourhoods and Environment)
authorised:

2.1

Southend Manor Football Club Community Use Agreement
Approval to advertise the loss of public open space and enter into a
lease agreement for the footprint of a number of proposed fixed
structures including fencing, seating and dugouts associated with
Southend Manor Football Club and the continued use of the football
pitch at Southchurch Park as per the community use agreement.

385

Page 1 of 1

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

10
Document is Restricted

387

This page is intentionally left blank

